
 
 

v1 2015 

 

AGENDA  
 

Meeting Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee 

Date Wednesday 18 October 2017 

Time 2.30 pm 

Place The Chamber, City Hall, The 
Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-monitoring  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman) 
Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair) 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM 
 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chairman of the Sub-Committee to deal with the 

business listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Tuesday 10 October 2017 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Laura Francis, Telephone: 020 7983 4383; email: laura.francis@london.gov.uk 
 
For media enquiries please contact Sonia Labboun; telephone: 020 7983 5769; 
email: sonia.labboun@london.gov.uk   If you have any questions about individual items please contact 
the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-monitoring
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:sonia.labboun@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee 
Wednesday 18 October 2017 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chairman. 

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Sub-Committee is recommended to: 

  
(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the tables at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  
 
(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 
Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 
(c) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 
which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 
of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 
Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and any necessary action taken 
by the Member(s) following such declaration(s).  

 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 28) 

 
 The Sub-Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee held on 12 July 2017 to be signed by the 

Chairman as a correct record.  
 
 

4 Quarter 1, 2017/18 GLA Group Monitoring Reports (Pages 29 - 226) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Laura Francis; laura.francis@london.gov.uk 020 7983 4383 
 
The Sub-Committee is recommended to note the content of the report and 
appendices. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:laura.francis@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

5 The London Legacy Development Corporation (Pages 227 - 228) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Will King; will.king@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 5596 

 

The Sub-Committee is recommended to note the report, put questions to the invited 

guests on the London Legacy Development Corporation’s financial sustainability, 

and note the subsequent discussion. 
 
 

6 Mayor's Decision Lists: 9 June 2017 to 28 September 2017 (Pages 229 - 

284) 
 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Laura Francis; laura.francis@london.gov.uk 020 7983 4383 
 
The Sub-Committee is recommended to discuss any issues arising in respect of the 
Mayor’s Decision Lists for the period 9 June 2017 to 28 September 2017 (previously 
made available as background papers to the relevant Mayor's Report to the 
Assembly), and decide whether to refer any issues to the Budget and Performance 
Committee for detailed consideration. 
 
 

7 Payments over £250 (Pages 285 - 306) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Resources 

Contact: Ashraf Ali , ashraf.ali@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5642 
 
The Sub-Committee is recommended to note the report. 
 
 

8 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Sub-Committee is scheduled for 13 December 2017 at 2.00pm in 

Committee Room 5. 
 
 

9 Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:ashraf.ali@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v1/2017 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Budget Monitoring Sub Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 18 October 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

 

 

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Richmond 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM  

Unmesh Desai AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Newham 

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM Member, LFEPA 

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM Member, LB Lambeth 

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM Member, LFEPA 

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Member, LB Redbridge 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Chair, LFEPA; Chair of the London Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough; LFEPA - London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority.   
The appointments to LFEPA reflected above take effect as from 3 April 2017] 

 
3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

 

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Laura Francis, Committee  Assistant 

Telephone: 020 7983 4383 

E-mail: Laura.francis@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES 

Meeting: Budget Monitoring  
Sub-Committee 

Date: Wednesday 12 July 2017 
Time: 2.00 pm 
Place: Committee Room 4, City Hall, The 

Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-monitoring  

 

 
Present: 
 
Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman) 
Navin Shah AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 
1.1  Apologies for absence were received from Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair), for whom Navin 

Shah AM attended as a substitute, and from Jennette Arnold OBE AM. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 
2.1  Resolved: 

  

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-monitoring


Greater London Authority 
Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee 

Wednesday 12 July 2017 

 

 
 

3   Membership of Sub-Committee (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the membership and chairing arrangements for the Sub-Committee made by 

the Annual Meeting of the Assembly on 3 May 2017, be noted as follows: 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman) 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair) 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM 

 
 
4   Terms of Reference (Item 4) 

 

4.1 Resolved: 

 

That the terms of reference, as agreed at the Annual Meeting of the London 

Assembly on 3 May 2017, as set out, as set out below, be noted: 

 

To consider the quarterly monitoring reports provided by the GLA and its 

Functional Bodies as referred to it by the Budget and Performance Committee, and 

any other reports falling within the terms of reference of the Budget and 

Performance Committee which that Committee considers appropriate, and to report 

back its findings to the Budget and Performance Committee as necessary. 

 
 
5   Standing Delegation of Authority (Item 5) 

 

5.1 Resolved: 

 

That the standing delegation of authority, as set out below, be noted: 

 

At its Annual Meeting on 1 May 2013, the Assembly agreed to delegate a general 

authority to Chairs of all ordinary committees and sub-committees to respond on 

the relevant committee or sub-committees behalf, following consultation with the 

lead Members of the party Groups on the committee or sub-committee, where it is 

consulted on issues by organisations and there is insufficient time to consider the 

consultation at a committee meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee 

Wednesday 12 July 2017 

 

 
 

6   Minutes (Item 6) 

 
6.1  Resolved:  
 

That the minutes of the Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee meeting held on 

23 March 2017 be signed by the Chairman as a correct record.  

 
 
7   Summary List of Actions (Item 7) 

 

7.1  The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat.  

 

7.2  Resolved:  

 

That the completed actions arising from a previous meeting of the Budget 

Monitoring Sub-Committee be noted. 

 
 
8   Quarter 4, 2016/17 GLA Group Monitoring Reports (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The Sub-Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

8.2  Resolved:  

 

           That the monitoring reports for Quarter 4 of 2016/17 be noted. 

 
 
9   GLA Group Borrowing (Item 9) 

 
9.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions to the following invited guests:  

 Luke Webster, Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, Greater London Authority 

(GLA); 

 Emanuela Cernoia- Russo, Assistant Treasurer, TfL; 

 Simon Kilonback, Director of Group Treasury, TfL; 

 Sue Budden, Director of Finance and Contractual Services, London Fire Brigade; and 

 Martin Wheatcroft, Fiscal Accountant, Pendan. 

 
9.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1.  
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee 

Wednesday 12 July 2017 

 

 
 

9.3 Resolved:  
 

That the report and discussion be noted. 

 
 
10   Mayor's Decision Lists: 9 March to 8 June 2017 (Item 10) 

 

10.1 The Sub-Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat.  

 

10.2 Resolved:  

 

That the Mayor’s Decision Lists for the period 9 March 2017 to 8 June 2017 be 

noted. 

 
 
11   Payments over £250 (Item 11) 

 
11.1 The Sub-Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Resources. 
 
11.2 Resolved: 
 

That the report be noted. 

 
 
12   Date of Next Meeting (Item 12) 

 

12.1 The next meeting of the Sub-Committee was scheduled for 18 October 2017 at 2.30pm in 

Committee Room 5.  

 
 
13   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 13) 

 
13.1  There were no items of business the Chairman considered urgent. 

 
 
14   Close of Meeting 

 
14.1 The meeting ended at 15.32pm. 
 
 
 
    

Chairman  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Francis, Committee Assistant, telephone: 020 7983 4383;  

email: laura.francis@london.gov.uk 

Page 8



 

Appendix 1 
 

Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee – 12 July 2017 
 

Transcript of Item 9 – GLA Group Borrowing 
 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The main item of business today is to look at Greater London Authority 

(GLA) Group borrowing.  I would like to welcome our guests here today; Luke Webster, Group Treasury and 

Chief Investment Officer for the GLA; Emanuela Cernoia-Russo, Assistant Treasurer at Transport for London 

(TfL); Simon Kilonback, Director of Group Treasury at TfL; Sue Budden, Director of Finance and Contractual 

Services at the London Fire Brigade.  Also Martin Wheatcroft, Fiscal Accountant, Pendan. 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  I am representing the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants.  I do not work for them but I am a member and work with them. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much indeed. What we will start off with is a bit of scene 

setting around risks and borrowing, when we borrow and why we borrow.  Martin, I am going to start with you.  

If you could outline the circumstances where it might be appropriate for a public sector organisation to take 

out long-term borrowings? 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  There is a wide range of reasons for why you might 

consider borrowing to finance expenditure.  It is actually wider than would be appropriate in business.  

Generally, any financial expenditure that provides a financial payback, or that provides a commercial and 

financial return, would make sense provided it is within the remit of the particular local authority or other 

public body.  However, generally you have a wider purpose.  Therefore also spending that improves economic 

activity, that generates tax revenue either for you or for the wider public purse, or spending that reduces risk, 

and a current topic is fitting sprinklers and things.  It is also wider in that you do not necessarily need to have a 

financial payback.  If there is a clear public benefit you can choose to borrow.  That would be mostly 

appropriate where the benefit is longer term.  For example, if you were to decide to invest in building a new 

park that is going to benefit Londoners over a long period, it might be appropriate to borrow.  Also, generally, 

borrowing to create an asset is better than if it is just an expense that is gone.  It comes back to what the 

purpose is and understanding very clearly what you are doing.  Are you doing it for financial return, are you 

doing it for public benefit or a mixture of both?  Those are probably the key things. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Is it appropriate to borrow to fund operating expenditure? 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  It can be appropriate but is generally not a great idea in 

the longer term.  Of course, the national Government does this all the time and has done this significantly.  

That creates an intergenerational limit.  However, most authorities have borrowing limits and that means you 

have less of an issue around intergenerational fairness and things like that. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  That was the golden rule before 2008.  Following that, is that a bad practice?  What are the 

risks? 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  Borrowing, if done for the right reasons, is actually a 

very good thing.  If you buy a house with a mortgage generally you are getting the benefit now, otherwise you 

might have to save for 30 years to afford one.  There is definitely a real advantage.  Also if, as a public 

authority can, you can borrow at very cheap rates there are opportunities there. 

 

Page 9



 

You are asking about the national Government’s position.  Clearly, it has substantial debt and substantial other 

liabilities. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Yes, the concern being, for example, GLA Functional Bodies incurring debts which obviously 

put pressure on revenue. 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  It does.  The key thing with debt is that it becomes your 

priority.  The first thing you have to do when you open the chequebook at the beginning of the financial year 

is pay off your debts, your repayments and any interest.  By choosing to borrow you are making that your 

highest priority item.  Therefore, if there is any pressure or income shortfall, whatever the issue is, it is other 

services and other priorities that suffer because you are committed to the borrowing and servicing that 

borrowing. 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  Chairman, I wanted to clarify for 

members of the Committee, and for the benefit of the audience, that the GLA and its Functional Bodies are all 

local authorities and subject to the various Local Government Acts, part of which includes the requirement to 

set a balanced budget.  Borrowing proceeds, of course, are not a revenue resource.  It is legally impossible for 

my colleagues or myself to incur borrowing to fund revenue activities.  It is purely a capital transaction in the 

local government space. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK, That is a helpful clarification.  Martin, what are the general risks and 

benefits to public sector organisations in taking out long-term borrowing? 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  The benefits are very clear; you can do things now that 

you could not do if you saved up.  You can afford much larger forms of expenditure.  Building something; 

Crossrail or the Northern line extension (NLE) are clear examples.  It would take a long time to put money 

aside.  It is much easier to borrow it now, do it and then pay it back out of the increased revenues and so on.  

Of course, the other key advantage is that, as a public body, you can borrow at very low rates compared with 

the private sector.  If a private sector organisation was to choose to build Crossrail, for example, the economics 

would be very different because the borrowing costs would be that much higher. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  It is an interesting question. 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  Those are the benefits.  On the risk side you are tied in 

for the long term.  Therefore you create a more leveraged organisation where cash flow management becomes 

even more important.  Every time you commit expenditure - and this is the most committed form of 

expenditure - you reduce your ability to manoeuvre.  You increase the risk that, if something goes wrong or 

there is an income shortfall - whether that is tax revenue or fare revenue in the case of TfL - obviously you 

have less room to manoeuvre than if you had not borrowed. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Luke [Webster] has just pointed out that all of the Functional Bodies of the 

GLA are local authorities and are subject to local authority regulation in terms of borrowing.  Does that include 

what you use the money for?  You cannot use it for revenue.  If you can borrow cheaply could you potentially 

lend it to somebody else for more? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  That is legally possible.  The 

restriction is for any purpose relevant to the authorities’ functions and it being a prudent means of managing 

one’s financial affairs.  However, yes, that is certainly possible.  In substance, that is what we do with some 

housing activity.  We borrow from central Government to facilitate lending within the housing zones, for 

instance. 

Page 10



 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  If the objective of lending the money back out to someone else was to 

create an income stream to supplement activity to plug gaps in revenue, for example, could you do that? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  We could, in that it is legally 

possible.  Our flexibility to do anything more speculative like that is severely limited at the moment.  It is a 

theoretical possibility. 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  There is another exception, which is to the extent you 

have funded pension schemes and you, in effect, do that.  However, that is for the primary purpose of 

providing money for those pensioners. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That could be funded by borrowing? 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  In effect, yes.  However, it is within that ring-fence of 

the pension fund and there are limitations. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Turning to our functional body representatives, it is the same question to all 

three of you: what are the risks and benefits most relevant to your particular organisation?  We will start this 

end of the table, so we will start with you, Sue [Budden]. 

 

Sue Budden (Director of Finance and Contractual Services, London Fire Brigade):  Our capital 

programme is about replacing and refurbishing operational assets.  It is mainly about the fleet.  Those of you 

who remember know we used to have a private finance initiative (PFI) but now we own our fleet and are 

responsible for its replacement.  It is about our fire stations.  We have 102 land stations in various states of 

repair.  Some of them are very old.  Some were all built at similar times so hit similar redevelopment and 

refurbishment requirements at the same time.  Borrowing allows us to meet the cost of doing that kind of 

activity over the life of the asset it creates.  Linking back to the points Martin [Wheatcroft] was making, we are 

not saving up to invest in a new pump.  We are spending the money now so we can replace the pump as we 

need it and then we will pay for the cost of that over the life of the pump. 

 

We do benefit from reasonably low interest rates.  Certainly, in the time I have been there, it has always been 

the most prudent to go for fixed rate loans so we also have certainty.  At the time we have taken out the 

borrowing we know exactly what it is going to cost us until the debt is paid off. 

 

The only real risks we do have are about the interest rates at the time of taking out a future loan.  If we said we 

wanted to buy a new fire station or replace a certain bit of kit, and we had to do it at a certain point, we would 

be at the risk of whatever the interest rate was in the market at that point.  We can try to mitigate that through 

greater work through the Group Investment Syndicate looking across the Group at how we borrow. 

 

The other risk is around our future funding.  I do not think our debt costs are significant in relation to our total 

grant funding from the Mayor.  However, if that funding was to come down we would obviously need to look 

at affordability, which also links back into Martin [Wheatcroft]’s point.  We have four-year plans now under the 

regime at City Hall.  That helps, as we are looking all the way forward to 2021/22 so we can see how our 

borrowing costs play out as part of that.  That helps us have more certainty.  It makes that internal planning 

more real as we can then debate it in public. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  We are going to have a slightly deeper dive a bit later on in the meeting into 

each of the Functional Bodies in turn, so some of that stuff we will pick up a bit later on.  Simon [Kilonback], 

from a TfL perspective? 

Page 11



 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  In a similar way, we only borrow to finance capital 

investment in TfL’s assets.  I should say that, as you know, local authorities have the power to set their own 

authorised limit for borrowing without being subject to the power of the relevant Secretary of State - whether 

that is Transport or Communities and Local Government - to have a reserved power to cap that borrowing if it 

is not in the national interest to exceed the borrowing.  Due to the nature of TfL’s investment programme, in 

addition to the authorised limit approved by the Mayor, TfL also has a funding agreement with the Department 

for Transport (DfT) that sets out limits on our borrowing and a profile of borrowing over a number of years 

linked to the delivery of certain infrastructure projects that are agreed to be shared as national priorities.  Our 

borrowing is very much dedicated to specific infrastructure assets that we have agreed with national 

Government are shared priorities for the country as a whole. 

 

In terms of the benefits of doing so, if you recall when TfL was set up, the majority of the London 

Underground was privatised and the majority of the investment in its assets was expected to take place 

through PFIs and public-private partnership (PPP) arrangements.  What we have found - since Metronet 

collapsed and went into administration and Tube Lines Limited was bought back in order to deliver better value 

for money - is that, to the extent that we can borrow on our balance sheet, it gives us more operational 

flexibility with the assets we are acquiring compared to entering into long-term PFI arrangements with the 

private sector or a third party. 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  From the GLA’s perspective, the 

primary benefit is being able to unlock strategic infrastructure and regeneration projects across the capital.  

That ability enables us to make projects like Crossrail, the NLE and acquisition of the Queen Elizabeth Olympic 

Park actually happen.  That would be impossible in the save-up-in-advance model that Martin [Wheatcroft] 

alluded to.  That definitely is the benefit. 

 

The risk is pretty considerable.  Of all the Functional Bodies, and indeed most public entities in the world, our 

level of borrowing is very, very high.  The GLA budget document, that you will be very familiar with, is perhaps 

not the most straightforward document to understand.  If you narrow down on the core GLA spending, 

excluding grants and other payments made around the Group, almost 50% of the GLA’s own spending is on 

debt service.  Our financial flexibility is very constrained by the levels of borrowing that we currently hold.  

Obviously, that is a key decision when we are looking at further proposals for borrowing.  Managing that risk 

and that risk of lost flexibility is the primary focus of my team. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Martin [Wheatcroft], what are the key warning signs to look out for which 

indicate an organisation is borrowing too much? 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  Primarily, if things start going the wrong way, if your 

asset base is growing less quickly than your borrowing or, if you look at it the other way around, interest starts 

to become a higher proportion than you want.  As you say, if you are already at half and you start going to 

two-thirds then you are probably really in trouble.  You have to keep tight on that. 

 

In the commercial sectors, lenders generally impose requirements called covenants on borrowers to, in effect, 

manage that sort of risk.  Generally, for public sector borrowing, you do not have that because public sector 

borrowers are considered to be ‘good for the money’ because of the ability to pay out of future tax revenue 

and the implied guarantee from central Government.  I do not know to what extent you have your own internal 

metrics.  That would be probably the best way you would know, based on your own risk profile.  There is no 

specific number or ratio that works.  It has to be specific to the organisation; the circumstances and the risks 

related to its revenue and cost streams. 

 

Page 12



 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  How would you know if the GLA was borrowing too much? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  There are, indeed, a number of 

metrics that we use.  We are subject to a credit rating process from Standard & Poor’s [Financial Services LLC].  

There are a number of metrics that compute the level of debt costs in relation to the various income streams.  

We try to maintain within the parameters that are consistent with our ‘AA’ rating. 

 

We are also subject to local government regulation through the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy (CIPFA).  The relevant document is CIPFA’s Prudential Code that prescribes a series of indicators 

that we use internally for management purposes. 

 

The nuts and bolts of what we do is matching the cash flows of debt repayment and interest to the income 

streams that we have.  That is really how we are able to maintain a very, very high rating despite this huge level 

of what in the private sector would look like gearing.  In the public sector it is a different concept.  In a 

business you typically borrow to grow in pursuit of more revenues.  In our case, we are granted the right or 

ability to raise revenues to facilitate the borrowing to then facilitate the strategic projects.  It is a different way 

of thinking.  However, the risk management is exactly the same; making sure that our revenue streams 

correspond very closely to the debt service.  In Sue’s [Budden] example, the way the London Fire and 

Emergency Planning Authority (LFEPA) model works, similarly for the police, there are a lot of fixed lines in 

there.  We typically look for fixed rate borrowing to achieve budgetary certainty of cost.  There are some 

examples where that is not the case.  The NLE, for instance, is an example of tax increment financing.  The 

income stream there is business rates which, as you will be aware, have an inflation linkage.  In that case, some 

of the borrowing we have done is linked to the same inflation measure.  It is all about very, very close asset and 

liability matching. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Could you please outline the key principles of your debt management 

strategy for the GLA Group? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  For the GLA, of course, we do 

provide a shared service to most of the rest of the Group.  Therefore, we are pretty cognisant of the debt 

approach there.  We are looking, first of all, to make sure that the profile of the debt, ie the way it matures, 

corresponds very closely to the life of the relevant assets.  Therefore, we are not setting ourselves up for a 

position where we will have to refinance our borrowing midway through the life of the asset.  That takes a level 

of interest rate risk out of the picture.  As I said, there is that very, very strong emphasis on matching 

repayment flows to avoid the likelihood of having to use reserves or temporary borrowing to bridge gaps.  That 

is an important part of it, and also constant analysis of market risks and opportunities to look for ways to 

achieve savings or reduce risk. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The borrowing we are taking out at the moment is now being measured 

against the Consumer Price Index (CPI), is it not? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  Some of the borrowing we have 

done for the NLE is linked to the CPI. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  I gather that is going to save £61 million or something over the lifetime of 

the debt, which sounds good if it is.  Why have we not done that elsewhere? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  We have not necessarily had 

revenue streams that are so explicitly linked to inflation before.  The cost saving is very nice.  That £60 million 

figure is the combined saving we have achieved across the NLE borrowing piece.  The bit attributable to the 

Page 13



 

index-linked bond is probably about £34 million.  It is very significant but, in a sense, that is a ‘nice to have’.  

The primary objective of the exercise was to reduce risk.  We had a business case for extending the Northern 

line which assumed a certain level of inflation and, therefore, a certain level of income.  If inflation had been 

lower that income would have been reduced and we could have then found ourselves in the position of 

struggling to pay our interest costs.  The beauty of taking out debt that is linked to the revenue stream is that, 

if inflation falls, yes, the business rates fall but so do the interest payments we have to make and, ultimately, 

the principal repayment at the end.  It was a hedging decision in the first instance and it happened to save a 

very considerable amount of money too. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Do you see that as being a model for other areas of borrowing across the 

group? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  It requires some caution.  It is 

entirely natural for public entities to focus on fixed rate exposure so that budgetary certainty is achieved.  

Clearly, there is a shift in local government funding towards business rates.  However, I would be quite cautious 

about recommending index-linked borrowing as the new normal.  In the case of the NLE, we have a clearly 

defined enterprise zone and an agreement with Her Majesty’s Treasury to essentially give us indefinite 

refinancing.  Therefore, there is a range of additional levels of certainty which were supportive to the overall 

decision. 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  Chairman, if I could add a couple of points here.  The 

main benefit of linking to CPI is that, in effect, you are protecting against lower inflation than expected.  That 

is a reason a lot of our national debt is retail price index (RPI) linked.  It is a hedge against low inflation.  At the 

moment we are in a situation of low inflation, so your risk is probably on the other side.  As you say, as long as 

you have that income stream that is linked to inflation then you are OK.  What you have done, in effect, is 

exchange a certain benefit - that is presumably what the £34 million is - for the situation where if inflation 

goes up you have to give some of that benefit to the lenders.  That is what you have done in terms of the 

hedging.  Some of the upside, in terms of higher inflation, would go the lenders.  If you have fixed borrowing 

and the inflation goes up then you get all the additional revenue from the higher inflation. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK, I get that.  Luke [Webster], you said earlier that approaching 50%, by 

the end of this financial year, of the GLA’s revenue is spent on debt servicing.  How much debt is too much 

debt? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  It is a question of sustainability.  

That depends on the nature of the income streams that stand behind the debt.  The bulk of the GLA’s own 

debt service is related to the first Crossrail project.  That is underpinned by an enormously secure tax.  The 

Business Rate Supplement (BRS) is a fantastic revenue perspective for a treasurer to have.  It can be levied 

indefinitely.  It is very stable.  Our statistics have been very favourable to date in terms of collection.  With a 

revenue stream like that the level of debt service that it is supporting, relevant to other activities, is a little 

academic in fact.  When you have such certainty of income you can tolerate a very high level of borrowing. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Could you push that to 70%? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  If we were to have a corresponding 

additional increase in tax-raising power for a similar type of tax then, yes, theoretically that would be fine.  The 

issue is that, looking forward, a lot of the income streams that are likely to become available to support 

additional borrowing will be much less certain than the BRS itself.  At that point other considerations have to 

be brought to bear.  For an organisation like the GLA, which is very small in terms of its core expenditure, a 

level of uncertainty around the difference between income and expenditure is a severe risk and would need to 

Page 14



 

be considered very, very carefully.  There is not a precise number.  It depends on the income streams that you 

are getting to support the debt. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  I presume that is why the GLA employs people like you, to make sure we do 

not go down the sink. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  I spent all morning discussing TfL’s very ambitious strategy for transport provision, to 

deliver that we have a very ambitious business plan as well. 

 

TfL’s borrowing is the highest of all of our GLA bodies.  Given that situation the starting question is: what do 

you plan to use your long-term borrowings for over the next four years? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  Over the next four years the projects we are going to 

finance are set out in Annex B of our funding letter from central Government.  These are projects such as 

completing the upgrade of the subsurface lines, rebuilding and enhancing the capacity of Victoria Station and 

Bank Station, ensuring we have 36 trains per hour on the Victoria line, and the structures and tunnels 

investment programme.  Following the Hammersmith flyover, we have undertaken a piece of work to look at 

the state of good repair of all of our major road tunnels and structures and are now investing money in the 

road network as well as the Underground network.  As I said, it is all set out in Annex B of the funding letter. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  We have the Mayor’s Capital Investment Plan that shows TfL taking some £122 million of 

capital funding to spend on revenue for 2017/18.  Does this mean that TfL’s borrowings could be used for 

revenue expenditure? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  No.  We have to be very clear that TfL only borrows 

for capital expenditure, as we have said.  We receive different sources of funding from the GLA and currently 

from - although sadly not for much longer - the DfT, in terms of a dedicated transport grant. We use first our 

own source of revenues and then the business rates.  In the financial tables - the much improved financial 

tables, I hope you will agree - in TfL’s business plans and budgets, we try to make as clear as possible the 

fundamental financial performance of each part of the business.  We have included depreciation, amortisation 

and financing costs in the operating account.  Whereas, as Martin [Wheatcroft] said, in reality financing costs 

come out first, in the table they come in last but in reality they come out first.   

 

Navin Shah AM:  How is your borrowing limit set with central Government, can you explain that a bit better? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  Because the central Government grant and 

borrowing both form part of public sector debt, what we do is agree first of all the projects that need funding.  

Then we look at the ability of TfL and the GLA to contribute to that funding, and then the Government’s 

appetite to contribute to that funding.  Then what we do - because, effectively, on the national balance sheet 

grant and borrowing have the same effect - is work out what the affordable and sustainable level of debt for 

TfL is and agree to take that as borrowing with the rest coming in grant form from the DfT. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  How does the annual central Government borrowing limit work with the Mayor’s borrowing? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  Every few years we have engaged in a tripartite 

discussion with DfT, the GLA and ourselves.  That forms the basis of the funding letter which sets out the 

profile of borrowing and the amount of debt that we can afford to undertake.  Effectively, those borrowing 

limits match to the operational boundaries in our prudential indicators.  You can follow that through, because 

you can see the incremental amount of debt increases in line with that in terms of the forward looking 

prudential indicators.  Then we allow headroom for refinancing of either maturing PFI transactions or debt 

Page 15



 

maturities in order to set an authorised limit that has about £1 billion of headroom over and above our 

expected level of borrowing, and that is how the authorised limit is set in relation to the Government 

borrowing limits. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Given the ambitions you have, if the borrowing limits from Government are to be raised 

would you choose to borrow more?  Do you think you may need to? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  We would only choose to borrow more to the extent 

to which we could satisfy ourselves that it was affordable.  As Luke [Webster] said we are, as you know, 

seeking to put TfL on to a more sustainable financial footing, so over the last 17 years it has been the 

Government’s appetite to increase its own balance sheet that has been the constraint in TfL’s borrowing.  We 

have now gone from a place where London, the GLA and TfL had zero debt in 2000, to a place where we have 

a significant amount of debt in 2017.  We are only looking to add to that stock of debt at the rate at which we 

can afford to service it, either from other forms of direct taxation, from retained business rates or other forms 

of devolved funding, or from increases in demand for our services generating increased revenues so we will 

increase at that pace. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  OK.  TfL is facing some significant financial challenges over the next four years.  If your 

borrowings were to be affected and if you fell short on your ambitious saving targets or if your revenue from 

fares forecasts were to fall, what happens? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  We would have to consider, in the context of having 

the legal requirement for a balanced budget and setting a business plan, whether it is still prudent to borrow 

the amount of money that we currently project that we will be borrowing over the next four or five years. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Let us say, for example, you borrowed over a period of time and fares 

income goes as it should for some of that time and then goes down for whatever reason, do you then have to 

make adjustments to your revenue spending according because, as we heard from all of you, debt servicing is 

the first priority all the time.  Presumably that would constrain your ability to deliver revenue projects 

elsewhere.  Say, for example, worst case scenario, you have to start laying people off because that is your 

biggest revenue cost, isn’t it? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  No, actually, people are not our biggest revenue 

cost. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  They are not? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  No. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK, that is interesting.  What are not your biggest revenue costs? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  If you look in our financial accounts, the bus 

contracts collectively are our single biggest revenue cost and then the operation costs of running the rest of 

the services.  We have, effectively, £6 billion paid to our supply chain in the context of the operating and 

capital investment programmes, but £2 billion is paid to the bus companies every year to run the bus network 

and then about £1.7 to £1.8 billion in terms of TfL’s own staff costs. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  How much freedom would you have to take revenue from your contracts, 

say your bus contract was up? 

 

Page 16



 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  As part of our transformation programme now we 

are looking across every area of our spend, so not just the bus contracts but every contract we have, whether it 

is cleaning and facilities maintenance right the way through to the large contracts to look at how we can 

deliver the level of services we need to deliver more effectively in terms of the cost, and also the capital 

programme in terms of the specification and how can we buy it in a smarter way, and we are a year into the 

start of that journey. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  Take the example we have just given, you have borrowed money for 

whatever reason, fares income is dropping - let us say sharply for whatever reason - so you have to make some 

adjustments to your revenue outgoings in order to service the debt you already have, what would be your first 

port of call? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  First of all, as you would expect, on a regular basis, 

we look at all the options we have through either other sources of income.  We would look at those as well as 

making cost reductions or making reductions across the capital programmes as well.  We would look across that 

£10 billion of annual spend where we could save that money very quickly. 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  Chairman, if I might add, just to hopefully help Simon 

[Kilonback] out - apologies if I do not - I think what you are indicating is that, because you are intending to 

borrow more, the first thing you would do is slow down and defer some of your projects, so that you would 

stop increasing your borrowing as fast as you had originally planned to.  That would be the obvious first thing 

to do if you have a slow down or a reduction in revenue.  Then you would look at your options for either cost 

saving or fare increases, to the extent you could or whatever, to try and make up the shortfall and you would 

defer first.  You would then cut discretionary and then you would look at other things that were non-

discretionary. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  If you were to defer this borrowing how would you choose? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  It is a question ultimately for the Mayor and the TfL 

board in terms of the annual prioritisation. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That would be based on your advice, presumably. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  On the advice of the TfL Executive Committee, yes. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  If we can move on to the next question.  How confident are you that you have sufficient 

headroom between your planned borrowings, and your borrowing limit, should things go wrong. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  As I said, when we undertake our business plans and 

forecasts, we look at a sensitivity analysis of what may happen and we set a level of borrowing that we believe 

is affordable, given that there is likely to be some variation in income and costs over time.  As Luke [Webster] 

mentioned earlier on, the different Functional Bodies will have different risk appetites.  Because TfL is a very 

large and complex organisation with a very high level of operating costs and costs that take time to manage 

down, our ability to raise £1 of borrowing for every £1 of income does not work in the same way as for the GLA 

themselves who, if you have a dedicated stream of taxation then you can look to borrow the majority of that 

income stream because you can hypothecate it to servicing the debt.  For us we have to take into account the 

deliverability of the plan and then set a level of borrowing that we feel we can do, even given some scenarios 

about what might happen around the deliverability of that plan. 

 

Page 17



 

Navin Shah AM: Is it normal for organisations to take out borrowings right at the top of their borrowing limits 

from central Government? 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  There is no normal and it is up to the individual 

circumstances on this.  The main thing is not to use the limit as a target of, “We can borrow up to the limit.  

Now, what do we do with the money?”  It has to be that you have genuine projects of public purpose that are 

worthwhile investing in or that produce financial return.  That has to be the priority.  It is not uncommon to see 

a lot of people up near their borrowing limits but the question is why they are there. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  In the case of TfL, as we have said, we have agreed 

the projects that we are going to finance with central Government.  The limit is set to allow those projects to 

be financed. 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  Probably it is worth clarifying that 

for the rest of the group in general the limits are limits we set ourselves, and they represent the maximum level 

of sustainable finance in our regard, so there is that self-determination and it is by no means a target to get up 

there.  We are saying, “We cannot go beyond this point” and clearly we are trying to save public money to the 

maximum extent and then stay below that where we can. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Simon [Kilonback], it looks from your business plan that you are taking out new borrowings 

- substantial borrowings - but at the same time you are not planning to pay off any of your existing debts over 

the next four-year period.  Can you explain how this is the situation? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  It is normal in a large corporate that is investing 

significant amounts of money in enhancing its assets, in order to grow its business and generate future 

revenue receipts.  First of all, we match the repayment of the borrowing to the economic life of the assets, and 

the number of our loans do in fact amortise over time alongside the profile of those assets.  It is hard, 

therefore, from the accounts to see that that is indeed happening, because we are taking out new borrowings 

to refinance more assets at the same time as loans that have been taken out previously are indeed amortising 

off. 

 

Given that we have a set amount of money that we can invest in capital expenditure to use it to pay off debt at 

the same time as we are trying to invest in upgrading and renewing the main transport infrastructure assets, 

and adding to those transport infrastructure assets, would not be a good use of that capital headroom. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Yes, I understand that but is it sustainable?  Is it fair that by not paying your debts you are 

increasing the level of debt for the next generation? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  As I said, we are repaying some of the debts so the 

debts are amortising in line with the profile of the assets, for example, rolling stock that we are financing, so it 

is not correct to say that we are not paying back the debts.  We are paying back the debts that we raised but 

we are raising new borrowings to invest in new assets which future generations will benefit from. 

 

Emanuela Cernoia-Russo (Assistant Treasurer, TfL):  We are paying back over £300 million of existing 

debt and raising additional debt to fund Crossrail stock and décor and additional Crossrail infrastructure. 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  This is quite an important point for 

external observers understanding public sector balance sheets.  What we do do very rigorously is keep track of 

each asset and its useful economic life over time.  Within our accounts you can compute a quantity of 

essentially capital expenditure that has occurred but has not yet been funded, either by being charged to 

Page 18



 

revenue or by some other source.  We call that our capital financing requirement.  We will break that down, in 

the GLA’s case, into the Crossrail, NLE, Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park, and very carefully make sure that those 

are being amortised so the charge is going through revenue and we are paying for that. 

 

There is a difference between that accounting discipline and the management of the borrowing portfolio, 

which we do by looking at the overall cash flow position and doing it on an aggregated basis.  That is a 

fundamental principle of the prudential code.  You may not see individual loans being repaid at a specific time 

but the accounting entries are going through and the debt will reduce over time in line with the useful life of 

the asset, but if the total asset value is growing you will just see an increase in debt. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  That is helpful.  Thank you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  LFEPA has been - from a financial situation anyway - in the relatively happy 

situation of having large capital receipts to use to finance capital programmes in recent years.  That is due to 

end in the next financial year I believe? 

 

Sue Budden (Director of Finance and Contractual Services, London Fire Brigade):  Yes.  We still have 

to decide about the Albert Embankment and we have not factored in any receipt. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  For the Albert Embankment? 

 

Sue Budden (Director of Finance and Contractual Services, London Fire Brigade):  Yes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That capital receipt would be considerable. 

 

Sue Budden (Director of Finance and Contractual Services, London Fire Brigade):  Yes.  Then you 

know the history around trying to sell that site and, until we have a successful planning application, I am not 

prepared to factor in any receipt into our current projection. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Which is prudent obviously but, that said, as and when that happens, then 

any further borrowing for LFEPA for some time may not need to take place, is that correct? 

 

Sue Budden (Director of Finance and Contractual Services, London Fire Brigade):  I would not say we 

need to borrow at all, but it would certainly give us an opportunity to look across the piece.  It would make a 

material difference to the forecast that you have in front of you which shows us moving purely to external 

borrowing to fund the capital programme through to 2021.  It will make a significant difference to that. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Yes, it would.  Should that happen, then your debt financing costs would 

not be negligible but they would be minimised considerably, which would presumably free up revenue for other 

things? 

 

Sue Budden (Director of Finance and Contractual Services, London Fire Brigade):  Potentially, so we 

have been reducing debt over time since 2011/12.  Our debt has gone down by about £30 million.  Our 

financing charge has gone down as a result of that, so it is now about £9.5 million a year.  If we were not to 

borrow at all from next March, over the lifetime of this plan, we would save about another £4.5 million, so we 

would halve our debt charge.  I do not know that we could get into that position from then on. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  I was going to say: how realistic is that because quite clearly the fleet is 

being replaced. 

 

Page 19



 

Sue Budden (Director of Finance and Contractual Services, London Fire Brigade):  Yes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  We know about that.  We know that we need to try to, if at all possible, 

speed that up because of the Ultra Low Emissions Zone (ULEZ) and things. 

 

Sue Budden (Director of Finance and Contractual Services, London Fire Brigade):  Yes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The other thing, without going into areas that might get swallowed by 

public inquiry, there has been speculation in the media about the need to buy certain types of new appliance 

for certain types of incident.  Is that being factored into your capital investment programme? 

 

Sue Budden (Director of Finance and Contractual Services, London Fire Brigade):  Yes.  That is what 

we are looking at now because we revisit the capital plan every year as part of the budget setting process, and 

as there are streams within that for various fleet replacement, including areas of privacy, so that is what we are 

looking at. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much.  We could get to the stage resuming Albany 

Embankment.  Let us assume it does not go forward.  I know what a sore that has been for a decade or more.  

Would we be in the situation where the London Fire Brigade (LFB) is servicing its entire capital programme 

through borrowing? 

 

Sue Budden (Director of Finance and Contractual Services, London Fire Brigade):  For the new 

programme, yes.  We still have assets that are live that are being funded through receipts but our new spend 

would be funded through external borrowing. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  Martin [Wheatcroft], is that normal? 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  It is not unreasonable.  The key issue with any decision 

to borrow and, of course, if you lease an asset you are borrowing the whole amount if you choose to borrow.  

It is really what the risks are relating to that and whether you have sufficient cushion and resources.  Normally 

lenders do not like to lend the entire capital programme for, say, a private business because it creates too 

highly leveraged a business and too risky a business, but in the public sector because you have the ability to 

tap into taxpayer revenues and so on, that is much more comfortable and it does depend.  The Fire Authority is 

a wider network with the GLA, so you have a wider pull so that if one particular unit is borrowing it is not such 

an issue. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Yes.  Would that require mayoral intervention on that?  I am taking it from 

what you have just said.  Let us say, for example, the LFB is borrowing massively.  Compared to the wider GLA 

Group, the LFB is a small part of the wider Group.  If it is borrowing massively, and your budget is strained in 

terms of servicing that debt that would require mayoral intervention to move money around the Group.  It is 

not something that would happen automatically? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  That is true.  If there were an 

aggregate decision to reallocate resources that would clearly have to be taken at a mayoral level.  One of the 

things we can do as a result of our very close shared working now on finance issues generally but particularly 

treasury, is we can look to potentially reallocate debt around the Group.  If LFEPA has, for instance, a new 

flexibility to not require quite so much borrowing, let us say the Albert Embankment receipt emerges next year, 

it may be possible, rather than LFEPA being stuck with its existing portfolio and having to cover the interest 

charges on that, if the GLA has a borrowing requirement at that time we may be able to move the obligation 

over, so there are flexibilities to manage things at a Group level. 

Page 20



 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That makes sense.  That is music to the ears of everyone.  With regard to 

LFEPA’s capital programme, assuming Albert Embankment does not go forward, there would need to be more 

borrowing than there is at the moment.  What impact is that going to have on revenue?  What I am getting at 

is your ability to service any potential future debt. 

 

Sue Budden (Director of Finance and Contractual Services, London Fire Brigade):  The additional 

borrowing from the capital programme we presented in March 2017 is around £3.3 million.  That is where we 

will be up to by the time we get to 2021.  It will take our borrowing as a percentage of our total funding from, I 

think it is about, 2.5% now to a little over 3%, so it is not significant in percentage terms. 

 

We do not borrow until we are spending, so we have options to look at the size of the capital programme as we 

go forward.  If we found it was difficult to meet whatever our funding was as set by the Mayor or had changed 

in some way, then we could look at the capital programme.  We can take decisions.  We have in the past said, 

as part of the savings round, “Shall we stop investing in the estate for a period of time in order to save some 

money?”  That always feels like a very short term attitude to take, because it continues to deteriorate while 

you do not invest in it and it becomes more expensive in the end but they are options. 

 

We do not have a capital programme that is all live now.  They are aspirations to spend in each year, so there 

are choices that we can make.  One of the other things that constrain us as well is also our ability to spend, so 

we are quite a small organisation and we have aspirations around improving the estate that can be quite slow 

to achieve.  That constrains the size of the programme in itself beyond the cost of debt. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  You have wider issues, Navin. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Yes, I have wider issues in the main to do with excess to finance, interest rates and credit 

rating which affect everyone round the table.  Before we go into that, just a general question to Luke 

[Webster] about GLA’s borrowing level.  Why has GLA Group borrowing increased quicker than local authority 

borrowing over the last five years?  You have probably mentioned that but if you can go into it a bit more? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  Yes, certainly.  To an extent it is a 

statistical artefact rather than any particular trend.  The fact is the GLA has gone from nought to a very high 

number in a very short space of time.  That is as a result of the opportunity to participate in the Crossrail 

contract fundamentally, followed by the rapid dissolution of the London Development Agency and the 

assumption of their debt obligation increased things further, and then the NLE came along, again, at a pretty 

proximate time, so it is just a function of opportunity to deliver these strategic initiatives. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  We have, let us not forget, Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation (OPDC) to 

come in as well, for which I wonder if you have any indicative figures as to the level of borrowing that would 

require.  Overall, the fact is that we are the strategic authority and, therefore, we have greater demands and a 

huge budget. 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  That is right.  It is important to 

view the GLA’s role in this area as an aggregator for London.  Prior to the GLA’s existence some of these 

initiatives would have happened but the borrowing might have been fragmented between several authorities in 

different places.  One of the advantages of having a strategic authority is that we can do more of a global asset 

and liability matching exercise and hopefully get a more efficient result. 

 

Page 21



 

Navin Shah AM:  Yes.  That would be good.  Martin [Wheatcroft], does it concern you that the growth of 

GLA Group borrowing has been more than eight times the growth of local authority borrowing over the last 

five years? 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  No, I would agree with Luke [Webster].  It comes down 

a lot to the fact that you have bigger opportunities in London than many other parts of the country.  You have 

been given the powers and opportunity and the projects have been there.  Generally London, when you look at 

the overall public sector, it is generating about £30 billion more in tax revenue than the public purse spends in 

London.  If you spend £1 here you get a much bigger return, simply because of the benefits of scale of London 

as it is.  Unfortunately, it is probably more a sign of the issues that the rest of the country have in attracting 

and being encouraged to borrow to invest.  You are benefiting rather than it being a concern the other way 

round. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Is it fair to say that Londoners are getting better value for their money? 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  That is the economies of scale of a big city and of 

course, as we all know, London is a very prosperous city so is generally the overall public sector.  One of the 

problems the country has as a whole is that it makes a lot more sense to invest in London because the return, 

both in tax revenue and in fares and things like that, is much higher than it would be in, say, the north of 

England. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Yes, if we can move on to access to financing.  This is both to TfL and Luke.  Do you expect 

Brexit to have any impact on your ability to access finance particularly from the European Investment Banks 

(EIB)? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  In terms of our ability access 

finance generally, no, I would not anticipate a major impact.  We do have a very wide variety of sources, 

predominantly and really the underpinning pillar to the local government finance framework is access to 

on-lending from Government through the entity as was, the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB), now part of 

the Debt Management Office (DMO).  There are no proposals to change that as a result of the Brexit process. 

 

We have access to the capital markets as a whole.  From a personal perspective, I do not discriminate between 

the credit quality of different local authorities.  Investors in the market do and we are happy to be on the 

favoured side of that.  London is seen as a tremendous investment case by a majority of our bond investors, so 

we do not envisage that that would be materially altered by a change in terms of the relationship with the 

European Union (EU). 

 

A very important source of finance within the Group, perhaps less affecting colleagues at TfL but certainly 

within the rest of us, is our collective pooled cash balances.  One of the things that are important in local 

government is the concept of internal borrowing so, rather than going out to borrow money externally to 

finance a project, you might want to use some of the cash that is already sitting there.  Borrowing is certainly 

very cheap at the moment but investment returns are far, far lower.  Borrowing incurs a cost to carry when you 

undertake it. 

 

We can make that saving and also reduce our cash balances, which reduces the risk of losing it, so you get a 

double benefit of cost and credit risk reduction.  There are some risks to the approach but, again, we view that 

as being a significant opportunity over the coming years, so totally unaffected by this process. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  What are the risks to that process? 

 

Page 22



 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  The risks are that the reason the 

cash is there is that it is either capital resources, receipts or grants received in advance of need, or strategic 

reserves, a certain amount of working capital too.  Now, reserves are there because you are putting reserves 

aside and by the current definition you do not always know when they are going to be called.  The risk would 

be if you took an extreme internal borrowing position and essentially had a minimal cash balance.  At the time 

you need to spend your reserves you will have to replenish that cash by borrowing.  If interest rates have 

turned against you at that time that can be a pretty severe problem, and it is almost a double whammy because 

by definition of having to call on your reserves you are under financial stress, so the last thing you want is a 

massively increased interest bill, so that needs careful consideration. 

 

The other more subtle risk, which is sometimes neglected in the sector, is that that saving can become quite 

large and, unless you are careful to identify it and identify its place in the budget, you can end up subsidising 

your revenue budget as a result of your debt management choices and, again, if you have to reverse the debt 

management position if you had been relying on that saving to deliver services, you will have to cut those in 

consequence. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Simon [Kilonback], your thoughts on this? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  The EIB has been an incredibly important source of 

funding for us over the years.  We have credit lines with them worth over £3.5 billion, of which we have drawn 

£2.5 billion, and they have also been a lender into the majority of PFIs or rolling stock leases over time, so very, 

very important.  However, because of the access that we and the rest of the Functional Bodies have to the 

Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) or the DMO, as it is now, so directly to United Kingdom (UK) Government 

borrowing that is on lent to the Functional Bodies, there is no liquidity risk from not being able to get money 

from the EIB and there is a cap on the maximum penalty, if you like, from potentially borrowing from more 

expensive sources because we would only borrow from sources to the extent to which they are cheaper than 

the PWLB itself. 

 

Clearly we would hope that there is a way in which London, and infrastructure projects more generally, can 

continue to work with the EIB going forward but there is a lot of water to flow under the bridge before we get 

to that position. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  There are people outside the EU that do have access to the EIB on that? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  There are, yes.  They do lend to a number of other 

jurisdictions and they lend in line with their mandated policies, such as air quality is one of them and mass 

public transport is another, so you would fit into those buckets.  Although we should expect that if we are no 

longer a member and no longer a shareholder in the EIB that the stock of lending you would expect to 

decrease. 

 

We have - as the GLA has - sought to make sure we have access to as many sources as we possibly can.  We 

have over £3.5 billion of borrowing from the capital markets directly.  That has again been cheaper for us over 

time than borrowing from other Government sources and, therefore, by having that direct relationship we 

know that we can access the capital markets in our own right. 

 

We have also started to develop relationships with non-EU lenders, such as Export Development Canada (EDC), 

and we now have over £750 million of financing from EDC for rolling stock and signalling.  That is an important 

thing that the GLA family should do to look beyond the EU to wherever else. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  How recently did you set that up? 

Page 23



 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  We did the £500 million loan two years ago. 

 

Emanuela Cernoia-Russo (Assistant Treasurer, TfL):  Two years ago and the loan just now. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  We signed a £250 million facility in April. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  The first part of that was pre-Brexit and the second part was post? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  Post, yes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Why did you do that?  Because pre-Brexit no one saw Brexit coming, did 

they, let us be honest?  That is not the only thing that has not been seen coming recently, but what was your 

thinking?  I understand entirely what your thinking would be now but what was -- 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  Even pre-Brexit, not that we could see Brexit 

happening but in terms of good debt management you want to access the widest possible sources of 

borrowing.  We have had both the global financial crisis but we had a European sovereign debt crisis in 

2011/12 where, for example, EIB pricing was significantly more expensive than other forms of borrowing, so 

they have not always been the cheapest. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  It was just risk spreading? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  It was risk spreading. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  

 

Navin Shah AM:  What assumptions have you made on interest rates when you have been making your 

finance forecasts? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA): For us it depends on the project 

what approach we would take and, in particular, how long the period from now is that we are likely to be 

taking out borrowing over.  It also depends to a certain extent on the revenue stream, so the riskier the 

revenue stream the more resources we will put into the risk analysis of the original decision. 

 

We typically assume a planning assumption that will be based on the rate now and what the market is implying 

will be the rate at the relevant point in the future, and then we will stress test that with a number of 

simulations based on historical experience to look at the possible range of variation and what that would mean 

to the affordability of the project. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  Exactly the same, so we follow a very similar 

approach to Luke [Webster] and we look at the individual projects and the collective lifecycle of our debts.  We 

look at the current rates in the market, derived forward rates and then, as Luke [Webster] said, we all model 

the risks of increases in interest rates and compare them to long-term average interest rates in the UK which 

are clearly substantially higher than they are now and, therefore, adopt an assumption for any long-term 

borrowing or projects that would withstand significant interest rates increases. 

 

Sue Budden (Director of Finance and Contractual Services, London Fire Brigade):  It is probably a bit 

simpler in that we focus on loans from the PWLB, and we use Capita and the advice we can get through the 

Group Investment Syndicate on the forecast on what our loans will be.  As I said before, we go for fixed rate 

Page 24



 

loans so we look at the loans as for the life of the asset and they would vary but that is how we base our 

forward projections. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  In your case then an interest rate variation would make no difference at all 

because you have already planned for it? 

 

Sue Budden (Director of Finance and Contractual Services, London Fire Brigade):  Not for existing 

loans, no. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Yes, OK.  What impact would a change in interest rates have on financing costs for your 

existing loans? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  Almost all of our existing stock of £10 billion of debt 

is fixed, so in total I think about 97% is fixed, so very little.  Similarly, the facilities we have put in place, where 

we have had to draw down on from the EIB and EDC means that we have forward locked the drawdown 

tranches for this year, so we are about 75% to 80% fixed on loans that we will drawdown later in this financial 

year.  Overall, across our portfolio, again, we are predominantly fixed rate. 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  As you probably hoped, given the 

level of interest spending as a total of our budget, our interest rate sensitivity is very, very low, predominantly 

fixed rate loans.  The relationship of course between inflation and interest rates is not automatic but to the 

extent that higher interest rates corresponded with higher inflation, yes, and the interest rate on our linked 

bonds would increase but then so would our income, so effectively very, very low.  Like our colleagues in TfL, 

we are very keen to hedge future interest rate risk wherever possible.  For the NLE, for instance, the 

subsequent borrowing that we are expecting over the next two to three years is all arranged with forward 

contracts, so we know exactly what it will cost. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Will you need to refinance any of your borrowings in the next four years and what impact 

will a change in interest rates have? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  For the GLA we do not anticipate 

any refinancing, in fact our problem is rather the reverse in that the changes in funding, particularly in relation 

to housing that have come about as a result of devolution of responsibilities, mean that the GLA is perhaps in a 

slightly stronger cash position than we were when I first started working on designing the debt portfolio for 

Crossrail.  We are looking for opportunities potentially to reduce external borrowings before they mature rather 

than have to refinance. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Do you have any situations? 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  We do have debt that is maturing over the five years 

but we have built it in to our forward plan and have arranged a large number of facilities.  As we just 

mentioned, we have already forward locked the majority of the drawdowns.  On top of that, TfL has the power 

to directly hedge interest rate exposures and we monitor and discuss that with the TfL board at least quarterly.  

As I said, for this year we are 75% fixed for this year’s incremental borrowing and we are discussing whether or 

not it is appropriate to do any more for future years at the moment. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  The last question is about credit rating.  How much change to your credit rating affects your 

borrowing plans? 

 

Page 25



 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  It might well change the mix that 

we decide on, although there are many other factors that can affect that too because typically we would 

expect that if the change in credit rating was material - and say we were downgraded by a couple of notches - 

the expectation would be that costs would be higher for borrowing from private sources.  The cost of the 

PWLB would be unchanged.  It is important to distinguish between the reasons for the downgrade.  If it is as a 

result of the UK being downgraded, we all move in lockstep. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  What are the chances generally for the public sector to be downgraded in the next, let us 

say, four years? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  I could not possibly comment on 

the UK’s probability of downgrade.  There are many factors in play at the moment, which make that difficult to 

tell. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  You were sort of mid-sentence, if the UK is downgraded and you are about 

to talk about the PWLB and then you were about to say something quite interesting.  Would you like to 

complete that thought? 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  If the UK is downgraded then 

potentially UK borrowing costs go up slightly and so our PWLB rates will go up in tandem, but I think our 

spread relative to Government borrowing would be reasonably unchanged.  If we are downgraded relative to 

Government, so if the UK stays where it is and people think that we are not doing a very good risk 

management job and we get moved down notches, then that would likely have a severe impact on our ability 

to access other sources. 

 

Simon Kilonback (Director of Group Treasury, TfL):  In exactly the same way, as Luke [Webster] has just 

said, the absolute cost is effectively determined by the absolute cost of borrowing from Government, so 

Government’s own borrowing cost and the spread from the PWLB and then any changes in our rating, whether 

it is the Government itself becoming downgraded and/or Government-related bodies having a knock on effect 

on their credit rating or the extent that a particular authority is not managing its finances as well as it has done 

previously, leading to a downgrade of an authority on its own, will impact upon the cost of borrowing from 

sources other than Government. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Martin [Wheatcroft], do you want to add anything to what you have heard? 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  In terms of your question, the likelihood of a credit 

rating downgrade, that has to be quite possible or quite high because the credit rating agencies say so.  They 

have all the ratings on negative outlook, which means that they think it is quite possible that they would 

downgrade, so that is quite a possibility.  Whether it actually means anything, obviously we were already 

downgraded as a country in the last few years and interest rates are now lower than they were before that 

downgrade, is a different matter. 

 

It comes back to some of the things about what might happen with Brexit and so on.  The biggest issue for the 

national position, which then feeds through to the availability of loans to local authorities, is the refinancing 

programme that the Government has.  It has about £700 billion to refinance over the next five years.  That is 

quite a big amount of money, and of course a stable environment is helpful to that and if things are not 

stable -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That is a strong statement. 

 

Page 26



 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  Sorry, I realise that is a mistake.  I should have been 

more careful with my language there. 

 

Luke Webster (Group Treasury and Chief Investment Officer, GLA):  That is a very important point that 

the supply and demand factors are much more important than ratings, which are obviously part of the relative 

picture relative to the rest of the world and other perceptions of risks and benefits implicit in the UK economy. 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  Generally, the main effect is, it is unlikely that there is a 

real conceivable situation where the UK would not be a good place to lend money.  It is the price at which 

lenders would want to ask for that money is the issue. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Downgrading of the credit rating would not mean that people would not 

lend us money.  We would just pay more for it. 

 

Martin Wheatcroft (Fiscal Accountant, Pendan):  They might ask for more for it because it is not just 

about the credit rating.  That would then feed through into the overall cost of debt, but the good news is the 

UK, because it has been refinancing quite a lot of debt over the last five years - it has refinanced £800 million 

over the last five years - means that it has been able to lock in quite a lot of low rates, so generally that is 

going to provide a drag on the rates going up too quickly in terms of the combined rate on the debt. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  That is it, Chair. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  That is a very hopeful and optimistic point to finish on. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Indeed. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  We have come to an end.  Can I thank all of our guests for giving up their 

time today and for the answers and can I recommend that we note the answers given? 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Noted, Chair. 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



 

                                                                    

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 
 

 

Subject: Quarter 1, 2017/18 GLA Group 
Monitoring Reports 

Report to: Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee   

 

Report of: Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 18 October 2017 

 

This report will be considered in public 
 

 

1. Summary  
 

1.1 This report sets out, as appendices, the individual monitoring reports submitted by the Greater 

London Authority (GLA) Group on its finance and performance issues for Quarter 1 of 2017/18. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 

2.1 That the Sub-Committee notes the monitoring reports for Quarter 1 of 2017/18. 

 

 

3. Background 
 

3.1 At its meeting on 13 June 2017, the Budget and Performance Committee agreed to refer 

automatically to the Sub-Committee for the 2017/18 Assembly year quarterly monitoring reports 

from the GLA and functional bodies. 

 
 
4. Issues for Consideration  

 

4.1 The bodies submitting financial reports are: the GLA; the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime, 

(MOPAC); the London Legacy Development Corporation (LLDC); Transport for London (TfL); the 

London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority (LFEPA); and the Old Oak and Park Royal 

Development Corporation (OPDC). 

 

4.2  The monitoring reports submitted by the GLA Group on finance and performance for Quarter 1 of 

are included as follows: 

 Appendix 1 – GLA Finance & Performance Monitoring Report, Quarter 1 2017/18, Project 

Performance Table and Affordable Housing Report to June 2017 (pages 31 to 64);  

 Appendix 2 – MOPAC Quarterly Performance Report - Quarter 1 2017/18 and MPS Business 

Plan 2017-18, Quarter 1 update (pages 65 to 122); 

 Appendix 3 – LLDC Corporate Performance Report, April - June 2017 (pages 123 to 160; 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4



 Appendix 4 – TfL Quarterly Performance Report -  Quarter 1 2017/18 (pages 161 to190); 

 Appendix 5 – LFEPA Financial Position as at end of June 2017 (pages 191to 214); and  

 Appendix 6 – OPDC, Finance and Performance Report, Budget Summary and Corporate 

Performance Dashboard Quarter 1 2017/18. (pages 215 to 226). 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from the report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the report. 
 

 

List of appendices to this report: As set out at paragraph 4.2  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Laura Francis, Committee Assistant 

Telephone:  020 7983 4383 

E-mail: laura.francis@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 30

mailto:laura.francis@london.gov.uk


 
 

Appendix 1 
Greater London  
Authority (GLA) 

 
Financial and  

Performance Report  
 

Quarter One (Q1) 
2017-18 

 
 
 
 

Contents 
  

1 Introduction 
 

2 Summary financial position 
 

3 Revenue 
 

4 Capital 
 

5 Performance 
 
Appendix 1: Revenue Forecast Q1 2017-18 
 
Appendix 2: Capital Forecast Q1 2017-18 
 
Appendix 3: Programme Performance   

Page 31



 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 This report provides a summary of the GLA’s financial and performance standing as the 
end of Q1 2017-18. 

 
 

2. Summary final financial position 
 
2.1 The overall revenue and capital forecast positions are shown below. 
 

 Annual 
Budget 

£m 

Forecast 
 

£m 

Variance 
 

£m 

Forecast to 
Budget 

Revenue: directorates 147.0 141.6 -5.4 4% 

Revenue: corporate items 12.4 15.2 2.8 23% 

Capital 710.5 740.5 30.0 4% 

 
2.2 A more detailed breakdown can be found at Appendices 1 and 2. 
 
 

3. Revenue 
 

Revenue: Directorates 
 

3.1 The Q1 net revenue forecast position for 2017-18 is an underspend of £5.4m. This is 
made up of a combination of under and overspends, of which the most significant 
elements of the outturn variance are summarised below. 

 

Directorate Variance 
£m 

Commentary 
 

Elections -0.2 The 2016 Mayor and Assembly election 
costs have been fully incurred. The current 
forecast is a result of not fully utilising the 
contingency budget. 

Mayor’s Office -0.3 Underspends are occurring in the non-
staffing budget.  

Resources  0.1 The overspend forecast relates principally 
to: 

 An expected Facilities 
Management (FM) 
underachievement of City Hall 
leasing income with a high value 
of waivers in Q1. 

Development, 
Enterprise & 
Environment  

-0.4 The underspend forecast is because of 
variances in the following areas: 

 The London Enterprise Action 
Panel’s (LEAP) forecast of an 
underspend of £0.1m due to 
slippage in the Core Fund. 

 Planning forecast an underspend of 
£0.6m. This is principally due to 

Page 32



 
 

programme slippage of £0.1m and 
anticipated additional income of £0.4m 
for preapplications.   

 The Economic Business Policy Unit 
forecast an overspend of £0.2m on 
staffing. 

External Affairs 0.2 This forecast overspend is a result of the 
following principal variance: 

 There are forecast overspends 
within the Events Programme 
budget totalling £0.2m. This mainly 
arises from the London is Open 
campaign (MD2155), where costs 
were to be contained from within 
the Events budget in the first 
instance.  

Communities & 
Intelligence 

-0.8 The underspend is because of forecast 
variances in the following areas: 

 Education and Youth: There is a 
net underspend of £0.3m in this 
area. This is principally due to 
slippage against the London School 
Excellence Fund £0.1m; and 
Getting Back on Track and Care 
leavers into Work Programmes 
£0.2m. 

 Culture: There is a net underspend 
of £0.4m forecast for this area. 
£0.2m is due to slippage forecast in 
programmes areas London Borough 
of Culture (grants to local 
boroughs were delayed due to local 
elections) and Culture Seeds (delay 
in the programme commencing). 
Lastly there is underspend forecast 
in staffing areas of £0.2m as the 
unit is still in an interim period 
whilst a permanent structure is 
agreed. 

Assembly & 
Secretariat 

-0.5 The forecast underspend is mainly due to: 

 Additional budget was given to this 
directorate to support the 
establishment of a new statutory 
fire committee. Legislative delays 
have contributed to the forecast 
underspend.  

Housing & Land -0.4 The forecast underspend arises from:  

 £0.5m London Land Commission 
funding to be carried forward into 
2018/19. 

 £0.1m forecast overspend on 

Page 33



 
 

staffing. 

Housing & Land - 
GLAP 

-3.2 The underspend is because of variances 
forecast in the following areas: 

 GLAP recharge variance of £2.8m – 
please see below. 

 £0.4m underspend in Estates owing 
to additional income from rent and 
lower expenditure than the GLA’s 
managing agents expected. 

 
 

Revenue: Corporate items 
 

3.2 On corporate items, there is a variance of £2.8m as shown immediately below.  
 

Corporate item Variance 
£m 

Commentary 
 

GLAP recharges for  
interest payable and shared 
service charges 

2.8 Please see below. 

 
 
Contingency 
 

3.3 The GLA budget includes a sum for contingency of £2.0m. Any allocation of contingency 
is not added to base budgets but is instead available on a non-recurring basis to provide 
transitional support for specific budget areas. 
 

3.4 The approved applications of contingency to date for 2017-18 are listed below.  
 

  £m 

Original Budget  2.0 

Directorate Item  

Resources - Finance Stadium Investigation 0.1 

   

Total Adjustments  0.1 

Revised Budget  1.9 

 
 
Changes in Budget 

 
3.5 In Q1 there were two notable budget adjustments between the GLAP and corporate 

2017-18 budgets. The first, is to reflect loan interest of £9.9m to be paid by GLAP and 
received corporately which results in no change to the overall 2017-18 GLA budget.  
The second adjusts the GLAP budget by £6.5m to reflect budgeted recharges from the 
GLA. Currently the recharge income is budgeted for within the GLA corporate budget. 
This adjustment will be funded through transfers from reserves ensuring the overall GLA 
budget remains the same. The forecast GLAP recharge based on the 2016-17 actual is 
£3.7m against the £6.5m budget. This £2.8m variance results in an offsetting underspend 
in GLAP and overspend in the GLA corporate budget.  
Changes in Reserves 

Page 34



 
 

 
3.6 The table below details the reserve adjustments at the end of the first quarter with the 

transfers from the Directorate Programme reserve reflecting the application of the agreed 
carry-forward of Directorate budgets form 2016-17 closure of accounts processes (as per 
MD2153) to fund projects that were delayed and are due to start or be completed within 
this or future financial years. The table also reflects approved post year-end budget 
adjustments. 

 
3.7 The GLA’s current policy to maintain a minimum general reserve of £10m. This balance of 

£10m is assumed to remain constant through to the end of 2021 but will be kept under 
review in the light of any changes to future liabilities, risks and funding uncertainties 
facing the GLA. 
 

Page 35



 
 

 
 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Reserves to support key revenue budget outcomes

Directorate Programme 12,000 6,750 (11,000) 7,750 

Sport for Social Change Programme 5,800 0 0 5,800 

Election 1,810 4,750 0 6,560 

Environment Drainage  396 0 0 396 

Major Events 15,000 0 (2,700) 12,300 

Planning Smoothing 975 0 0 975 

Pre Application Planning 966 0 (5) 961 

Rev Grants Unapp Res 38,306 2,570 0 40,876 

Total 75,253 14,070 (13,705) 75,618 

Reserves to support organisational change and transformation

Assembly Development & Resettlement 1,490 0 0 1,490 

Development 1,000 0 0 1,000 

Mayoral Resettlement 77 0 0 77 

Total 2,567 0 0 2,567 

Reserves to support on-going capital activity and asset 

management

Capital Programme 69,694 0 (13,112) 56,582 

City Hall Lease Smoothing 4,287 0 (1,145) 3,142 

Compulsory Purchase Orders 1,330 0 0 1,330 

Estates 5,233 0 0 5,233 

Total 80,544 0 (14,257) 66,287 

General 

General Reserve 10,000 0 0 10,000 

Total GLA Reserves 168,364 14,070 (27,962) 154,472 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Business Rates 114,825 66,300 0 181,125 

Development Corporations 29,010 0 (4,400) 24,610 

NDR Backdated Appeals Speading 15,020 0 0 15,020 

Total Group Reserves 158,855 66,300 (4,400) 220,755 

£000 £000 £000 £000

London & Partners 2,245 0 0 2,245 

New Homes Bonus 18,287 0 0 18,287 

Total Third Party Reserves 20,532 0 0 20,532 

Third party Reserve Balance at 1 

April  2017

Forecast 

Transfers 

Forecast 

Transfers 

1st Apr 

2018

Group Reserve Balance at 1 

April  2017

Forecast 

Transfers 

Forecast 

Transfers 

1st Apr 

2018

Forecast GLA Reserves Balance at 1 

April  2017

Forecast 

Transfers 

In 

Forecast 

Transfers 

Out 

31st March 

2018

Balance

Page 36



 
 

4. Capital            
 
Analysis of 2017-18 Capital Budget 

4.1 The 2017-18 Capital Spending Plan of £639.2m, was approved by MD2076. The Plan 

was adjusted for the 2016-17 carry forward budget of £59.6m and new projects with a 

budget of £11.7m, which has resulted in an increased in the Capital budget to £710.5m.  

4.2 The budget of £11.7m for the new projects are funded from Revenue Reserve: two of 

the new projects were in DE&E and five were in C&I. A summary of the programme 

budget is provided in the tables below, and a detailed analysis is appended.   

Directorates 
2017/18 
Revised 
Budget 

Forecast  Variance 

Forecast 
to 
Budget 
(%) 

 

£m £m £m % 

Corporate  243.1   272.6  29.5  12% 

Regeneration  106.7   106.5  (0.2)  - 

Housing & Land  340.9   342.1   1.2  - 

Other DEE  15.9   15.4  (0.5)  -3% 

Communities and Intelligence  3.9   3.9                   -    - 

 

 710.5   740.5   30.0  4% 

 

Housing & Land 

4.3 The Housing & Land programme is forecasting a net overspend of £1.2m on the 
programme budget, as a result of two projects forecasting an overspend and two projects 
forecasting an underspend. The remaining four projects are forecasting to spend to 
budget. 

 

 2017/18 
Revised 
Budget 

Forecast  Variance Percentage 
Increase/ 
Decrease 
in Forecast 

 £m £m £m % 

Affordable Housing Programme  128.2   148.4   20.2  16% 

Community Led (Custom Build)  1.6   1.6    -    - 

Care & Support  19.5   13.3  (6.2)  -32% 

Homelessness Change and Platform for 
Life  

 5.7   8.7   3.0  52% 

London Housing Bank  40.8   25.0  (15.8)  -39% 

Housing Zones (Loans)  48.0   48.0    -    - 

Housing Zones (Grants)  83.9   83.9     -    - 

Land and Property   13.2   13.2     -    - 

  340.9   342.1   1.2  - 

 

Page 37



 
 

 
Affordable Housing Programme 

4.4 The Affordable Housing Programme is forecasting an increase of 16% on budget, at 
quarter 1. The directorate is due to announce new programme allocations, following 
which a full risk adjustments of annual delivery will be undertaken. At this stage the 
directorate is forecasting to spend above the budget to take account of additional 
allocations and the budget has been increased to £148.4m.  

          
Care & Support 

 
4.5 Care & Support is forecasting a reduction in spending of 32% on budget. The reduction is 

driven by the impact of the welfare reform and uncertainty over future Government 
proposals for welfare reform. The changes may result in a reduction in the number of bids 
being submitted for supported housing and in turn a reduction in budget requirements 
for this year.  

 
Homelessness Change and Platform for Life 

 
4.6 Homelessness Change and Platform for life is forecasting an increase of 52% on budget 

at quarter 1. Work is underway on proposals for No Second Night Out Hubs, which will be 
bid through Homelessness Change. “Start on site” are expected to commence in 2017/18 
and this may lead to an increase the budget requirement by around £3m this year.   
 
London Housing Bank 

 
4.7 The London Housing Bank is forecasting a reduction in spend of 39% on budget.  The 

reduction in forecast is due to low demand for the product from the market, as registered 
providers and developers are sourcing their funds from other financial institutions.  The 
forecast spending of £25m represents one potential contract. To-date 11% of the facility 
has been drawn – this does not include the £25m forecast above.4.8  

 
4.8 The GLA continues initial discussions with several providers who have expressed an 

interest in the programme with a view to submitting bids through continuous market 
engagement. The GLA also continues to work with DCLG to agree a repurposed and 
broadening of the programme.  

 
Land and Property 

 
4.9 Land and Property is forecasting to spend to budget. Included in the budget is a loan to 

Barking and Riverside of £11.4m, which represents 86% of the budget. The drafting of 
the loan agreement is current in progress. 
 
 
  

Page 38



 
 

Regeneration 
 

4.10 The Regeneration programme is mainly forecasting spend to budget, except for one 
project which is forecasting an underspend of £0.2m on budget. 
 

 

2017/18 
Revised 
Budget 

Forecast Variance 

 
£m £m £m 

London Regeneration Fund  17.6   17.6              -    

Mayor's Regeneration Fund   4.5   4.5              -    

Growing Places Fund  38.6   38.6              -    

Crystal Palace Park  1.5   1.5              -    

Further Education Capital Programme  42.0   42.0              -    

High Street Fund  1.0   0.8  (0.2)  

Good Growth Fund  1.0   1.0              -    

Small Cities  0.5   0.5              -    

 

 106.7   106.5  (0.2)  

 
 

High Street  
 
4.11 The High Street Fund is forecasting a reduction in spending of £0.2m. However, the 

Directorate plans to increase its revenue expenditure for this project by the same amount 
(£0.2m), to part fund the Business Continuity Fund as approved by MD2158. 

  
Other Development Enterprise and Environment projects (DE&E) 

 
4.12 The projects within ‘Other DE&E’ are forecasting to pend to budget, except Digital Skills 

which is forecasting a reduction in spending of £0.5m. Home Retrofitting projects have 
been transferred to DE&E from Housing & Land. 

 
   

 

2017/18 
Revised 
Budget 

Forecast  Variance 

 

£m £m £m 

Digital Skills   2.5   2.0  (0.5)  

London Outdoors Park   2.3   2.3              -    

TSB Smart London  0.1   0.1              -    

Air quality  6.5   6.5              -    

Energy  3.5   3.5              -    

Home Retrofitting  1.1   1.1              -    

 
 15.9   15.4  (0.5)  

 
 

  

Page 39



 
 

Communities and Intelligence (C&I) 
 

4.13 C&I are forecasting spend to budget at quarter 1. 

    

 
2017/18 
Revised 
Budget 

Forecast  Variance 

 £m £m £m 

Museum of London (C&I)  0.5   0.5              -    

A Sporting Future for London (C&I)  1.5   1.5              -    

Creative Industries  1.9   1.9              -    

 

 3.9   3.9              -    

 
 

Corporate 
 
4.14 The forecast for Corporate projects shows and increase in spending of 12% on budget.  

This increase is mainly driven by LLDC. 
 

 

2017/18 
Revised 
Budget 

Forecast  Variance 

 

 £m £m £m 

Northern Line Extension (NLE)  189.0   190.0   1.0  

London Legacy Development 
Corporation 

 51.2   79.7   28.5  

City Hall Infrastructure  2.0   2.0              -    

Technology Group  0.9   0.9              -    

 

 243.1   272.6   29.5  

 
 

London Legacy Development Corporation (LLDC) 
 

4.15 LLDC is forecasting an increase in spend for 2017-18 of £28.5m. This increase mainly 
relates to underspending on projects which were delayed 2016-17.   
  

Page 40



 
 

 

5. Performance 
 

5.1 Significant financial performance issues are set out above in the financial paragraphs of 
the report. Six projects were rated red this quarter: 

 Mayor’s Regeneration Fund: Gateway to Peckham (C21) project is red due to 
serious delays following a Compulsory Purchase Order Enquiry held in January. 

 The London Regeneration Fund: Dalston Works (E4) project is red due to severe 
delays caused by a reduction in the capacity of the delivery partner. 

 Three further education capital projects are rated red: Lambeth College (G10), 
National College for Digital Skills (G14) and Hackney Community College (G19). 

 In respect of G10, the project has been on hold since 31 March 2017. 
Changes to the scope are now being investigated as the college is merging 
with London Southbank University. 

 In respect of G14, the project moved to red due to significant underspend 
in 2016/17, £0.5 million of which the Department for Education are 
unable to carry forward.  The college is now required to now make a new 
case to the DfE for this funding. 

 In respect of G19, the project is rated red as the college has decided it 
does not wish to progress with the Here East Digital Apprentice Centre 
following a merger with Tower Hamlets College. This impacts the project's 
scope and outcomes, with clarification on this now awaited from the 
college. 

 The housing mobility project (J2) continues to be rated red as lettings for both 
schemes are below target, placing Seaside and Country Homes particularly at risk. A 
number of measures are being taken by GLA officers to increase lettings for both 
schemes and a new verification process for Housing Moves applications will begin in 
the near future 

 
5.2 The table below sets out changes to overall project ratings over the past quarter. 

The full project table is appended. This also flags projects completed in the past 
quarter.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



 
 

Project rating changes at Q1 2017/18 
 

Projects changing category 
 
 

By Period 7 (Q2, 2016-17) By Period 10 (Q3, 2016-17) By Period 13 (Q4, 2016-17) By Q1 2017/18 (Period 3) 

G
R

E
E

N
 

78 
New in: 
LRF Wood Green Works 
LRF The Livesey, Ledbury 
GPF LB Bexley Erith 
GPF Games promotion 
FE Capital Waltham Forest 
College Engineering Science 
and technology Centre 
 
HSF small projects 
MRF Tottenham Projects 
LRF Abbey Wood 
LRF Harrow Town Centre 
LRF West Ealing 
LRF London Riverside 
LRF Barking Town Centre 
 GPF Hackney Wick Station 

87
OLF Crystal Palace Park 
MRF Croydon: Wellesley Road 
Crossings 
MRF Croydon High Streets 
MRF Haringey Employment 
Support 
HSF Harrow Station Road 
HSF Forest Hill 
GPF West Anglia Route 
FEC Bromley College 
Hospitality 
Smart Cities Demonstrators 
HyFive 
Re:FIT 
H&L Royal Albert Docks 
Team London 2Work 

 

88 
New in: 
LRF Abbey Wood 
GPF Meridian Water 
 
MRF Cobden Junction 
MRF West Croydon Interchange 
MRF Croydon Business Rate 
Relief 
MRF Colliers Wood 
HSF Ladywell 
HSF Walthamstow 
LRF Dalston Works 
 LRF South Kilburn Enterprise 
Hub 
LRF CEME: London Riverside 
GPF MedCity 
GPF Meridian Water Angel 
Road 
FEC Fashion Retail Academy 
FEC City of Westminster Maida 
Vale Campus 
Energy for London  

80 
New in: 
LRF Richmond RACC Workspace 
National Park City 
Schools Air Quality Audit 
Programme 
Air Quality Business Fund 
 
HSF Burnt Oak 
HSF Wembley 
LRF Barking Town Centre 
LRF Royal Docks Silvertown 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A
M

B
E

R
 

62 
MRF 
 Haringey Opportunity 
Investment Fund 
 Haringey Employment 
Support 


HSF Abbey Wood 
Crystal palace 


LRF 
 Erith 
 Loughborough Junction 
 Meridian Water workspace 
 Richmond RACC workspace 


FE Capital 
 Fashion Retail Academy 
 Hackney Open Tech 
Institute 


Smart London 
demonstrators 
RE:FIT 
Royal Albert Docks 
 
 HSF Whitechapel 
 Mayor’s Affordable Housing 
Delivery
 FE Capital Lambeth College 
 GPF Tempus Energy 

48 
New in: 
FEC Hackney Open Tech Institute 
 
 MRF West Croydon 
Interchange 
FEC City of Westminster 
College: Maida Vale Campus 
 FEC Barnet and Southgate 
College: Colindale Skills Centre 
 Employer-led Apprenticeship 
Creation Programmes 
 
 London Sustainable Industries 
Park 

 

40 
 
 OLF Crystal Palace Park 
 LRF Barking Town Centre 
 LRF Meridian Water 
Workspace 
 LRF Beddington 
 GPF Southall Junction 
Improvement 
 GPF Erith 
 H&L Greenwich Peninsula 
 Sports Legacy Fund: Facilities 
 
 
 
























HSF Portobello 
Affordable Housing Programme 

35 
 
LRF Loughborough Junction 
GPF The Cube 
Energy for London 
Smart Cities demonstrators 

R
E

D
 

2 
Housing Mobility 

5 
MRF Cobden Junction 
HSF Portobello 

5 
LRF Romford Market Place 
FEC Lambeth College 
FEC Hackney Open Tech 
Institute 

6 
MRF Southwark: Gateway to 
Peckham 
LRF Bootstrap Co: Dalston 
Works 
FE Capital: ADA national 
College for Digital Skills 

Page 42



 
 

 
Changes to the GLA’s performance management framework 

 
5.3 A paper went to the Budget & Performance Committee explaining and seeking views on a 

refreshed GLA performance management framework.  The new framework will, initially, 
focus on five priority themes: 

 Air Quality 

 Housing 

 Social Integration 

 Future Economy 

 Arts, Culture and the Creative Industries 

 
5.4 For each theme we are identifying a number of outcomes; that is, the benefits we wish to 

secure for Londoners, linked to statutory and other strategies and Mayoral commitments. 
These will frame the commissioning and design of projects; and in turn the performance 
indicators (PIs) and deliverables we will report against will link back to identified 
outcomes. 

 
5.5 The changes will begin to filter through in the quarter 2 report (with monitoring 

information in the new format for Housing and Air Quality) to the sub-committee.  There 
will then be a shift over the course of the year so that the project-by-project monitoring 
is gradually phased out and the new portfolio-based approach is introduced. 

 
5.6 During this transition, and beyond, we will seek the views of the sub-committee to help 

shape the framework’s evolution.  
 

 

 
Completed: 
MRF LB Camden Collective 
and retail scheme 
MRF LB Croydon West 
Croydon Investment 
Programme 
MRF LB Enfield Market 
Gardening 
MRF LB Hackney Shop Fronts 
English the Key to Integration 
 
Not taken forward: 
FE Harrow Digital 
LRF Anerley Town Hall 
LRF Mainyard studios 

 Closed: 
MRF Hackney Fashion Hub 
HSF Chrisp Street Exchange 
 

Completed/closed: 
MRF 639 Tottenham High Road 
MRF Tottenham Access and 
Parking 
MRF Tottenham Controlled 
Parking Zone 
MRF Growth on the High Road 
MRF Haringey Employment 
Support 
HSF Abbey Wood 
GPF Construction Skills CITB 
FE Capital Fashion Retail 
Academy 
FE Capital Westminster Kingsway: 
Kings Cross Construction Centre 
FE Capital West Thames College: 
Feltham Skills Centre 
Employer Led Apprenticeship 
Creation Programmes 

T
o

ta
l 
 

A
ct

iv
e
 142 140 142 121 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44



 2017-18 Quarter 1 Objective Revenue Summary by Directorate

GLA

Revised Budget Expenditure/

Income

Year End 

Forecast 

Year End 

Variance

2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2017-18

£000 £000 £000 £000

Corporate Management Team

Core CMT 313 47 298 -15

Committee 163 0 163 0

Standards 18 4 18 0

Governance & Resilience 606 157 606 0

1,100 208 1,085 -15

Elections 

Elections 300 -113 145 -155

Mayor's Office

Mayoral Support 2,066 318 1,931 -135

Government & International Relations 929 66 887 -42

Political Advisors 2,132 342 2,059 -73

5,127 726 4,877 -250

Resources

Executive Director 1,573 34 1,582 9

EPMU 0 860 0 0

Financial Services 3,024 216 3,011 -13

Group Finance 965 854 993 28

Treasury 78 89 -14 -92

Facilities Management 16,524 419 16,630 106

HR & OD 2,394 421 2,449 55

Technology Group 4,706 1,429 4,709 3

29,264 4,322 29,360 96

Development, Enterprise & Environment

Executive Director 893 30 903 10

London Enterprise Panel (LEAP) 1,253 -77 1,130 -123

Planning 3,322 139 2,756 -566

Transport 540 134 550 10

Environment 6,610 -115 6,610 0

Economic and Business Policy 6,039 538 6,257 218

Regeneration 4,942 392 4,999 57

Delivery Unit 717 254 717 0

24,316 1,295 23,922 -394

External Affairs

Directorate Support 171 33 186 15

Public Liaison 842 103 842 0

External Relations 7,281 580 7,405 124

Press Office 759 158 819 60

9,053 874 9,252 199

Communities & Intelligence

Executive Director 1,175 39 1,175 0

Health & Communities 13,213 2,580 12,877 -336

Culture 7,785 3,105 7,363 -422

Intelligence 2,827 -282 2,822 -5

Team London 1,573 -508 1,573 0

26,573 4,934 25,810 -763

Assembly & Secretariat

Executive Director 222 28 210 -12

Committee and Member Services 4,534 886 4,008 -526

Scrutiny 1,621 298 1,660 39

Special Projects 1,036 258 1,036 0

7,413 1,470 6,914 -499

Housing and Land 

Executive Director 197 35 211 14

Investment and Operations 2,248 423 2,376 128

Page 45



Programmes Policy and Services 15,622 601 15,622 0

Strategic Projects and Property 2,144 -402 1,631 -513

CPO revenue 0 1 0

20,211 658 19,840 -371

GLAP

Strategic Projects and Property 4,093 -386 3,693 -400

First Buy 0 0 0 0

L&P 2,804 223 2,804 0

Tax, Interest Payable & Recharges 16,722 159 13,922 -2,800

23,619 -4 20,419 -3,200

Corporate Items

Contingency 1,875 0 1,875 0

Olympic Funding Agreement 0 0 0 0

Museum of London 11,600 1,580 11,600 0

London and Partners 11,900 3,352 11,900 0

Interest Receivable GLAP Loan -9,900 -9,900 0

Interest Receivable GLA -10,900 -330 -10,900 0

Interest Payable GLA 7,000 7,765 7,000 0

Exchange rate gain/loss/bank charges 0 0

Voluntary Revenue Provision 10,800 0 10,800 0

LPFA Past Service Adjustment 0 0 0 0

GLAP Recharge Income -6,500 0 -3,700 2,800

Government Grants 0 0

LEAP Recharge -1,020 0 -1,020 0

Transfer to/(from) reserves -2,457 -209 -2,457 0

12,398 12,158 15,198 2,800

Group Items

London Legacy Development Corporation 29,000 13,465 29,000 0

OPDC 6,900 537 6,900 0

Business Rates Retention CLG Tariff Payment 720,200 194,459 720,200 0

Business Rates Retention Levy 33,500 -13,285 33,500 0

Income Maximisation Projects (funded from BRR) 55 55 55 0

Interest Receivable LLDC -12,200 10,250 -12,200 0

Mayoral Development Corporation Reserve -4,400 0 -4,400 0

GLA Resource Funding LLDC & OPDC (budgeted 

as trf from reserves)

-19,300 0 -19,300 0

Business Rates Income to Fund CLG Tariff  

Payment

-720,200 0 -720,200 0

Business Rates Income to Fund Retention Levy -33,555 0 -33,555 0

0 205,481 0 0

Total 159,374 232,009 156,822 -2,552

Page 46



Appendix 2: Capital Forecast Q1 2017-18

Period 3 Qtr1

Current  

Budget 

Actual 

Spend 

2017/18  Variance

 £m £m £m £m

Cross-Rail 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Northern Line Extension 189.0 44.4 190.0 1.0

London Legacy Development Corporation 51.2 8.7 79.7 28.5

Education Fund Agency 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Elephant & Castle 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

City Hall Infrastructure 2.1 0.1 2.1 0.0

London and Partners 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Technology Group 0.9 0.1 0.9 0.0

Museum of London 0.5 0.8 0.5 0.0

A Sporting Future for London 1.5 0.0 1.5 0.0

Greative Industries 1.9 0.0 1.9 0.0

London Outdoors Park 2.3 0.0 2.3 0.0

Retrofitting 1.1 0.4 1.1 0.0

TSB Smart london 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0

Energy 3.5 0.0 3.5 0.0

Air Quality 6.5 0.0 6.5 0.0

Digital skills 2.5 0.0 2.0 -0.5

Mayor's Regeneration Fund 4.5 -5.7 4.5 0.0

London Enterprise Fund 0.0 -1.8 0.0 0.0

Outer London Fund 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Growing Places Fund 38.6 3.6 38.6 0.0

Further Education Capital Programme 42.0 -0.1 42.0 0.0

High Streets 1.0 -1.1 0.8 -0.2

London Regeneration Fund 17.6 -0.4 17.6 0.0

Woolwich 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Crystal Palace Park 1.5 -0.4 1.5 0.0

Super-Connected Cities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Good Growth Fund 1.0 0.0 1.0 0.0

Small Cities 0.5 0.0 0.5 0.0

GLA Housing & Land

Affordable Housing Programme 128.2 -0.2 148.4 20.2

Decent Homes Backlog 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Care & Support (MHC2) 19.5 -0.8 13.3 -6.2

Homelessness Change and Platform for Life 5.7 0.2 8.7 3.0

London Housing Bank 40.8 0.0 25.0 -15.8

Housing Zones (DCLG loans) 48.0 0.0 48.0 0.0

Housing Zones (MHC grants) 83.9 0.0 83.9 0.0

Custom Build 1.6 0.0 1.6 0.0

Land and Property

North East London 11.4 0.0 11.4 0.0

North WestLondon 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

South London 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other Property 1.4 1.6 1.4 0.0

Royal Docks (EZ) 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.0

Compulsory Purchase Orders 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total 710.5 49.2 740.5 30.0

Forecast 

Outturn         

(P3 Q1)

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 48



Ref 

No

Area Project Manager Project Name Fin Cap / 

Rev

GLA 17/18 net 

budget 

Approved carry 

Forward from 

16/17

Budgeted 

external 

income

GLA gross 

annual budget 

at Q1

Spend at Q1 Project Performance Update Overall 

project 

rating

T
im

e
sc

al
e

Is
su

e
s

R
is

k
s

T
ar

g
e
ts

B
u
d
g
e
t

. .

ECONOMIC AND BUSINESS POLICY 

(DEE)

. .  

RN R 11,900,000 11,900,000 3,352,000

RN C 0 0

A2 DEE Mark Ainsbury, 

Lisa Bennett

Food Programme RN  218,000 218,000 18,079 The new London Food Strategy has been drafted with comments awaited from the 

London Food Board. Funding agreements for the Capital Growth programme are now in 

draft.

G

RN R 1,884,000 161,000 2,045,000 1,716

RN C 2,000,000 2,000,000 0

. .

OLF and other Regen (DEE) . .

B5 DEE Louise Duggan OLF LB Enfield: North East Enfield RN C 0 0 0 This project is now complete and a closure form is awaited, at which point it will be 

removed from the table

B3 DEE Matthew Turner

Paul Harper

Crystal Palace Park RN C 1,400,000 78,000 1,478,000 -442,207 The two remaining elements of the project are the skatepark and the cafe. Work is set to 

begin on the skatepark imminently and due for completion in November 2017. The cafe 

is subject to delays as tenders have come back over budget with completion expected in 

May 2018.

Spend is shown as in credit as accruals from 2016-17 have not yet materialised.

G

. .

MAYOR'S REGENERATION FUND (DEE) . .

RN R 421,000 421,000 0

RN C 2,700,000 1,486,000 4,186,000 0

C3 MRF Tim Rettler MRF LB Croydon: West Croydon 

Interchange

RN C 0 0 -819,212 The public realm works are now complete with building frontage works now on site but 

subject to delays.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

G

C4 LEF Peter Wade MRF LB Croydon: West Croydon 

Investment Programme 

RN R 0 0 0 The programme is undergoing closure.

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 0

C6 LEF Tim Rettler MRF LB Croydon: Business Rate Relief RN R 0 0 0 The project is complete and the final claim has been paid. Evaluation of outputs will now 

take place and following that formal closure.

G

C7 LEF Tim Rettler MRF LB Croydon: Wellesley Road 

Crossings

RN C 0 0 -1,443,988 The project is now complete with the descoped pedestrian crosing to be delivered at a 

later stage in conjunction with planned improvements around the Whitgift Centre and 

tram improvements.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

G

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 -1,283,422

RN R 0 0 0 G

G

MRF

MRF

A5 DEE Michelle  Cuomo-

Boorer

Digital skills

C8 MRF / 

LEF

C9

Hanna Ostling London & PartnersA1 DEE

Tim Rettler MRF LB Croydon: High Streets

Erin Byrne MRF LB Croydon: New Addington

Tim Rettler MRF LB Croydon: Innovation Centre C5

MRF

London & Partners' strategy for 2018-2021 has been developed closely in conjunction 

with the GLA and is now subject to Mayoral approval. The #londonisopenforsummer 

campaign was launched to ensure London maintains visitor numbers over the summer 

months.

Amounts allocated here are awaiting distribution to the projects below in terms of SAP 

system (rather than being unallocated amounts) Budget Monitoring Only

Delivery of this project is set to begin in autumn 2017.

G

Awaiting Closure

Progressing to delivery

Works are now complete and the Innovation Centre is operational. The monitoring of 

outputs will be carried out by Croydon Council throughout 2017/18.

The project is complete and evaluation will now take place with outputs to be confirmed. 

Following this the project will formally close.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

G

Awaiting Closure

Delivery is now complete and evaluation will take place in the coming months. Following 

this, the project will formally close.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

MRF General (and unallocated)

P
age 49



Ref 

No

Area Project Manager Project Name Fin Cap / 

Rev

GLA 17/18 net 

budget 

Approved carry 

Forward from 

16/17

Budgeted 

external 

income

GLA gross 

annual budget 

at Q1

Spend at Q1 Project Performance Update Overall 

project 

rating

T
im

e
sc

al
e

Is
su

e
s

R
is

k
s

T
ar

g
e
ts

B
u
d
g
e
t

RN C 0 0 -396,401

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 -15,000

C11 MRF Pooja Agrawal MRF LB Ealing: Shaping Southall RN C 0 0 0 Delivery is largely complete with some outstanding minor works now being carried out. 

Regeneris have been appointed to carry out the evaluation which is now taking place.

G

C12 MRF Louise Duggan MRF LB Enfield: Market Gardening RN R 0 0 0 The project is now complete and the formal closure form is awaited.

G

G

C10 MRF

C9 Erin Byrne MRF LB Croydon: New Addington

Pooja Agrawal MRF LB Ealing: Dine in Southall

MRF

Awaiting Closure

Delivery is now complete and evaluation will take place in the coming months. Following 

this, the project will formally close.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

Building work continues on site and although subject to delays, are expected to be 

complete by October 2017. Ealing Council has identified funds to be used to cover the 

cost of construction and the team to operate the building.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

P
age 50



Ref 

No

Area Project Manager Project Name Fin Cap / 

Rev

GLA 17/18 net 

budget 

Approved carry 

Forward from 

16/17

Budgeted 

external 

income

GLA gross 

annual budget 

at Q1

Spend at Q1 Project Performance Update Overall 

project 

rating

T
im

e
sc

al
e

Is
su

e
s

R
is

k
s

T
ar

g
e
ts

B
u
d
g
e
t

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 -412,200

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 0

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 -1,088,769

C19 MRF Aminata Diaby MRF LB Haringey: Employment Support 

(incl Haringey 100 project)

RN R 0 0 0 This project is now complete with all outputs delivered, and will now undergo formal 

closure.

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 -217,042

C21 MRF Tina Jadav MRF LB Southwark: Gateway to 

Peckham 

(Peckham Rye Station)

RN C 300,000 300,000 -1,107,682 The project moves to red as it is now subject to serious delays following the Compulsory 

Purchase Order Enquiry held in January. As yet no further update on this is available. 

Southwark Council will now be required to draft a new programme in order to manage 

delays.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

R

. .

HIGH STREET FUND . .

RN R 44000 43,000 87,000 0

RN C

430000

430,000

0

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 0

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 170,000 170,000 0

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 0

D4 DEE Matthew Turner HSF Orpington (Bromley) RN C 0 0 0 The GLA funded sections of the project are now complete. Works to be completed with 

match funding are underway with evaluation now awaited.

G

RN R 4,000 4,000 0

RN C 8,000 8,000 0

D6 DEE Pooja Agrawal HSF Acton (Ealing) RN C 0 0 0 The project is subject to delays with public realm works now taking place on site. 

Planning for shopfront improvement works is expected to take place in September 2017.

G

RN R 0 0 0

Pooja Agrawal

Complete/Awaiting 

Closure

G

G

Budget Monitoring Only

G

The majority of works are now complete with market layout, signage and lighting works 

outstanding and to be progressed throughout Q2.

Louise Duggan 

D1 DEE

D7 DEE

C18

DEE

MRF / 

LEF

C15 LEF

Alex Marsh

DEE

D5 DEE

D2 DEE

D3

C20 Matthew Turner 

HSF Barking (Barking and Dagenham)

MRF LB Merton: Colliers Wood

James Parkinson HSF Camden Town (Camden)

Erin Byrne

James Parkinson

C16 Louise 

Duggan/Olivia 

Tusinski

MRF LB Haringey: 639 Tottenham High 

Road

Louise Duggan MRF LB Haringey: Opportunity 

Investment Fund.

LEF

The project is complete and the final claim has been paid. Evaluation will take place 

during summer 2017 with formal closure to follow.

A

The project moves to green as works around the church, library and underground station 

are now on site with the project scheduled to complete in September 2017.

Awaiting closure

Awaiting Closure

The project is rated amber due to underperformance in its expenditure, although a 

budget carry forward request has now been agreed. However, outputs for jobs created 

have exceeded expectations at this point in the project's lifetime.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

This project is now complete. Evaluation will now take place with formal closure to 

follow.

The Tottenham projects Access and Parking, CPZ and Growth on the High Road are now 

complete and undergoing closure. Only the Station Approach project remains active with 

this now being managed by Housing & Land (see M9). 

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

MRF

G

G

The GLA funded components of this project are now complete. Evaluation is now taking 

place, to be followed by formal closure. 

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

Amounts have been split onto individual projects below when relevant, now that carry 

forward has been approved.

The project moves to green as works to Ealing Road library are delayed with the 

programme and costs for these due in August. Shopfront works on 25 properties are now 

complete, exceeding the project target.

The project is complete and will now undergo evaluation with formal closure to follow. 

Camden Town Unlimited are in the process of moving to TfL premises with activity and 

outputs to continue as a legacy of this project. 

High Street Fund General

MRF LB Haringey: Tottenham Projects 

(Access and Parking, CPZ, Growth on the 

High Road, Station Approach)

HSF Burnt Oak (Barnet)

HSF Wembley (Brent)

HSF Abbey Wood (Greenwich) G

P
age 51



Ref 

No

Area Project Manager Project Name Fin Cap / 

Rev

GLA 17/18 net 

budget 

Approved carry 

Forward from 

16/17

Budgeted 

external 

income

GLA gross 

annual budget 

at Q1

Spend at Q1 Project Performance Update Overall 

project 

rating

T
im

e
sc

al
e

Is
su

e
s

R
is

k
s

T
ar

g
e
ts

B
u
d
g
e
t

RN C 0 0 0

D8 DEE Louise Duggan HSF Wood Green (Haringey) RN C 0 0 -83,715 Work at Wood Green Workspace is now almost complete with the project launched as 

'Blue House Yard' and warmly received. 

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

G

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 -57,761

D10 DEE Alex Marsh HSF Romford (Havering) RN C 0 0 0 The project is now complete. The closure form is now awaited from Havering Council's 

project lead although this is subject to delays due to illness.

G

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 0

D12 DEE James Parkinson HSF Portobello (Kensington and 

Chelsea)

RN C 123,000 123,000 0 The project is rated amber due to delays. The construction of a school adjacent to the 

site may require electrical works which could further delay the ability to deliver 

workspace units.

A

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 0

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 -108,000

D15 DEE Erin Byrne HSF Ladywell (Lewisham) RN C 0 0 -400,824 Project delivery is now complete and the final claim has been paid. Evaluation will now 

take place with formal closure to follow.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

G

D16 DEE Alex Marsh HSF Manor Park (Newham) RN C 0 0 0 The project has completed delivery and evaluation is now underway, with the GLA project 

lead working with the delivery partner to ensure appropriate evidence is provided. Formal 

closure will then follow.

G

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 0

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 269,000 269,000 -206,480

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 -100,560

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 -51,365

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 -16,419

A

G

Erin Byrne

Olivia Tusinski

Fran Balaam HSF Station Road (Harrow)

Tim Rettler

Olivia Tusinski

D7 DEE

D9

DEE

DEE

DEE

D22

D21

D17 DEE

DEE

D11

HSF Bankside (Southwark)

Tina Jadav HSF Old Kent Road (Southwark)

HSF Whitechapel (Tower Hamlets)

Erin Byrne

Levent Kerimol

Olivia Tusinski

Matthew Turner

DEED14

D18 DEE

D20

DEE

D13

G

DEE

The project is complete and the final claim has been paid. Evaluation will take place 

during summer 2017 with formal closure to follow.

The final works are now complete and all outputs have been delivered. Formal closure 

will now follow.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

The project is now complete and evaluation will take place over the summer, with formal 

closure to follow.

The project has been successfully completed with Southwark Council's self evaluation 

form now awaited. The project will formally close once this is approved.

The project is rated amber due to delays. However, phase one works to East Street 

Market are now complete and preparation is under way for phase two.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

G

The project is now complete and evaluation will take place during Q2. Publication of the 

Markets Report will take place following sign off from the project lead at Lambeth 

Council.

The project has completed delivery and evaluation will now take place with formal closure 

to follow. 

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

G

G

The project is now complete with the workspace operational and open. Evaluation will 

now take place. Match funded public realm works to Sutherland Path are due to begin 

imminently.

Works at 4-206 Whitechapel Road are largely complete and the space is open for use. 

Workspace at Whitechapel Ideas Store will be delivered by match funding and a number 

of options are under consideration by the GLA project officers and colleagues at Tower G

Timelines and expenditure for project closure are now agreed. Homes Behind the High 

Street will be progressd with Waltham Forest Council match funding in 2017/18 and a 

deed of variation is in progression. 

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

G

HSF Finsbury Park (Islington)

HSF Abbey Wood (Greenwich)

HSF Brixton (Lambeth)

HSF Forest Hill (Lewisham)

HSF Walthamstow (Waltham Forest)

HSF Blackhorse Lane (Waltham Forest)

G

G

P
age 52



Ref 

No

Area Project Manager Project Name Fin Cap / 

Rev

GLA 17/18 net 

budget 

Approved carry 

Forward from 

16/17

Budgeted 

external 

income

GLA gross 

annual budget 

at Q1

Spend at Q1 Project Performance Update Overall 

project 

rating

T
im

e
sc

al
e

Is
su

e
s

R
is

k
s

T
ar

g
e
ts

B
u
d
g
e
t

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 0

. .

LONDON REGENERATION FUND . .  

DEE London Regeneration Fund RN C 441,000 2,234,000 2,675,000 0 As and when projects are in grant agreements, budget will be uploaded to individual 

project lines. Reprofile to 17-18 is reflected in budget.

E1 DEE Matthew Turner LRF Battersea Arts Centre: Battersea RN C 538,000 538,000 0 The pre GLA funded works are now on site with GLA works programmed to complete in 

207/18 despite tight timescales. 

G

E2 DEE Alex Marsh LRF LB Barking and Dagenham: Barking 

Town Centre

RN C 250,000 250,000 0 The project moves to green as design work is now in progression and a planning 

application is set to be submitted in the near future.

G

E3 DEE Erin Byrne/Sarah 

Hayward

LRF LB Bexley: Erith RN C 1,792,000 1,792,000 0 The project is rated amber due to delays. Designs for the Carnegie building are currently 

in progression and additional surveys are to be carried out for health and safety 

compliance.

A

E4 DEE Louise Duggan LRF Bootstrap Co: Dalston Works RN C 1,009,000 1,009,000 -16,000 Now rated red due to severe delays caused by a reduction in the capacity of the delivery 

partner to deliver the project. A meeting will now take place as a priority in order for the 

GLA project lead to understand and resolve these issues, and for the delivery partner to 

present a plan to put the project back on track.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

R

E5 DEE Pooja Agrawal LRF LB Brent: South Kilburn Enterprise 

Hub

RN C 500,000 500,000 0 Public consultations have taken place with positive feedback received. Progress is now 

being made on designs and pre-planning is in place. 

G

E7 DEE Alex Marsh LRF CEME: London Riverside RN C 0 0 -270,000 All major works to the workspace are now complete and a launch event was held in June. 

A resident entrepreneur has been appointed for the business support element of the 

project and has started on site.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

G

E8 DEE Alex Marsh LRF Create London: North Woolwich RN C 363,000 363,000 79,500 The project is rated amber as lease negotiations for the old North Woolwich Station 

building are still ongoing. Design work is in progression and a planning application is due 

to be submitted in the near future.

A

E10 DEE Pooja Agrawal LRF LB Ealing: West Ealing RN C 283,000 283,000 0 The cost to ensure the monitoring and evaluation systems are fit for purpose exceeded 

the construction budget and Ealing Council have successfully negotiated for the 

freeholder to cover this budget. The project was on hold pending the resolution of this 

issue and is now subject to manageable delays.

G

E11 DEE Tim Rettler LRF Hotel Elephant: Spare Street RN C 0 0 0 The final phase of works is now complete and Hotel Elephant continue to promote the 

workspaces to new users. The programme of events is ongoing. Hotel Elephant will now 

complete a self evaluation with project closure to follow.

G

E12 DEE Louise Duggan LRF LB Enfield: Meridian Water 

Workspace

RN C 1,290,000 1,290,000 0 Rated amber as there is a risk that the project may not deliver as planned. Enfield Council 

are working with the delievery partner ACAVA to secure funding to ensure studio space is 

affordable.

A

E13 DEE Fran Balaam LRF LB Harrow: Wealdstone RN C 866,000 866,000 -3,000 Fit out works are now largely complete at Whitefriars studios with some minor elements 

remaining and in progress. Design work is in progress for Wealdstone Square.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

G

Round three projects such as Hackney Well Street Market and London Sculpture 

Workshop continue to progress. Applications for round four projects have now closed 

with more applications received than for previous rounds. These will now be appraised 

with an announcement of successful projects to follow.

D24 Matthew 

Kleebauer

DEE G

Budget Monitoring 

Only

Crowdfund London

P
age 53



Ref 

No

Area Project Manager Project Name Fin Cap / 

Rev

GLA 17/18 net 

budget 

Approved carry 

Forward from 

16/17

Budgeted 

external 

income

GLA gross 

annual budget 

at Q1

Spend at Q1 Project Performance Update Overall 

project 

rating

T
im

e
sc

al
e

Is
su

e
s

R
is

k
s

T
ar

g
e
ts

B
u
d
g
e
t

E15 DEE Levent Kerimol LRF LB Hillingdon: Uxbridge Town 

Centre

RN C 738,000 738,000 -52,723 Stage four designs are complete for Fassnidge Yard with works set to begin on site 

during Q2.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

G

E16 DEE Matthew Turner LRF LB Lambeth: Loughborough 

Junction

RN C 1,471,000 1,471,000 -78,189 The project is now rated amber due to delays with delivery likely to extend beyond 

2017/18. Planning permission has ben approved in Q1 but further negotiation is required 

around tender returns to allow the project to proceed.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

A

E18 DEE Alex Marsh LRF the Mill Co: Royal Docks Silvertown RN C 51,000 51,000 0 The project moves to green as asbestos clearance works are now complete with 

completion certificates awaited from the contractor. Studio conversion works are well 

underway with some studios complete and work taking place to hook the building back 

into the utilities grid.

G

E19 DEE Tim Rettler LRF Peabody Trust: Abbey Wood RN C 1,000,000 1,000,000 0 Planning permission for the project has now been granted by Bexley Council and the 

tender for construction is due to be issued imminently. 

G

E20 DEE Olivia Tusinski LRF Poplar Harca: Poplar RN C 1,567,000 1,567,000 -70,662 The planning application has been submitted and a decision is due imminently with the 

procurement of contractors underway. Public consultation on the design on programme 

of works is ongoing with positive feedback received.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

G

E21 DEE Levent Kerimol LRF LB Richmond: Richmond RACC 

workspace

RN C 0 0 0 A deliverable option has now been identified for this project, which is  progressing 

toward grant agreement 

G

E22 DEE Tina Jadav LRF South London Gallery: Camberwell 

Old Fire Station

RN C 430,000 430,000 0 The project is progressing largely to its agreed schedule, with some manageable delays to 

construction anticipated.

G

E24 DEE Nicola Murphy-

Evans

LRF LB Haringey: Wood Green Works RN C 266,000 266,000 -14,172 Rated amber due to delays following the requirement to reissue the invitation to tender 

for the worskspace provider.  An internal steering group is developing a joined up 

approach to access to the building and services between the occupants. 

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

A

E25 DEE LRF LB Southwark: The Livesey, Ledbury RN 0 0 0 Project progressing toward grant agreement and not yet reporting.

. .

GROWING PLACES FUND (GPF) . .

RN R 654,000 654,000 0

RN C 3,078,000 2,614,000 5,692,000 0

F1 DEE Maria Diaz GPF SME Implementation Plan Delivery 

BIDS

RN R 147,000 147,000 0 The BIDS element of this programme has now ended.  The growth hub element will 

continue to be monitored as distinct project.  No input was provided by the officer for 

this report.

F2 DEE Sejal Patel GPF Construction Skills CITB RN R 0 0 0 This project is now undergoing closure with no update since Q4 16/17

F4 DEE Laura Gilbert GPF Med City RN R 0 0 0 MedCity have led or partnered a number of events during Q1 to promote London and the 

Greater South East's capabilities including a London Tech Week event on how to access 

funding for demand led innovation with 150 attendees.

G

F5 DEE Nabeel Khan GPF London Co-Investment Fund RN C 9,469,000 9,469,000 0 The project is rated amber as expenditure and investments are significantly below target 

due to uncertainty in the markets following the vote to leave the EU. Despite this 

outputs for jobs created and finance leverage are above target. To date the fund has 

invested around £13.5 million in 88 companies, bringing in £96.5 million in private 

finance.

A

Undergoing closure

Not yet in delivery

DEE
Budget Monitoring 

Only

All revenue for GPF is carry forward. Funding to be allocated to specific projects and 

budget lines below. Reprofile to 17-18 is reflected in budget.

GPF General

P
age 54



Ref 

No

Area Project Manager Project Name Fin Cap / 

Rev

GLA 17/18 net 

budget 

Approved carry 

Forward from 

16/17

Budgeted 

external 

income

GLA gross 

annual budget 

at Q1

Spend at Q1 Project Performance Update Overall 

project 

rating

T
im

e
sc

al
e

Is
su

e
s

R
is

k
s

T
ar

g
e
ts

B
u
d
g
e
t

F6 DEE Dominic 

Bloomfield

GPF Hackney Wick Station RN C 4,230,000 4,230,000 0 After initial delays the project is now on schedule for delivery in Jan 2018, with a number 

of critical works achieved during weekend closures between April and June.

G

F7 DEE Sarah Hayward GPF Southall Junction Improvement RN C 1,085,000 1,085,000 134,469 The project is rated amber due to slippages to the Grand Union Avenue junctions and a 

deed of variation is in preparation for this reason.

A

F8 DEE Sarah Hayward GPF West Anglia Route (STAR) RN C 10,906,000 10,906,000 18,154 The project is on track with delivery of outputs set to begin in 2018. G

F9 DEE Sarah Hayward GPF Tempus Energy RN C 0 0 The project is rated amber following the company becoming balance sheet insolvent in 

summer 2016. However, a Mayoral Decision is now in place to novate the funding 

agreement to Tempus Technology and the company has now been successfully 

restructured.

A

F10 DEE Sarah Hayward GPF The Cube RN C 50,000 50,000 30,797 The project moves to amber due to slower than expected occupancy of the building. 

However the deliver partner is developing a pipeline of prospective occupants with parts 

of the space occupied by business and apprentices contributing to works on site.

A

F11 DEE Anna Morell GPF Barking Riverside RN C 1,601,000 1,601,000 3,389,719 The project is rated amber pending the approval of a revised planning application. The 

delivery programme has now been adjusted so that the section of the road leading to the 

school will be ready by September 2017 with full vehicular and pedestrian access.

The overspend is to be funded from the GPF general fund.

A

F12 DEE Sarah Hayward GPF Meridian Water Angel Road RN C 2,500,000 2,500,000 0 The phase one contract between Enfield Council and Network Rail is now in place, 

enabling Network Rail to enter into their contract with Volkerfitzpatrick. Work is now 

concentrated on the phase two contract.

G

F13 DEE Sarah Hayward GPF 205 Holland Park Avenue RN C 0 0 0 Project is progressing towards grant agreement. 8,500 sq ft workspace and incubator for 

entrepreneurs and investors.

F14 DEE Sarah Hayward GPF CAN early intervention fund for 

London

RN C 231,000 231,000 0 Project is progressing towards grant agreement.

F15 DEE Sarah Hayward GPF LB Bexley Erith regeneration RN C 2,850,000 2,850,000 0 The project is rate amber as the spend is behind profile and this is to be addressed 

through a deed of variation. 

A

F16 DEE Laura Dubeck GPF Games promotion RN R 542,000 542,000 200,000 All risk and issues are manageable with potential impact on delivery being low. Delivery 

and milestones remain on track.

G

. .

FURTHER EDUCATION CAPITAL . .  

RN R 600,000 600,000 0

RN C 7,026,000 2,129,000 9,155,000 0

G1 DEE Elizabeth North FE Capital Fashion Retail Academy (FRA) RN C 0 0 0 This project is complete and now undergoing closure

G2 DEE Elizabeth North FE Capital: Westminster Kingsway, Kings 

Cross Construction Centre

RN C 0 0 0 The project is complete and closure is now underway with no update since Q4 2016/17

G3 DEE Elizabeth North FE Capital: City of Westminster College, 

Maida Vale Campus

RN C 361,000 361,000 0 Asbestos has now been removed and construction is complete. Fit out works are taking 

place and the campus is set to open in September 2017.

G

G4 DEE Elizabeth North FE Capital: West Thames College, 

Feltham Skills Centre

RN C 39,000 39,000 0 The project is now complete and undergoing closure, with no update since Q4 2016/17

G5 DEE Dominic 

Bloomfield

FE Capital: Barnet and Southgate 

College, Colindale Skills Centre

RN C 1,043,000 1,043,000 -141,025 The project is rated amber due to the complexity of the modernisation of Southgate 

College, which is being deliverd in three phases, with phase one currently on site.  Works 

to the Colindale Skills Centre are now complete.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

A

Not yet in delivery

Not yet in delivery

Budgets to be allocated to individual budget lines below. DEE Laura Dubeck

Under closure

Under closure

Under closure

Budget Monitoring 

Only

Further Education Capital Investment 

Fund

P
age 55



Ref 

No

Area Project Manager Project Name Fin Cap / 

Rev

GLA 17/18 net 

budget 

Approved carry 

Forward from 

16/17

Budgeted 

external 

income

GLA gross 

annual budget 

at Q1

Spend at Q1 Project Performance Update Overall 

project 

rating

T
im

e
sc

al
e

Is
su

e
s

R
is

k
s

T
ar

g
e
ts

B
u
d
g
e
t

G6 DEE Anna Morell FE Capital: South Thames, Construction 

skills project

RN C 0 0 0 The project is complete and closure is now underway with no update since Q4 2016/17

G7 DEE Elizabeth North FE Capital: Richmond College Phase One, 

Education and Enterprise Campus

RN C 9,152,000 9,152,000 10,120 The project is rated amber due to slippages although it is expected to deliver as planned. 

Procurement of a developer continues with tenders under review and it is expected that a 

development partner will be announced shortly.

A

G8 DEE Elizabeth North FE Capital: Richmond College Phase 

Two, STEM Centre

RN C 154,000 154,000 0 The project is closely intertwined with the phase one project shown above and is rated 

amber due to delays. A deed of variation is in progress in line with the phase one project.

A

G10 DEE Elizabeth North FE Capital: Lambeth College, Vauxhall 

Skills Centre

RN C 6,496,000 6,496,000 -32,500 Rated red as the project is now on hold as of 31 March 2017. Changes in scope are now 

being investigated as the college is now merging with London Southbank University.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

R

G11 DEE Sarah Hayward FE Capital: Harrow College (Health) RN C 1,224,000 1,224,000 -5,766 The project is on track with the facility set to be open for the coming academic year. 

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

G

G12 DEE Anna Morell FE Capital: Bromley College, Hospitality 

project

RN C 127,000 127,000 -15,807 The project has largely completed delivery and is now fully operational, with some 

snagging works in progress.

Spend is showing as being in credit due to accruals from 2016-17 that have not yet 

materialised.

G

G13 DEE Thomas Mabey FE Capital: Uxbridge College, STEM 

project

RN C 0 0 0 This project has completed delivery with only the monitoring of outputs now required.  

This is the final time it will be reported against here.

G14 DEE Anna Morell FE Capital: ADA, National College for 

Digital Skills

RN C 9,500,000 9,500,000 85,963 The project moves to red due to significant underspend in 2016/17, £0.5 million of 

which the Department for Education are unable to carry forward.  The college is now 

required to now make a case to the DfE for this funding from their 18/19 budget. 

R

G17 DEE Dominic 

Bloomfield

FE Capital: East London Advanced 

Technology and Training (ELATT)

RN C 0 0 0 Rated amber due to delays caused by a dispute between the delivery partner and their 

main contractor with the relationship subsequently being terminated. Phase one works 

are now complete with phase two set for completion in early 2018.

A

G18 DEE Dominic 

Bloomfield

FE Capital: Waltham Forest College, 

Engineering, Science and Technology 

Centre

RN C 1,399,000   0 Fit out works are now in progress following practical completion in July. An opening 

ceremony for the centre is in preparation for October 2018.

G

G19 DEE Dominic 

Bloomfield

FE Capital: Hackney Community College, 

Hackney Open Tech Institute

RN C 495,000 495,000 0 Rated red as the college have decided they do not wish to progress with the Here East 

Digital Apprentice Centre following a merger with Tower Hamlets College. This impacts 

the project's scope and outcomes with clarification on this now awaited from the college. 

Works to the D & P blocks of the Shoreditch Campus are complete.

R

G20 DEE Dominic 

Bloomfield

FE Capital: Havering College, 

Construction Infrastructure Skills and 

Innovation centre (CISIC)

RN C 2,412,000 2,412,000 0 This project will be actively monitored once the grant agreement is signed.

G21 DEE Dominic 

Bloomfield

FE Capital: Big Creative Education, 

Walthamstow

RN C 200,000 200,000 0 This project will be actively monitored once the grant agreement is signed.

G22 DEE Sarah Hayward FE Capital: Ealing Hammersmith and 

West London College: Dine in Southall 

project

RN C 160,000 160,000 0 This is reported as part of C10 MRF Dine in Southall

. .

ESF and other PDU projects . .

H3 DEE Michelle Barrett Employer-Led Apprenticeship Creation 

Programmes (ELACP)

RN R 0 0 0 This project is complete and undergoing closure with no updates since Q4 2016/17

Progresing to delivery

Progresing to delivery

Under closure

Complete

See C10 Dine in 

Southall

Under closure

P
age 56



Ref 

No

Area Project Manager Project Name Fin Cap / 

Rev

GLA 17/18 net 

budget 

Approved carry 

Forward from 

16/17

Budgeted 

external 

income

GLA gross 

annual budget 

at Q1

Spend at Q1 Project Performance Update Overall 

project 

rating

T
im

e
sc

al
e

Is
su

e
s

R
is

k
s

T
ar

g
e
ts

B
u
d
g
e
t

H4 DEE Sandeep Duggal Horizon 2020 (Sharing Cities) MA R The project is expected to deliver as planned, despite challenges posed by the exchange 

rate following the vote for Brexit. The programme's next consortium meeting is due to 

take place in London during September.

G

. .

ENVIRONMENT (DEE) . .

KC R 0 0 12,000

KC C 55,000 55,000 0

KC R 930,000 92,000 1,022,000 -65,000

KC C 2,300,000 142,000 CF 

pending 

approval

2,300,000 -18,911

I3 DEE Kevin Reid Drain London KC R 0 80,000 80,000 0 Project outputs have been delivered as planned with some manageable delays to the 

Sustainable Drainage Opportunity Modelling, although this is now complete and 

undergoing user testing.

G

I4 DEE Simona Webb HyFive (Hydrogen for Innovative Vehicles) KC R 1,000,000 0 -1,000,000 0 54,000 The project has now completed its delivery of vehicles and refuelling stations in London 

and the final HyFive conference will be held in Brussels during September 2017. Due to 

delays in delivery the Fuel Cells and Hydrogen Joint Undertaking have requested a six 

month extension for data collection and it is expected that public reports on the project 

will now be published in spring 2018.

G

I5 DEE Alex Hobley Energy for London DEPDU successor KC R 1,352,000 -700,000 652,000 144,000 The project moves to amber due to delays to the project's procurement framework. GLA 

project officers are working closely with TfL to ensure this is operational shortly.

A

I6 DEE Robert Spender RE:FIT (Public Sector buildings) OA R 370,000 33,000 403,000 90,000 Rated amber due to delays in fully evidencing the procurement of the Programme 

Delivery Unit. This was raised during an ERDF audit in March 2017 and the ERDF are 

withholding payments until resolved. The GLA project team are therefore working with 

TfL on this matter as a priority.

A

OA R 370,000 33,000 403,000 90,000

OA C 46,00 0 0

OA R 0 67,000 67,000 6,000

OA C 0 874,000 874,000

I9 DEE Air Quality Programme (includes Air 

Quality Business Fund & Air Quality for 

Schools)

KC R 473,000 0 473,000 -281,000 See below for updates.

I10 DEE Annette Figuerdo School Air Quality Audit Programme KC R As of mid July 2017, 50 primary schools have been selected for a GLA School Air Quality 

Audit by prioritised boroughs and approved by the GLA and TfL. An announcement on 

selected schools will take place during autumn 2017.

G

I11 Poppy Lyle Air Quality Business Fund KC C The fund was launched in June with six organisations formally expressing interest to date 

with others contacting the GLA project lead to discuss their ideas. The deadline for 

applications for the fund is 15 September 2017 with a target of ten bids.

G

HOUSING REVENUE PROGRAMMES . .

RE:NEW (Homes)

DEE

DEE

Budget Monitoring 

Only

A

Complete

G

Previously reporting under RE:NEW The London Boiler Cashback scheme (domestic) has 

now concluded. A commercial boiler cashback scheme has received approval from the 

LEAP board and is now being progressed by Mayoral Decision.

The project has been extended by 12 months to March 2019 due to construction delays 

with a review to take place in January 2018 to enure this deadline is achievable. 

This programme will deliver the Mayor's manifesto committment to make London the 

world's first 'National Park City' with £9million to be invested between 2017-2021.

The project is rate amber due to uncertainty following the Grenfell Tower tragedy with a 

number of projects set to be delayed pending the results of the inquiry. The GLA project 

team are spending a significant amount for time responding to this incident with a full 

review of the programme's involvement in solid wall insulation undertaken amongst other 

measures.

National Park CityAndrew Jones

Kizzian Owen Smart Cities demonstrators (TSB)DEEI1 A

I2

I7 DEE

London Boiler Cashback SchemeJames HardyI8

Kore Mason

P
age 57



Ref 

No

Area Project Manager Project Name Fin Cap / 

Rev

GLA 17/18 net 

budget 

Approved carry 

Forward from 

16/17

Budgeted 

external 

income

GLA gross 

annual budget 

at Q1

Spend at Q1 Project Performance Update Overall 

project 

rating

T
im

e
sc

al
e

Is
su

e
s

R
is

k
s

T
ar

g
e
ts

B
u
d
g
e
t

J1 H+L David Eastwood Pan-London Rough Sleeping Services OA R 8,605,000 458,000 9,063,000 -439,463 Procurement is underway for the Safe Connections service for relatively new rough 

sleepers and a Social Impact Bond for long term rough sleepers. It is expected that 

contracts for both will begin in October 2017 although timescales are tight.

G

J2 H+L David Eastwood Housing Mobility (Housing moves and 

Seaside and country homes)

OA R 195,000 175,000 20,000 -46,273 The project is rated red as lettings for both schemes are below target, placing Seaside 

and Country Homes particularly at risk. A number of measures are being taken by GLA 

project officers to increase lettings for both schemes and a new verification process for 

Housing Moves applications will begin in the near future.

R

. .

HOUSING . .

L1 H+L Jamie Ratcliff Affordable Housing Programme (MHC) OA C 85,000,000 85,000,000 -567,328 The project is rated amber to reflect the difficulty in achieving the Mayor's ambitious 

affordable housing targets, which will require a step change in the construction industry. 

However, in July the Mayor announced a record funding deal to enable councils and 

housing associations to start building around 50,000 extra affordable homes over the 

next four years.

The positive balance relates to grant reclaims.H+L Jamie Ratcliff Care and Support Programme Phase 1 

and 2

OA C 19,477,609 19,477,609 -779,350

H+L Jamie Ratcliff Homelessness change and platform for 

life

OA C 5,675,000 5,675,000 200,000

H+L Jamie Ratcliff Custom Build payments OA C 1,620,000 1,620,000 0

H+L Jamie Ratcliff London Housing Bank OA C 40,800,000 40,800,000 0

OA R 1,500,000 83,858

OA C 131,928,385 0

. .

LAND . .

M1 H+L Paul Guest Silvertown Quays OA R apart of 

2803640 

budget 

20,844 The project is rated amber with a number of conditions to be satisfied before work can 

start on site. Additionally, the Silvertown Partnership is now making amendments to 

phase one of the scheme and is preparing change to the business plan for approval by 

the GLA. 

A

Rated amber due to the complexity of the programme with a large number of external 

factors which could slow progress. The Mayor is keen to increase the level of affordable 

housing across the zones and increase the pace of development and to this end an 

additional £300k has been approved in the Mayor's budget. To date 28 of the 30 

Overarching Borough Agreements have been signed between the GLA and individual 

local boroughs.

These programmes are not reported on separately, but as part of the affordable housing 

programme above. Reprofile to 17-18 is reflected in budget.

A

AL2 H+L Jamie Ratcliffe Housing Zones

P
age 58



Ref 

No

Area Project Manager Project Name Fin Cap / 

Rev

GLA 17/18 net 

budget 

Approved carry 

Forward from 

16/17

Budgeted 

external 

income

GLA gross 

annual budget 

at Q1

Spend at Q1 Project Performance Update Overall 

project 

rating

T
im

e
sc

al
e

Is
su

e
s

R
is

k
s

T
ar

g
e
ts

B
u
d
g
e
t

OA R apart of 

2803640 

budget 

5,308

OA C

M3 H+L Malcolm Beadle Crystal Palace maintenance and NSC OA R 0 0 Options for the development, management and operation of the NSC are being assessed 

by the Regeneration team, who will now manage this programme, with an MD to be 

progressed in the near future.

OA R 0 0

OA C -36,080

M5 H+L Matthew Carpen Barking Riverside OA R apart of 

2803640 

budget 

-9,000 The project remains amber until the Transport Works Act Order for the railway station 

and full planning permission for the revised masterplan are in place. However, progress is 

being made and it is expected that stage one housing completions will be achieved.

A

OA R apart of 

2803640 

budget 

19,203

OA C 0

OA R apart of 

2803640 

budget 

186,168

OA C 1,676,328

OA R 100,000 223,000 -47

OA C 339,392

RN R 0 0 0

RN C 0 0 -1,088,769

 . .

SPORTS (C+I) . .

N1 C+I Mandu Reid Sports Legacy Fund 

(ClubWorks - developing capacity)

MU R 0 0 In the past month London Sport has recruited 100 organisations onto the programme to 

receive one to one support in 2017/18. The Women in Sport programme is now 

complete with evaluation work underway.

G

N2 C+I Kevin Evans Major Sports Events MU R

350000

350,000 50,031 The 2017 World Para Athletics Championships were successfully delivered with the World 

Athletics Chamionships, at the time of writing, in progress. Other major events being 

delivered with planning input and support from City Hall are generally on track financially 

and operationally.

G

M9 H&L Neil Hook Tottenham Station Approach Previously reporting under MRF North Tottenham projects (see C18) this project will now 

be managed by Housing & Land and reported against as part of the Housing Zones 

programme (L2). See L2

M2 H+L Michael Payton Royal Albert Docks

The project is on track with the system now ready to make payments to external 

partners. Work on the system is now focussed on 'change control' for land projects and 

improving functionality based on user feedback.

G

The first phase of the scheme is now under construction, running to agreed programme 

and set to be completed in spring 2019 with strong early sales and lettings so far.

Rated amber due to the complexity of developments across the programme. The GLA is 

working closely with TfL and Knight Dragon on the proposed development of further 

floorspace at the O2 with a large number of new homes at Greenwich Peninsula set to be 

completed in the next year.

A

A

A

Not currently in 

delivery

The project is rated amber due to the risk that sales receipts for the remaining plots in 

the park will be later and less than expected. The GLA project team and delivery partner 

are working on a number of measures to mitigate this including a planning strategy, 

marketing activity and an emphasis on getting plots ready for sale as soon as possible.

The project is rated amber due to the risk of delays caused by GLA approval of terms of 

disposal and protracted negotiations on development agreements. Development at 

Galleons Quarter has commenced on site. Good progress is being made on phase one 

works at Lewisham Gateway. 

G

M8 Marvin MilehamH+L GLA OPS: Housing and Land IT Systems 

Replacement

M4 H+L

M6 H+L

M7 H+L

Christopher 

Broster

London Sustainable Industries Park 

(LSIP)

Will Stewart Greenwich Peninsula (incl GRN land and 

Greenwich peninsula)

Land projects balance of programme (i.e. 

all other sites)

Simon Powell

P
age 59



Ref 

No

Area Project Manager Project Name Fin Cap / 

Rev

GLA 17/18 net 

budget 

Approved carry 

Forward from 

16/17

Budgeted 

external 

income

GLA gross 

annual budget 

at Q1

Spend at Q1 Project Performance Update Overall 

project 

rating

T
im

e
sc

al
e

Is
su

e
s

R
is

k
s

T
ar

g
e
ts

B
u
d
g
e
t

N3 C+I Mandu Reid Sports Legacy Fund: Facilities 

(football foundation)

MU C 1,480,000 1,480,000 0 The project is rated amber due to delays. The GLA project officers are working with the 

Football Foundation to ensure the funding agreement is signed as soon as possible in 

order to continue delivery of the programme with eleven projects earmarked for phase 

three funding so far. 

A

N4 C+I Mandu Reid Sports Legacy Fund: Participation 

(Sporting future for London)

MU R 1,160,000 34,498 The Make a Splash programme is now complete having engaged over 11,000 

participants. The Participation Fund projects have entered their final year of funding will 

all twelve projects performing largely as planned, although two have been reprofiled.

G

. .

CULTURE . .

O1 C+I Adam Cooper Museum of London NB R 11,600,000 11,600,000 1,580,000 No update provided by officer.

O2 C+I Paul Broadhurst Music (Busk in London, London Music 

Board, London Music Fund)

NB R 110,000 110,000 91,818 The project is rated amber due to the challenge in securing funding for Busk in London 

and work is ongoing to secure sponsorship.  The London Music Fund has completed its 

rebranding from its previous name of the Mayor's Music Fund.

A

O3 C+I Adam Cooper British Fashion Council NB R 649,000 649,000 0 London Fashion Week Men was held in June with figures on press coverage and 

investment levered still being collected. These will be reported in full when available.

G

O4 C+I Kirsten Dunne Fourth Plinth NB R 150,000 30,000 180,000 -28,661 The Fourth Plinth commissions for 2018 and 2020 were announced during Q1 to acclaim. 

The school's competition for 2017 was the most successful yet with 3400 entries. 

G

O5 C+I Adam Cooper London Design Festival NB R 250,000 250,000 0 Rated amber due to the risks and  issues involved in delivering a relevant Cultural 

Strategy for London to agreed timescales. However, the Mayor's Cultural Leadership 

Board have now met for the first time and reviewed a draft structure for the strategy.

A

O6 C+I Adam Cooper Film London (and TV and animation) NB R 1,550,000 1,550,000 1,320,000 The London Screenings export market was held at BFI Southbank in June with 110 

international buyers, 41 UK buyers and 21 film festival representatives attending the 43 

screenings making up the programme.

G

O8 C+I Jackie McNerney Culture Strategy, Night time commission The Mayor's Cultural Leadership Board met for their first meeting on 6 June 2017 at 

which the members reviewed a draft strucutre for the culture strategy. 

GLA Economics published an update of a 2015 London's Creative Industries report 

providing new data and statistics which will underpin the culture strategy. 

The Cultural Leadership Board delivered two sub groups. The first focussed on the Night 

Time Economy and the second on increasing diversity in the creative workforce. 

A

O9 C&I Paul Broadhurst 24 Hour London Rated amber due to delays, although the project is largely on track. The Draft Night Time 

Economy SPG has been published. The Night Czar has now dealt with over 40 cases of 

night time culture at risk and helped to save venues such as The George Tavern and 

Molly Moggs.

A

O10 C+I Chenine 

Bhathena

The Illuminated River NB R 250,000 250,000 0 The Illuminated River Foundation is now working on its planning strategy with work 

ongoing with artists, bridge owners and the delivery team for first phase of activity in 

2019

G

. .

HEALTH AND YOUNG PEOPLE . .

P1 C+I Susan Crisp London Schools Gold Club MU R The project is complete and undergoing closure

287,000 -55,000 232,000 37,518NB R

Awaiting closure

P
age 60



Ref 

No

Area Project Manager Project Name Fin Cap / 

Rev

GLA 17/18 net 

budget 

Approved carry 

Forward from 

16/17

Budgeted 

external 

income

GLA gross 

annual budget 

at Q1

Spend at Q1 Project Performance Update Overall 

project 

rating

T
im

e
sc

al
e

Is
su

e
s

R
is

k
s

T
ar

g
e
ts

B
u
d
g
e
t

P2 C+I Katie Myhill London Schools Excellence Fund Legacy 

(knowledge hubs + teachers innovation 

fund)

MU R 467,000 14,000 481,000 47,315 The final monitoring visits to Subject Knowledge Hubs are now taking place with a digital 

brochure and videos for each in preparation for circulation in September. Three London 

Teacher Innovation Fund projects have been awarded continuation funding for activity in 

the coming academic year.

G

P3 C+I Daisy Greenaway London Ambitions MU R 25,000 77,000 102,000 0 Twenty four businesses registered with London Ambitions during Q1 with 200 having 

profiles on the portal so far. One third of the capital's secondary schools are now 

registered on the portal.

G

P4 C+I Siobhan McKenna Oracle MU R 152,000 152,000 0 This project is now complete and undergoing closure

P5 C+I Helen Nistala London Curriculum MU R 132,000 -92,000 40,000 36,789 Three project key stage two resources are now available online for teachers and pupils 

with good usage to date. Work in 2017/18 will focus on helping pupils access London's 

scientific and cultural offer.

G

P6 C+I Helen Stonelake Stepping Stones MU R 143,000 143,000 0 The project is progressing as planned. Peer mentoring fell off during the summer term 

due to year ten exams although adult peer mentoring has continued. A final celebration 

event is set to be held in November at which the project's toolkit will be launched.

G

P7 C+I Matt Creamer Healthy Schools (London Obesity 

Programme) 

MU R 328,000 328,000 28,532 The London Obesity Programme projects have now come to an end with a broader 

programme of  to tackle childhood obesity for 2017-2020 now in progress including; a 

healthy streets approach for London, the Early Years programme, the Healthy Catering 

Commitment and Health in Planning amongst others. Information on targets and 

milestones will be made available when finalised.

G

P8 C+I Charlotte Hall/ 

Jill Wiltshire

London Healthy Workplace Charter MU R 130,000 130,000 18,217 The project is rated amber due to challenges in translating registrations to accreditations 

with the charter. To date 169 organisations are accredited, representing 310,708 

employees across London. The GLA project leads are working closely with Public Health 

England and the Healthy London Partnership to address workplace health.

A

P9 C+I Sarah Wilkins Youth Innovation Fund MU R 445,000 -89,000 356,000 0 Grant agreements have been issued to the two successful delivery partners for phase one 

projects and once signed delivery will commence. Phase two Employer Pioneer projects 

are in development.

G

P10 C+I Sarah Wilkins Early Years Education MU R 242,000 242,000 0 Updates will begin once in delivery.

P11 C+I Jason Lever Getting Ahead London MU R 150,000 150,000 0 Following a pilot in 2016/17 this programe aims to help create London's next generation 

of headteachers and will run until July 2018. Although not monitored individually for 

performance, recruitment targets have been exceeded by borough, gender and ethnicity 

brekdown with 48 participants to receive coaching.

TEAM LONDON . .

Q1 C+I Laura Brown Team London including Visitor Welcome 

and Enterprise Advisers projects

MU R 169,000 169,000 1,829 Team London have trained and deployed 4000 runner volunteers for the 2017 Worl 

ParaAthletics and IAAF World Championships. The London Enterprise Advisor Network 

has met its target to engage an additional 60 secondary schools in the 2016/17 

academic year.

C+I Laura Brown Community Engagement Website 

Awareness; Reward & Recognition; Third 

Sector Support & Grants

MU R 394,000 394,000 33,289

Laura Brown Headstart MU R 249,000 249,000 0

These workstreams report under main Team London project (show above)

G

Progressing to 

delivery

Complete

Budget Monitoring 

Only

P
age 61



Ref 

No

Area Project Manager Project Name Fin Cap / 

Rev

GLA 17/18 net 

budget 

Approved carry 

Forward from 

16/17

Budgeted 

external 

income

GLA gross 

annual budget 

at Q1

Spend at Q1 Project Performance Update Overall 

project 

rating

T
im

e
sc

al
e

Is
su

e
s

R
is

k
s

T
ar

g
e
ts

B
u
d
g
e
t

Q2 C+I Satbinder 

Kooner/ Alice 

Wilcock

Volunteering as a route to Work: 2work MU R The grant agreement for this project is now set to be signed imminently and delivery will 

then begin.

G

Q3 C+I Satbinder 

Kooner/ Alice 

Wilcock

Volunteering as a route to Work: 

Veterans Programme

MU R The project moves to green as a delivery partner has now been selected for this project. 

Delivery will now begin once the contract is entered.

G

. .

EXTERNAL AFFAIRS . .

R1 EA Kim Hobbs Events for London - Annual Events 

Programme (incl SOL, PQT and triathlon)

RN R 1,647,000 1,647,000 195,604 Events held during Q1 include the Feast of St George, State of London Debate, Vaisakhi 

on the Square and a vigil in response to the London Bridge terror attacks.

G

R2 EA Kim Hobbs New Year's Eve RN R 2,300,000 2,300,000 -44,930 The project is amber due to a number of complex issues associated with delivery. Plans 

for the 2017 event are in development with a communictions strategy in discussion with 

the communications team of the GLA's partners. 

A

472,000 -269,000 11,833203,000

P
age 62



Budget Monitoring Sub Committee 

Housing and Land Directorate – Affordable Housing Quarterly Update  

1) Affordable Housing target to achieve 90k affordable starts on site by 2021

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Total 

Actual starts 7,467 8,935 162 16,564

Expected starts
n/a n/a

12,500 - 

16,500*

14,000-

19,000*

17,000 - 

19,000*

18,000 - 

25,000* 90,000

2) 2017-18 Affordable Housing Starts on Site Delivery 

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Total 

outturn 

Starts on Site Outturn 162 162

3) 2017-18 Affordable Housing Completions Delivery 

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Total 

outturn 

Completions Outturn 772 772

Appendix 1.     GLA Affordable Housing Starts and Completions, by borough 

2017-18 - end of June 2017 Starts

Achieved

Completion

s 

Achieved

Barking and Dagenham 0 70

Barnet 43 95

Bexley 0 1

Brent 0 18

Bromley 0 1

Camden 0 10

City of London 0 17

Croydon 0 9

Ealing 0 171

Enfield 58 0

Greenwich 0 0

Hackney 0 4

Hammersmith and Fulham 0 0

Haringey 0 0

Harrow 0 0

Havering 0 0

Hillingdon 0 14

Hounslow 0 16

Islington 0 0

Kensington and Chelsea 0 0

Kingston upon Thames 0 0

Lambeth 0 107

Lewisham 4 44

Merton 0 0

Newham 0 0

Redbridge 0 0

Richmond upon Thames 0 6

Southwark 14 60

Sutton 0 0

Tower Hamlets 0 93

Waltham Forest 0 2

Wandsworth 0 0

Westminster 43 34

Not Specified 0 0

Total 162 772

* annual targets for current and future years are expressed as ranges to reflect the fact that discussions will be ongoing with strategic partners over delivery profiles for their programmes. 

The lower end of the ranges represent a level of delivery with greater certainty attached, but they are expected to be exceeded across the time period through ongoing work with partners 

and additional delivery through continuous bidding

Data to end June 2017

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64



Mayor’s Office for Policing & Crime 

Quarterly Performance Update Report

Quarter 1  2017/18

Appendix 2

P
age 65



About MOPAC
The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 established
an elected Police and Crime Commissioner for each police force
area across England and Wales to ensure that there is democratic
oversight of how policing is delivered. In London, the elected
Mayor – Sadiq Khan, is the equivalent of the Police and Crime
Commissioner and is responsible for ensuring that the
Metropolitan Police deliver an efficient and effective service for
Londoners.

The Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) supports the
Mayor in fulfilling his role. The Mayor has appointed a statutory
Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime – Sophie Linden – to lead
MOPAC.

MOPAC is responsible for setting the overall strategic direction for
policing and safety, overseeing police performance in the capital
and commissioning a wide range of services to prevent crime and
support victims.

The Mayor of London is required by law to produce a Police and
Crime Plan that explains how the police, community safety
partners and other criminal justice agencies will work together to
reduce crime.

The current Police and Crime Plan (PCP) reflects the Mayor’s
manifesto and priorities for making London a safer city for all. The
Plan is produced by MOPAC, who consult with Londoners on their
priorities, develop the Plan itself and then ensure that its aims
and commitments are delivered.

In fulfilling its responsibilities, MOPAC ensures that its business is
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards and
that public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and the
value for money (VfM) principles of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness are strongly adhered to.

MOPAC welcomes comments on this quarterly report. To send any
comments and questions please email them to MOPAC
Correspondence Team at Correspondence@mopac.london.gov.uk.

MOPAC has in place robust Governance arrangements to ensure MPS
and partners are held to account and that MOPAC continues to monitor
the objectives, operations and delivery of the PCP are adhered to. This
is done through various Boards and Panels, including the quarterly
Oversight Board and other boards and panels which are listed in the
Annual Governance Statement, published at .
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/20170724_annual_governance_statement_2016_17_fina
l.pdf

P
age 66

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mopac_police_and_crime_plan_2017-2021.pdf
mailto:Correspondence@mopac.london.gov.uk
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/20170724_annual_governance_statement_2016_17_final.pdf


About The Metropolitan Police Service

Operational policing in London is the responsibility of the Metropolitan Police Commissioner, Cressida Dick who took up her post in April
this year. The Met set out 2017-18 priorities, in line with the Police and Crime Plan, in the Met Business Plan published June 2017. The
Met’s progress in Quarter 1 against its Business Plan is set out in Annex A.

The top priorities are:
➢ Tackling violent crime and especially knife crime which affects young people across London
➢ Countering terrorism and reviewing our strategy, tactics and resources in light of the threat
➢ Protecting children and developing a robust approach to tackling child sexual exploitation
➢ Transforming the Met to become a modern police force using technology, data, skills and engagement to fight crime more effectively

£3.3bn budget

How the Met is funded

How the Met spends its budget

The Met workforce as at 
end of Q1 2017/18:

30,719 Officers
2,523 Special Constables
1,383 PCSOs
8,500 Staff

Source: MPS Business plan 

P
age 67

https://www.met.police.uk/globalassets/foi-media/priorities_and_how_we_are_doing/corporate/mps_business_plan_2017_2018.pdf)


Contents
Executive Summary – 4

Measuring progress against the Police and Crime
Plan Priorities – 5

A Safer London – 6-12
• Total Notifiable Offences
• High Harm Crime
• Recorded crime 12 month average
• Anti-Social Behaviour
• Local Volume Priorities
• Fraud & Cyber and Gun Crime

A better Police Service for London – 13-20
• Public Perception
• Victim Satisfaction
• Satisfaction & Public Vote – Inequalities
• Workforce – Overview & Diversity
• Dedicated Ward Officers
• Public Complaints

A better Criminal Justice Service for London – 21-24

Keeping children and young people safe – 25-26

Violence against women and girls – 27-29

Standing together against extremism, hatred & intolerance – 30-33

Finance – 34-41

• Finances at a glance
• Revenue Budget & Trends
• Capital Budget & Trends
• Reserves

MOPAC Finances – 42-44
• MOPAC Commissioning
• London Crime Prevention Fund

ANNEX A: BUSINESS MILESTONE REPORTP
age 68



Executive Summary
This is MOPAC’s first full quarterly update report for 2017/18 .

The first quarter of 2017/18 has been a difficult period for
London as it suffered from further terrorist attacks at London
Bridge and Finsbury Park and the fire at Grenfell Tower. These
incidents placed a high demand across the Met and the response
of its officers and staff in very challenging circumstances received
high praise.

Current recorded crime figures are showing increases on the last
twelve months. Total Notifiable Offences have increased
including some high profile categories of crime and violence, such
as acid attacks in the first quarter. Acquisitive crime has gone up
including with the use of weapons in offending. Crime increases
have been seen across England and Wales, and the latest
published figures mostly show crime rising faster outside London.

Positive public perceptions of the police remain high and we see
an improving trend across a number of measures. However, there
continue to be notable differences in perception of police within
some of London’s communities or age groups, such as Black and
Minority Ethic (BAME) and younger people. In addition, user
satisfaction levels, although relatively high at 75%, are at their
lowest since FY 2013/14. Of particular concern are the declines in
the key areas of “satisfaction with police actions”, “follow-up
after a crime” and “satisfaction overall”.

The report also presents the forecast outturn against the budget
for Q1. As at the end of Quarter 1 the revenue position is a
£21.0m underspend with a full year forecast of a net underspend
of £32.2m (1.3%) against a revised budget of £2,504m. The full

year forecast includes £11.5m overspend on Counter Terrorism
(CT) and Protective Security Grants. Demands caused by the
terrorist incidents mean that for the first time there is an
expected national overspend on CT. Additional funding is being
sought from the Government, in CT/PS grants as well as special
grants in relation to operational pressures the Met is facing this
year.

At the start of 2017/18 the Mayor approved a capital programme
that provided for £366.2m of expenditure with £40m of over-
programming. This will be funded from a combination of capital
receipts, grants and other contributions. Capital expenditure for
the year is forecast at £268m.

Significant financial pressures are impacting the Met’s ability to
meet the Mayor’s ambition of 32,000 police officers. The Met
continues to maintain over 30,000 officers and is doing all it can
to minimise officer reductions. However, future funding pressures
may make that position unsustainable.

The Met is working hard to ensure it continues to become an
even more efficient organisation that enhances value for money
to the public purse. The delivery of its transformation programme
(the “One Met Model”) continues to achieve this goal. Significant
external pressures are having a negative impact on managing
financial resources as funds need to be diverted to emergencies,
however the Met is on track to deliver £66m of the projected
£82m savings for this financial year.

P
age 69



Measuring progress against the Police and Crime 

Plan Priorities
A new performance framework details what success looks like for London. This documents a move away from blunt pan-London crime
reduction targets, in favour of locally agreed policing priorities and a focus on addressing the crimes that cause the greatest harm to
individuals – such as sexual assault, domestic abuse and child sexual exploitation.

A Safer London

Focus on volume and 
high harm priorities

(MOPAC in consultation with 
MPS and Local Authorities)

Mandatory High Harm Priorities

ASB plus two borough volume priorities
Local Priorities may be evidenced by:
Theft (from motor vehicles, shops, person), Non Domestic Abuse 
Victim With Injury, Common Assault, Harassment, Burglary dwelling, 
Criminal damage, Robbery Person

A better Police Service for London
Victim Satisfaction with Police service

Public Perceptions 

A better Criminal Justice Service for London

Keeping children and young people safe

Tackling violence against Women and Girls

Standing together against extremism, hatred and intolerance

P
age 70



A Safer London

Focus on high harm and local borough 
priorities

P
age 71



Total Notifiable Offences (TNO)

The long term trend for total notifiable offences (recorded crime) shows an increase with over 5,000 more offences recorded in Q1 2017/18 compared to the same point
last year.

The increase in London reflects – albeit at a lower level – a nationwide increase. Using the most recent national available data (to March 2017), recorded crime in London
increased by 4.4% compared to the previous 12 months. The increases across the rest of England and Wales, and across other most similar metropolitan forces (Greater
Manchester, West Midlands and West Yorkshire), were greater than in London: 12.5% and 15.8% respectively.

Over the longer term, improved crime recording accounts for some of the increase in recorded offences, particularly in categories such as violence.

172,467 

205,824 

 -

 50,000

 100,000

 150,000

 200,000

 250,000

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

P
age 72



High harm crime
The Met has a particular focus on high harm crimes, a
top priority in the Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan.
These are defined as all domestic abuse offences,
knife crime, gun related offending, sexual offences
and all forms of hate crime.

Hate crime, sexual offences and knife crime have all
increased in recent quarters. The recorded levels of
domestic abuse represent approximately one in ten
of all recorded crimes in London. These have
increased to the highest level recorded over the last 3
years.

Through the Crime Survey of England and Wales it is
known that high harm crimes such as domestic
violence and sexual offences are under-reported.
MOPAC and MPS are encouraging better reporting
and new ways for victims to report crime. Therefore
an increase in recorded crime may also reflect a
greater confidence in victims reporting their crime to
the police. MOPAC and the MPS are developing
monitoring mechanisms for levels of repeat
victimisation, as often these types of crimes are
experienced multiple times by the same victim –
leading to increased vulnerability.

High Harm crimes are a priority for the Met. The growth in demand from domestic abuse, sexual offences and hate crime alongside other areas of demand such as child
protection and mental health has led the Met to review how it is configured to best protect vulnerable people. Measures include:
• bringing together teams that investigate these crimes into one place
• investing more in prevention and problem solving; working closely with partners to identify risk and signpost vulnerable people to the appropriate agency to provide

support
• making clear that safeguarding is the responsibility of every single police officer. All officers - whether working in neighbourhoods, a response team or investigation -

need to be able to be proactive in spotting the signs of individuals who are vulnerable
• embedding its safeguarding service in neighbourhood policing. These officers best understand local communities and are at the frontline for protecting vulnerable

people - and are best placed to offer victims the appropriate level of support and care and investigate at the earliest opportunity
• retaining central specialist capability to investigate the most serious of crimes and provide specialist advice to frontline officers

The Met BCU pathfinder sites are currently testing this new structure, and the ambition is to invest further resources in this critical area across London.

15,769 

19,989 

2,367 3,638 

464 
628 

3,333 
4,871 3,219 

5,396 

 -

 5,000

 10,000

 15,000

 20,000

 25,000
Q

1
 2

0
1

4
/1

5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Domestic Abuse Knife Crime Gun Crime Total Sexual Offences Hate Crime

P
age 73



Recorded crime 12 month average

Police and Crime Plan Area Crime Category July 2015 - June 2016 July 2016 - June 2017 Change % Change

A better police service for London Total Notifiable Offences 748,660 790,473 41,813 5.6%

A better police service for London Violence Against the Person 231,876 241,416 9,540 4.1%

A better police service for London Total Robbery 21,429 26,336 4,907 22.9%

A better police service for London Total Burglary 69,548 70,761 1,213 1.7%

A better police service for London Total Theft Person 33,218 41,699 8,481 25.5%

A better police service for London Theft Taking of MV 23,345 29,096 5,751 24.6%

A better police service for London Theft from MV 49,754 55,745 5,991 12.0%

Keeping children and young people safe Knife Crime 9,785 13,121 3,336 34.1%

Keeping children and young people safe Gun Crime 1,862 2,645 783 42.1%

Tackling violence against women and girls Domestic Abuse 75,068 75,664 596 0.8%

Tackling violence against women and girls Total Sexual Offences 16,778 18,214 1,436 8.6%

Standing together against hatred and intolerance Racist and Religious Hate crime 15,168 17,629 2,461 16.2%

Standing together against hatred and intolerance Sexual Orientation Hate Crime 1,879 2,078 199 10.6%

Standing together against hatred and intolerance Transgender Hate Crime 148 203 55 37.2%

Standing together against hatred and intolerance Disability Hate Crime 502 596 94 18.7%

Due to the manner in which crime is recorded a single crime could be captured in more than one category. For example, someone assaulting their partner with a knife would be captured within Domestic Abuse 
and Knife Crime.  

Throughout the life of the police and crime plan, MOPAC will monitor key indicators as proxies for areas on which the plan is focussed. The above table illustrates some
key crime classifications in relation to the areas of the plan over the last twelve months.

In terms of overall crime comparisons to other areas of England and Wales, the most recently available data is to the end of the last full FY 2016/17. This showed that
although there had been an overall increase in crime in London (4.4% compared to the preceding year) that this was much more contained than across the rest of
England and Wales (where the increase was 12.5%).

P
age 74



Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB)

All boroughs across London have anti-social behaviour as part of their
local priorities in support of the Police and Crime Plan. There are wide
variations across areas - Westminster had the highest volume of calls in
Q1 2017/18, followed by Tower Hamlets.

In Q1 2017/18 there were over 67,000 calls to the Met related to ASB.
This was a similar level to last year’s first quarter. Of these 86% were
classed as ‘nuisance’ related. These are incidents where something
causes trouble, annoyance, inconvenience, offence or suffering to the
local community in general rather than to individual victims.

ASB reports show a strong seasonality correlated with school holidays. Tackling ASB is fully incorporated into neighbourhoods. It is integrated into the roles of the 2
Dedicated Ward Officers and 1 PCSO per ward (plus an additional 448 DWOs for the busiest wards). Work has been further enhanced by recent training packages for all
officers on ASB and a specific full day for Neighbourhood officers.

The Met reviews the performance stats, including challenging poor performance and sharing best practice on ASB, through the ASB Performance Group chaired by
Commander Bennett and attended by all boroughs. One emphasis of the work is in tackling repeat victims of ASB. Tower Hamlets have been running a ASB Warning project,
which has recently reduced ASB. Hackney have run a project to reduce repeat ASB callers/victims.

2587

2099

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Anti-Social Behaviour – Environmental

61375
57335

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Anti-Social Behaviour - Nuisance

10134

7609

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Anti-Social Behaviour - Personal

P
age 75



Local Volume Priorities

Performance in the last twelve months

Instead of focusing on local crime targets set at City Hall, MOPAC have focused on
the things that really matter in communities themselves. MOPAC’s new approach
was developed in partnership with local Met leaders and the elected local Council in
every Borough. The choice of local priorities were made based upon data and
evidence. In addressing local priorities, neighbourhood officers will work together
with Councils and other partners to take a problem solving approach – not only
pursuing and arresting criminals, but also taking enforcement action on the
problems that drive crime – such as drug dealing.

This approach was adopted at the beginning of this financial year, in April 2017 and
this slide sets out the baseline across London. The map sets out the changes in crime
which mostly pre-dates the setting of these priorities by boroughs.

As can be seen, amongst the boroughs that have seen reductions in the number of
priority crimes in the last twelve months were Barnet, Barking & Dagenham, Enfield
and Croydon (which all prioritised tackling burglary as well as violence with injury).
Merton and Ealing also experienced reductions. Three boroughs have recorded large
increases in the total volume of recorded offences within their chosen local priorities
- Camden, Islington and Hackney (theft is a common local priority to these three
boroughs).

Borough

Priority 1
% change Q1 
17/18 vs Q1 

16/17

Priority 2
% change Q1 
17/18 vs Q1 

16/17 Chosen Priorities

Barking and 
Dagenham -8% 20% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Burglary

Barnet -2% 0% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Burglary

Bexley 19% 44% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Burglary

Brent 15% 3% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Burglary

Bromley 30% 20% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Burglary

Camden 1% 277% 1) Common Assault  2)  Theft from Person

Croydon -15% -2% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Burglary

Ealing -6% -11%
1) Common Assault  2)  Non Domestic Abuse Violence with 
Injury

Enfield -3% -2% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Burglary

Greenwich -5% -5%
1) Non-Domestic VWI 2) Theft from Motor Vehicle 
(additional priority Theft Person -16%)

Hackney 42% 8% 1) Robbery & Theft Person 2)  Burglary 

Hammersmith 
and Fulham 28% 11% 1) Robbery  2)  Burglary

Haringey 20% 14% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Robbery

Harrow 14% 7% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Burglary

Havering 4% 8% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Burglary

Hillingdon 70% 0% 1) Robbery  2)  Burglary

Hounslow 0% 10% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Burglary

Islington 7% 99%
1) Common Assault  2)  Theft Person 
(additional priority - Theft of MV +51%)

Kensington and 
Chelsea 13% 26%

1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Theft from
MV

Kingston upon 
Thames -3% 4% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Burglary

Lambeth 23% -6% 1) Robbery  2)  Burglary

Lewisham 16% -2%
1) Common Assault  2)  Non Domestic Abuse Violence with 
Injury

Merton -19% -16% 1) Theft of Motor Vehicle  2)  Burglary

Newham 0% 74% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Robbery

Redbridge 15% 30% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Burglary

Richmond upon 
Thames 75% 18% 1) Theft from Motor Vehicle  2)  Burglary

Southwark 18% -2% 1) Robbery  2)  Burglary

Sutton 20% -17% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Burglary

Tower Hamlets -1% 12% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Burglary

Waltham Forest 29% 19% 1) Robbery  2)  Burglary

Wandsworth -7% 5% 1) Theft from Motor Vehicle  2)  Burglary

Westminster 9% 45% 1) Non Domestic Abuse Violence with Injury  2)  Robbery

P
age 76



Fraud & Cybercrime and Gun Crime

9,899 

10,758 

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Reported Fraud and Cyber Crime

In the 12 months to June 2017, residents in the Metropolitan Police
district reported 42,490 frauds and cybercrimes to Action
Fraud. Crimes are allocated to the force best placed to investigate
them, so some of these cases will be investigated by other police
forces. Similarly, some of the Met’s investigations will be into crimes
experienced by people elsewhere in the country.

The Met’s Operation Falcon specifically targets cybercrime (covering
both cyber-dependent crime such as computer systems attacks, and
cyber-enabled crime, whereby existing crimes are facilitated by the use
of internet). With an establishment of nearly 300 officers and staff, it is
the largest unit of its kind in policing. Falcon’s work is both preventative
(with advice, publications and guidance) and investigative (since its
launch end of 2014, more than 600 suspects have been convicted).

464

629

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Gun Crime Offences

Gun Crime Offences are any offence where a firearm has been used or
the possession of a firearm with intent.

Gun Crime Offences remained constant between Q1 2014/15 and Q3
2015/16 averaging 465 offences each quarter. However, Q1 2016/17
saw the first significant rise, which continued in the following
quarters.

Hundreds of officers work every day to tackle the threat from gangs
under the Trident command and other units including local officers.
They focus on those causing the most harm in order to do the most to
protect London. Operational activity is focused on reducing shootings
and taking weapons and dangerous offenders off the streets through
reactive and proactive investigations. Police and partners’ work on
prevention and diversion is vital - reducing availability of weapons,
creating pathways away from violence, engaging with young people
and building trust with communities.

P
age 77



A better Police Service for London 

P
age 78



Public Perception of the police

Source: Public Attitude 
Survey (PAS)

When comparing twelve months to Q1 17-18 to R12 to Q1 16-17, there have been notable increases in the proportion of respondents feeling the police treat everyone
fairly (+3%), deal with the things that matter (+3%) and feeling informed about local policing (+2%). Smaller increases are also seen for feeling the police can be relied on
to be there when needed and listen to the concerns of local people. The proportion feeling the police do a good job in the local area has remained stable, while a
decrease is seen in those saying they know how to contact their local SNT/Ward Officer (-3%).

The lowest performing aspects within the public attitude survey measures above are people knowing how to contact their local police (just 32%) and feeling informed
(44%). The latter of these has seen a slight reduction (-2%) over the last year yet local information has seen an increase (+2%). It is hoped that the Q1 launch of the
police local web pages and Ward twitter accounts will help address this.

76%

78%

74%

78%

70%

74%
72%

76%

50%

44%45%

32%

68%
69%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q
1

 1
4

-1
5

Q
2

 1
4

-1
5

Q
3

 1
4

-1
5

Q
4

 1
4

-1
5

Q
1

 1
5

-1
6

Q
2

 1
5

-1
6

Q
3

 1
5

-1
6

Q
4

 1
5

-1
6

Q
1

 1
6

-1
7

Q
2

 1
6

-1
7

Q
3

 1
6

-1
7

Q
4

 1
6

-1
7

Q
1

 1
7

-1
8

%
 A

gr
ee

Driver areas
Rolling 12 months data per point

Relied on to be there Fair treatment Dealing issues Listen to concerns

Informed local Contact SNT/ward officer Good job

The confidence intervals associated with this data are approximately 0.9 percentage points per point.

P
age 79



Victim Satisfaction has declined across the Metropolitan Police area by 3.75% over the last twelve months and is now at the lowest levels since FY 2014/15.

The Met has taken action to address the decline in victim satisfaction, through a reinforced Total Victim Care (TVC) initiative with Commander Jerome as strategic lead
and working with London’s Victim Commissioner Claire Waxman. Earlier in the year all borough commanders were provided with a toolkit focusing on TVC, Codes of
Practice for the Victims of Crime (VCOP) compliance and improvement including an action plan with evidenced based actions that directly improve the victim
experience. The Met used operational focus groups to engage and listen to what they need to deliver a quality victim service.

Joint enterprise workshops took place with MOPAC including raising awareness of restorative justice and Victim Support Services. Over the coming months better
linkages with the Met’s vulnerability/ safeguarding team will be built at a strategic, tactical and operational level for TVC. A Business case is being submitted for a full
time TVC officer integrated with MOPAC working to the agenda of the MPS Commissioner and the Victims Commissioner for London. The Met will also continue to
upskill officers and drive through national good practice and introduce additional support for victims with protected characteristics.

Victim Satisfaction

93%
90%

75%
69%

72%

65%

89%
87%

79%

73%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%
Q

1
 2

0
1

4
/1

5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

%
  S

at
is

fi
e

d

Overall Satisfaction and satisfaction within service areas
Discrete Quarter per point

Ease of Contact Police Actions Follow Up Treatment Overall Satisfaction

Source: User-
Satisfaction Survey

The confidence intervals associated with this data are approximately 0.7 percentage points per data point

P
age 80



Satisfaction and Public Voice - Inequalities

Source: Public Attitude Survey and User Satisfaction Survey Q1 17-18.

Results for White Other and Other Ethnicity tend to be higher than the MPS average for measures, whereas results for Black or Mixed respondents tend to be below
the MPS average (particularly for fair treatment). Black or mixed respondents are also less likely to feel police do a good job.

LGBT respondents are less likely to agree the police treat everyone fairly, listen to concerns, or are dealing with the things that matter.

Also, older respondents record a higher satisfaction than all other groups and feel more informed than other age groups.

The table compares
positive or negative
differences per group
against the overall
response to each question.
A positive or negative
figure of above +/-5% is
considered significant.

Overall 

Satisfaction

Police do a 

good job in the 

local area      

(Good job)

Feels well 

informed about

local police 

activities over the 

last 12 months     

(Informed local)

Agree the police 

listen to the 

concerns of local 

people      

(Listen to

concerns)

Agree the 

police treat

everyone 

fairly 

(Fair 

treatment)

Agree the 

police are 

dealing with 

the things that

matter to this 

community      

(Dealing issues)

75.3% 68.6% 43.7% 76.0% 78.3% 73.6%
White 

British
3.0% -0.1% 2.3% -0.8% -0.3% -1.3%

White Other 3.6% 6.2% -4.9% 4.8% 6.4% 6.0%

Black -3.9% -6.3% -1.1% -5.9% -11.1% -5.5%

Asian -3.0% -0.9% 0.8% 0.7% 2.2% 0.5%

Mixed -4.4% -13.5% 3.7% -7.1% -7.8% -6.9%

Other 

ethnicity
0.1% 4.9% -0.4% 7.4% 5.0% 6.3%

LGB -0.7% -2.3% 0.0% -6.1% -6.4% -9.3%

Not LGB 0.5% 0.1% -0.1% 0.2% 0.1% 0.2%

16-24 -1.2% -0.6% -5.9% -2.3% -1.8% -3.2%

25-34 -3.2% 2.9% -4.7% -0.5% 1.5% 0.7%

35-44 -1.7% 1.2% 2.0% 0.4% -0.4% 1.7%

45-54 0.9% -2.6% 2.6% -2.3% -2.4% -3.2%

55-64 2.4% -5.9% 2.0% 0.4% -2.0% -0.8%

65 years + 10.7% 2.0% 6.3% 5.0% 4.0% 4.0%

Disability -3.1% -3.1% -2.8% 1.0% -0.6% -2.3%

No disability 0.6% 0.3% 0.3% 0.8% 0.1% 0.3%

Male -0.5% 0.8% 1.8% -0.4% -0.2% -0.5%

Female 1.0% -0.8% -1.7% 0.5% 0.2% 0.5%
Sex

MPS Average

Ethnicity

LGB

Age

Disability

P
age 81



Workforce – Overview & Diversity

Whilst we retain a strategic ambition of 32,000 police officers this was last achieved in 2012. Officer numbers are currently under that which was budgeted for at the start
of the year, primarily due to slower than anticipated recruitment. The focus has remained on reducing back office expenditure to ensure that officer numbers can be kept
as high as possible.
The share of BAME and female officers has steadily increased over the past year, thanks to a concerted effort from the Met to be an organisation representative of the
city it polices.

Long Term Trend Police Officer Strength

66% 68% 71% 71%

23% 21% 20% 20%

4% 3% 3% 3%
8% 7% 6% 6%

Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q12016/17 Q1 2017/18

MPS Special Constabulory Police Community Support Officer

Police Staff Police Officer

Long Term Trend BAME Police Officer Strength Long Term Trend Female Police Officer Strength

The number of female and BAME officers have both increased over the last 5 years. The proportion of female and BAME officer recruits has also increased.

30,712
31,944 31,720 30,719

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

FT
Es

Police Officers
MPS Workforce Makeup

3,369
3,730

4,141
4,160

11%

14%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

F
T

E
s

BAME Police Officers

Number of BAME Police Officers % of total Police Officers

7,701 8,163 8,118 8,059

25% 26%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

0
1,000
2,000
3,000
4,000
5,000
6,000
7,000
8,000
9,000

10,000

Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

FT
Es

Female Police Officers

Number of Female Police Officers % of total Police Officers

P
age 82



Workforce – Overview & Diversity
Long term trend - Police Staff strength

11,802
11,068

9,329
8,500

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

FT
Es

Police Staff

Police staff numbers (Excludes PCSOs) have reduced since 2014/15 by 28%
as of Q1 2017/18. In consequence, BAME and Female staff numbers have
also reduced. However as a proportion, female staff consistently represent
56% of the total FTE staff cohort, and BAME approximately one in four
members of police staff.

6,575
6,188

5,295
4,756

55.7%
56.0%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

F
T

E
s

Female Police Staff

Female Police Staff % of total Police Staff

2,868
2,770

2,318

2,095

24.3%

24.6%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

F
T

E
s

BAME Police Staff

BAME Police Staff % of total Police Staff

P
age 83



Workforce – Dedicated Ward Officers (DWO)
By December 2017, the Met aims for each of
the 629 wards in London to have at least two
Dedicated Ward Officers (DWOs). The map
below shows that as of the end of Q1 2017 it
has achieved this coverage in 21 of the 32
boroughs.
In due course MOPAC will report on the level of
abstractions of DWOs. This will allow us to
ensure these officers are not being abstracted
from their duties within their local area, apart
from exceptional events.

Month
Dec 17 
Target 
DWOs

Current 
DWOs at 
June 17

Diff

June 2017 1,258 1,171 -87

DWOs remaining to be allocated within each borough

Target expected to be achieved by December 2017

Target achieved 

P
age 84



The number of complaint cases recorded decreased over the last three years despite the definition of a complaint being broadened in 2012/13. A complaint
case may have one or more allegations attached to it.

Each allegation is recorded against one of 27 allegation categories. The most common allegation was recorded under the ‘other neglect or failure in duty’,
followed by ‘incivility’. The first category accounted for 36% of all the allegations recorded in 2016/17; a similar proportion to previous years.

At the end of 2016/17, when national figures were last available, the Met was ranked 15th out of 44 forces. The Met receives approximately 13 complaint
cases per 100 employees against a national average of 28 per 100.

Public Complaints

The Policing and Crime Act 2017 provides an explicit duty for local policing bodies to hold to account the MPS Commissioner in regard to the handling of public
complaints. MOPAC are now responsible for developing an oversight framework to fulfil that enhanced statutory responsibility. The legislative reforms are
seeking to establish a greater degree of integrity and transparency in the management of complaints. Furthermore, they are designed to inspire an increased
level of public confidence in the ability of the Met to deal with complaints in a fair and efficient manner.

The Home Office have determined that the reforms to the police complaints will take effect from Summer 2018. MOPAC and the MPS have already
commenced working in collaboration to deliver a complaints management framework that will be legally compliant and support an appropriate oversight and
inspection infrastructure. The new Complaints Reform Working Group – a joint MOPAC & MPS group – is intended to provide a forum for MOPAC and MPS to
ensure work is delivered effectively.

12,513 11,948 10,802 2,141 

6,814

5833

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

2
0

1
4

/1
5

2
0

1
5

/1
6

2
0

1
6

/1
7

2
0

1
7

/1
8

 t
o

 Q
1

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
as

e
s

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

A
lle

ga
ti

o
n

s

Number of complaints and cases per financial year 2014/15 to Q1 2017/18

Allegations Cases

P
age 85



A better Criminal Justice Service for London

As part of continual improvement of the quality of our reporting MOPAC are looking at wider 
criminal justice measures for potential future inclusion. 

P
age 86



A better Criminal Justice Service for London

3
9

,8
2

8

4
2

,5
4

1

4
4

,1
5

7

4
5

,4
9

8

4
3

,2
6

8

#N
/A

4
3

,8
7

7

4
6

,7
9

2

4
5

,7
2

0

4
4

,1
9

2

4
1

,3
1

7

4
7

,2
2

4

4
4

,3
2

2

4
8

,5
4

0

4
9

,0
6

2

4
9

,2
0

5

4
6

,2
8

7

4
5

,8
5

5

4
9

,6
5

7

5
0

,4
2

8

4
9

,1
2

0

4
6

,2
7

8

4
4

,6
7

1

4
6

,6
7

8

4
5

,6
1

4

5
1

,8
5

4

5
1

,0
3

6

5
3

,8
8

4

5
0

,7
5

1

5
0

,5
4

1

5
1

,4
2

3

4
8

,9
3

1

5
0

,6
3

1

4
7

,1
7

2

4
6

,4
7

5

5
4

,4
4

8

5
0

,2
2

6

5
3

,9
0

4

5
4

,5
1

3

80%

65%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

A
p

r-
1

4

M
ay

-1
4

Ju
n

-1
4

Ju
l-

1
4

A
u

g-
1

4

Se
p

-1
4

O
ct

-1
4

N
o

v-
1

4

D
e

c-
1

4

Ja
n

-1
5

Fe
b

-1
5

M
ar

-1
5

A
p

r-
1

5

M
ay

-1
5

Ju
n

-1
5

Ju
l-

1
5

A
u

g-
1

5

Se
p

-1
5

O
ct

-1
5

N
o

v-
1

5

D
e

c-
1

5

Ja
n

-1
6

Fe
b

-1
6

M
ar

-1
6

A
p

r-
1

6

M
ay

-1
6

Ju
n

-1
6

Ju
l-

1
6

A
u

g-
1

6

Se
p

-1
6

O
ct

-1
6

N
o

v-
1

6

D
e

c-
1

6

Ja
n

-1
7

Fe
b

-1
7

M
ar

-1
7

A
p

r-
1

7

M
ay

-1
7

Ju
n

-1
7

VCOP* Applicable Offences **and Percentage of Victims Updated

Number of VCOP Applicable Offences Regular Updates

• Victim Code of Practice
** September 2014 Data not available

The proportion of victims updated of VCOP Applicable Offences gradually reduced over time (between April 2014 to June 2017). Currently (June 2017), only 65%
of victims are updated, compared to 80% in April 2014. During that period the number of VCOP Applicable Offences increased from 39,828 in April 2014 to
54,513 in June 2017.

The key objectives of the Police and Crime Plan 2017-21 sets out plans to actively monitor a Better service for victims. Part of this monitoring involves ensuring the 
MPS complies with the Victim’s Code of Practice (VCOP) and how well victims are kept informed. Below shows the proportion of Victims Updated of VCOP Applicable 
Offences. 

P
age 87



A better Criminal Justice Service for London

3
9

,8
2

8

4
2

,5
4

1

4
4

,1
5

7

4
5

,4
9

8

4
3

,2
6

8

#N
/A

4
3

,8
7

7

4
6

,7
9

2

4
5

,7
2

0

4
4

,1
9

2

4
1

,3
1

7

4
7

,2
2

4

4
4

,3
2

2

4
8

,5
4

0

4
9

,0
6

2

4
9

,2
0

5

4
6

,2
8

7

4
5

,8
5

5

4
9

,6
5

7

5
0

,4
2

8

4
9

,1
2

0

4
6

,2
7

8

4
4

,6
7

1

4
6

,6
7

8

4
5

,6
1

4

5
1

,8
5

4

5
1

,0
3

6

5
3

,8
8

4

5
0

,7
5

1

5
0

,5
4

1

5
1

,4
2

3

4
8

,9
3

1

5
0

,6
3

1

4
7

,1
7

2

4
6

,4
7

5

5
4

,4
4

8

5
0

,2
2

6

5
3

,9
0

4

5
4

,5
1

3

80%

69%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

A
p

r-
1

4

Ju
n

-1
4

A
u

g-
1

4

O
ct

-1
4

D
e

c-
1

4

Fe
b

-1
5

A
p

r-
1

5

Ju
n

-1
5

A
u

g-
1

5

O
ct

-1
5

D
e

c-
1

5

Fe
b

-1
6

A
p

r-
1

6

Ju
n

-1
6

A
u

g-
1

6

O
ct

-1
6

D
e

c-
1

6

Fe
b

-1
7

A
p

r-
1

7

Ju
n

-1
7

Victims informed of Suspect Arrested**

Number of VCOP Applicable Offences Informed of Suspect Arrested

The proportion of victims informed about whether the suspect has been arrested has reduced from 80% in April 2014 to 69% in June 2017. During that period
the number of VCOP applicable offences increased .

The key objectives of the Police and Crime Plan 2017-21 sets out plans to actively monitor a Better service for victims. Part of this monitoring involves ensuring the 
MPS complies with the Victim’s Code of Practice (VCOP) and how well victims are kept informed. Below shows the proportion of victims informed of Suspect Arrested 
of VCOP Applicable Offences.

** September 2014 Data not available

P
age 88



A better Criminal Justice Service for London

3
9

,8
2

8

4
2

,5
4

1

4
4

,1
5

7

4
5

,4
9

8

4
3

,2
6

8

#N
/A

4
3

,8
7

7

4
6

,7
9

2

4
5

,7
2

0

4
4

,1
9

2

4
1

,3
1

7

4
7

,2
2

4

4
4

,3
2

2

4
8

,5
4

0

4
9

,0
6

2

4
9

,2
0

5

4
6

,2
8

7

4
5

,8
5

5

4
9

,6
5

7

5
0

,4
2

8

4
9

,1
2

0

4
6

,2
7

8

4
4

,6
7

1

4
6

,6
7

8

4
5

,6
1

4

5
1

,8
5

4

5
1

,0
3

6

5
3

,8
8

4

5
0

,7
5

1

5
0

,5
4

1

5
1

,4
2

3

4
8

,9
3

1

5
0

,6
3

1

4
7

,1
7

2

4
6

,4
7

5

5
4

,4
4

8

5
0

,2
2

6

5
3

,9
0

4

5
4

,5
1

3

72%
71%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

A
p

r-
1

4

Ju
n

-1
4

A
u

g-
1

4

O
ct

-1
4

D
e

c-
1

4

Fe
b

-1
5

A
p

r-
1

5

Ju
n

-1
5

A
u

g-
1

5

O
ct

-1
5

D
e

c-
1

5

Fe
b

-1
6

A
p

r-
1

6

Ju
n

-1
6

A
u

g-
1

6

O
ct

-1
6

D
e

c-
1

6

Fe
b

-1
7

A
p

r-
1

7

Ju
n

-1
7

Victims informed of Suspect Released**

Number of VCOP Applicable Offences Informed of Suspect Released
** September 2014 Data not available

The proportion of victims informed of when a suspect has been released has remained relatively constant at approximately 71%, while the number of VCOP 
Applicable Offences increased during that same period. 

The key objectives of the Police and Crime Plan 2017-21 sets out plans to actively monitor a Better service for victims. Part of this monitoring involves ensuring the 
MPS complies with the Victim’s Code of Practice (VCOP) and how well victims are kept informed. Below shows the proportion of victims informed of Suspect 
Released of VCOP Applicable Offences.

P
age 89



Keeping children and young people safe

P
age 90



Keeping children and young people safe 

426

565

391

520

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700

Q
1

 1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 1
7

/1
8

Knife crime - Victims under 25

Knife Crime Injury Victims 1-24 Knife Crime Injury Victims Not DA 1-24

The number of youth victims of knife crime with injury was higher during the last
financial year than the previous 3, with the initial uptick evident in Q1 2016/17. Q1
2017/18 has seen 30 more victims than Q1 2016/17. Knife crime is a top priority for
the Met. This year, it reinforced Operation Sceptre with two units deployed across
London on late turn 7 days a week. Targeted weeks of action are running including
weapon sweeps, knife hotspot patrols, habitual knife offender targeting and Stop and
Search. Test purchase operations are also taking place, with Police cadets and trading
standards to ensure that retailers are compliant around the sale of knifes to under
18s.

The Met is increasing the number of its Safer Schools Officers and has stepped up
engagement work across the education sector.

There is an important role for all partners in prevention and diversion. The Mayor has
published a comprehensive Knife Crime Strategy and is convening partners across the
capital in efforts to tackle the issue through the London Crime Reduction Board. Both
the Mayor and the Met are encouraging people in positions of influence, peers,
parents, role models, community leaders, to drive the message and help support a
long-term change in behaviour.

…

7,902 

 -
 1,000
 2,000
 3,000
 4,000
 5,000
 6,000
 7,000
 8,000
 9,000

 10,000

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Number of Missing Children reported
More than 8,000 children are on a protection plan in London at any one time, and at
risk of violence and abuse. More than 5000 children go missing every quarter. Many
of these children are vulnerable to gangs and gang violence and radicalisation.

The Met is clear that safeguarding children, and vulnerable people, is the
responsibility of every single police officer and work is taking place to embed our
safeguarding services in neighbourhood policing –as these officers are best placed to
offer victims the appropriate level of support and investigate at the earliest
opportunity. This structure is being tested through the BCU pathfinders and longer
term, the Met’s ambition is to invest more resources in this area with more officers
across London protecting vulnerable members of the community.

The Met is working closely with MOPAC and partners to improve child protection
practice across London, learning from HMIC’s Child Protection Inspection
recommendations which are based findings of a report undertaken between
February to May 2016. The next issue of this quarterly report will expand on this
section.

The above chart totals missing and absent children. A person is “absent” when they are not at a 
place where they are expected or required to be and there is no apparent risk.

P
age 91



Tackling Violence against Women and GirlsP
age 92



Violence Against Women and Girls

Domestic Abuse:
In Q1 2017/18 the level of recorded domestic abuse is 5% higher than Q1
2016/17. Between April and June 2017 there were 19,989 recorded domestic
abuse offences across London. This is 976 more offences than in Q1 2016/17.

Sexual Offences: 
In Q1 of 2017/18 the level of recorded sexual offences is 10% higher than Q1
2016/17. Between April and June 2017 there were 4,871 recorded sexual offences
across London. This is 461 more offences than in Q1 2016/17.

15,769 

19,989 

 -

 5,000

 10,000

 15,000

 20,000

 25,000

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Domestic Abuse

3,333 

4,871 

 -

 2,000

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Total Sexual Offences

We know that domestic abuse and sexual offences are both significantly underreported, which makes it difficult to fully understand the true scale of the problem in
London. Some of the recent increase in recent periods may be accounted for by an increase in reporting rather than an increase in a number of offences. MOPAC
and the Met encourage this trend so that offenders can be bought to justice.
Specialist training in Domestic Abuse is now provided to all frontline officers and the rollout of Body Worn Video camera to officers will support the capture of
evidence and increase effectiveness in bringing offenders to justice

This category includes high harm crimes and is specifically targeted in the Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan because of the disproportionate impact of the crimes on this

group. The Police and Crime Plan commits to refreshing London’s Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy, working closely with the VAWG sector. This will be

published in the coming weeks.

P
age 93



Violence Against Women and Girls

Female Genital Mutilation, Forced marriage, Honour Based Violence

So-called Honour based violence (HBV) offences are identified via the use of flagging on the MPS crime recording system. This allows any offence believed to be linked 

to honour based practices to be flagged and recorded irrespective of the crime classification. As of end of March 2017 there were 326 recorded HBV offences compared 

to 442 in the preceding year. Forced marriage offences have increased over the last few years, with the recorded levels in 2016/17 of 111 offences. This compares to a 

similar level of 112 in 2015/16. Of these harmful practices, Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) is the least prevalent in terms of recorded crime data. FGM is identified on 

the crime system using a flag and in the last year there were only 21 offences flagged as FGM related. 

Under-reporting is a big challenge and the Met is working with partners and communities to try and address this, and to support information sharing with third sector

and health organisations

101

79

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Honour Based Violence

0

6

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Forced Marriage

P
age 94



Standing together against extremism, hatred 
and intolerance

P
age 95



There has been an overall increase in recorded Racist and Religious Hate Crime. The
month following the EU referendum saw the largest recorded level of racist and
religious hate crime since 2014/15 with a total of 2,141 crimes recorded in July
2016. This was also seen across England and Wales and well publicised across media.
Following the terrorist attacks in the London Bridge area in June 2017, there was an
increase in the number of these offences recorded by the MPS – 1,908 compared to
1,440 in the preceding month.

The majority of the victims of racist hate crime are from the Black and Asian
communities. Incidents and offences are up: more people are reporting, which helps
the Met identify where and when hate crime is taking place and who the repeat
offenders are. The Met introduced Hate Crime Liaison officers in October 2016 to
every London borough. It has specially trained investigators who deal with hate
crime and is working to increase reporting, with online reporting now available and
with a number of third party reporting sites so that victims who would otherwise
feel unable to approach police direct can report crime to non-police organisations.

Hate Crime

Note: A crime can have more than one hate flag attached to it. Adding up all the hate crime categories may result in multiple counting of a single offence and will not 
equal a Hate Crime total. 

57

124

0

100

200

300

400

500

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Anti-Semitic Hate Crime

127

586

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Islamophobic Hate Crime

Following international or UK centric events such as a terrorist attacks there have been increases in the number of Hate Crime Offences. Examples include increases 
following the EU referendum and the terrorist attacks in the London Bridge area. 

Islamophobic Hate Crime has increased over time with spikes at various points linked to
specific incidents, such as in November/December 2015 after the Paris attack; in March
2017 following the Westminster attack and in May/June 2017 following Manchester and
London Bridge attacks.

2678

4318

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Racist Hate Crime

P
age 96



MOPAC and MPS are taking a zero-tolerance approach to hate crime, including abuse due

to sexual orientation or disability. When a person is targeted for crime and abuse simply

because of who they are, this has a knock-on impact on a much wider community.

The long term trend in disability hate crime indicates that the recorded crime increased.
sexual orientation and transgender hate crime has increased over a long term trend with
regular fluctuations, with spikes occurring in July 2016 for both.

In February 2016 the MPS and community partners launched the ‘Disability Hate Crime
Matters’ initiative, providing briefings to frontline officers to ensure disability hate crime
is recognised, properly recorded, and gets the response it requires. This saw a far higher
number of disability hate crime reports captured than would previously have been the
case.

Hate Crime

Note: A crime can have more than one hate flag attached to it. Adding up all the hate crime categories may result in multiple counting of a single offence and will not equal a Hate Crime 
total. 

392

550

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Sexual Orientation Hate Crime

30 108

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Disability Hate Crime

29
51

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Q
1

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
2

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
3

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Transgender Hate Crime

P
age 97



Extremism

Data only available from Q42014/15. Arrests by Metropolitan Police Counter Terrorism Command officers.  
These includes arrests they have made in London and also outside the Capital.

37

73

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Q
4

 2
0

1
4

/1
5

Q
1

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
2

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
4

 2
0

1
5

/1
6

Q
1

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
2

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
3

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Total Counter Terrorism Arrests
As might be expected given the events of Quarter 1, the level of
arrests increased to its highest level in the three months to June
2017. The response to the terrorists incidents required an
enormous amount of officers in the immediate aftermath and in
terms of investigating capacity, across the whole organisation: not
just on counter-terrorism police but also neighbourhood officers
and all Met officers and staff. The Met remains on a heightened
state of readiness and is continually reviewing security
arrangements to reflect the threat we are facing. This also requires
vigilance from everyone to report anything suspicious to the police
at the earliest possible opportunity

P
age 98



Finance

P
age 99



Finances at a glance Q1 2017/18
Gross Revenue Expenditure

Capital Expenditure Reserve Balance

Forecasted Total 17/18 Net
Revenue variance:

Total Q1 Variance: -£32.2m

Further detail and commentary
on subsequent slides.

* Forecast

Full Year Gross Budget: £3,285m

Full Year Gross Forecast: £3,256m

Variance: -£29m

Full Year Budget: £366m

Full Year Forecast: £268m

Variance: -£98m

£85m (32%)

£123m (46%)

£29m (10%)

£31m (11%)

£0m £50m £100m £150m £200m

Property Services

Digital Policing

National Counter
Terrorism  Policing Head

Quarters (NCTPHQ)

Fleet Services

Full Year Budget (£m) Full Year Forecast (£m)

£46.4 £46.4 £46.4 £46.4 £46.4 

£275.4 
£333.9 

£372.9 

£250.4 
£192.5 

£81.5 
£16.0 

- £122.7

-£57.7
-£92.8

-£140m

-£40m

£60m

£160m

£260m

£360m

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18*

General reserves Earmarked Reserves Net Transfer (to)/from Reserves

P
age 100



Q1 17/18 Budget To 
Date (£m)

Actual to 
Date (£m)

Variance to Date 
(£m)

Police Officer Pay 452.1 445.0 -7.1 

Police Staff Pay 117.1 107.3 -9.8 

PCSO Pay 13.8 14.0 0.2 

Total Pay 583.0 566.3 -16.7 

Police Officer Overtime 20.8 30.2 9.4 

Police Staff Overtime 5.1 6.6 1.5 

PCSO Overtime 0.1 0.1 0.0 

Total Overtime 26.0 36.9 10.9 

TOTAL PAY & OVERTIME 609.0 603.2 -5.8 

Employee Related Expenditure 5.0 6.4 1.4 

Premises Costs 45.0 42.8 -2.2 

Transport Costs 16.8 16.3 -0.5 

Supplies & Services 121.9 105.6 -16.3 

TOTAL RUNNING EXPENSES 188.7 171.1 -17.6 

Capital Financing Costs 24.4 24.4 0.0 

Discretionary Pension Costs 8.6 8.5 -0.1 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 830.7 807.2 -23.5 

Other Income -64.1 -63.3 0.8 

Specific Grants -106.4 -105.9 0.5 

Transfer to/(from) reserves -18.0 -16.2 1.8 

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 642.2 621.8 -20.4 

Funding (General Grant & 
Precept)

-596.3 -596.9 -0.6 

OVERALL MPS & MOPAC Total 45.9 24.9 -21.0 

Revenue
Position at Q1 17/18

Full Year 
Budget (£m)

Full Year 
Forecast 

(£m)
Variance (£m)

1,805.0 1,781.6 -23.3

479.4 448.7 -30.7

53.7 54.6 0.9

2,338.1 2,284.9 -53.2

79.0 101.8 22.8

20.1 24.3 4.2

0.2 0.2 0.0

99.3 126.3 27.0

2,437.4 2,411.2 -26.2

21.9 21.1 -0.8

173.9 171.8 -2.1

65.4 65.6 0.2

509.7 509.6 -0.1

770.9 768.1 -2.8

41.9 41.9 0.0

34.4 34.5 0.1

3,284.6 3,255.7 -28.9

-256.6 -262.5 -5.9

-431.7 -430.8 0.9

-92.8 -91.1 1.7

2,503.5 2,471.3 -32.2

-2,503.5 -2,503.5 0.0

0.0 -32.2 -32.2

Police Officer Pay: Based on the current
recruitment pipeline and the latest HR workforce
modelling data the police pay expenditure
forecast is a £23.3m underspend at the end of
the year. This underspend will be transferred to
reserves in order to support officer recruitment
plans in future years; subject to finalising the
costs and funding arrangements for the 1%
bonus awarded to Police Officer in 2017 and
2018.

Police Staff Pay: The forecast outturn is for a
£30.7m underspend, offset to some extent by
forecast overspends on overtime and other
costs. Whilst noting recruitment is underway,
this underspend is significant and police staff pay
is being reviewed in the forthcoming budget
process to assess any potential permanent
savings.

Total Overtime: At the end of June the Police
Officer and Police Staff overtime budgets were
overspent by £10.9m in total and the full year
forecast at this point is for a £27.0m
overspend. Some of this spend compensates for
vacancies in the pay lines above; £14.1m relates
to areas funded by Counter Terrorism and other
grants, and additional grant is being sought in
these areas to recognise the costs of recent
incidents.

Running Costs: Running costs are forecast to be
broadly on budget, although it is too early in the
financial year to draw definitive conclusions. The
year-to-date running costs are underspent by
£17.6m, mainly due to budget profiling issues
and delays in grants to services commissioned
from third parties.

P
age 101



Revenue supporting information

Business Group

Year To 

Date Actual

£m

Current 

Full Year 

Budget

£m

Annual 

Forecast

£m

Annual 

Variance

£m

Territorial Policing 264.1 1,050.1 1,049.6 -0.4

Specialist Crime & Operations 107.7 424.3 422.5 -1.7

Specialist Operations 57.8 233.9 234.7 0.8

Met HQ (excl. DP) 12.2 49.0 51.3 2.3

Digital Policing 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1

Centrally Held 3.1 47.7 23.3 -24.5

Grand Total 445.0 1,805.0 1,781.6 -23.3

Police officer pay & overtime 
Officer pay year-to date £7.1m underspend, full year
forecast of £23.3m underspend and police overtime
year to date £9.4m overspend and full year variance
at £22.8m

With the proposed transfer of the £23.3m internally
funded police pay underspend to reserves being
approved, the updated pay forecast position would be
broadly on budget with the overall MOPAC Group
underspend reducing to £8.9m.

Work continues to fill existing vacancies through the
Police Officer Postings Panel, therefore current vacancy
levels are expected to reduce in 2017/18.

Business Group

Year To 

Date Actual

£m

Current 

Full Year 

Budget

£m

Annual 

Forecast

£m

Annual 

Variance

£m

Territorial Policing 19.2 91.4 78.6 -12.7

Specialist Crime & Operations 40.8 173.4 162.7 -10.7

Specialist Operations 11.8 52.7 52.7 0.0

Met HQ (excl. DP) 29.5 126.0 121.1 -4.8

Digital Policing 3.4 16.3 15.2 -1.1

Centrally Held 0.5 10.8 10.0 -0.8

MOPAC 1.9 9.0 8.5 -0.5

Total Police Staff Pay 107.3 479.4 448.7 -30.7

Police staff pay & overtime
Police staff pay year-to date £9.8m underspend,
£30.7m full year forecast underspend and staff
overtime year-to date £1.5m overspend, £4.2m
forecast overspend.

The majority of police staff pay underspend in
Territorial Policing is due to vacancies within Criminal
Justice, Met Detention and in the Designated
Detention Officers (DDOs). There is also an underspend
within the Forensic Health Nurses, and in Met
Prosecutions where the vacant posts are currently
being filled. The underspend is partly offset through
use of expenditure on Forensic Medical Officers, who
are used to provide cover for the nurse vacancies, and
police officer overtime.

The underspend in SC&O is predominantly due to high
turnover of staff coupled with delays in recruitment.

The police staff overtime budget is forecast to
overspend by £4.2m at year end with the majority of
the overspend due to vacancies in DDO posts and the
need for the existing staff to work overtime to cover
shifts. It is anticipated that the DDO recruitment
campaigns will yield sufficient numbers to cover these
vacant posts and therefore remove the pressure on
overtime budgets.

Business Group

Year To 

Date Actual

£m

Current 

Full Year 

Budget

£m

Annual 

Forecast

£m

Annual 

Variance

£m

Territorial Policing 7.5 19.8 24.2 4.3

Specialist Crime & Operations 11.4 32.8 39.0 6.2

Specialist Operations 11.0 25.5 37.7 12.2

Met HQ (excl. DP) 0.2 0.7 0.7 0.0

Digital Policing 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Centrally Held 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.2

Total Police Officer Overtime 30.2 79.0 101.8 22.8

Police overtime 

PCSO pay
Year-to date £0.2m overspend, £0.9m full year 
forecast overspend

Police officer pay 
Police staff pay

At the end of June there were more than the
affordable number of PCSOs in posts funded from
core grant and precept and vacancies in those posts
funded by 3rd parties.

The major driver for the overspend is due to the
response and investigations following the recent four
terrorist incidents in London and Manchester and
additional costs incurred through investigations due to
Grenfell Fire. The other main driver for the overtime
overspend is within Met Detention Custody. As the
recruitment campaign is underway, the pressure on
additional overtime is expected to reduce.

As at the end of June the Police Overtime budget was
overspent by £9.3m and the full year forecast at the
end of Q1 is for a £22.8m overspend.P

age 102



During the 2017/18 planning process the MPS were required to deliver a net saving of £75m. Within
this net saving figures was the growth for additional overtime, leaving a total of £82.1m savings to be
delivered in the current financial year. MPS are on track to deliver £66m of that saving and are working
on delivery of a further £11m where some timing issues have been identified. This leaves £5.1m with a
high risk of non-delivery – mainly within Specialist Crime and Operations (SC&O). Both of these areas
will be tested over the summer through the budget process. The 2017/18 savings are analysed in the
table below.

Planned Saving 
£m

Forecast Saving 
£m

Variation £m

Savings that are forecast to be delivered in full (high 
confidence of delivery of savings)

-61.3 -61.3 0.0

Savings with timing delivery problems (confidence in 
delivery of savings but with delays)

-15.7 -4.7 11.0

Savings with structural delivery problems -5.1 0.0 5.1

Total - MPS Savings 2017/18 -82.1 -65.9 16.1

Income
Year-to date £0.8m under-recovery, £5.9m full year 
forecast over-recovery

There will be an additional drawdown from the
Police Property Activity Fund (PPAF) to support 3rd
Party organisations in the delivery of the PCP and
additional income of £3.3m within Criminal Justice
/ Traffic Unit from delivering driver awareness
courses, recovery of courts costs and provision of
information to third parties for civil action. We also
anticipate an additional £1.6m income from the
College of Policing for the Direct Entry
Superintendent course. PCSO vacancies in funded
posts are likely to reduce income by £1.3m.

Achievement against savings target

Revenue supporting information
Running costs
Year-to date £17.6m underspend, £2.8m full year 
forecast underspend

Running costs are forecast to be broadly on
budget, although it is too early in the financial
year to draw definitive conclusions.

The year-to-date running costs are underspent by
£17.6m, mainly due to budget profiling issues.

Running costs for SO are showing a forecast
£5.6m underspend, however expenditure relating
to the recent terrorist incidents and Operation
Roset (uplift in policing to address terrorist
incidents) is still being clarified and it is very likely
that the underspend will reduce with a revised
forecast next period.

P
age 103



MPS (£m) Full Year Projection
Full Year 

Budget (£m)
Actual to 
Date (£m)

Full Year 
Forecast 

(£m)

Variance 
(£m)

Property 
Services

Transforming MPS Estate 159.3 12.5 85.3 -74

Over Programming - Property Services -11.4 0 0 11.4

Total Property Services 147.9 12.5 85.3 -62.6

NCTPHQ CT Policing Change Portfolio 62 0.2 28.5 -33.5

Digital Policing

Creating Business Support function of 
the future

0.5 0 0.5 0

Enhance Digital Policing for 2020 9.8 4 30.5 20.7

Improving Public Access and first 
contact

4.3 0.9 2.9 -1.4

Optimising Response 13.1 1 9.8 -3.3

Reinforcing HQ, Improving Information 
Management

4.6 0.1 1.2 -3.4

Smarter Working 58.9 3.9 53.7 -5.2

Transforming investigation and 
prosecution

36.8 1.1 36.4 -0.4

Strengthening Local Policing 2 0.1 0.6 -1.4

DP Core/Other 20 1.4 6.9 -13.1

CT Policing Change Portfolio 1.4 0.2 3 1.6

Over Programming – Digital Policing -28.6 0 -22.7 5.9

Total Digital Policing 122.8 12.7 122.8 0

Fleet

Delivering maximum commercial 
efficiency - Fleet

28.8 1.9 26.7 -2.1

Strengthening our Armed Policing 
Capability

4.7 -0.3 4.7 0

Total Fleet Services 33.5 1.6 31.4 -2.1

Total Capital Expenditure 366.2 27.0 268 -98.2

Capital
Position at Q1 17/18

At the start of 2017/18 the Mayor approved a capital
programme that provided for £366.2m of expenditure. This
will be funded from a combination of capital receipts, grants
and other contributions.

Capital expenditure for the year is forecast at £268m with a
full year variance projected at an underspend of £98.2m

Capital Programme adjustment plans:

• Property Services - Property services is forecasting a full
year variance of -42% given longer lead in times for large
scale projects and dependencies of key decisions on the
outcome of the public access consultation and the
evaluation of the pathfinder sites. The proposal is to re-
profile the approved capital plan for 2017/18 from
£159.3m to £85.3m, and to re-profile the capital receipts
budget for 2017/18 from £71m to £32m

• Digital Policing - Digital policing spend at the end of Q1 is
£12.7m with major spend linked to the mobility rollout
and digital policing transformation, including the networks
tower and data centre migration. Digital policing is
forecasting to spend to budget for the full year. The major
rollout of laptops under the mobility project commences
from August, in-vehicle mobile applications from June, and
further major network installations are planned for the
second half of the year.

• Fleet Services - Fleet has spent £1.6m to date, with a
back-end loaded profile of vehicle delivery for this year,
and is forecasting a minor variance of -7% for the full
year. Fleet has proposed a re-profile of the capital plan
with a reduction from £33.5m to £31.4m in this financial
year and an increase from £32.8m to £34.4m in 2018/19.

• NCTPHQ - NCTPHQ which is overseen through national
structures has rescaled the Counter Terrorism capital plan
pending national discussions and is forecasting a full year
variance of -54%. NCTPHQ has proposed a reduction in its
approved capital plan from £62m to £28.5m

P
age 104



Capital
Capital expenditure trend (£m) Quarterly (£m)

Capital expenditure trend Breakdown by directorate (%)

* NCTPHQ – Counter Terrorism spend not included in 13/14 to 15/16 as the unit was not part of the MPS. Since 2016/17 MPS became the legal
owner of the function and are the lead force. 

* **

£150m

£199m

£238m

£177m

£268m

£0m

£50m

£100m

£150m

£200m

£250m

£300m

£350m

£400m

£450m

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

Annual Budget (£m) Actual (£m)

The annual data shows that since 2014-15 the MPS have consistently
underspent by at least 33% compared capital budget agreed at the start
of the year. This reflects the complexity, scale and ambition of the Met’s
capital programme and has historically resulted in a combination of
project slippage and under delivery.

Capital spend was around 40% lower in the first quarter of 2016-17 than
the final quarter and then falls again in the first quarter of 2017-18. This
pattern is common in capital spending programmes, but one that will be
monitored by MOPAC and the Met.

The MPS are working to develop their capital processes to reduce
underspends through the year.

£36m

£47m

£36m

£58m

£27m

£0m

£10m

£20m

£30m

£40m

£50m

£60m

Actual (£m) Actual (£m) Actual (£m) Actual (£m) Actual (£m)

16/17 Q1 16/17 Q2 16/17 Q3 16/17 Q4 17/18 Q1

* *

51%
50%

59%

42% 32%

36%

42%

34%

40%

46%6%

11%

12%

8%

7%

12%

12%

0.4%

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 (Forecast)
Property Services Digital Policing NCTPHQ Fleet Services Other

P
age 105



Reserves

Earmarked revenue reserves are being used to support the major change programme, address risks in its delivery and to meet one off exit and redundancy costs.
The Met are pursuing a policy of investing their earmarked revenue reserves in transformation and change. These have fallen from £373m at the end of 2014-15 (15%
of the net budget) to £194m at the end of 2016-17 (8%). They are forecast to fall to £70m by the end of 2020-21 (3%). General reserves which are retained in order to
accommodate unexpected pressures are held at £47m (less than 2%). According to analysis by the Association of Police and Crime Commissioners this is lower than
the average across most other forces which at the end of 2016-17 stood at 10% for earmarked reserves and 3% for general reserves.

The MOPAC capital receipts reserve is significant at 31 March 2017 due to receipt from sale of New Scotland Yard. All of the capital receipts reserve is scheduled for
use within the years 2017-19 to support the MOPAC capital investment programme. At that point MOPAC is estimating that new and additional borrowing will be
required.

Planned & Actual Position (£m)

2
0

1
4

/1
5

2
0

1
5

/1
6

2
0

1
6

/1
7

2
0

1
7

/1
8

2
0

1
8

/1
9

2
0

1
9

/2
0

2
0

2
0

/2
1

Actual Actual Actual Forecasted Planned Planned Planned 

Opening Reserve Balance 403.4         419.4         297.9         240.2         149.1         127.4         102.1         

Net Reserve Movement 16.0           121.5-   57.7-   91.1-   21.7-   25.3-   14.4           

Closing reserve Balance 419.4 297.9 240.2 149.1 127.4 102.1 116.5 

General Fund Reserve 46.6 46.6 46.6 46.6 46.6 46.6 46.6
General Fund Reserve % to Net Budget 

(Ex Grant funding & Precept) 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2%

Earmarked Reserves 372.8 251.3 193.6 102.5 80.8 55.5 69.9
Earmarked Reserve as % to Net Budget 

(Ex Grant funding & Precept) 15% 10% 8% 4% 3% 2% 3%

P
age 106



MOPAC Commissioning

P
age 107



MOPAC Commissioning
The Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime’s role as a
commissioner has developed significantly since the creation of
the office, following the enactment of the Police Reform and
Social Responsibility Act 2011. In 2012/13 MOPAC
commissioning budget was £23.6m; this has grown substantially
to a budget of £42.3m in 2017/18.

MOPAC’s commissioning has aided the development of regional
and local partnerships, levering in match funding with a focus on
efficient and effective services. MOPAC has also put in place new
approaches to commissioning, working more to develop
consortia arrangements across the voluntary and statutory
sectors as well as testing alliance based commissioning models;
putting the providers more at the forefront of service change
and improvement.

Future quarterly reports will provide more detail in this area.
One of the key funding streams ins the LCPF, see next slide for
breakdown.

£16.6m 

£8.7m 

£9.3m 

£6.6m 

£1.1m 

A better criminal justice system Keeping children and young people safe

Tackling violence against women and girls A better policing service for London

Standing together against hatred, intolerance and extremism

Total MOPAC 
Commissioning 

2017/18

£42.3m

P
age 108



London Crime Prevention Fund

£5,325,717 

£494,007 £1,397,997 

£4,038,770 

£5,521,093 

2017/18 Fund Allocation across PCP areas

Children and young people Hate crime and extremism

Neighbourhood policing Violence against women and girls

Wider Criminal Justice System

Boroughs Total Allocation 17/18 

Barking and Dagenham £640,000

Barnet £457,406

Bexley £299,400

Brent £591,429

Bromley £350,000

Camden £528,000

Croydon £708,498

Ealing £596,363

Enfield £523,581

Greenwich £567,832

Hackney £870,000

Hammersmith and Fulham £444,043

Haringey £781,000

Harrow £232,000

Havering £313,502

Hillingdon £490,468

Hounslow £446,070

Islington £645,524

Kensington and Chelsea £325,640

Kingston upon Thames £165,425

Lambeth £680,613

Lewisham £751,500

Merton £220,943

Newham £831,796

Redbridge £391,000

Richmond upon Thames £145,500

Southwark £709,000

Sutton £235,428

Tower Hamlets £806,230

Waltham Forest £590,433

Wandsworth £543,000

Westminster £895,961

Grand Total £16,777,584

The London Crime Prevention Fund enables MOPAC to continue to support local
community safety and prevention services whilst also recognising that some London
challenges relating to the Police and Crime Plan priorities could be better addressed
through greater collaboration. This approach will encourage the co-design, co-
commissioning and co-delivery of services, provide efficiencies from joining up
services across areas and providers and ensure that Londoners have access to the
services they need. The fund strikes a balance between maintaining crucial local
programmes while supporting collaborative work between different areas and
organisations.
MOPAC has allocated £16.8m in 2017/18 to the LCPF and has allocated a further
£15.7m in 2018/19.
In our future reports MOPAC will provide further information on this spend and
other areas of commissioning.

2017/18 Fund Allocation across Boroughs

P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 110



 
Page 1 

 

Annex A 
Metropolitan Police Service 
 

Met Business Plan 2017-18, Quarter 1 update 
(April to June 2017) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1- INTRODUCTION 2 

Quarter 1 overview 2 
 
2- OUR FOCUSED PRIORITIES 3 

Keeping children and young people safe 3 
Tackling violence against women and girls 5 
Tackling hate crime 6 
Making London safer 6 

 
3- A SAFER CITY FOR EVERYONE 8 

A visible presence 8 
An accessible force 8 
An effective response 10 
Local and specialist investigations 10 
Improving outcomes 11 

 
4- A TRANSFORMED, MODERN, EFFICIENT MET 12 
 

  

Page 111



 

2 
 

1- Introduction 
 
Operational policing in London is the responsibility 
of the Metropolitan Police Commissioner, Cressida 
Dick who took up her post in April this year. 
 
Our 2017-18 priorities are to: 
 Tackle violent crime and especially knife crime 

which affects young people across London 
 Counter terrorism and review our strategy, 

tactics and resources in light of the threat 
 Protect children and develop a robust 

approach to tackling child sexual exploitation 
 Transform the Met to become a modern police 

force using technology, data, skills and 
engagement to fight crime more effectively 

 
This update reports our progress in implementing 
our new Business Plan and our actions (as at 
Quarter 1, 2017-18) to bear down on crime and 
violence and to support delivery of the Mayor’s 
Police and Crime Plan. It complements the 
MOPAC quarterly data pack. 
 
Some of our Business Plan quarterly milestones 
focus on the implementation of our transformation 
programme (the One Met Model), whilst others are 
relate to policing London (both “business as usual” 
and how we improve policies and processes). An 
update is provided here on all Q1 and Q2 
milestones. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Quarter 1 overview 
 
Policing in London is facing unprecedented 
challenges. The horrific events of the first quarter 
of the financial year have reminded us that there is 
no such thing as a typical quarter in policing. The 
terrorist attacks Manchester, London Bridge and 
Finsbury Park required huge police deployment 
both in the immediate incident response and in the 
management of the aftermath, investigation, public 
reassurance deployments and reaching out to 
London’s communities. 
 
The tragedy of the Grenfell Tower fire in June 
2017, deeply felt across the community, showed 
the extraordinary response from the local and 
wider community. 
 
Quarter 1 was also marked by the widespread 
disruptions to the NHS of the Wannacry virus, a 
reminder that digital attacks can have create 
substantial and real disruptions. Moped-enabled 
crime and acid attacks highlighted the complexity 
of tactics that officers have to confront. 
 
Current recorded crime figures over the last twelve 
months are showing increases across the country. 
Whilst these rises are of strong concern, levels 
generally remain lower than 5 years ago. There 
are some acknowledged under-reported crimes, 
such as sexual offences, where we want to see 
more reporting. Reporting in these areas is 
continuing to rise which does suggest greater 
stronger confidence of victims in the Met’s 
determination to tackle offenders. 
 
June saw the publication of the Mayor’s knife 
crime strategy, bringing together partners and 
communities to fight this scourge that affects so 
many young people and families. Following the 
increases in knife crime witnessed in particular 
early in Quarter 1, the Met strengthened Operation 
Sceptre deploying a set of tactics including 
enforcement, diversion and prevention. 
Consensus is that the police cannot tackle this 
crime alone: many partners have a key role to play 
and we have sought to intensify engagement with 
these partners and with communities. 
  

Milestone reporting  
 
Our Met Business Plan milestones are in 
blue. Our progress against them is in black. 
 
Q1 milestones are set against a green 
background, whilst interim progress on Q2 
milestones is on a grey background. 
 
Status is assessed as follows: 

 delivered 
 on track 
 some delays 

Page 112



 

3 
 

2- Our focused 
priorities 
 
Tackling high harm crimes are a priority for the Met 
and the Mayor. The growth in demand from 
domestic abuse, sexual offences, child protection, 
mental health and hate crime - together with a 
critical look of how it has delivered some of these 
services in the past - has led us to review how we 
are configured to best protect vulnerable people. 
Focused operations are discussed in later 
sections, but in terms of overarching actions, we 
are: 
 bringing together teams that investigate these 

crimes into one place 
 investing more in prevention and problem 

solving; working closely with partners to 
identify risk and signpost vulnerable people to 
the appropriate agency to provide support 

 making clear that safeguarding is the 
responsibility of every single police officer. All 
officers - whether working in neighbourhoods, 
a response team or investigation - need to be 
able to be proactive in spotting the signs of 
individuals who are vulnerable 

 embedding its safeguarding service in 
neighbourhood policing. These officers best 
understand local communities and are at the 
frontline for protecting vulnerable people. They 
are also best placed to offer victims the 
appropriate level of support and care and 
investigate at the earliest opportunity 

 retaining central specialist capability to 
investigate the most serious of crimes and 
provide specialist advice to frontline officers 

 
The Met BCU pathfinder sites are currently testing 
this new structure, and our ambition is to invest 
further resources in this critical area with 400 more 
officers across London. 
 

 
Q1 Business Plan milestone: “Put in 
place our new safeguarding approach 
in the two pathfinder BCUs” (One Met 
Model transformation programme 2: 
“Strengthening local policing”) 
 
In April 2017, we set up a new joined-up 
Safeguarding function in our two new 
“Pathfinders”: the East Area BCU (which 
brings together Havering, Redbridge and 
Barking & Dagenham) and the Central 
North BCU (Camden and Islington).  
 
Services previously delivered separately 
by borough units and the Sexual 

 
 
 
 

Offences, Exploitation and Child Abuse 
Command (SCO17 and SCO5) have 
been integrated, offering a single “front 
door” model for all referrals for: 
 vulnerable children and adults 
 the investigation of domestic abuse, 

rape and sexual offences 
 and child abuse 
It brings together a wide range of 
specialised experience in investigating 
complex crimes. 
 
From July onwards, a period of evaluation 
is taking place to see if the benefits 
envisaged have come into fruition, and to 
analyse what has worked and what needs 
improving further. 
 

 
 
 
 

Keeping children and 
young people safe 
 

 
Q1 Business Plan milestone: “Deliver 
our new child safeguarding training to 
all local officers across the boroughs” 
 
Safeguarding training was delivered to 
all frontline officers in professional 
development days. With an introduction 
from Assistant Commissioner Martin 
Hewitt stressing the importance of this 
area of policing, topics covered child 
abuse; criminal and sexual exploitation; 
missing children; children affected by 
domestic abuse; risks to children from 
extremism; risks to children from on-line 
abusers. Real life case studies were 
used to illustrate risks and harm, and 
what action officers need to take. 
 
Following feedback from staff, the 
safeguarding theme will continue in Q3, 
with a focus on children, social media 
and the internet, and the role of police 
and other agencies in keeping children 
safe. 
 
The training content for Q1 and Q3 has 
been developed in consultation with 
internal subject matter experts, leading 
academics, and representatives from 
external organisations who act in an 
advisory capacity to the Met. 
 

 
 
 

Page 113



 

4 
 

 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Deliver 
internal communication and 
awareness campaign on child 
protection across the organisation” 
 
This is on track to be delivered in Q2 
with an internal communications plan 
launched on 8 August, informed by the 
staff survey and outcomes from case 
audits. This will run for the next 12 
months supporting operational activity. It 
will focus on four themes in quarterly 
campaigns (Children sexual exploitation, 
Gangs, Missing children and Child 
abuse) using a wide range of supports 
(posters, intranet features, blogs, 
podcasts etc). 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

Knife Crime 
 
The use of knives on London’s streets has 
become a worrying trend and a concerted effort by 
the Met is taking place to reduce offences, under 
Operation Sceptre.  
 
In Quarter 1, the Met has established a new 
taskforce of 100 officers, made up of both 
uniformed officers and detectives focusing on hot 
spots across London and intelligence-led 
operations on an intensive basis. We also 
intensified Operation Sceptre: activity includes 
proactive and reactive operations, information 

sharing with partner agencies and preventative 
tactics through early intervention with young 
people. Since May 2016, over 2,700 people have 
been charged with possession of a knife - 
representing a charge rate of 85 per cent for all 
arrests for this offence.  
 
The latest phase saw more than 500 arrests and 
over 400 weapons taken off the streets. Making an 
impact in this area is heavily dependent on our 
work with schools, where we have 300 Safer 
Schools Officers delivering presentations and 
educational packages to pupils to highlight the 
potentially devastating consequences of carrying a 
knife (over 14,000 young people reached over the 
past year). 
 

 
Q1 Business Plan milestone: “Support 
MOPAC to publish a Knife Crime 
strategy” 
 
We supported MOPAC in the 
development of the knife crime strategy 
and actions. The strategy was published 
in June. 
 

 
 
 

 
The Met continues to use Stop and Search to 
protect Londoners, tackle crime and keep streets 
safe. This can be a particularly valuable tool to 
tackle knife and gun crime, resulting in over 3,500 
arrests for weapons in the past year. Whilst there 
has been a reduction in the number of searches in 
recent years, the Met’s arrest rate is 20 per cent, 
the best of any major force in England and Wales, 

Page 114



 

5 
 

and one third of all searches result in a positive 
outcome. 
Another particular concern is the theft of mopeds, 
which represent more than half of all vehicle stolen 
in the past year. These stolen vehicles are often 
used on to snatch valuables (particularly mobile 
phones) from members of the public.  
 
To help reduce offences, the Met launched the Be 
Safe campaign in Q1, focused on the rise in 
moped theft (and in moped-enabled crime). The 
campaign encourages owners to better secure 
their vehicles and prevent theft – and potentially 
the subsequent use of the vehicle in many other 
crimes. 
 
This supports Operation Venice, our response to 
the theft of motorcycles, scooters and mopeds, 
and associated crimes. Tactics used include 
increasing street searches, ANPR operations, 
working with partner agencies to prevent and 
design out crime, sharing information and using 
intelligence and CCTV to identify linked offences. 
 
 

Tackling violence against 
women and girls 
 
The Met is encouraging better reporting and 
developing new ways for victims of crimes such as 
domestic abuse and sexual offences to report 
abuse. We know (through the Crime Survey for 
England and Wales) that violence against women 
and girls is known under-reported. Increases can 
reflect increased confidence from victims in 
speaking to the Police rather than an actual 
increase in a crime type. 
 

 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Support 
MOPAC to review the Violence against 
Women and Girls (VAWG) Strategy” 
 
We are currently working with MOPAC to 
review their “Violence against women and 
girls” strategy, building on their “London 
domestic violence needs assessment” 
report, to ensure that we put all in place to 
tackle offenders and support victims, 
working with partners across London. 
 
We attend the MOPAC VAWG Board and 
MOPAC VAWG co-ordinators group and 
will be assisting with consultation in the re-
writing of the VAWG strategy. Specialist 
training for officers is at the heart of our 
approach, and we have increased the 
numbers of officers and staff working 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115



 

6 
 

across our borough-based Community 
Safety Units to bring the total up to just 
over 900. 
 
All frontline officers working in borough 
policing now get additional specialist 
training in domestic abuse, incorporating 
updates on the latest legislation, 
investigative techniques, victim care and 
how to best target offenders. We are 
looking at all the ways in which new 
technology can be used to increase our 
effectiveness in bringing domestic abuse 
offenders to justice, from giving officers 
fast time access to digital copies of 999 
calls, to the use of body worn video to 
capture best evidence and electronic 
handheld devices to record statements 
and photographs at the scene. 
 
 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Start 
implementing the Stalking Threat 
Assessment Centre if the funding bid is 
successful” 
 
We have been working with the Suzy 
Lamplugh Trust on a joint funding bid to 
create a dedicated Stalking Threat 
Assessment Centre with a pan London 
responsibility for high-risk stalking 
offenders. This centre will review incoming 
cases on a daily basis, with referrals 
coming in from mental health teams in 
London boroughs as well as the trust. At 
the time of writing, the bid is awaiting sign 
off by the Policing Minister. We have also 
been liaising with the National Centre for 
Cyberstalking Research to try and tackle 
the growing number of offences 
committed online. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Tackling hate crime 
 
The aftermaths of such events can bring a spike in 
hate crime and specifically Islamophobic hate 
crime. Following the terrorist attacks in the London 
Bridge area in June 2017, there was such an 
increase in the number of offences recorded. Our 
response will continue to demonstrate how 
seriously we take these acts. 
 
Q1 also saw us launch the Online Hate Crime Hub 
pilot to tackle hate crime that is committed online 
and particularly through social networks. 

 
 
 
 

 
Q1 Business Plan milestone: “Launch 
the Online Hate Crime Hub” 
 
In April 2017 we launched with MOPAC a 
new Online Hate Crime Hub unit with four 
dedicated Met police officers, led by a 
Detective Inspector. It aims to improve the 
police response to online hate by gathering 
intelligence, improving understanding and 
testing new investigation methods.  
 
Once an online hate crime has been 
reported, it is automatically referred to the 
Hub, which will provide referrals to 
specialist victim support partners and work 
with the relevant borough officers to carry 
out a thorough investigation. The Hub has 
already established excellent working 
relationships with Facebook and Twitter. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Making London safer 
 
Q1 was unprecedented with, in the wake of the 
Westminster attack in March 2017, further terrorist 
attacks at the Manchester Arena, London Bridge 
and Finsbury Park. A number of other plots were 
also foiled before they could be carried out. 
 
These attacks took a heavy toll on our officers – 
with the murder of PC Keith Palmer in Westminster 
and a number of officers injured in the London 
Bridge incident. The courage, selflessness and 
human response of our officers, staff and other 
emergency services against these inhuman 
attacks showed the real measure of our 
effectiveness.  The attacks placed a significant 
stretch on our organisation – in terms of 
manpower and funding. However they 
demonstrated that our capability programme to 

Page 116



 

7 
 

strengthen Armed Policing is having the intended 
operational effect in terms of the enhanced armed 
response we were able to provide. 
 

 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Finalise 
the Business Case for Skills House 
(on Firearms training)” (One Met 
Model transformation programme 5: 
“Strengthening our armed policing 
capability”) 
 
We are developing the business case 
and considering a range of options 
including through the National 
Programme. These will be considered in 
Q3. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Mental health 
 
HMIC’s annual State of Policing report published 
at the beginning of this year drew attention to the 
increasing burden police are bearing because of 
shortages in mental healthcare provision, which is 
a London-wide problem. 
 
Whilst prevention through better healthcare would 
be preferable to police response, we have been 
working hard to improve our approach to mental 
health and the quality of care we provide. 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Q1 Business Plan milestone: “Launch 
and pan-London rollout of the Herbert 
Protocol with Alzheimer's Society” 
 
We launched the Herbert Protocol on 15th 
June. All our operational units were 
represented at the launch. The Alzheimer’s 
Society set out the benefit of being 
Dementia Aware and their goal of making 
London the first Dementia Friendly Capital 
City. Attendees received a Dementia 

 
 
 
 
 

Awareness Session and became 
Dementia Friends (officially recognised 
status from the Alzheimer’s Society).  
The Herbert Protocol packs are accessible 
here: 
https://www.met.police.uk/herbertprotocol 
 
 
Q1 Business Plan milestone: “Publish a 
Mental Health Toolkit with clear 
operational and tactical guidance for 
officers and staff dealing with someone 
who has mental ill health, as well as for 
external partners” 
 
The Mental Health Toolkit 
(http://mpsweb.intranet.mps/policing/safeg
uarding/mental-health-policy/ ) was 
published early July. It provides 
instructions and advice to frontline officers 
and supervisors and is specifically geared 
towards providing clear operational and 
tactical guidance when dealing with 
someone who has mental ill health. It also 
helps our officers and staff explain the 
police position to members of the public, 
the management and staff in local health 
trusts.  
 
The toolkit can be circulated to external 
partners: we are planning a higher profile 
communication campaign linking with 
MOPAC Thrive. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Modern slavery 
 

 
Q1 Business Plan milestone: “Establish 
effective information sharing 
arrangements with all partner agencies 
on Modern Slavery including NGOs, and 
a consistent approach through 
engagement with partners” 
 
The MPS currently has three Formalised 
Information Arrangements (ISA) with: 
 Bakhita House (Joint working with 

Caritas, Roman catholic charity 
providing accommodation and ongoing 
support for victims of Modern Slavery) 

 RAHAB (Kensington and Chelsea 
NGO offering outreach work and 
accommodation predominantly for 
victims of sexual exploitation) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 117



 

8 
 

 TAMAR (Westminster NGO offering 
outreach work predominantly for 
victims of sexual exploitation) 

 
Within the Joint Money Laundering 
intelligence team, and through the Criminal 
Assets strand, we work closely with the 
banking industry to share modern slavery 
information. 
 
Through National Policing and the Police 
Transformation Fund, we are formally 
linked into the Joint Slavery and Trafficking 
Analysis Team. This ensures close working 
and intelligence sharing with other 
prosecuting agencies (such as the NCA, 
Gangmasters Labour and Abuse Authority, 
Home Office Immigration and Enforcement 
and UK Border Force; the Triage Centre, 
which we are currently establishing as a 
pilot within the MPS on behalf of National 
Policing). 
 
Due to the vast number of NGOs within 
this arena we also work on a victim-by-
victim basis to ensure that they are 
provided with appropriate support, from 
accommodation, outreach work, access to 
health care and counselling. We aim to 
formalising these ISAs in the future, 
working closely with the NGOs and our 
Information Rights Unit to achieve this. 
 
 
Q1 Business Plan milestone: “Joint 
Modern Slavery summit with MOPAC 
involving key partners across the 
capital and continue to raise public 
awareness” 
 
On 10th May, the Met and MOPAC 
supported the Conference on Human 
Trafficking and Modern Slavery for London 
Boroughs at City Hall. DCI Phil Brewer 
presented the Met work at this event 
organised by the Human Trafficking 
Foundation, the SHIVA Foundation (which 
aims to tackle modern slavery by 
facilitating a more collaborative approach 
to making change), ecpat UK (protecting 
children everywhere). MOPAC also chairs 
a London Modern Slavery Steering Group 
which we support. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3- A safer city for 
everyone 
 

A visible presence 
 
We are committed to have at least two Dedicated 
Ward Officers (DWOs each of the 629 wards in 
London) by December 2017. As at June 2017, 
substantial progress has been made towards this 
target: 1,171 DWOs were in place against a target 
of 1,258 by December. 
 
Ward internet pages are now in place for all 
London wards, linked to Twitter accounts to try 
and address the fact that residents do not always 
feel informed about local information provision. 
 

 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Assess 
and evaluate the two BCU pathfinders 
and consider pan-London 
implementation” (One Met Model 
transformation programme 3: 
“Strengthening local policing”) 
 
Crime, safeguarding and neighbourhood 
functions on the BCU pathfinders are 
standing up well and as planned, 
however Response was underperforming 
in Quarter 1 and remedial work has been 
taking place to address this (response 
rates recovered in Quarter 2). There may 
be a slight delay in the evaluation to 
assess the impact of the remedial work 
(i.e. September onwards). Discussions 
are taking place with operational 
practitioners and workforce 
representatives at MetCC in August over 
the introduction of the BCU Pathfinders 
and concerns over the future of the 
current three site model, working with to 
address the key drivers of these 
concerns. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

An accessible force 
 
The Met is working hard to ensure it continues to 
become an even more efficient organisation that 
provides an effective service, value for money as 
well as a service that is valued by Londoners. 
 
The One Met Model, our transformation portfolio to 
2020, strives to achieve this goal within the context 

Page 118



 

9 
 

of reducing resources. It is made of twelve 
programmes at various stages of implementation. 
Of particular note in Q1, is the development of our 
new website, with local information pages and 
crime reporting capability – a first step towards 
providing people with a “virtual police station” that 
is easily accessible, even more responsive and 
helps Londoners find the right local prevention 
advice. 
 
Forthcoming improvements for Q2 will include the 
concluding rollout of Body Worn Video and mobile 
technology to officers that will improve response 
and the time we spend policing neighbourhoods. 
 
In July 2017 MOPAC launched a 12-week public 
consultation on our Public Access strategy, 
supported by a front counter footfall survey on how 
people want to be able to access our services. We 
are delaying the implementation of our Estate 
Transformation programme to allow for responses 
to be taken into account. The programme is 
currently rated red in part to reflect the associated 
re-profiling in budget and benefits delivery.  
 
 
 

 
Q1 Business Plan milestone: 
“Develop online crime reporting for 
victims of volume crimes through the 
new website” (One Met Model 
transformation programme 2: “Improving 
public access and first contact”) 

 
 
 

 
The public uptake of our online services 
continues to increase: over 34,000 crime 
reports have been received since the 
system went live. 
 
Online crime reporting now accounts for 
9 per cent of all crime reported to the Met 
(June 2017). 74 per cent of users 
surveyed are satisfied with the online 
crime reporting system. 12 per cent of 
the reports represent new demand 
(where respondents said they would not 
have reported the crime, had they not 
been able to do it online). 
 
Two-thirds of self-reported road traffic 
incidents are now reported online (over 
19,000 Road Traffic Incidents forms 
received since the new system went live) 
and allegations from the public of poor 
driving standards have increased at least 
threefold. 
 
 
Q1 Business Plan milestone: 
“Implement a new website which 
allows information to flow to and from 
the public” 
  
The new MPS website went live March 
2017. Voice Your Concerns went live on 
ward pages at the end of May. This 
enables the public to vote on issues that 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 119



 

10 
 

concern them. To date, 74 per cent of 
wards have seen engagement from the 
public through this method. 
 
Demonstrating the two-way flows, we 
received over 4,500 online reports of 
potential terrorist information since the 
new system went live, a large spike in 
these reports following the terrorist 
incidents earlier in the year. 
 
 
Q1 Business Plan milestone: “Put in 
place ward internet pages with 
updated and locally relevant 
prevention advice” 
 
Ward internet pages are in place and 
Safer Neighbourhood Teams (SNT) 
Twitter accounts are now linked to them. 
We have almost completed the rollout of 
smartphones to SNT officers which 
enables them to tweet whilst out on 
patrol, keeping residents informed. 
Twitter usage by these teams is steadily 
increasing with 61 per cent of the wards 
now tweeting on at least a weekly basis. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Finalise 
outline business cases for the 
refurbishment of Tranche 1 Estate” 
(One Met Model transformation 
programme 11: “Transforming the MPS 
estate”) 
 
The business case itself is on track but 
there are dependencies with the Public 
Access consultation and the BCU 
Pathfinders evaluation, which may 
change our approach and impact on 
implementation. 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

An effective response 
 
The new In-vehicle mobile applications went live in 
June 2017, ready for rolling out to 1,300 vehicles 
in the summer (with a full rollout taking place 
September to March 2018). 
 

 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Finalise 
the strategic case for the Optimising 
Response programme” (One Met 
Model transformation programme 2: 
“Optimising response”) 

 
 

 
The strategic case has been approved at 
PIB and by MOPAC so we have 
delivered this milestone ahead of 
schedule. 
 

 
 

 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Start the 
full roll out of all mobile devices 
(laptops and tablets) from August to 
April 2018” (One Met Model 
transformation programme 7: “Smarter 
working”) 
 
The deployment of laptops continues 
and the tablet rollout is scheduled to 
begin in August in a couple of boroughs, 
and to BCUs in September, allowing 
officers to log reports immediately, 
without returning to the police station. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Set up an 
improved public reporting mechanism 
for stop and search data” 
 
This action is complete ahead of 
schedule. The online ‘stop and search 
dashboard’ is available at this address: 
https://beta.met.police.uk/stats-and-
data/stop-and-search-dashboard 
It replaces the previous monitoring 
mechanism report (MMR).  
 
It is updated automatically on the 8th of 
each month (previously this required 
manual input). Importantly the dashboard 
is interactive, and users are able to pivot 
the data for improved scrutiny. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Local and specialist 
investigations 
 
By Q1, we rolled out 14,000 Body Worn Video 
cameras to frontline officers (including in Q1, 
Hackney, Greenwich, Sutton, Tower Hamlets, 
Enfield and recently Newham). Over 2,800 
evidential clips have already been shared with 
CPS through the new COPA application – this is a 
good start and it is expected to rise considerably in 
the coming months. 
 
 
 

Page 120



 

11 
 

 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Complete 
the roll out of the BWV equipment to 
22,000 officers” (One Met Model 
transformation programme 4: 
“Transforming investigation and 
prosecution”) 
 
This is on track to roll out to all 32 
boroughs prior to Notting Hill Carnival. 
 
 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Finalise 
the business case for Covert Policing 
Management Platform” 
  
The business case has been delayed 
whilst awaiting costs and statement of 
requirement. The Full Business case is 
now expected in October 2017. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Launch 
the external entry Detective Constable 
campaign” (One Met Model 
transformation programme 8: “Workforce 
futures”) 
 
This was delivered early. The External 
Entry Detective Constable recruitment 
pathway launched in Q1, with 
applications closing 3 July – the initiative 
has received positive media coverage 
and attracted an uptake beyond 
expectations; including, to date, 
encouraging diversity ratios (the final 
ratio will be provided at Q2). Sift, and 
selection of the External Entry Detective 
Constable cohort will be completed in 
Q2. 
 
The first cohort of Met Special Constable 
to Detective Constable recruits started 
training at the end of May, on schedule. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Improving outcomes 
 
We are working to improve both victims’ 
satisfaction, as well as the way we are managing 
offenders. 
 
We are in the process of rolling out Community 
Resolution across London. This will ensure that all 
Met frontline officers have the ability to deliver a 
community resolution in appropriate cases to 
improve public confidence and to assist with 
managing demand by reducing custody 

throughput. By February 2018, the supporting 
training roll out will be complete, the uplift in use 
will have begun and the number of positive 
outcome crimes should be rising. 
 

 
Q1 Business Plan milestone: “Launch 
Operation BEAT ('Briefing, 
Engagement, Active Tasking') and 
routinely share information and 
intelligence relating to high and very 
high risk registered sex offenders with 
local officers” 
 
We are continuing to work to ensure this 
Met-wide project reaches all Safer 
Neighbourhood Teams (SNT) 
management. All boroughs have 
published an intelligence briefing for 
SNTs. To support this work further, DI 
Tachauer hosted a briefing for all 
SNT/NPT Inspectors in August.  
 
We are already seeing positive results 
regarding sex offender management as a 
direct result of the implementation of 
Operation BEAT. An example of this 
occurred in Hackney where SNT officers 
gathered intelligence regarding a 
particular offender; this information was 
passed to the JIGSAW team who were 
able to establish that the offender had 
breached his Sexual Harm Prevention 
Order. He is now serving 20 weeks in 
prison. Without the assistance of the SNT 
it is unlikely these breaches would have 
been discovered. An evaluation of the first 
6 month period will take place in Q3. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Effectively 
manage performance of JIGSAW 
through our new performance 
management framework” 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Implement 
a new guidance for police IOM officers 
to allow for an effective and consistent 
implementation across London” 
 
We are on target to deliver both the 
performance management framework and 
a new guidance for Integrated Offender 
Management (IOM) officers. Performance 
is reviewed regularly at our internal 
Crimefighters meetings. 
 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Review 
arrangements and future needs for 
juveniles in detention, including 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 121



 

12 
 

provision of health services and 
appropriate adults” 
 
Following HMIC recommendations, we 
have set up a cross-agency “Review of 
Children in Police Detention” Working 
Group (covering both accommodation of 
detained juvenile as well as the provision 
of appropriate adults). The first meeting, 
with CSC directors, NHS and other 
partners took place in July.   
 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Work with 
MOPAC and partners to expand women 
offenders diversion offer, such as, 
subject to a successful Transformation 
Fund bid, the Women Offenders 
Diversion Scheme through four 
London hubs” 
 
Unfortunately the funding bid was not 
successful but MOPAC and partners have 
committed to seeking funds from another 
source and looking to use innovation 
funding or alternatives. A new co-
commissioning group has been set up and 
update on progress will be reported at 
Quarter 2. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

4- A transformed, 
modern, efficient 
Met 
 
We continue to encourage a force that “looks like 
London”, and the recent direct entry detective 
campaign is showing promising uptake from 
BAME and women candidates. As at Q1, the 

number of female and BAME officers has 
increased, with female officers accounting for over 
a quarter (26 per cent) of all police officers, and 
BAME officers for 14 per cent of all police officers. 
 
 

 
 
 

Conclusion 
 
This is our first quarterly progress report against 
our Business Plan. Whilst not all our areas of 
activity have a milestone for the first quarter, the 
report shows the breadth of our work and the 
extent of our transformational investments –both 
technological and human, to tackle the 
considerable challenges facing London. The 
Quarter 2 update report, to be published in 
November, will expand on this work. 

 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Establish 
the new grievance service and 
underpinning governance framework, 
roll out new training to all senior 
'single points of contact' and local 
resolution champions across the Met” 
 
This is on track: the training of our 
Informal Resolution Champions 
concluded in July. All Single points of 
contacts (SPOCs) are in place. SPOCs 
will encourage and implement local 
resolution where this can be done and 
be responsible for overseeing grievance 
management at a local level, working 
with HR Case Managers to regularly 
review grievances. Training for SPOCs is 
taking place 31st May to 10th Aug. 
 
 
Q2 forthcoming milestone: “Publish 
our Diversity and Inclusion Strategy” 
 
The strategy is in final draft form and has 
been agreed by the STRIDE Board. 
Publication is expected in September. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 122



CORPORATE  
PERFORMANCE
APR–JUN 2017
Q1 2017

Appendix 3

Page 123



02INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY
Purpose of the document 02

Financial Performance Summary 04

Summary of progress in Q1 03

Progress against major LIVE milestones 07

Commentary on key LIVE projects 10

Progress against major WORK measures 15

Commentary on key WORK projects 16

Key risks 17

Progress against major VISIT milestones 19

Commentary on VISIT activities 21

Key risks 23

Progress against major INSPIRE milestones 25

Commentary on INSPIRE milestones 27

Progress against DELIVER milestones 28

Commentary on key projects 29

Key risks 35

Key risks 27

1 07
LIVE Establish successful and integrated 

neighbourhoods, where people want  
to live, work and play

14
WORK2

Retain, attract and grow a diverse range  
of high quality businesses and employers, 
and maximise employment opportunities  
for local people

18
VISIT3

Create a diverse, unique, successful and 
financially sustainable visitor destination

INSPIRE
244

Establish a 21st century district promoting 
cross-sector innovation, education, culture, 
sport, aspiration and participation in  
east London

DELIVER
285

Deliver excellent value for money, and 
champion new models and standards which 
advance the wider cause of regeneration,  
in line with LLDC’s core values: Ambition, 
Responsibility, Collaboration, Excellence, 
Accessibility, and Sustainability

CONTENTS

Key risks and issues 12

Page 124



London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

This is a quarterly report that provides an update on progress in the work areas and against the 
milestones in the London Legacy Development Corporation’s (LLDC, the Legacy Corporation)  
10 Year Plan (approved March 2016) and sets out information about the Legacy Corporation’s 
financial performance. The 10 Year Plan can be found on the LLDC’s website:  
http://queenelizabetholympicpark.co.uk/our-story/the-legacy-corporation/business-plan

The first section provides information about financial performance. Subsequent sections are 
grouped by the Legacy Corporation’s strategic objectives as set out in the five year strategy:  
Live, Work, Visit, Inspire and Deliver. Each section includes progress against milestones, 
commentary on major projects and key risks. Where relevant the sections also include monitoring 
information about the Legacy Corporation’s performance against targets; the measurement of targets 
commences as projects start to be delivered. The majority of the milestones and targets were set out 
in the 2017/18 Budget (https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/final_consolidated_
budget_2017-18.pdf) and the appendix setting out the 10 Year Plan which was approved by Board in 
March 2016 (http://queenelizabetholympicpark.co.uk/our-story/the-legacy-corporation/our-
committees/board-meetings/archived-minutes).

02

INTRODUCTION  
AND SUMMARY
PURPOSE OF THE DOCUMENT

Page 125

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/final_consolidated_budget_2017-18.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/final_consolidated_budget_2017-18.pdf


03

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

• During this period The Mayor of London’s 
announcement that he intends to appoint Sir 
Peter Hendy CBE as the new Chair of the 
Legacy Corporation was made. 

LLDC’s major achievements during this period 
are set out below. Further details can be found in 
the body of the report:

• Hackney Wick Neighbourhood Centre 
planning application granted by the Planning 
Decisions Committee (PDC).

• Successful completion of construction work at 
Hackney Wick Station during the Easter 
Blockade.

• Chobham Manor Block 1D is now complete 
with all 56 homes fully occupied, block 1C, 
has 93 of its 109 homes complete.

• Publication of Bromley-by-Bow Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD).

• Investor in Volunteers status awarded to 
LLDC. 

• Submission of LLDC’s annual Environmental 
Sustainability report for 2015/16.

• Outline planning application submitted for 
UCL EAST.

• Successful series of commercial and 
community events in the Park and concerts in 
the Stadium and well advanced arrangements 
for this summer’s major athletics events  
(see aims for next period): Considerable 
progress in establishing the area as a new 
business district through significant progress 
in planned developments at the International 
Quarter London (IQL), Here East and 
Westfield. 

• The GDI Hub’s first major call to industry was 
announced by the Mayor of London at London 
Tech Week in June 2017. 

SUMMARY OF PROGRESS IN THE QUARTER APRIL TO JUNE 2017
Aims for next period

• Summer of Athletics held on the Park: the Muller 
Anniversary Games; the International Para 
Athletics Championships; and the World 
Athletics Championships. 

• Bobby Moore Academy primary school site 
opening for the new school term. 

• Second Block of Chobham Manor Phase 1 
completed and handed over to occupiers.

• Hold LLDC’s annual Apprenticeship Awards at 
Here East.

• Submission of Hackney Wick and Fish Island SPD 
to Board.

• Delivery strategy for Bromley by Bow 
development agreed. 

• Award of Green Flag status for the Park.
• Opening of the Waterways on the Park and the 

Waterways Festival.
• GDI Hub Disability Innovation Summit hosted on 

the Park.
• Board approval to be sought for LLDC’s 

unqualified annual accounts for 2017/18.
• Board approval for revised 2017/18 budget. 
• Confirmation of Sir Peter Hendy CBE as the new 

Chair of the Legacy Corporation (this 
appointment was confirmed in July 2017).

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Page 126



FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

04

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Year to 30 Jun 17 Full Year 2017/18

Actual
£000

Budget
£000

Variance
£000

Forecast
£000

Budget
£000

Variance
£000

Capital Income

Development (1,120) (11,745) 10,625 (45,445) (46,197) 752

Cultural and Education District (74) (3,601) 3,527 (350) (14,404) 14,054

Total Capital Income (1,194) (15,346) 14,152 (45,795) (60,601) 14,806

Capital Expenditure

Development 9,586 16,924 (7,338) 54,013 82,838 (28,825)

Finance, Commercial and Corporate Services 200 468 (268) 5,858 6,456 (598)

Cultural and Education District 1,814 4,559 (2,746) 27,759 18,237 9,522

Park Operations and Venues – excl Trading 405 1,361 (957) 5,607 5,445 162

Regeneration and Community Partnerships 60 394 (334) 1,543 1,577 (34)

Stadium 5,809 3,304 2,505 23,963 13,214 10,749

Contingency (Cap) 0 0 0 6,742 11,052 (4,310)

Total Capital Expenditure 17,872 27,010 (9,138) 125,485 138,819 (13,333)

Net Capital Expenditure 16,678 11,664 5,014 79,690 78,218 1,473

Revenue Income

Executive Office (15) (13) (2) (50) (50) 0

Development 0 (35) 35 (138) (138) 0

Finance, Commercial and Corporate Services (57) (22) (35) (86) (86) 0

Park Operations and Venues – excl Trading (1,519) (760) (759) (3,740) (3,040) (700)

Park Operations and Venues – Trading (1,774) (1,616) (159) (7,218) (6,463) (755)

Planning Policy & Decisions (393) (268) (125) (1,350) (1,070) (280)

Regeneration and Community Partnerships (206) (47) (159) (303) (188) (115)

Total Revenue Income (3,964) (2,759) (1,205) (12,885) (11,035) (1,850)

Revenue Expenditure

Communication, Marketing and Strategy 387 423 (36) 1,886 1,974 (88)

Development 3 29 (26) 115 115 0

Executive Office 501 530 (28) 2,084 2,118 (34)

Finance, Commercial and Corporate Services 1,406 1,591 (185) 6,466 6,447 19

Park Operations and Venues – excl Trading 1,886 2,053 (167) 8,359 8,212 147

Park Operations and Venues – Trading 1,630 2,181 (551) 8,954 8,723 231

Planning Policy & Decisions 685 572 114 2,913 2,287 626

Regeneration and Community Partnerships 827 1,070 (243) 4,791 4,460 331

Stadium (25) 0 (25) 0 0 0

Contingency 0 0 0 879 932 (53)

Total Revenue Expenditure 7,301 8,447 (1,146) 36,447 35,268 1,179

Net Revenue Expenditure 3,337 5,688 (2,351) 23,562 24,233 (671)

Page 127



S106 & OPTEMS balance (£000) 14,426

CIL balance (£000) 3,854

05

Forecast closing Headroom operational Headroom authorised

Borrowings from GLA (£000) 407,031 82,969 92,969

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Year to 30 Jun 17 Full Year 2017/18

Actual
£000

Budget
£000

Variance
£000

Forecast
£000

Budget
£000

Variance
£000

Trading

Timber Lodge Café 26 10 16 39 39 0

ArcelorMittal Orbit (AMO) (197) (28) (170) (494) (110) (384)

The Podium (32) (27) (4) (108) (108) 0

London Aquatics Centre 323 562 (239) 2,247 2,247 0

Copper Box Arena 189 214 (24) 855 855 0

3 Mills Studio (320) (91) (229) (502) (362) (140)

Off Park Properties (133) (75) (58) (301) (301) 0

Total Trading Net (Surplus)/Deficit (144) 565 (709) 1,736 2,260 (524)

Page 128



06

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY
London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Capital
Net capital expenditure for the period to 30 June 
2017 is 5.0m (43.0%) above budget driven 
mainly by timing delays on capital funding 
relating to the Hackney Wick Scheme, which is 
expected to be received in full within 2017/18. 
This is offset by favourable variances on capital 
expenditure, in particular on LCS infrastructure 
costs, which are currently behind budget  
(see below).

Total capital income is expected to be lower than 
budget for the year mainly due to phasing of 
philanthropic funding towards the Cultural and 
Education District (CED) project (£14.1m) into 
future years. Capital income, including receipts 
from the Chobham Manor development, are 
otherwise forecast to be in line with budget. 

Total capital expenditure is forecast to be 
underspent by £13.3m (9.6%) at year-end, driven 
largely by £27.1m slippage on LCS infrastructure 
works (Development) caused, in part, by the 
delay to Eastwick and Sweetwater specified 
infrastructure works (design delays and planning 
issues). Forecast spend on LCS infrastructure is 
also below budget due to the works anticipated 
in relation to CED, Pudding Mill Lane and Rick 
Roberts Way now being expected to be incurred 
in 2018/19 and beyond. The forecast slippage on 
LCS infrastructure works is offset by increased 
spend on CED (£9.5m) caused by project budget 
profiling and Stadium (£10.7m) due to residual 
transformation spend and E20 Stadium LLP 
working capital injections. There have been no 
draws on capital contingency in the year to date, 
however £0.2m of the HVM budget has been 
surrendered to corporate contingency.

Overall net capital expenditure is forecast to be 
£79.7m at year-end, which is £1.5m (1.9%) lower 
than budget. 

Revenue
Revenue income for the period to 30 June 2017 
is £4.0m, which is £1.2m (43.7%) ahead of 
budget mainly due to higher than planned 
programming and events income in the Park 
Operations and Venues Directorate (£0.8m). 
Income from trading operations is also tracking 
slightly ahead of budget (£0.2m). Year-to-date 
revenue expenditure is £1.1m behind budget, 
mainly relating to trading operations (£0.6m), 
Park Operations and Venues (£0.2m), trading 
(£1.2m) and Regeneration and Community 
Partnerships (£0.2m) – these are due to timing 
differences.

Revenue income is forecast to be £1.9m above 
budget, largely due to better performance of 
programming and events (£0.7m), trading 
(£0.8m) and planning-related income (£0.3m). 

Revenue expenditure is forecast to be slightly 
above budget (£0.6m) within Planning, Policy 
and Decisions, which will be offset by the 
aforementioned increased income. There are 
currently three expected draws on revenue 
contingency relating to security (£19K) and HVM 
maintenance (£34K).

Page 129



LIVE

07

Establish successful and integrated neighbourhoods,  
where people want to live, work and play

PROGRESS AGAINST MAJOR LIVE MILESTONES

Milestones for completion in 2017/18

Further completion of residential units at 
Chobham Manor.

Estimated date and comment

Block 1D is now complete with all 56 homes 
fully occupied, block 1C, has 93 of its 109 
homes complete with the remainder due for 
completion by the by the end of July 2017.

1LIVE

Demand for new housing in London is very high, especially in east London. The growth boroughs have 
a particular need for high-quality family homes and affordable housing, to keep people living in the 
area for longer which in turn helps to build sustainable communities. The vision for the Queen 
Elizabeth Olympic Park programme demands that new neighbourhoods are not islands of prosperity 
and excellence but properly knitted into the existing and developing communities. It also requires that 
neighbourhoods are developed in a way that meets high standards of design, sustainability and 
accessibility, delivers all the social infrastructure required (schools, health, community centres), and 
includes evidence-based projects to develop — at pace — the things that make communities function 
effectively. Successful neighbourhoods will be vibrant, engaged and connected, exemplifying the 
future while also preserving the best of the local heritage.

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Page 130



08

Milestones for completion in 2017/18 Estimated date and comment

1LIVE
London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Prepare development strategy for Rick Roberts 
Way.

Work continues with joint landowners LB 
Newham and stakeholders to reach agreement 
on a delivery strategy and programme, this will 
be informed by the completion of a capacity 
study which continued in this period to be 
complete in July 2017.

Complete the Hackney Wick station 
improvement works.

Programme on schedule following successful 
completion of Easter blockade construction. 

Appoint a developer for Hackney Wick 
Neighbourhood Centre.

Outline planning application for the 
masterplan for the area was granted by the  
Planning Decisions Committee (PDC) at its 
April 2017 meeting (see below) and the 
procurement strategy approved by LLDC’s 
Investment Committee in June 2017. 

3 Mills future strategy. Discussions with partners ahead of presenting 
a delivery strategy to the Investment 
Committee.

Prepare development strategy for Pudding Mill 
Lane.

Development of business case to commence 
following agreement of housing strategy with 
the GLA.

Start on site at East Wick and Sweetwater. The Reserved Matters Application for Phase 1 
was granted planning permission in January 
2017 and start on site is planned for later in 
2017.

Page 131



09

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Deliver an effective and responsive planning 
service. At least 70% of applications 
determined in time.

Planning: Number of enforcement cases closed 
per month.

Bromley by Bow: agree strategy.

This has been exceeded each month in the 
first quarter, with 100% determined in time in 
April 2017.

Up to the end of June 2017 no enforcement 
cases had closed in this period; 15 remain 
open.

Publication of SPDs for Bromley by Bow, 
Hackney Wick and Fish Island, and Pudding 
Mill.

Marshgate Lane road adoptions complete.

Bromley by Bow and Pudding Mill Lane SPDs 
have been published. Hackney Wick and Fish 
Island SPD is due to go to Board in September 
2017.

To be adopted by the end of the calendar year 
by the Local Authority following completion of 
feeder pillars work.

Delivery strategy being developed for 
Investment Committee decision in September 
2017. 

Bobby Moore Academy primary school site 
opens.

Construction on the primary school 
commenced in August 2016, and is on 
schedule to meet its opening date of 
September 2017.

Milestones for completion in 2017/18 Estimated date and comment

1LIVE

Page 132



10

1LIVE
London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Work has continued on construction of the Legacy Corporation’s first housing development at 
Chobham Manor. All the units on Phase 1 have been pre-sold and whilst there have been some 
construction related difficulties that have delayed progress, construction work is now proceeding well: 
Block 1C is now complete with all 56 homes fully occupied, block 1C, has 93 of its 109 homes 
complete with the remainder due for completion by the by the end of July 2017. The piling works for 
Phase 2 (207 homes) have continued on schedule and has completed for the first block (2a) and the 
substructure is under construction. LLDC is seeking to resolve an issue around FEES (Fabric Energy 
Efficiency Standards) requirements for Phase 2, which has the potential of impacting on delivery by up 
to 4 months, a report on this is anticipated in July 2017. Applications for Reserved Matters Approval 
(RMA) for phase 3 (253 homes) and phase 4 (140 homes) was reported to the Planning Decisions 
Committee (PDC) at its March 2017 meeting. The PDC resolved to grant consent for Phase 4, and for 
phase 3 with the exception of the mixed use block (plot 6.3e) which was deferred pending further 
work relating to the nursery’s aspect and daylighting: this was subsequently approved at the May 
2017 PDC.

East Wick and Sweetwater: work has continued to create new neighbourhoods, including up to 
1,500 new homes in East Wick and Sweetwater. The RMA for Phase 1 was granted planning permission 
at January 2017 PDC and the start on site date is planned later in 2017. The Reserved Matters 
Application for phase 2 construction is due to be submitted in August 2017. 

LLDC funded infrastructure works related to the development was granted planning permission by the 
PDC at its March 2017 meeting. Construction work on Stour Road (H16) Bridge is due to commence 
late summer for completion in spring 2018. The north/south road build is due to commence after the 
World Athletics Championships and the Monier Road (H14) Bridge later in the year, both for 
completion in late 2018. 

COMMENTARY ON KEY LIVE PROJECTS

Page 133



Hackney Wick Neighbourhood Centre: The outline planning application for the masterplan for the 
Hackney Wick Neighbourhood Centre was resolved to be granted by the PDC at its April 2017 
meeting, subject to completion of a section106 legal agreement to secure the affordable housing, 
low-cost workspace and other planning obligations. The procurement strategy to select a developer 
partner for LLDC’s land in the masterplan was agreed at the June 2017 Investment Committee 
meeting, procurement is due to commence in September 2017.

Hackney Wick Station improvements construction work, funded by LLDC including contributions 
from other stakeholders, and delivered through Network Rail and their contractors, commenced in 
August 2016. There were concerns that complex, time critical construction work during the Easter 
2017 blockade could be affected by adverse weather but the work was undertaken successfully to 
schedule without any train delays. Further work is progressing and is due to be complete on schedule 
by February 2018.  

The Bobby Moore Academy, a split-site all-through school consisting of a two form entry primary 
school at Sweetwater and a six form entry secondary school at Stadium Island, will be operated by the 
David Ross Education Trust. Construction on the primary school commenced in August 2016, and is 
on schedule to meet its opening date of September 2017: all external doors and windows have been 
installed and the main roof, lower roof and terrace area are complete and internal works have 
continued including completion of lift installation and progression of lighting and power cabling. 
External works including the landscaping and the installation of the sports pitch are underway and the 
detailed brickwork to the changing room is complete. The construction phase on the secondary 
school commenced in November 2016 and is on schedule to meet its opening date of September 
2018: construction of the frame and roof slab is due to be complete in time for the July 14th shut 
down for the Para Athletics championships  with the site starting up again after the conclusion of the 
IAAF championships on 14th August.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) collection and allocation
The Legacy Corporation is required to prepare a report for any financial year in which it collects CIL.  
The charging authority must publish the report on its website no later than 31 December following 
the end of the reported year. Updates will continue to be made quarterly through this report.
The Legacy Corporation started charging its CIL on the 6 April 2015.  
In Quarter 1 2017/18 three LLDC CIL payments were received.  

Date received Amount received
12/04/2017 £251,178.41
Total £251,178.41

The Legacy Corporation has continued to collect Mayoral CIL: during Quarter 1 2017/18 £500,000 was 
collected. This was transferred to Transport for London (less a 4% administration charge retained by 
LLDC).

11

1LIVE
London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Page 134



RAG

KEY RISKS AND ISSUES

Summary MitigationImpact

12

LIVE

1

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Risk that there are challenges 
to the ability of LLDC to 
return expected receipts from 
housing developments and 
re-pay borrowing. 

Consider alternative deal 
structures to support 
generation of receipts Close 
working with GLA, including 
on affordable housing. 
Management focus on 
housing developments. 

Significant financial 
and reputational 
impacts.

R

Risk of potential reputational 
impact of future housing 
developments on the Park 
having a lower affordable 
housing percentage than the 
new Mayor of London’s 
affordable housing aims.

Discussions with the GLA; 
market analysis; 
development of housing 
strategy.

Significant 
reputational 
implications.

R

Risk that increased 
construction costs in London 
will impact on the Legacy 
Corporation’s construction 
projects.

Early cost reports, tight 
monitoring of inflation 
forecasts, value engineering 
where required, effective 
procurement and contracting 
strategy. Monitor impacts of 
exit from the EU.

Financial implications, 
reduced scope for 
capital projects.

R

Risk of challenges to the 
viability of future housing 
developments at Rick Roberts 
Way and Pudding Mill Lane.

Close working with the 
Mayor of London on housing 
strategy and planning, and 
with land owner. 

Significant financial 
and reputational 
impacts. R

Risk relating to agreeing 
future strategy for 3 Mills 
Studios.

Consultation Discussions 
with stakeholders. 

Significant reputation 
impacts.

A

Risk to LLDC and the Mayor’s 
reputation that the receipts 
generated from LLDC 
development do not repay 
borrowing and fully re-pay the 
National Lottery.

Close monitoring of long 
term forecasts and 
assumptions and working 
with the Mayor’s office.

Reputational impacts.

A

Page 135



RAG

KEY RISKS AND ISSUES

Summary MitigationImpact

13

LIVE

1

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Risk relating to construction 
and development 
communications.

Deliver a clear 
communication plan which 
manages expectations and 
explains the reasons for the 
construction work and 
communicates future 
developments.

Impacts on the 
reputation of the 
Corporation.

G

Page 136



14

Retain, attract and grow a diverse range of high quality businesses
and employers, and maximise employment opportunities for local people

2WORK

WORK

London has a growing economy: the GLA projects that the number of jobs in London could grow by 
750,000 between 2010 and 2031, across a diverse range of sectors. Nearly half (48 per cent) of 
employment growth in this period is expected to happen outside central London, and businesses are 
looking east for space to grow. Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park is perfectly positioned to support this 
trend, with excellent transport links, space for office and workshop accommodation at Here East, and 
with housing and leisure on the doorstep. The surrounding area includes International Quarter London 
(IQL) to where organisations including Transport for London (TfL) and the Financial Conduct Authority 
(FCA) are planning to re-locate, and it is hoped will be joined by major commercial companies); 
Westfield (Europe’s largest urban shopping centre); Stratford town centre; the developing 
Neighbourhood Centre  of Hackney Wick – which all have existing and potential thriving business 
communities including a wide range of SMEs; and the Here East Innovation Centre in the Press and 
Broadcast Centre buildings on the Park. Together, these could create a ‘fourth office quarter’ for 
London, stimulating economic growth that would benefit people across the four boroughs. This has to 
be done in a way that complements and boosts existing local businesses (including SMEs), and which 
makes connections between businesses (big and small) that benefit them both. Similarly, over the 
next five years, LLDC needs to support the development of effective links between the growing higher 
education presence on the Park and local businesses. The Legacy Corporation will use the higher 
education presence to support existing  businesses and attract and generate new enterprises, an 
approach that should reach its full potential through The Culture and Education District.

A fundamental plank of LLDC’s strategy is to use its powers as a regeneration agency to ensure that 
business growth, development and construction generate job opportunities for local people, and that 
local people are supported to access these jobs and develop the appropriate skills, through 
apprenticeships and other forms of vocational training.

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Page 137



PROGRESS AGAINST MAJOR WORK MILESTONES

15

Milestones for completion in 2017/18 Estimated date and comment

Establishment of Park-wide construction 
Shared Apprenticeship Scheme.

Working with local boroughs to establish 
model for delivery ahead of going to the 
market. 

Deliver demand-led, centrally commissioned, 
modern methods of construction training 
programme for local residents.

Introduction to Construction courses continue 
to be held at the Building Crafts College for 
local residents, the fourth group completed 
their course in this period.  Consultations 
ongoing with borough partners and 
contractors on the Park to establish 
requirements for a demand led construction 
training programme for 2018/19. 2WORK

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Launch and delivery of BIM curriculum in local 
schools and colleges.

Sarah Bonnell school in Newham and George 
Green school in Tower Hamlets have signed up 
to the implementation of Design Engineer 
Construct in the 2017/2018 academic year.

10 local people commence bursary placements 
with Loughborough University London 
2017/18.

10 fully funded bursary places for Masters 
course with Loughborough University 
applications open, places to be agreed 
September 2017.

Provide start-up support to 45 entrepreneurs 
with Echo ++

2017-18 objectives and plan agreed. 
Monitoring and evaluation outputs reviewed. 
Partnership building (including CED partners) 
underway for upcoming programmes 
Weekender, Creative++ and Fashion ++

15 local young people to access digital, media, 
tech apprenticeships linked to Park based 
activities.

Work continues with interested partners on 
the Park. MACE have confirmed one digital 
apprentice and BT Sports will commence 
apprentice recruitment in summer 2017. 

Delivery of annual Apprenticeship Awards. LLDC’s Apprenticeship Awards to be held at 
Here East on 6 July 2017. (The awards were 
held successfully, details will be provided in the 
next report).

Page 138



16

2WORK
London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

PROGRESS AGAINST MAJOR WORK MEASURES

Targets Performance and commentary

Construction 
•  28% of the workforce have permanent 

residency in Host Boroughs
•  25% of the workforce are from BAME groups
•  5% of the workforce are women
•  3% of the workforce are disabled people
•  3% of the workforce are apprentices

The most recent Construction figures available 
are to end of June 2017
• 30% of construction employees working on 

the Park are Host Borough residents
• 57% of the workforce are from BAME groups
• 5% of the workforce are women
• 0% of the workforce are disabled people
 • 6% of the workforce are apprentices

End-use 
•  25-85% of the workforce are local
•  25% are from BAME groups
•  50% are women
•  5% are disabled people

Copper Box Arena and London Aquatics 
Centre workforce targets as of June 2016 
(these figures are reported annually):

•  76% workforce Host Borough residents
•  31% workforce are from BAME groups 
•  50% workforce are women
•  3% workforce are disabled people

Estates and Facilities workforce targets:

As of May 2017 the  workforce performance is 
shown below:

•  68% workforce Host Borough residents

•  65% workforce are from BAME groups

•  33% workforce are women

•  6% workforce are disabled people

Work is continuing to support construction and end-use employers on the Park to maintain and 
improve on consistent performance in achieving workforce targets to date. 

LLDC has exceeded its targets in construction with the exception of the disabled workforce target.  
This is due to the Chobham Manor developer needing to implement LLDC’s disability questionnaire at 
the point of a candidate being inducted. This had previously been done, but has stopped during a 
redesign of their induction and reporting procedures. 

The way of reporting end use workforce has changed this reporting year to report against a park-wide 
target including the range that has been set as part of the Legacy Communities Scheme. This will 
evolve over time as new jobs are created through the next phase of the Park’s development at the 
Culture and Education District and at Here East. The table above shows the performance of two major 
end-use employers at the Park venues and Estates and Facilities Management provider.

In line with LLDC’s 5 year strategy our employment and skills interventions are designed to tackle 
underrepresentation in the workforce and are open to both employed and unemployed residents 
from the 4 local boroughs and so we no longer report on this measure.

COMMENTARY ON KEY WORK PROJECTS

Page 139



17

2WORK
London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

RAG

KEY RISKS

Summary MitigationImpact

Risk relating to meeting
priority theme targets  
and wider regeneration 
aspirations.

A strong set of targets
agreed through procurement 
and contracts; close working 
with partners.

Significant
reputation impacts.

G

ACHIEVEMENTS IN THE LAST PERIOD INCLUDE:

LLDC continues to work with partners to help deliver jobs, training and support to businesses,
key achievements include:

Here East (former Press Centre and Broadcast Centre):
Here East was home to several large events in this period, including a month-long website archiving 
and digital art exhibition, 64 bits which attracted 4,250 members from the local community, 
including introductory coding sessions for school children. Here East’s Innovation Centre, Plexal 
opened its doors for the first time on 12 June 2017, as London Tech Week (LTW) was opened by Sadiq 
Khan within the space. LTW and subsequent events such as The Europa’s and the Lean StartUp 
Summit took place that week, with estimated visitor numbers over the three days at approximately 
1,500 people. Here East, the home of Tech London Advocates events held their Investors Showcase for 
around 800 people on 11 May 2017 and our doors were opened as part of London’s British Council of 
Offices Tour to approximately 100 visitors over the day.

The events have helped showcase what Here East has to offer and supported further interest in 
tenancy with offers in for units within both buildings. Ford Motor Company announced their intention 
to locate the research team to the Broadcast Centre during the LTW launch and Bucks Barbers and 
Coffee Works fit out works continued in this period ahead of planned opening in the next period.

The Here East Shuttle Bus service was launched in May 2017 with designated stops at Stratford City 
Bus Station and Stratford International to encourage sustainable transport and ease of access to  
Here East.

Local employment has continued to 
be positive and at the end of Q1 had 
returned to 51% of the Here East 
team living within one of the four 
growth boroughs. Here East have 
continued to support Loughborough 
University in London’s Inspiring 
Success Programme with members 
of the team actively being involved 
in the interviewing sessions.

Finally, future event planning for Q2 
is positive with several large-scale 
events taking place.

Page 140



18

Create a diverse, unique, successful and  
financially sustainable visitor destination

3VISIT

VISIT

Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park opened fully to the public in April 2014 and from the outset offered 
'something for everyone’ with new parklands and playgrounds, world-class sporting facilities open for 
public use, and a varied programme of public sporting, cultural and community events in the venues 
and open spaces. Nearly four million visitors came in the first full year — well above expectations.

The Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park brand already competes well against other destination hubs, and 
has a broad profile that is felt to be ‘different’ to existing offers.

LLDC’s objective in the next five years is that visitor numbers should be maintained at least at current 
levels, and that as the Park develops the numbers of visitors should increase in line with that 
development. The opening of the Stadium brings over a million spectators per year and raises the 
profile of the Park through a global TV audience of millions. A growing number of people view the Park 
as their local leisure space as the new residential developments and workspaces are occupied, and the 
spaces and activities in the Park should be a vital component in joining new and existing communities 
together. Attracting visitors to the Park is important because it ensures the financial sustainability of 
the venues and the upkeep of the Park, brings people in who will spend in the local economy 
(contributing to local jobs and wellbeing), and contributes a critical mass of people to metropolitan 
Stratford. While increasing the national and international appeal of Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park, 
LLDC’s visitor strategy will also ensure that it is still viewed — and used — positively by the local 
community, and maintains its reputation as somewhere different and exciting. It will support the 
GLA’s cultural tourism vision, promoting authentic cultural opportunities outside central London.

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Page 141



19

3VISIT

Host the 2017 World Athletic Championships 
and World Para Athletics Championships.

LLDC has been working closely with event 
organisers and partners to ensure operational 
readiness for the summer of athletics in the 
next period.

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

PROGRESS AGAINST MAJOR VISIT MILESTONES

Milestones for completion in 2017/18 Estimated date and comment

Maintain Green Flag status for the Park. This has been awarded for three successive 
years and the award for 2017 is anticipated in 
the next period. 

Successful transition and handover of QEOP 
Car Park Operations and Parking Enforcement 
service to new operator.

To be awarded in the next period.

Maintain estate strategy and property 
documentation, including Asset Register.

Estates team working with procurement, IT 
and finance to scope requirements for the 
set-up of an estates terrier.

Deliver 2 community events on QEOP  
(Big Lunch and Harvest Stomp).

The Great Get Together (incorporating Big 
Lunch) was held on 18 June 2017 (see below) 
and the Harvest Stomp is scheduled for 24 
September 2017. 

Open waterways on the Park. Stadium island loop has been re-opened to 
public navigation with positive news coverage 
from London Live and BBC London. The fluvial 
channel will be opened via bookable access 
after the East London Waterways Festival end 
of August.

Page 142



London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

20

3VISIT

Estimated 5,600,000 visitors to the Park. Following exceeding the estimates for 2016/17 
where there were 5,670,000 visitors to the 
Park, figures for 2017/18 show 1,992,550 
visitors to the Park in the first 3 months of 
2017/18.

Target for 2017/18 Performance to date

London Aquatics Centre throughput of 1m. Figures to June 2017 show 275,000 visitors to 
the venue in the first 3 months of 2017/18.

Copper Box Arena throughput of 440,000. Figures to June 2017 show 89,000 visitors to 
the venue in the first 3 months of 2017/18.

ArcelorMittal Orbit throughput of 220,000. Figures to June 2017 show 48,000 visitors to 
the attraction in the first 3 months of 2017/18.

Page 143



21

VISIT

3

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

The Legacy Corporation, on behalf of E20 Stadium LLP (a joint venture between the London Legacy 
Development Corporation and Newham Council) has completed its work to transform the Stadium in 
the Park into a year round multi-use venue to deliver a permanent sporting, cultural and community 
legacy in east London. The Stadium has hosted a very successful concert programme this summer, 
and preparations for the World Athletics Championships are well advanced.
 
Three of the Stadium’s hospitality suites – the Arnold Hills, The Royal East and the Great Briton – 
have been shortlisted in the 2017 Restaurant and Bar Design Awards. The ceremony will take place in 
October 2017.

This is set to be the Park’s busiest summer since 2012, with a wide range of events both in the venues 
and on the wider Park estate. Visitors have already flocked to attend small scale festivals and mass 
participation events, and some highlights are noted below.  

Shell Make The Future Festival returned to the Park  for a second year between 25 - 28 May, converting 
Carpenters Road into a race track for alternative fuel vehicles and the South Park Lawn into an 
interactive exhibition playground for the 30k visitors over the four days. The event ran alongside a 
series of smaller related meetings and receptions in other Park venues including the Stadium and the 
ArcelorMittal Orbit. Following the terrorist incident at Manchester Arena, security was enhanced for 
the event and attendance may have been affected as the numbers were slightly below those of 2016.
 
LLDC’s own community festival The Great Get Together (on 18 June 2017) combined our annual Big 
Lunch celebration with the national events coordinated by the Jo Cox Foundation. Visitors enjoyed live 
music and entertainment, have-a-go sports and a range of food stalls in the north of the Park. The 
Mayor of London attended, as did Hero and Whizzbee, the mascots for the London2017 Athletics 
Championships. This was also the busiest weekend on the Park since 2012, with the two Guns n Roses 
concerts, the Hockey World Semi Finals, abseiling at the ArcelorMittal Orbit and two charity fun runs 
contributing to over 210k people visiting the Park over three days.

The Great Newham London Run (2 July 2017) saw over 8,000 participants running a course all around 
the Park, starting on the South Park Lawn and ending in London Stadium. In addition, over 4,500 
children took part in Go Run for Fun on 29 June. 

The Stadium concert season 
hosted four very successful 
shows by three acts (Depeche 
Mode, Guns n Roses, Robbie 
Williams) with a combined 
attendance of over 270,000 
people. The volume of visitors, 
alongside other events in the 
Park, created particular 
challenges for crowd 
management and LLDC is 
participating in LS185’s review 
of ingress and egress 
arrangements to inform the 
planning for the 2018 season.

COMMENTARY ON VISIT ACTIVITIES

Page 144



22

VISIT

3

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

The biggest urban beach in the 
UK, Beach East, will return to the 
Park once again from 21 July to 
2 September. The beach will 
include a vast area of fine, deep 
sand, a huge kid's paddling pool, 
25 rides and attractions, two 
beach bars and games of Beach 
Volleyball and other activities.

The Park will also host Elrow Town, a colourful, fun and friendly music festival with 2 huge stages of 
music in the North Park for 15,000 attendees per day. Tickets for the event on 19 August 2017 sold 
out in just 4 hours and are now available for the second date on 20 August 2017. Preparations 
continue for the London2017 Summer of Athletics including the Muller Anniversary Games (7 July 
2017), the International Para Athletics Championships (14-23 July 2017) and the World Athletics 
Championships (4-13 August 2017) with over 1 million people expected to attend. In addition to the 
London Stadium, the events will occupy the South Park Lawn (Broadcast Centre, Sponsor Village, 
throws field) and Hopkins Fields in the North Park (additional throws field), and there are private 
events in some of the other Park venues. LLDC’s Park Operations and Venues Team are playing a key 
coordination role with London2017 and LS185, and with the Park’s wider stakeholders. 

In preparation for the Summer of Athletics LLDC has produced an assurance report on the plans and 
operational readiness of the institutions involved in hosting the athletics and other events this 
summer. Security procedures have been reviewed following terrorist attacks in Manchester and 
London and have taken into account the current threat level of ‘severe’. 

This has been supported by Chris Allison a crowd safety and security expert who advised on improving 
security measures for the London Stadium at the start of the 2016/17 football season.

The Operational Readiness has been tested through a review of documentation, considerations in the 
Safety Advisory Group, engaging in table tops and testing exercises, peer review, and using the Muller 
Anniversary Games as a test event for certain activities. This has included assurance on areas 
including: 

• Organisation; 
• Operation and Safety;
• Crowd movement; 
• Stakeholder interface and operations;
• Transitions between events; 
• Handback process; and 
• Communications and Reputation

The report identified areas of good practice building on previous large scale events on the Park and 
the ongoing activities which will be completed to ensure successful operations for the athletics (and 
other events) in the summer.

Page 145



RAG

KEY RISKS AND ISSUES

Summary MitigationImpact

Risk relating to security on 
the Park and the threat level. 

Risk relating to trading and 
activities including venues 
(CBA, LAC, AMO), events and 
car park. 

Risk relating to Park visitor 
numbers and experience.

Risk that related development 
projects undertaken by third 
party organisations are not 
successful.

Monitoring threat levels 
across the Park ensuring 
appropriate security resource 
and  implementation of new 
initiatives.

Manage and monitoring 
financial targets and 
contracts. Spend to save 
initiatives, implement 
commercial strategy. 

Marketing plan, good 
customer services, animation 
of the Park through events. 
Positive initial figures for 
visitors to the Park.

Close working with partners 
to influence developments 
and monitor progress.

Reputational, 
operational and 
financial implications. 

Financial impacts, 
reduced income or 
increased costs.

Significant 
reputational impacts.

Negative knock on 
effect on the success 
of the Park and its 
developments.

23

3VISIT

R

G

A

A

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Page 146



24

Establish a 21st century district promoting cross-sector innovation,  
education, culture, sport, aspiration and participation in east London

INSPIRE

4

INSPIRE

The initial legacy priority was to establish a viable future for the Park as somewhere to live; work and 
visit, and the key ingredients of this success were laid down early on. This created space to review the 
plans and seek to secure an even greater benefit for the surrounding community. The ambitious vision 
for The Culture and Education District was developed during late 2013 and 2014, and secured 
government funding in December 2014. The plans have attracted prestigious institutions and 
businesses to the site to foster collaboration and innovation, generating a projected 3,000 jobs in the 
Park and an extra £2.8 billion of economic value from the area. The Culture and Education District will 
create new visitor attractions and will seek to attract knowledge-based industries to the Stratford site, 
linking to Tech City, Here East and beyond. Building on and working closely with the existing thriving 
arts and culture offer in Stratford and Hackney Wick, it will showcase London at its cultural and 
academic best.

Over the next five years, University College London will establish a campus with academic facilities, 
student and staff accommodation. On Stratford Waterfront, University of the Arts London, the 
Victoria and Albert Museum and Sadler’s Wells are key partners in the development of a culture and 
education complex, with discussions progressing with the Smithsonian Institution.

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Page 147



25

INSPIRE

4

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Develop the Global Disability Innovation Hub 
by delivering the programme and handing over 
leadership to UCL.

The GDI Hub’s first major call to industry was 
announced by the Mayor of London at London 
Tech Week in June 2017 and the GDI Hub has 
recently recruited its Disability Innovation 
Board.

Hold National Paralympic Day. To be held on 15 July 2017 as part of the 
Liberty festival on the Park. 

Deliver successful Park Champions
programme.

Investor in Volunteers status awarded.
Current volunteer number now 345, 46% local, 
so far 3504 hours volunteered. Female/male 
spilt 36/64%.

Deliver schools engagement programme
through the Go! Schools network and
encourage usage by partners.
Number of schools participating in learning
opportunities to enhance curriculum delivered 
in collaboration with CED partners.

– Continued engagement with schools via Go! 
schools network. About 200 schools regularly 
engaged with through the network.
Park existing learning resources updated.
10 local schools supported in the Shell Bright 
Ideas challenge by UCL.

– Revised education strategy developed with 
the CED partners.

– Planning underway for Sadler's Wells dance 
project at Mossbourne Riverside Academy

PROGRESS AGAINST MAJOR INSPIRE MILESTONES

Milestones for completion in 2017/18

Progress design, planning and procurement for 
the Culture and Education District.

Estimated date and comment

Outline planning submitted for UCL East, 
masterplanning for Stratford Waterfront 
continues. 

Continue to work with CED partners and 
Foundation for FutureLondon to facilitate the 
development of the partnership so as to 
ensure the continued delivery of the CE-D 
strategic objectives and to maximise the value 
of the cluster. 

Strategic Delivery Plan for CED drafted to set 
out partner plans in the area. FFL continue to 
develop fundraising plans.  

Page 148



26

INSPIRE

4

Milestones for completion in 2017/18 Estimated date and comment

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Deliver three successful community interim 
use sites on and around the Park (Hub 67, 
Mobile  Garden City, Warton Road).

Lease extended at Hub67 till December 2018. 
Number of updates being undertaken 
including acoustic installation in the main 
space, repainting the outside of the building. 
 
 Ongoing activity at Carpenters Cage.

 Mobile Garden activity at Chobham Manor 
now ongoing revised move date of October. 
Garden move delayed to October. 

Ensure community plans are in place and are 
being delivered within Chobham Manor, East 
Wick and Sweetwater neighbourhoods and the 
London Stadium. Ensure mechanisms are in 
place amongst the Cultural and Education 
District partner institutions to engage local 
communities.

Chobham Manor: Continued monthly 
attendance at Steering Group meetings. Move 
in event delayed till September 2017. Our 
Living Arts project deliver ongoing for the five 
projects with regular and one off activities. 
Planning underway for the final event in 
August including shortlisting of local providers.
Planning underway for Community Feast at the 
Mobile Garden in September.

East Wick and Sweetwater: Action plan for 
2017 developed. Feasibility completed for the 
Library project. Working group established to 
progress the project.

London Stadium’s community engagement: 
limited activity being delivered.

CED: UCL Engineering delivered in- school 
activity as part of the Shell Bright Ideas 
challenge. LCF developing fashion curriculum 
units for stage 3 with local teachers.

Target for 2017/18

Meet Motivate East targets (Feb 2016 – Feb 
2018) - Throughput of 33,998 attendees 
taking part in inclusive sport.

Meet APAP targets:
Throughput from March 2017 to Feb 2018: 
84,032.

Performance to date

Figures to Feb 2017 show throughput of 
25,201.

Project commenced in March 2017, 
performance will be reported every six 
months.

Page 149



27

LLDC has continued to work with partners on the delivery of a world-class Culture and Education 
District (CED) on the Park. Work has been progressing on the masterplan for the cultural and 
educational buildings on Stratford Waterfront. Work on UCL East has continued on the design of the 
Marshgate (South Lawn academic facilities) and on the Pool Street (mixed used student residential 
and academic) facilities by UCL and the outline planning application was submitted in May 2017. UCL 
and LLDC have been in discussions with UCL on revised delivery arrangements for the facilities. 

The Global Disability Innovation Hub (GDI Hub) is a hub for academic excellence, innovative practice 
and co-creation; harnessing technology for good. A world leader in inclusive design, the GDI Hub 
spans the sectors of sport, the built environment, accessibility, art, theatre, dance and assistive 
technology. In July 2017 the GDI Hub will be bring the world’s disability experts to London for the 
Disability Innovation Summit, a two day event to explore the latest technology, research and ideas. 
PhD scholarship programmes begin in September 2017 and the world’s first multi-institutional and 
multi-disciplinary MSc will take its first students from 2018. The GDI Hub’s first major call to industry 
was announced by the Mayor of London at London Tech Week in June 2017 and the GDI Hub has 
recently recruited its Disability Innovation Board.

COMMENTARY ON INSPIRE MILESTONES

INSPIRE

4

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

KEY RISKS

RAGSummary MitigationImpact

Risk that the Culture and 
Education District will be 
delayed or costs will be more 
than anticipated.

Effective design 
management and 
coordination. Cost control. 
Close work with partners, 
GLA and Government. 
Coordination with Planning. 
Engagement with HMRC. 

Significant financial 
implications and 
programme delays.

Risk to Culture and Education 
District funding.

Close working with
Foundation for Future 
London. Development of 
Business Case for the project. 
Ensure viable, high quality 
design of Residential. 

Significant financial 
implications and 
programme delays.

R

R

Community Engagement and Participation

Page 150



28

Deliver excellent value for money, and champion new models and standards  
which advance the wider cause of regeneration, in line with LLDC’s core values:
Ambition, Responsibility, Collaboration, Excellence, Accessibility and Sustainability

PROGRESS AGAINST DELIVER MILESTONES

Annual Environmental Sustainability Report 
published.

The report is scheduled for publication in 
September 2017.

Milestones for completion in 2017/18 Estimated date and comment

DELIVER

5

DELIVER

Work in this area includes functions to support the delivery of the Legacy Corporation’s objectives 
through services including finance, human resources, IT and Information management, programme 
management, legal and procurement. This section also covers the Communication, Marketing and 
Strategy directorate which is responsible for the external reputation of the Legacy Corporation and 
Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park, and defines the way we manage all of our external activity and 
relationships. In addition, it is responsible for shaping the long-term organisational goals and 
ambitions, through its strategy work.

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Advanced mobility prospectus launch. Development of an advanced mobility 
prospectus is progressing for publication in  
the Summer, funding and other opportunities 
for autonomous vehicles on the Park are also 
being examined.

Progress IT service delivery re-procurement. Transition considerations and requirements 
being confirmed, more detailed planning and 
technical meetings will be held in the next 
period.  

Health and safety
Construction undertaken without a fatal 
accident on site; to prevent any life-changing 
injury or occupational ill-health for any 
individual; and to minimise reportable 
accidents to a rate below 0.17 per 100,000 
hours worked.

There have been no reportable accidents in 
this period representing a rate of 0.0.

Page 151



Planning
The International Quarter London (IQL) is a joint venture between Lendlease and LCR creating 
London’s new home for progressive businesses at the centre of Europe’s largest urban development. 
With an abundance of green space and fresh air, access to some of the world’s most forward-thinking 
cultural institutions and a workplace design that has employee wellbeing at its heart, IQL gives 
people a place to move, breathe and think. 

Outline planning permission for 257,260 sqm. of office, 3,000 sqm. of retail and 333 residential units 
has been granted for the site now known as IQL south as part of the wider Stratford City 
development. Subsequent detailed permissions granted by the Legacy Corporation comprise:

COMMENTARY ON KEY PROJECTS

29

DELIVER

5

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Unqualified annual accounts for 2017/18. Accounts and audit nearing completion ahead 
of submission to Audit Committee and Board 
in July 2017. 

Milestones for completion in 2017/18 Estimated date and comment

Commence public consultation on scope of 
Local Plan review.

Work is underway to develop a detailed review 
programme and it is anticipated that a report 
will be taken to the Board at its September 
meeting seeking agreement to the formal 
consultation on the scope of the Local Plan 
review, including a consultation plan and the 
Scope of the Integrated Impact Assessment. 
This would then be followed by a period of 
community and wider stakeholder 
consultation and engagement before the 
scope of the review is finalised in early 2018. 

Page 152



• Plots S7 and S8: 333 dwellings in two buildings now occupied and called Glasshouse Gardens;
• Plot S6: 34,000 sqm. of office and commercial space in a 12 storey building currently under   

 construction. Transport for London is the tenant for the building and due to occupation in   
 late 2017/early 2018.

• Plot S5: 62,000 sqm. of office and commercial space in a 20 storey building currently under   
 construction and due to be occupied Financial Conduct Authority in spring 2018.

• Plot S4: 74,800 sqm. of office and commercial space in a 21 storey building fronting   
 Westfield Ave and adjoining plot S5.

• Plot S9: 35,500 sqm. of office and commercial space in a 10 storey building at the west of the  
 site. Tenants have been secured for this building for which construction has commenced at   
 the site.

For IQL North, located between Stratford Iinternational station and East Village, 71,338 sqm. of office 
and commercial space was also granted in outline under the Stratford City permission. Detailed 
reserved matters consent was granted for a 12 storey, 37,000 sqm. office building at plot N22 in May 
this year. Further discussions are anticipated with Lendlease during 2017 regarding the other plots 
within IQL North.

LendLease, as developer of the site, is currently re-considering the masterplan for the remainder of 
the IQL south and part of the IQL north sites. This review has been triggered by a range of factors 
including likely tenant profile (to provide both larger and smaller office floor plates), placemaking (a 
broader mix of uses including residential) and outline parameters as currently approved would result 
in conflict with the profile of St Paul's in the protected strategic view from Richmond Hill. LendLease 
is currently working with PPDT on initial proposals for an amended masterplan and these will be 
subject to a series of briefings with the Planning Decisions Committee.

Westfield is proposing to bring forward a number of additional developments within its estate. Most 
recently planning permission was resolved to be granted at June's PDC meeting for an extension to 
Westfield Stratford City comprising the conversion of part of car park B to provide for an additional 
14,500 sqm. of retail floor space at the lower mall level (connecting to the current lower mall 
entrance at a point adjoining Starbucks). Conversion of part of the current car park results in the net 
loss of 600 parking spaces. The proposed floor space represents an 8% increase on the current 
consented retail floor space at Westfield. Permission is subject to an s.106 agreement which secures 
£2million towards transport and connectivity improvements and £1.1million towards employment 
and training initiatives. An additional £1.4million of CIL payment is proposed to be paid early by 
Westfield to assist with funding of works to Stratford station.

Westfield's Cherry Park development was resolved to be 
granted permission by PDC in December last year and 
comprises 1,224 Private Rental Sector (PRS) dwellings 
and a new retail anchor store of 10,900 sqm. accessed 
via The Street. The s.106 agreement for this scheme is 
currently being finalised. This includes provision of 
£30million towards affordable housing delivery.

The M7 office development was granted reserved 
matters approval in February this year. The comprises 
78,600 sqm. of office floor space in buildings which vary 
in height from 75.5m to 83.3m above ordnance datum 
(AOD) and located fronting Westfield Avenue and 
between the two pedestrian links to QEOP from the 
Westfield estate.

30

DELIVER

5

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Page 153



31

DELIVER

5

Governance 
The Mayor of London has announced that he intends to appoint  
Sir Peter Hendy CBE as the new Chair of the Legacy Corporation.  
Sir Peter has more than 42 years’ experience of working in the 
transport and infrastructure sector in London. He has been Chair of 
Network Rail since 2015 – a position he will retain – and was 
previously Commissioner of Transport for London for nine years, 
during which time he was instrumental in the successful 
management of the transport requirements of the 2012 Games and 
was widely credited with “keeping London moving” during 
unprecedented demands on the transport infrastructure. 

Business Planning
The 2017/18 budget submission was approved by the Board in March 2017. The budget has been 
updated to reflect the 2016/17 year end actual outturn and the revised budget (including rollovers) 
will be submitted to the Board for approval in July 2017.   

The revision to the Corporation’s long term model is currently under review pending the outcome of 
the Mayor’s Review on the Stadium, the impact of the updated plans for the Cultural and Education 
District and on how the Mayor’s long term housing strategy is to be implemented. We are also 
factoring in revised assumptions on inflation. An update will be given to the July 2017 Board meeting 
with a view to finalising when the housing strategy is clearer in October 2017.  

Guidance for the Mayor’s 2018/19 budget submission has been received and the budget is due for 
submission on 29 November 2017. The GLA have instructed a quarterly monitoring process with a 
focus on short and long term risks and opportunities and the delivery of savings and efficiencies.   

Sustainability 
Bats are often used to measure how healthy our environment is.  
Live data from the bat sensors, which have been installed in 15 
locations around the Park detect ultrasonic calls, tracking whether 
bats are present and their activity level, and by studying this we can 
see how healthy the Park’s wildlife is. We’ve always been committed 
to making the Park as sustainable and biodiverse as possible, and 
the data from these sensors will help us continue to protect the 
environment in the area. It will also give us a better understanding 
of how wildlife is impacted by rapid environmental change – as is 
often the case in cities like London.

The smart detectors have been developed and installed by UCL and 
Intel scientists in collaboration with Arup, the Bat Conservation 
Trust, and the London Wildlife Trust. Live data from the bat sensors 
can be viewed on the project website www.naturesmartcities.com 
and full findings will be available towards the end of the year.

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Page 154



32

DELIVER

5

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Communications, Marketing and Strategy
From a visitor perspective, the main activities during this time period were around campaigns 
attracting visitors to the Park and the ArcelorMittal Orbit in the Easter holidays and over the May half 
term period; supporting free Park events including the Great Get Together and the Liberty Festival; 
and preparing for the World Para Athletics Championships and the IAAF World Athletics 
Championships.

As well as supporting with negotiation and facilitation of Park dressing by the London 2017 and 
Muller Anniversary Games teams, we also worked to ensure the Park looked its best for visitors, and 
take advantage of free branding opportunities available – updating the information and branding on 
hoardings and at Park entrances; and submitting trackside and Stadium branding, programme ads 
and digital wrap images. 

A range of materials was produced and distributed in this time to support visitors and the local 
community, including the summer issue of The Park consumer magazine; updated maps; the summer 
events listings leaflet; materials for Great Get Together and Liberty Festival; and Park News, our 
publication for people living in the immediate area around the Park.

Support was given to the launch of the Leaway exhibition at the New London Architecture event 
space in central London and the opening of the Gillette Recycled Gym in the south of the Park. In 
addition LLDC also supported the crisis communications planning held for summer events around the 
concerts, World Para Athletic Championships and World Athletic Championships.

Health and Safety 

Park operations: This period has seen two major events in the stadium, one on the park and one 
medium event in the CBA, together with planned 5k and 10k runs. There were 44 medical incidents 
over the period, with more in June than April or May due to better weather periods. Increases in first 
aid incidents are expected in the summer (better weather, school holidays, increased number of 
visitors and a higher level of activity).

Page 155



 
Key health and safety incidents;
• Vehicle near misses, as lorries travelling to the East London Soil Hub (ELSH) are still causing 

concern due to excessive speeds, and a near miss on Marshgate Lane with a pedestrian. LLDC has 
contacted the freeholder of the land to resolve with operator and the design of the entrance road 
to ELSH is being looked at with a view to change.  

• Cycle incidents included a near miss when a speeding cyclist narrowly missed a pedestrian, and a 
collision when a cyclist rode into a lamppost.  

• A youth was spotted climbing on the outside of tallow bridge in south park, and a person 
dislocated their knee in the North Canal park play area.

• A cyclist fell off her bicycle on Lesney Avenue.  She refused first aid treatment and called for an 
ambulance. The area was checked by Security, no obvious trip hazards.

• A man injured his leg while attempting the long jump in the South Park. London Ambulance were 
called to the site. The area was checked by Security and there were no obvious trip hazards.

• Whilst a contractor was testing and commissioning the hostile vehicle mitigation barriers on the 
loop road, a cyclist hit a blocker and landed in the road. Relevant signage was in place, the 
incident was passed to the contractor for resolution.

• A group disorder incident on 21 June 2017 – a person was assaulted and suffered injuries requiring 
hospital treatment. Police and London Ambulance Service attended.

• 10 foiled attempts were made to scale the ArcelorMittal Orbit, the use of anti-climb paint now 
forms part of the security measures and further design changes are being considered. 

Reassurance patrols and partnership working with police has continued. Spectator safety remains a 
focal point for park operations management in relation to stadium football matches and concerts 
and the ingress/egress route security, safety and spectator flows. Park Operations and Venue 
management have continued to maintain a vigilant approach to all health and safety issues.

Construction: An incident occurred on the Bobby Moore Academy secondary school site. A 
contractor’s employee was injured (non-reportable) when a section of formwork decking collapsed. 
The direct cause was that secondary props supporting the temporary structure had been removed. 
The investigation identified faults with the work method in relation to the way that props were 
marked for removal (a red cross on the ground). This has been reviewed and eye level tagging has 
now been implemented. The incident investigation and remedial actions were reviewed by Mace for 
LLDC and found to be sufficient. A post-accident review of both Bobby Moore Academy sites found 
that overall standards on site were good, with some minor findings that were discussed with the 
relevant site managers and actioned.
 
All housing development sites are being well managed, with the contractors remaining diligent in 
ensuring safety at public interfaces.  The contract teams are aware of the increasing numbers visiting 
the park in the summer months, and the importance of continuing to focus on public protection.
There have been a number of events during the month and an increase in visitor numbers, with no 
construction related incidents involving members of the public reported. 

Waterways: Progress meetings continue with the appointed contractor for works on the underpass 
that connects to the Greenway (improving the edge protection on the Boardwalk) and adjacent 
towpath. The contractor will submit safe working plans for approval at least three weeks prior to 
starting on site, which is part of our now standard approach to reviewing and ensuring public 
protection during Park works. Regular review meetings are now held with the contractor. The 
programme will also including lifting plans for the 3 Mills lock works, which will be subject to a 
detailed technical appraisal.

33

DELIVER

5

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Page 156



34

DELIVER

5

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

LLDC maintains close liaison with the Crossrail works team, as their work to the south of the Park 
nears completion. Recently there has been a reiteration that all vehicles permitted to enter Crossrail 
sites have to comply with the schemes designed to improve pedestrian and cyclist safety (primarily 
Fleet Operator Recognition and Construction Logistics schemes FORS and CLOCS).

Stadium: phase 1 seating transition completed by the new Principal Contractor, and undertaken 
successfully with no significant incidents. Phase 2 transition to Athletics mode is now underway and is 
progressing well.
A review is underway of the responsibilities for the range of risks and risk management arrangements 
as allocated and accepted by the various parties, with a particular focus on E20, its role, policies, 
targets and other aspects.

Hackney Wick Station: Good standards being maintained on site. Significant public interface is 
being well managed by the contractor, with regular assurance checks by LLDC.

Estate Management: A review has been undertaken, to be completed in July, of building conditions 
and the interlocking responsibilities of LLDC and its leaseholders/tenants, with emphasis on matters 
such as asbestos management duties and fire protection.

Staff health, safety and well-being: The 1 Stratford Place building had no water supply for the four 
days from 10 April 2017., This was caused by a major leak and impacted on drinking water, toilets and 
showers. LLDC supplied bottled water for staff, and gave many the option of working from home 
until the situation was resolved by Westfield. 

A security breach occurred when the landlord (Workman) allowed a former LLDC staff member to 
enter with a deactivated pass. Workman, have since reviewed and upgraded the security provision on 
the ground floor.  Anybody found to be without a pass is to be sent to Reception to sign in as a visitor. 
This protocol has been communicated to all staff. 

There was another lift entrapment at 1 Stratford Place on 15 May 2017. The lift announced it was at 
full capacity as the doors were closing holding 14 passengers. It left the ground floor before falling 
back down again. Passengers in the lift pressed the alarm but the Schindler call operative couldn’t 
find the lift location, after several attempts the operative confirmed an engineer would be called and 
out on site as soon as possible. From call to release took 30 minutes.  LLDC is following up with 
Workman on why the agreed protocol wasn’t followed by Schindler. However, following a software 
update which LLDC pressed for the lifts are working better than before and undertaking over 5,000 
trips per day.  

The Park HQ Fire Evacuation Procedure has been written, approved and communicated to all staff.  
New fire wayfinding signage has been put in place including an assembly point sign. Fire Marshals for 
Park HQ have been identified. All Fire Marshals (including Park HQ) who require training attended a 
Fire Safety course with St. Johns Ambulance on Monday 19 June. First aiders have also been 
appointed and are being trained (the majority of Fire Marshals have been trained in the use of the 
Evac Chairs). The HR Team continues to provide Health and Wellbeing training for all staff, including 
holding Mindfulness and Energy Seminars. LLDC is applying for the Healthy Workplace Charter (a 
Mayoral initiative via the GLA).

Page 157



35

KEY RISKS

RAGSummary MitigationImpact

DELIVER

5

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Risk relating to the delivery of 
revenue budget savings year 
on year and ensuring funding 
is secured.

Effective budgeting and cost 
management and cost risk 
reporting. Implement 
commercial strategy, tighter 
focus on housing 
development.

Financial and/ or 
delivery impacts. 
Reputational impacts.

R

Risk of impact of changes to 
Board membership on 
timeliness of decision making.

Induction plans and briefings 
for new Board members.

Programme impacts.

A

Risk relating to the delivery of 
E20 Stadium Business Plan; 
current issues not resolved 
and structural changes are 
not made. 

E20 Stadium LLP Board and 
funders considering 
commercial options.

Financial and 
reputational impacts.

R

Risk of negative outcomes for 
LLDC of the Stadium 
Investigation.

Close work with GLA; 
communications strategy. 

Significant 
reputational impacts. R

Risk relating to the need to 
identify and implement 
savings in Park operational 
contracts. 

Savings being identified, 
contractual negotiations 
ongoing.

Reputational, 
operational and 
financial implications. A

Risk about successful 
implementation of the  
Local Plan.

Progress reporting including 
annual monitoring report.

Reputational impacts.

A

Page 158



KEY RISKS

RAGSummary MitigationImpact

London Legacy Development Corporation Corporate Performance April – June 2017

Risk relating to information 
security non-compliance.

Information security gap 
analysis complete, action 
plan being implemented. 
Ongoing information security 
briefings. 

Potential loss, theft or 
corruption of data 
with reputational and 
financial impacts.

G

36

DELIVER

5

Risk relating to failure to 
embed fraud and assurance 
processes.

New finance implemented; 
anti-fraud policy updated; 
financial and procurement 
controls; assurance from 
internal and external audit; 
ongoing fraud awareness 
briefings. Mandatory fraud 
workshop held for finance 
practitioners.

Significant financial 
and reputational 
impacts.

A

Risk relating to the success of 
off-Park developments.

Local Plan approved and 
being implemented. Work 
ongoing on development 
opportunities including 
Hackney Wick, Pudding Mill 
Lane, Bromley by Bow.

Significant financial 
and reputational 
impacts.

A

Risk relating to the potential 
impact of policy change on 
the Corporation.

Continue political 
engagement work and 
briefings. Work through 
implications of withdrawal 
from the EU.  

Programme delays, 
budget impacts.

A

Amber risk about the impacts 
of health and safety failures 
on site.

A comprehensive health and 
safety programme is in place, 
designed to identify and 
manage the construction 
risks and led actively by LLDC 
and its project management 
partner.

The possibility of 
serious injuries or 
fatalities, the 
consequences of 
which may include 
significant delays and 
reputational damage.

A

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 160



Transport for London 
quarterly performance report
Quarter 1 2017/18

Appendix 4

Page 161



The financial information included in the report is unaudited and does not constitute 
TfL’s statutory accounts. TfL’s last audited Statement of Accounts for the year ended  
31 March 2016 was published on 28 July 2016. TfL's unaudited draft Statement of 
Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2017 is available online.

Definitions of terms used in the report are included in the glossary.

Contents

4 Introduction

6 Business at a glance

8 Financial summary

10 Financial trends

12 Borrowing and cash

14 Operational trends

18 Customer trends

22 Underground

27 Buses

30 Rail

35 Roads

38 Other operations

43 Commercial Development

46 Capital investment programme

49 Appendices

52 Glossary

About Transport for London (TfL)

Part of the Greater London Authority 
family led by Mayor of London Sadiq 
Khan, we are the integrated transport 
authority responsible for delivering the 
Mayor's aims for transport. 

We have a key role in shaping what 
life is like in London, helping to realise 
the Mayor's vision for a 'City for All 
Londoners'. We are committed to 
creating a fairer, greener, healthier and 
more prosperous city. The Mayor's 
Transport Strategy sets a target for 80 
per cent of all journeys to be made on 
foot, by cycle or using public transport 
by 2041. To make this a reality, we 
prioritise health and the quality of 
people's experience in everything we do.

We manage the city's 'red route' strategic 
roads and, through collaboration with 
the London boroughs, can help shape 
the character of all London's streets. 
These are the places where Londoners 
travel, work, shop and socialise. 
Making them places for people to walk, 
cycle and spend time will reduce car 
dependency and improve air quality, 
revitalise town centres, boost 
businesses and connect communities.

We run most of London's public 
transport services, including the 
London Underground, London Buses, 
the Docklands Light Railway, London 
Overground, TfL Rail, London Trams, 
London River Services, London Dial-a-
Ride, Victoria Coach Station, Santander 
Cycles and the Emirates Air Line. The 
quality and accessibility of these services 
is fundamental to Londoners' quality 
of life. By improving and expanding 
public transport, we can make people's 
lives easier and increase the appeal of 
sustainable travel over private car use.

We are moving ahead with many of 
London's most significant infrastructure 
projects, using transport to unlock growth. 
We are working with partners on major 
projects like Crossrail 2 and the Bakerloo 
line extension that will deliver the new 
homes and jobs London and the UK need. 
We are in the final phases of completing 
the Elizabeth line which, when it opens, will 
add 10 per cent to London's rail capacity. 

Supporting the delivery of high-density, 
mixed-use developments that are 
planned around active and sustainable 
travel will ensure that London's growth 
is good growth. We also use our own 
land to provide thousands of new 
affordable homes and our own supply 
chain creates tens of thousands of jobs 
and apprenticeships across the country.

We are committed to being an employer 
that is fully representative of the 
community we serve, where everyone 
can realise their potential. Our aim is to 
be a fully inclusive employer, valuing and 
celebrating the diversity of our workforce 
to improve services for all Londoners. 

We are constantly working to improve 
the city for everyone. This means freezing 
fares so everyone can afford to use public 
transport, using data and technology to 
make services intuitive and easy to use, 
and doing all we can to make streets and 
transport services accessible to all. We 
reinvest every penny of our income to 
continually improve transport networks 
for the people that use them every day.

None of this would be possible without 
the support of boroughs, communities 
and other partners who we work with 
to improve our services. We all need 
to pull together to deliver the Mayor's 
Transport Strategy; by doing so we can 
create a better city as London grows.

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  3

P
age 162



This Quarterly Performance Report covers the period 
from 1 April to 24 June 2017, and is the first performance 
report for the financial year 2017/18. As in previous 
reports, trend graphs show both the quarter-by-quarter 
comparison over the past 15 months and also the year-
to-date comparative analysis for the past five years.

We are successfully reducing our operating costs for 
the first time in our history. Overall our net cost of 
operations is, however, £23m (14 per cent) higher than 
last year; this is due to reductions in fares revenue and 
General Grant from central government. 

Overall passenger numbers are down on last year, largely 
due to the impact of the timing of Easter, but passenger 
numbers are down 0.9 per cent on a like-for-like basis on 
the Underground. There is a small increase in average fares 
as a result of increases in ticket prices not controlled by the 
Mayor, but this does not compensate for lower passenger 
numbers, and fares income is down by £23m.

Day-to-day operating costs have continued to decrease, as 
our cost reduction plans take effect, and are £51m (-4 per 
cent) lower than Q1 last year. We expect costs to continue 
to reduce as the year progresses following the phased 
implementation of our transformation programme, designed 
to respond to the Mayor’s challenge to reduce costs. 

The Capital Account shows a modest decrease in capital 
expenditure, from £825m in Q1 2016/17 to £722m this year. 
This is driven by lower Crossrail construction costs and 
reduced expenditure on capital renewals, as some of the 
larger station upgrade programmes near completion.

Reducing operating costs and delivering value for 
money, while making operations safer, more reliable 
and more efficient, is central to our long-term financial 
stability. Our focus for the rest of the year remains on 
ensuring that we stay on track to deliver.

Simon Kilonback                       
Acting Chief 
Finance Officer             

Sarah Bradley
Group Financial Controller

Introduction

A tribute
Ian Nunn, our Chief Finance Officer, sadly passed away  
in July.

This Quarterly Performance Report is a testament to 
the enormous contribution Ian made to the organisation 
and all the work he did to improve the transparency and 
quality of our financial reporting. He was an incredibly 
charismatic leader and a valued colleague. I know he will 
be hugely missed by all those he worked with. 

Mike Brown
Commissioner

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  54 Introduction

P
age 163



Business at a glance
Keeping London moving, working and  
growing to make life in our city better

How we report on our business

Finances at a glance*

Grants
£2.5bn

Use of 
borrowing
and cash
reserves
£2.0bn

Fares
£4.7bn

Other
income
£0.7bn

65%
spent on running the
network every day.

35%
spent renewing

and improving the
network through

one of the largest
capital investment

programmes
in Europe.

Crossrail
grants
£0.2bn

Sources of funds

£10.1bn

*Based on full year 2016/17

Buses

Roads

Other

Commercial 
Development

Underground

Rail

Facts and figures*

Total costs* 
(excluding depreciation)

Total fares*

▀ Operating costs

▀ Crossrail▀ Capital renewals ▀ Net financing
▀ New capital investment▀ Underground ▀ Rail ▀ Buses

Total: £4.7bn Total: £10.1bn

TfL-operated 
highways

580km
TfL-operated Rail and 
Underground routes

680km

6,350
Total number of traffic 
signals that TfL operates

£0.4bn
(3%)

£0.8bn
(8%)

£6.2bn
(62%)

£1.1bn
(11%)

£1.6bn
(16%)

£0.5bn
(11%)

£1.5bn
(32%)£2.7bn

(57%)

9,600
Total number  
of buses on the  
TfL network

940
Total number 
of trains on the 
TfL network

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  76 Business at a glance

P
age 164



Financial summary
Performance this quarter

Operating account 

TfL Group 
(£m)

Q1 
2017/18

Q1 
2016/17 Variance

Fares income 1,079 1,102 -2%

Other operating income 160 162 -1%

Total operating income 1,239 1,264 -2%

General Grant 53 103 -49%

Business Rates Retention 231 231 0%

Other revenue grants 11 7 57%

Total income 1,534 1,605 -4%

Operating cost (1,371) (1,422) -4%

Net operating surplus 163 183 -11%

Depreciation and amortisation (252) (251) 0%

Net cost of operations before financing (89) (68) 31%

Net financing costs (96) (94) 2%

Net cost of operations (185) (162) 14%

Cash flow summary 

TfL Group 
(£m)

Q1 
2017/18

Q1 
2016/17 Variance

Net cost of operations (185) (162) 14%

Depreciation and amortisation 252 251 0%

Net capital account (379) (536) -29%

Borrowing 150 – –

Working capital movements 634 (31) –

Increase/(decrease) in cash balances 472 (478)

Capital account 

TfL Group 
(£m)

Q1 
2017/18

Q1 
2016/17 Variance

Capital renewals (134) (186) -28%

New capital investment (250) (239) 5%

Crossrail (338) (400) -16%

Total capital expenditure (722) (825) -12%

Financed by:    

Investment grant 259 218 19%

Third-party contributions 7 9 -22%

Property receipts 1 – –

Crossrail funding sources 32 26 23%

Other capital grants 44 36 22%

Total 343 289 19%

Net capital account (379) (536) -29%

Passenger journeys analysis

Q1 
2017/18

Q1 
2016/17 Variance

Number of passenger journeys (millions) 938 966 -3%

Average fare income per journey (£) 1.15 1.14 1%

Average total income per journey (£) 1.64 1.66 -1%

Operating cost per journey (£) (1.46) (1.47) -1%

Total cost per journey before financing (£) (1.73) (1.73) 0%

Total income is £71m lower than last year, 
with fares income down two per cent. 
There have been fewer passenger journeys 
across the network partly owing to the 
quarter having one less day this year and 
the timing of Easter. The underlying trend 
on the Underground is, however, one 
per cent below last year. Grant income 
is reduced by £46m mainly due to the 
further reduction in General Grant.

Operating costs are four per cent (£51m) 
lower than last year, with staff costs 
accounting for £35m of this reduction. 
This reflects the continued drive to 
reduce costs across the business.

Total capital expenditure was £722m, 
with almost half of this being investment 
in Crossrail. Capital renewals are £52m 
lower than last year because of the 
near completion of station upgrade 
programmes and a lower volume of 
track renewal work this year. 

Cash balances increased by £472m in 
the quarter. £150m of the permitted 
borrowing for the year was drawn down 
and Crossrail balances rose following 
the repayment of interim financing 
previously provided to Network Rail.

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  98 Financial summary

P
age 165



Financial trends

21%

69%

10%

17%

72%

11%

1,605
1,479

19%

70%

1,639
11%

21%

68%

2,048

20%

70%

10%

1,534
11%

Q1 2016/17 Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17* Q1 2017/18

23%

48%

29%

23%

46%

31%

825
773

22%

47%

778

34%

23%

43%

1,104

19%

47%

34%

722
31%

Q1 2016/17 Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17* Q1 2017/18

14%

81%

5%
14%

81%

5%

1,767 1,730

14%

81%

1,748

5%

14%

81%

2,427

15%

80%

5%
1,719

5%

Q1 2016/17 Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17* Q1 2017/18

35%

42%

10%
14%

36%

41%

9%
14%

1,422 1,390

35%

41%

1,409 9%

17%

34%

40%

1,951

36%

42%

10%
12%

1,371

10%
14%

Q1 2016/17 Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17* Q1 2017/18

31%

59%

10%

24%

65%

11%

1,568
1,459

23%

67%

1,602

10%

21%

69%

1,605

20%

70%

10%

1,534
10%

Q1 2013/14 Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

23%

56%

21%

28%

42%

30%
748

813

26%

46%

749
29%

23%

48%

825

19%

47%

34%

722

28%

Q1 2013/14 Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

14%
82%

4%
14%
81%

5%

1,583 1,663

14%

82%

1,772

5%

14%

81%

1,767

14%

81%

5%

1,719

4%

Q1 2013/14 Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

36%

45%

6%

13%

36%

13%

44%

1,276 1,342

35%

14%

43%

1,434

10%
35%

14%

42%

1,422

36%

12%

42%

10%

1,371

7% 8%

Q1 2013/14 Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

Five-year trend year-to-date (£m) Five-year trend year-to-date (£m)

Five-year trend year-to-date (£m) Five-year trend year-to-date (£m)

Total income
Quarterly (£m)

Total capital expenditure (excluding Earls Court)
Quarterly (£m)

Total costs
Quarterly (£m)

Operating costs
Quarterly (£m)

General grant halved 
year-on-year

Total costs lower 
year-on-year

Operating costs  
continue to fall

Crossrail nears 
completion2%▼ in fares income

4%▼in operating costs £51m▼

Fares income is lower than Q1 2016/17 due to fewer passenger journeys. Demand 
has been affected by the timing of Easter this year, which did not fall into the 
quarter last year. Grant income is reduced by 13 per cent.

Total costs down £48m on Q1 last year driven by lower operating costs. Financing 
costs are marginally higher due to draw down of £150m borrowings in the quarter.

Operating costs for London Underground, Rail and Roads down on Q1 
last year. Costs within London Buses have increased following the annual 
contracted price rise within the bus operators’ contracts.

▀ Fares income

▀ Operating costs

▀ Grants

▀ Depreciation

▀ Other income

▀ Crossrail

▀ Renewals

▀ New capital  
 investment

▀ Underground

▀ Buses

▀ Roads, Commercial  
 Development and  
 other operations

▀ Rail
▀ Net financing  

 costs

12%▼ 
£0.6bn invested on new capital investment and Crossrail, accounting for 81 per cent of 
capital expenditure. Capital renewals are 28 per cent below last year, due to the near 
completion of station upgrades and a lower volume of track renewal work this year.

in capital 
expenditure

in operating 
costs

* Quarter 4 is longer than Quarters 1 to 3 (16 weeks vs 12 weeks)

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  1110 Financial trends

P
age 166



Borrowing and cash

Financing costs and income (£m)

Year-to-date
Q1 

2017/18
Q1 

2016/17 Variance

Interest income 3 3 0%

Financing costs (90) (87) 3%

PFI interest payable (9) (10) -10%

Borrowing
The additional incremental borrowing 
agreed with the Government for 2017/18, 
including amounts deferred from 2016/17, 
is £950m. The Budget assumes that, of 
this, only £620m will be raised this year, 
with the remainder deferred until 2018/19. 
As at the end of Q1, £150m had been 
drawn down under a £500m facility from 
Export Development Canada.

The total nominal value of borrowings 
outstanding at the end of the quarter was 
£9,978m, of which £8,857m is long term.

Total nominal value of borrowing (£m) Cash balances (£m)

Financing costs as a percentage of total income (%)*

Funding for investment projects

9,978

1,121

8,857

709

7,188

784

7,673

832

8,315

1,105

8,723

9,828

9,147
8,457

7,897

2013/14

8,000

7,000

12,000

9,000

10,000

11,000

0
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

2,836

1,203

1,633

819

1,403

861

1,127

510

1,451

825

1,608

2,433

1,9611,988

2,222

Q1 2016/17

3,000

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

0
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

▀  Long-term borrowing

▀ Borrowing maturing within 12 months
▀ TfL cash balances

▀ Crossrail

£0.5bn 24%▲
Increase in cash over the year-to-date

Cash balances
During Q1, total cash balances rose by 
£472m to £2,433m at the end of the 
quarter. Contributory factors were 
the receipt of a loan repayment from 
Network Rail, advanced for interim 
financing of Crossrail construction, and 
the draw down of £150m borrowings. 
Of the total balance, £825m is ring-
fenced to deliver the Crossrail project. 
In addition, we aim to hold a prudent 
minimum level of TfL cash (excluding 
Crossrail) for exceptional circumstances 
and to retain a high credit rating with our 
investors, in line with our liquidity policy 
approved by the TfL Board. This level of 
cash reserves – currently around £540m 
– is driven by the size of our operating 
costs and the level of debt.

We expect to continue to use our 
balances to fund the improvements 
outlined in our Business Plan published 
in December 2016 and updated in the 
2017/18 Budget.

Cycling
infrastructure
schemes
£0.3bn

Northern 
and Jubilee
line upgrades
£0.3bn

Bank
station
upgrade
£0.3bn

Crossrail
£0.8bn

DLR train
capacity
£0.2bn

£1.9bn
cash available for 
investment projects

2013/14

5.0

7.0

6.5

6.0

5.5

4.0

4.5

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

* Financing costs include exchange gain/losses 
relating to financing items

The ratio of financing costs to total 
operating revenue, including operating 
grants, is an important measure of the 
affordability of debt.

Credit ratings

Moody's Aa2 negative outlook

Standard & Poor's (S&P) AA negative outlook

Fitch AA- negative outlook

Our strong credit rating reflects the 
essential nature of TfL’s services as 
London's dominant transport provider, and 
the supporting institutional framework. 
Our outlook reflects the credit agencies’ 
negative outlook for the UK Government.

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  1312 Borrowing and cash

P
age 167



Operational trends

3%▼ total passenger 
journeys

966

545

324

92
5

499

309

87
8

545

340

95
5 672

405

116
5

903

985

1,198

938

530

312

90
6

Q1 2016/17

1,400

1,000

800

600

400

200

0
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17* Q1 2017/18

1,200

899

549

285

62
3

545

279

62
3

574

320

78
6

545

324

92
5

889

978 966
938

530

312

90
6

Q1 2013/14

1,400

1,000

800

600

400

200

0
Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

1,200

LU passenger volumes were 12 million (four per cent) lower over the first quarter in the current 
year compared with 2016/17. The underlying trend, after adjusting for the later Easter, is just under 
one per cent lower. Passenger journeys have been affected by recent events in London, for  
example the part closure of the Hammersmith & City line following the Grenfell fire.

Bus passenger volumes were 2.8 per cent lower than Q1 2016/17, owing to the Easter weekend falling 
within the quarter this year. Underlying journeys show growth of 0.4 per cent year-on-year. This 
increase can be attributed to improvements in bus performance, with bus speeds and excess  
wait times improving.

Passenger journeys on Rail have remained broadly static compared with Q1 in the previous year.
* Excluding road journeys and pedestrians

▀ London Underground ▀ Rail

▀ Buses ▀ Other

Passenger journeys (millions) 
Quarterly Five-year trend

Passenger journeys
Q1 2017/18 

938m total number 
of journeys*

* Quarter 4 is longer than quarters 1 to 3 (16 weeks vs 12 weeks)

312m

London Underground

530m

Buses

90m

Rail (DLR, London Overground, London Trams, Emirates Air Line, TfL Rail)

6m

Other (London River Services, Dial-a-Ride, Santander Cycles)

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  1514 Operational trends

P
age 168



Five-year trend (number of people)
Roads – reported casualties
Quarterly (number of people)Five-year trend (minutes)

Bus reliability – excess wait time
Quarterly (minutes)

Compared with a year ago, results improved for both inner and 
outer London, although inner west London was adversely affected 
by a number of roadworks. Measures remain in place to protect 
reliability against worsening traffic congestion.

Five-year trend (%)
Roads – journey time reliability
Quarterly (%)

88.4% journey time reliability 
in Q1 2017/18 1%▲ in reliability  

year-on-year

Despite a collision at the Blackwall Tunnel and the terrible fire at Grenfell Tower affecting performance 
in the quarter, journey time reliability increased.

6.9 7.0

4.6
5.1
0.1

2.4

5.1

Q1 2016/17

10

6

8

4

2

0
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17* Q1 2017/18

4.1
4.6

3.9
4.6

5.1

3.2

Q1 2013/14

10

6

8

4

2

0
Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

Five-year trend (millions of hours)
London Underground reliability – lost customer hours (LCH)
Quarterly (millions of hours)

In Q1 we began to see some improvement in our overall performance, reversing the worsening 
position from mid-2016. We continue to embed plans to address the main issues: staff availability, 
customer incidents and Central line fleet reliability.

11%▲ 5.1m lost customer 
hours in Q1 2017/18

in delays 
year-on-year

1.0 minutes 
in Q1 2017/18

* Quarter 4 is longer than Quarters 1 to 3 (16 weeks vs 12 weeks)
* The figures for 2016 and 2017 are provisional 
NB: The above data is based on calendar quarters rather than financial quarters, ie Q2 is April – June.

Lowest number on 
record for this quarter

Provisional figures show that there were 24 fatalities on London’s 
roads in Q2 2017. This is the lowest number on record for April to June.

▀ Industrial action

1.3

1.01.0
1.1

1.0

Q1 2016/17

1.4

0.6

0.8

1.2

1.0

0.4

0.2

0.0
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17* Q1 2017/18

1.1 1.1
1.01.0 1.0

Q1 2013/14

1.4

0.6

0.8

1.2

1.0

0.4

0.2

0.0
Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

35 35

16

28

24

Q2 2016

40

20

25

35

30

15

10

0
Q3 2016 Q4 2016 Q1 2017* Q2 2017*

5

26 282727
24

Q2 2013 Q2 2014 Q2 2015 Q2 2016 Q2 2017*

40

20

25

35

30

15

10

0

5

87.4

88.2

88.9

87.5

88.4

Q1 2016/17

90

88

89

87

86

85
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

87.8
87.5

88.2

89.4

88.4

Q1 2013/14

90

88

89

87

86

85
Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  1716 Operational trends

P
age 169



Customer trends

Number of recorded crimes

Year-to-date
Q1 

2017/18
Q1 

2016/17 Variance

London Underground 1,936 1,621 19%

Buses 2,562 2,849 -10%

DLR 124 77 61%

London Overground 232 152 53%

Recorded crime rate
Number of recorded offences per 
million passenger journeys

8.9

7.1
6.8

7.4

6.1

3.7

7.6

4.8

London
Underground

10.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

6.0

5.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

1.0

0
Buses DLR London

Overground

▀  Q1 2017/18 ▀ Q1 2016/17

All forms of transport, with the 
exception of Buses, experienced a rise 
in crime and a higher rate of crime per 
million passenger journeys compared 
with the previous year.

Increases in recorded crime on LU, 
DLR and London Overground are 
primarily driven by rises in reported 
sexual offences, theft of passenger 
property and other offences involving 
violence, including serious public order. 
The majority of violent offences are 
not serious, with the rise largely due 
to an increase in low level violence, 
pushing and shoving, verbal disputes 
and threatening behaviour at busy 
commuter times when services are at 
peak capacity. We are addressing these 
incidents but it remains challenging 
given the sporadic nature of offences. 

Reported sexual offences on the 
transport system have continued to 
rise. This was anticipated and is 
considered a positive result of the 
efforts to tackle unwanted sexual 
behaviour on public transport as part  
of the ground-breaking Project Guardian 
initiative and Report It To Stop It 
campaign. Sexual offences have been 
historically under-reported. Project 
Guardian aims to increase confidence 
in reporting on the Capital’s public 
transport network, reduce the risk of 
becoming a victim, challenge unwanted 
sexual behaviour and target offenders. 
This important work continues.

Customer satisfaction score (out of 100)
based on TfL surveys

Tube customer satisfaction has risen to 86. Satisfaction with train 
crowding has increased one point, reflecting the seasonal drop 
in demand. Most scores have remained fairly stable, although the 
recent hot weather has affected the satisfaction with temperature.

Buses satisfaction rose to 88. Customers experienced reduced 
crowding and less jolting. A methodological change to the survey 
accounted for a one point increase in overall satisfaction.

Overall satisfaction with DLR remained at 89. Only one per cent of 
customers reported a delay to their journey. This has remained the 
same for seven consecutive quarters, reflecting DLR’s continuing 
strong operational performance.

London Overground satisfaction rose one point to 85, driven by a 
reduction to only six per cent of customers reporting a delay to 
their journey. As a result, customers were more satisfied with the 
frequency and timeliness of the trains. Perceptions of value for 
money have also increased to a record high.

84

82

80

88

86

78

92

90

Q1 2013/14 Q1 2014/15 Q1 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

86
Tube customer 
satisfaction  
at record levels

3▲
in customer satisfaction on 
the DLR since Q1 2013/14

4▲
in customer 
satisfaction  
on buses since  
Q1 2013/14

▀ London Underground ▀ DLR ▀ Buses ▀ London Overground

3▲
in customer 
satisfaction  
on the London 
Overground 
since Q1 2013/14

Q1 crime figures are based upon 
data from April to May

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  1918 Customer trends

P
age 170



Website and social media
Website visits (millions)

Customer services
Communications and correspondence

Year-to-date
Q1 

2017/18 
Q1 

2016/17 Variance 

Correspondence 
service level agreement 74.3% 90.4% -17.8%

Mystery shopper 
quality assessment 
scores

90.9% 88.8% 2.4%

Calls answered 91.5% 88.7% 3.2%

Ticketing
Ticketing system availability

Year-to-date
Q1 

2017/18 
Q1 

2016/17 Variance 

London Underground 
– ticketing system 
overall availability

98.7% 98.7% 0.0%

London Buses –  
bus validation  
overall availability

99.7% 99.6% 0.1%

With continued improvements to the 
reader software, customers benefit  
from validation availability.

Customer complaints

Complaints per 100,000 journeys
Q1 

2017/18
Q1 

2016/17 Variance

London Underground 0.70 0.96 -27%

London Buses 2.29 2.98 -23%

DLR 0.67 1.27 -47%

London Overground 1.25 2.81 -56%

TfL Rail 1.72 2.66 -35%

London Trams 1.42 1.76 -19%

Emirates Air Line 1.83 0.79 132%

Congestion Charge 6.50 4.90 33%

London Dial-a-Ride 93.22 117.80 -21%

London River Services 0.41 0.41 0%

Santander Cycles 2.07 4.03 -49%

Taxis* 5.06 5.42 -7%

Private Hire* 6.79 4.26 59%

Contactless 0.06 0.16 -63%

Oyster 0.16 0.15 7%

A drop in complaints in London Buses 
and Rail is partly owing to the Contact 
Centre’s transition to the new customer 
relationship management system. The 
new system enables improved coding  
to better separate complaints from 
general enquiries.

For Dial-a-Ride, driver conduct remains 
the largest source for complaints, but 
has reduced compared with last year. This 
reflects improvements following staff 
training in how to deal with issues, and 
regular complaints forums to identify 
service and process improvements.

The rise in complaints regarding Emirates 
Air Line must be taken in the context of a 
very low volume. The number rose from 
three in Q1 2016/17 to seven in Q1 2017/18.

The increase for Private Hire journeys 
is mainly due to a significant rise in 
driver behaviour complaints, with one 
of the most frequent being private hire 
vehicles using taxi ranks. 

Santander Cycle Hire complaints 
are lower than last year following 
improvements in bike redistribution  
by focusing on key stations.

6.2m Total number of 
followers on our 
24 Twitter feeds

728,385
Total number of Facebook fans 

3%▲
in website visits since 
2015/16 (63m in Q1 2017/18)

* Journeys not recorded; figures based on survey

Contact Centre correspondence 
performance was below target for Q1 while 
we transitioned to the new CRM tool.

In Q1, the Contact Centre saw a 2.3 per 
cent increase in correspondence demand 
compared with last year and operated 
with an average of 20 below headcount 
due to an unexpected period of high 
attrition. Headcount has since returned 
to the agreed levels and we have 
implemented new working practices to 
manage the correspondence.

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  2120 Customer trends

P
age 171



Underground
London Underground (LU)

Financial summary
Net operating surplus in LU continues to improve,  
as lower fares income has been more than offset by  
lower operating costs. Compared to the first quarter 
last year, the net cost of operations is £21m better.

London Underground 
(£m)

Q1 
2017/18

Q1 
2016/17 Variance

Fares income 612 618 -1%

Other operating income 5 8 -40%

Total operating income 617 626 -1%

Direct operating cost (474) (505) -6%

Indirect operating cost (98) (93) 5%

Net operating surplus 45 29 57%

Depreciation and amortisation (155) (160) -3%

Net cost of operations before financing (110) (131) -16%

Capital renewals (89) (132) -33%

New capital investment (145) (136) 7%

Total capital expenditure (234) (268) -13%

Fares income is £6m less than last year 
driven by lower passenger numbers; the 
timing of Easter accounted for most of the 
difference. In addition, journeys have also 
been affected by recent events, for example 
the part-closure of the Hammersmith & 
City line following the Grenfell fire.

Direct operating costs have reduced by 
£31m, which includes the transfer of £7m 
of staff costs to professional services. 
In Q1 last year, we were in the middle of 
our stations modernisation programme 
which has now been realised. We also 

continued our headcount resource 
management, reducing costs further. 

Capital expenditure is lower than 
last year due to the station upgrade 
programmes, including Victoria, 
Tottenham Court Road and Bond Street, 
nearing completion. There has also been 
reduced track upgrade work this year. 
This has been partly offset by additional 
expenditure on the Circle, District, 
Hammersmith & City and Metropolitan 
lines upgrade and on the Northern Line 
Extension, which are gaining momentum.

57%
share of TfL’s total 
fares income in Q1.

22 Divisional review | Underground

P
age 172



Passenger journey analysis

Q1 
2017/18

Q1 
2016/17 Variance

Number of passenger journeys (millions) 312 324 -4%

Average fare income per journey (£) 1.96 1.91 3%

Operating cost per journey (£) (1.83) (1.84) -1%

Total cost per journey before financing (£) (2.33) (2.34) 0%

Passenger journeys
Underlying demand is just under one 
per cent lower than the same period 
last year. Recent events in London 
have had an impact. In particular, the 
Hammersmith & City line was part 
closed for nine days following the 
Grenfell fire resulting in circa 0.5 million 
fewer journeys (£1 million).

Fare income per journey (yield) 
Fare income per journey has improved 
compared with the equivalent period  
last year. This is partly due to the  
impact of the National Rail average  
fares increase in January 2017, which 
increases a proportion of TfL’s tickets  
eg Travelcards, and also due to a change 
in the mix of tickets sold.

Operating cost per journey
Operating cost per journey has fallen  
by one per cent compared with the  
same period last year. This reflects  
our underlying cost reduction.

Underlying normalised passenger 
journeys year-on-year change (%)

Compares underlying year-to-date passenger 
journey numbers with those in the previous year.  
Not actuals – adjusted for one-off events (such 
as strike days), timing of Easter holidays and the 
number of days in each quarter.

6.3%▲
Q1 
2015/16

1.4%▲
Q1 
2016/17

0.9%▼
Q1 
2017/18

Reliability
Excess journey time (minutes) Scheduled kilometres operated (%)

Excess journey time improved in Q1, with 
customers on all lines experiencing quicker 
average journeys than in Q4. We partially closed 
the Circle and Hammersmith & City lines 
between Wood Lane and Edgware Road for  
nine days following the Grenfell Tower fire.

More than 40 per cent of customer accidents happen 
on escalators, so we are targeting stations with 
the highest number of incidents. All measures are 
supported with extra customer information through 
posters and announcements at hotspot locations.

After nine consecutive quarters at 85, overall 
satisfaction has reached 86. The number of 
people claiming to have experienced a delay or 
disruption was three per cent, an all-time low.

Performance improved for the second  
successive quarter. As with excess journey  
time, all lines improved on Q4. 

Safety
RIDDOR* reportable customer injuries

Customer
Customer satisfaction score (CSS)

5.4
4.9

4.24.2 4.2

Q1 2016/17

6

2

3

4

0

1

Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

5

15

2020

15

7

Q1 2016/17

25

10

15

20

0

5

Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

96.1 96.3

97.5
98.0

97.0

Q1 2016/17

99

93

94

92
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

95

96

97

98

Q1 CSS

Bakerloo line 84

Central line 84

Circle line/Hammersmith & City line 88

District line 87

Jubilee line 87

Metropolitan line 88

Northern line 85

Piccadilly line 86

Victoria line 85

Overall score 86
* Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous 
Occurrences Regulations 2013

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  2524 Divisional review | Underground

P
age 173



Buses
London Buses

Financial summary
Reduced fares income and higher operating costs  
have contributed to the net operating deficit  
being 16 per cent worse than last year.

Buses 
(£m)

Q1 
2017/18

Q1 
2016/17 Variance

Fares income 338 356 -5%

Other operating income 3 2 50%

Total operating income 341 358 -5%

Direct operating cost (481) (477) 1%

Indirect operating cost (16) (15) 7%

Net operating deficit (156) (134) 16%

Depreciation and amortisation (11) (9) 22%

Net cost of operations before financing (167) (143) 17%

Capital renewals (3) (3) 0%

New capital investment (8) (16) -50%

Total capital expenditure (11) (19) -42%

Lower fares income is primarily due to 
fewer days in the quarter, as well as 
the timing of Easter this year. This has 
resulted in fewer fare-paying journeys. 
Underlying year-on-year demand 
showed 0.4 per cent growth.

Direct operating cost is higher owing  
to the annual contracted price inflation 
(average of 2.5 per cent) within the  
bus operators’ contracts, but we are 
working hard to offset the financial 
impact to keep operating costs broadly 
flat year-on-year.

Capital expenditure is lower as fewer 
new buses were purchased directly in 
the first quarter. The programme to 
purchase 1,000 New Routemaster buses, 
introduced by the previous Mayor, was 
completed in June 2017. There are no 
plans to expand this programme.

31%
share of TfL's total 
fares income in Q1.

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  27

P
age 174



Passenger journey analysis

Q1  
2017/18

Q1 
2016/17 Variance

Number of passenger journeys (millions) 530 545 -3%

Average fare income per journey (£) 0.64 0.65 -2%

Operating cost per journey (£) (0.94) (0.90) 4%

Total cost per journey before financing (£) (0.96) (0.92) 4%

Reliability
Analysis of year-on-year excess wait 
time (EWT) change by area (%)

Scheduled services operated (%)

Passenger journeys
Total passenger journeys are three 
per cent lower than last year, mostly 
owing to the quarter having one less 
day than last year and Easter falling in 
April. On a normalised basis passenger 
journeys were 0.4 per cent higher as a 
result of some increases in bus speeds, 
particularly in central London.

Fare income per journey (yield)
The average yield decreased by 1p 
between Q1 last year and Q1 this year, 
mainly as a result of the Hopper fare, 
which launched in September 2016.

Operating cost per journey 
Overall operating costs have increased 
year-on-year due to the annual 
contracted price increase within the bus 
operators’ contracts. This, combined 
with the decrease in passenger journeys, 
means that the operating cost per 
journey has increased.

Underlying normalised passenger 
journeys year-on-year change (%)

Compares underlying passenger journey 
numbers in the quarter with those in the 
corresponding quarter in the previous year.  
Not actuals – adjusted for one-off events  
(such as strike days), timing of Easter holidays 
and the number of days in each quarter. 

A passenger died from injuries sustained in a fall 
and a pedestrian was killed in a collision with a bus. 
In the quarter 65 per cent of the injuries resulted 
from slips/trips/falls. This aspect is receiving 
additional attention to identify further steps to 
help prevent casualties on the bus network.

The two point increase in the score was driven 
by an improvement in satisfaction with crowding 
and smoothness. A methodological change to 
the survey contributed one point to the increase 
in the overall satisfaction score.

Safety
Customer injuries*

Customer
Customer satisfaction score

Performance has continued to improve. A package 
of measures remains in place to help protect 
against adverse trends in traffic conditions  
arising from economic growth and from major 
road schemes.

Compared with a year ago, results improved 
for both inner and outer London. Measures 
remain in place to protect service reliability 
against worsening traffic congestion.

-2.6

-25.9

-14.5

-20.2-19.2

-12.7

-17.4

-11.2

0.0

-5.0

-10.0

Inner
NW

Inner
SW

Inner
SE

Inner
NE

Outer
NW

Outer
SW

Outer
SE

Outer
NE

-20.0

-25.0

-15.0

-30.0

277

328

298

285

304

Q1 2016/17

340

320

240

260

280

300

Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

86 86
85

86

88

Q1 2016/17

90

88

80

82

84

86

Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

*Customers taken to hospital

3.5%▼
Q1 
2015/16

2.7%▼
Q1 
2016/17

0.4%▲
Q1 
2017/18

96.9

97.797.6
97.1

98.2

Q1 2016/17

99

93

94

92
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

95

96

97

98

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  2928 Divisional review | Buses

P
age 175



Rail
DLR, London Overground, London Trams,  
TfL Rail and Emirates Air Line (EAL)

Financial summary
Passenger journeys remain broadly in line with  
last year and operating costs are reducing.

Rail 
(£m)

Q1 
2017/18

Q1 
2016/17 Variance

Fares income 117 120 -3%

Other operating income 2 5 -60%

Total operating income 119 125 -5%

Direct operating cost (124) (129) -4%

Indirect operating cost (8) (7) 14%

Net operating deficit (13) (11) 18%

Depreciation and amortisation (30) (30) 0%

Net cost of operations before financing (43) (41) 5%

Capital renewals (6) (14) -57%

New capital investment (54) (42) 29%

Crossrail construction costs (338) (400) -16%

Total capital expenditure (398) (456) -13%

Total operating income was lower due 
to a fall in fares income from paying 
compensation (£3m) to the Train Operating 
Companies following implementation of 
the new Oyster Clicks Model. A drop in 
passenger journeys (due to the number 
of days in the quarter and the timing of 
Easter) was offset by the impact of the 
annual Travelcard fare increase. The fall in 
other operating income relates to fewer 
third party contributions for station 
works that are now completed.

Operating costs have reduced due to 
one-off London Overground contractual 
savings and cost saving initiatives 
that more than cover the higher 
bonus payments made for improved 
performance on the DLR. These are 
offset by some cost increases in TfL Rail 
as we start to mobilise maintenance and 
network operations capability to prepare 
for the start of Elizabeth line services.

New capital investment increased as TfL Rail 
moved to the next stage of train production 
in line with the planned schedule.

11%
share of TfL's total 
fares income in Q1.

30 Divisional review | Rail

P
age 176



An incident involving a tram customer met  
the criteria for reporting under RIDDOR  
after the passenger suffered a dislocated 
shoulder when he made contact with the side 
of a tram that was moving out of service.

London Trams reliability figures continue to be 
affected by service regulation issues following 
the introduction of speed reductions, and 
changes to road infrastructure resulting in loss 
of priority. DLR reliability remains strong.

The performance of London Overground continues to 
improve as a result of sustained focus on improving 
performance. At the end of Quarter 1, TfL Rail was the 
second best performing rail operator in the industry 
and London Overground was in third position.

The one point increase for London Overground 
reflects the improvement in operational 
performance. The one point reduction for 
London Trams and TfL Rail is driven by 
customers saying their journey was delayed.  
DLR overall satisfaction remains stable.

Safety
RIDDOR* reportable customer injuries

Reliability 
DLR and London Trams –  
scheduled services operated (%)

London Overground and TfL Rail – 
public performance measure (PPM) 
moving annual average (MAA)

Customer
Customer satisfaction score

Passenger journey analysis

 
Q1 

2017/18
Q1 

2016/17 Variance

London Overground      

Number of passenger journeys (millions) 43.8 43.9 0%

Average fare income per journey (£) 1.15 1.22 -5%

Operating cost per journey (£) (1.40) (1.62) -14%

Total cost per journey before financing (£) (1.50) (1.74) -14%

DLR      

Number of passenger journeys (millions) 28.6 29.1 -2%

Average fare income per journey (£) 1.39 1.34 4%

Operating cost per journey (£) (1.16) (1.06) 9%

Total cost per journey before financing (£) (1.61) (1.50) 7%

TfL Rail      

Number of passenger journeys (millions) 10.1 11.2 -10%

Average fare income per journey (£) 1.91 1.79 6%

Operating cost per journey (£) (2.73) (2.17) 26%

Total cost per journey before financing (£) (3.56) (2.86) 24%

London Trams      

Number of passenger journeys (millions) 6.6 7.1 -7%

Average fare income per journey (£) 0.85 0.77 9%

Operating cost per journey (£) (1.17) (1.22) -4%

Total cost per journey before financing (£) (1.68) (1.66) 1%

Emirates Air Line      

Number of passenger journeys (thousands) 382.3 381.8 0%

Average fare income per journey (£) 4.22 4.09 3%

Operating cost per journey* (£) (2.12) (2.41) -12%

Total cost per journey before financing* (£) (2.18) (2.49) -12%

*Costs of Emirates Air Line are shown net of sponsorship income

* Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous 
Occurrences Regulations 2013

Q1 2016/17

94

92

90

86

84

88

82
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

Q1 2016/17

100

96

94

92

90
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

98

Q1 2016/17

95.0

94.5

94.0

93.5

93.0
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

▀ TfL Rail▀ London Overground▀ London Trams ▀ DLR

▀ London Trams
▀ London Overground▀ DLR

▀ TfL Rail

16

21 10

Q1 2016/17

20

15

0

5

10

Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  3332 Divisional review | Rail

P
age 177



Roads
Transport for London Road Network (TLRN)

Financial summary
Despite a fall in income, reduced costs have contributed to a 33 per cent drop in the 
net operating deficit. 

Roads 
(£m)

Q1 
2017/18

Q1  
2016/17 Variance

Fares income – – 0%

Other operating income 71 77 -8%

Total operating income 71 77 -8%

Direct operating cost (98) (125) -22%

Indirect operating cost (18) (19) -5%

Net operating deficit (45) (67) -33%

Depreciation and amortisation (32) (29) 10%

Net cost of operations before financing (77) (96) -20%

Capital renewals (23) (29) -21%

New capital investment (22) (31) -29%

Total capital expenditure (45) (60) -25%

Roads operating income has reduced partly 
as a result of lower Congestion Charge 
volume, due to fewer days in Quarter 1  
this year and Easter. The underlying  
year-on-year decline is six per cent.

Roads operating costs have seen a 22 
per cent decrease year on year. The 
main contributors were lower staff 
costs across the division, largely due to 
headcount reductions, reduced costs in 
Road User Charging driven by the poor 
performance of the contractor which 
has resulted in service credits in the first 
quarter and in the borough-delivered LIP 

corridor programme which is budgeted  
to be delivered later this year than last.

Capital renewals are lower this year 
compared with last year largely owing 
to a combination of efficiency savings 
resulting from more targeted investment 
and some rephasing of works until  
later this year.

New capital investment is also lower this 
quarter. Last year saw major construction 
activity on the Cycle Superhighways 
programme, in particular the first phases 
of the East-West and North-South routes.

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  35

P
age 178



Volume analysis year-to-date

 
Q1 

2017/18
Q1 

2016/17 Variance

Congestion Charge volumes (thousands) 3,622 3,950 -8%

Congestion Charge and enforcement income (£m) 53.6 59.6 -10%

Average Congestion Charge including enforcement income (£) 14.80 15.09 -2%

Other enforcement income (£m) 17.4 17.4 0%

Traffic volumes – all London (index) 96.0 95.9 0.2%

Cycling growth in CCZ (%)* 6.3% 5.3%

*Cycling data is based on calendar quarters rather than financial quarters ie Q1 is January to March and is 
the latest available data. It is presented as a percentage change from the previous year.

Cycling
The latest Central London Cycling metric 
shows that a daily average of 461,751 
kilometres, or an estimated 151,000 
journeys, was cycled in the congestion 
charging zone during Q1 2017. This is  
the highest level of cycling recorded 
during Q1 in central London since 
measurement began in 2014. 

Traffic flow
The pan-London traffic flow index 
stands at 96.04; this is 0.2 per cent  
above the same quarter last year. In 
Quarter 1 average traffic speeds for  
the 12 hours between 07:00 and 19:00 
across London were 16.8 mph, a 0.1 mph 
(0.3 per cent) increase year-on-year.

Traffic flow (volume) year-on-year change

Reliability
London wide: Serious and Severe 
disruption (hours)

Healthy Streets
Central London cycling growth  
(thousand kms)

 
TLRN resolution time-disruption 
hours per event

Customer
TLRN user satisfaction score

There were 713 hours of Serious and Severe disruption resulting from unplanned and planned events, 
spread across 346 separate incidents. Planned disruption, at 176 hours, was down 62 compared to 
the same quarter last year. The decrease was largely due to a reduction in Highway Authority works. 
Unplanned disruption was also down on last year due to fewer breakdowns and hazards.

Year-on-year there is a 6.3 per cent increase in 
cycling. Alongside overall increases in cycling 
within central London, more cyclists are continuing 
to cycle during the winter months, indicating an 
increase in ‘all-year round’ cycling. Overall levels 
of cycling are highest during the summer months.

Overall satisfaction is at the highest level for 
two years. Satisfaction has improved across 
the whole journey experience (except for road 
surfaces and air quality), and particularly around 
speed and congestion.

135164

564

238

630

176 176

537

741

658

Q1 2016/17

1,000

600

200

400

0
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17* Q1 2017/18

800
2.0

1.81.9 1.9
1.7

Q1 2016/17

2.5

1.5

0.5

1.0

0
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

2.0

Compares traffic flow volume for the year-to-date 
with the corresponding quarters in the previous year.

NB: The above data is based on calendar 
quarters and is the latest available data.0.1%▲

Q1 
2015/16

1.5%▼
Q1 
2016/17

0.2%▲
Q1 
2017/18

▀ Planned ▀ Unplanned

557
525

434
486 462

Q1 2016

600

400

100

200

300

0
Q2 2016 Q3 2016 Q4 2016 Q1 2017

500

70
71

69

72

Q1 2016/17

75

71

67

69

65
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17** Q1 2017/18

73

** No survey was conducted in Q4 2016/17.

* Quarter 4 is longer than Quarters 1 to 3 (16 weeks vs 12 weeks)

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  3736 Divisional review | Roads

P
age 179



Other operations
London Dial-a-Ride, London River Services (LRS), 
Taxi & Private Hire (TPH), Santander Cycles, 
Victoria Coach Station (VCS) and others

Financial overview
As well as the operations named above, we include the costs of the Crossrail 2 project 
team and the Planning team, together with certain group items in this category.

Other 
(£m)

Q1 
2017/18

Q1 
2016/17 Variance

Fares income 12 8 50%

Other operating income 25 24 4%

Total operating income 37 32 16%

Direct operating cost (43) (40) 8%

Indirect operating cost (4) (3) 33%

Net operating deficit (10) (11) -9%

Depreciation and amortisation (24) (23) 4%

Net cost of operations before financing (34) (34) 0%

Capital renewals (13) (8) 63%

New capital investment (16) (12) 33%

Total capital expenditure (29) (20) 45%

Overall performance of other operations 
has remained stable with fares income 
increasing slightly due to greater Oyster 
write-off and deposit income.

Spend on capital renewals is higher 
this quarter primarily as a result of 
the increase in development and 
implementation works required prior  
to the cycle hire transition project  
going live in August 2017. 

Capital investment has increased due  
to the delivery of the Emission Surcharge 
project which goes live in October 2017. 
This project supports the enforcement 
of a charging zone in Central London for 
vehicles with non-compliant emissions, 
with the aim of improving air quality.

38 Divisional review | Other operations

P
age 180



Volume analysis

 
Q1 

2017/18
Q1  

2016/17 Variance

Santander Cycles

Number of hires (millions) 2.8 2.6 9%

Average income per hire (£) 1.29 1.15 12%

Operating cost per hire* (£) (1.43) (1.55) -8%

Total cost per hire before financing* (£) (2.23) (2.36) -6%
       
Victoria Coach Station

Number of coach departures (thousands) 56.2 57.2 -2%

Average income per departure (£) 35.99 38.05 -5%

Operating cost per departure (£) (35.89) (32.99) 9%

Total cost per departure before financing (£) (36.97) (33.93) 9%
       
London River Services

Number of passenger journeys (millions) 3.0 2.7 10%

Average income per journey (£) 0.21 0.30 -30%

Operating cost per journey (£) (0.97) (1.09) -11%

Total cost per journey before financing (£) (1.21) (1.34) -10%
       
London Dial-a-Ride

Number of passenger journeys (thousands) 251.0 287.8 -13%

Total cost per trip before financing (£) (33.29) (31.62) 5%
       
Taxi & Private Hire

Number of private hire vehicle drivers 116,775 106,351 10%

Taxi drivers 24,275 24,746 -2%

Total income (£m) 5.94 6.21 -4%

Total costs (£m) (8.77) (6.44) 36%

* Costs of Santander Cycles are shown net of sponsorship income

Reliability 
Dial-a-Ride schedule services operated (%)

 
Cycle hire docking station availability (%)

The fall this quarter is partly attributable to the 
close monitoring of ad-hoc taxi usage in order 
to control expenditure and capacity constraints. 
TfL is also undertaking thorough analysis of 
passenger demand patterns, and is changing 
driver attendant shift rotas and depot locations 
to enhance scheduling efficiency.

The number of injuries this quarter is the lowest 
reported in two years. The injuries in the quarter 
resulted from four slips/trips/falls and a road 
traffic collision with a cycle hire user.

Quarter 1 saw hire numbers increase to record 
numbers as the popularity of the scheme 
increases. The ability to return a bike remains 
broadly consistent with the previous quarter  
and bike availability remains good.

Only a survey for Dial-a-Ride was conducted this 
quarter, which returned a score of 92. Helpfulness 
of the driver, punctuality and smoothness of  
ride all improved. The proportion of users  
whose wheelchair and/or seatbelt were secured 
remains high.

Safety
Customer injuries* (Dial-a-Ride,  
Santander Cycles, VCS and LRS)

Customer
Customer satisfaction

Q1 2016/17

98

93

88

83

78
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

▀ Availability to return a bike

▀ Availability to hire a bike

▀ DaR ▀ VCS ▀ LRS ▀ Cycle Hire* Customers taken to hospital during the quarter

89.188.988.6

90.4

87.1

Q1 2016/17

92

88

82

86

84

80
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

90
96.8

93.6

96.6

91.3

97.0

93.2

96.6
94.7

96.5

92.4

Q1 2016/17

100

90

85

80
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

95

7

10

8 8

5

Q1 2016/17

12

8

2

6

4

0
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17 Q1 2017/18

10

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  4140 Divisional review | Other operations

P
age 181



Commercial Development
Media, telecoms, property development and 
commercial property

Financial summary
Operating income is above last year  
reflecting the impact of a new media  
contract on the Underground.

Commercial Development 
(£m)

Q1 
2017/18

Q1 
2016/17 Variance

Other operating income 54 46 17%

Direct operating cost (7) (9) -22%

Net operating surplus 47 37 27%

New capital investment (5) (2) 150%

Capital receipts 1 1 0%

Net capital account (4) (1) 300%

Commercial Development’s role is to keep 
London moving, working and growing 
by making the best use of our assets to 
generate income and housing to support 
the delivery of the Mayor’s priorities.

We have an ambitious programme to 
drive both recurring revenues and capital 
receipts from property development. We 
are one of London’s biggest landowners 
and are developing more than 300 acres 
of land to provide thousands of homes, 
with a target for 50 per cent of them to 
be genuinely affordable. We also have 
hundreds of small and medium size 
enterprise tenants who provide the goods 
and services Londoners want in the places 
they need them right across the Capital.

We are currently making significant 
progress in bringing forward our 
development pipeline. During 2016/17 

we brought to market five sites which 
together will deliver 1,000 homes, half 
of which will be affordable. In 2017/18 
we plan to bring to market property 
development schemes which together 
will deliver 3,000 homes.

Within our commercial media portfolio 
we manage the most valuable outdoor 
advertising contract in the world and have 
more than 16,000 campaigns a year on the 
network. We are also looking to generate 
more income from telecommunications, 
utilising our unique infrastructure.

As our programme grows we are 
making a significant capital investment 
in opportunities to generate new 
income streams including through our 
advertising estate, plus our retail and 
industrial property.

34%
share of TfL’s total other 
operating income in Q1.

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  43

P
age 182



Media and telecoms income (£m)
Quarterly

Activity in the quarter

Property development
In Quarter 1 2017/18 we put our 
Northwood Town site out for bids  
from our Property Partnerships 
Framework as we work towards a full 
year target of taking sites to market.

Triangle London Developments LLP (a 
joint venture between U+I Group PLC 
and Notting Hill Housing Group) has 
been selected as the preferred bidder 
to develop Landmark Court, close to 
Borough Market. The development will 
create a minimum of 79 new homes, 
at least 35 per cent of which will be 
affordable, as well as 134,500 sq ft of 
new commercial, retail and work space.

Within our joint venture partnership at 
Earls Court, Keltbray, the demolition 
contractor, reached a major milestone 
in June by removing the largest of the 
portal beams which span the District 
line and which used to support the Earls 
Court Exhibition Centre. The removal of 
the beam was the largest single crane 
lift ever carried out in the UK with the 
beam weighing more than 1,500 tonnes.

Property income (£m)
Quarterly

* Quarter 4 is longer than Quarters 1 to 3 (16 weeks vs 12 weeks)

The bulk of the Media and Telecoms 
income is derived from Media sources, 
with Media income in Q1 2017/18 making 
up nearly £31m of the £32m earned.

In Q3 2016/17 our media contract changed 
from one based on a guaranteed level 
of income to a revenue sharing based 
arrangement with our media partner. 
The new partnership has been branded 
"Hello London". Higher revenues in the 
second half of 2016/17 primarily reflected 
one-off receipts arising from the 
cancellation of the old contract.

Lower revenues in Q1 2017/18 reflect 
the fact that Quarter 1 is shorter 
than Quarter 4 (12 weeks vs 16 weeks). 
Underlying performance has been flat  
in a challenging market.

Property rental income increased 
steadily over 2016/17 as new lettings  
were created and turnover rents  
were collected.

After adjusting for the fact that Q4 2016/17 
was 16 weeks versus 12 weeks for Q1 2017/18, 
underlying performance from property 
management in Quarter 1 was slightly 
improved over the previous quarter.

New lettings
During the quarter we completed  
on 14 retail lettings with a combined 
gross rental value of £627,500 per 
annum, and 8 industrial lettings with  
a combined gross rental value of 
£192,540 per annum. These included 
new retail units at Canning Town, 
Hammersmith and Whitechapel stations 
which have improved the customer 
offer, enhancing station ambience  
and providing income growth.

Media activity
Within Media, TSBA was appointed 
as our brand licensing partner in a 
new five-year licensing contract. Our 
internationally renowned brand and 
symbols - such as the roundel - will  
be available on the global licensing 
market and we will look to utilise our 
brand to generate funds significantly 
greater than the current £400k per 
annum we receive from our existing 
range of licensed products.

Building on our programme of large 
roadside digital advertising screens, 
we started the installation of two new 
digital advertising screens at the Sun 
in the Sands underpass on the A102 in 
Greenwich on 8 May 2017. The screens 
are part of our contract with Outdoor 
Plus which will generate approximately 
£16m of income over 10 years to reinvest 
in the transport network.

42

2626

43

32

Q1 2016/17

45

35

25

5

15

20

10

0
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17* Q1 2017/18

30

40

24

2020

26

23

Q1 2016/17

30

25

5

15

20

10

0
Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17* Q1 2017/18

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  4544 Divisional review | Commercial Development

P
age 183



Capital investment 
programme

New capital investment 
(£m)

Q1 YTD 
2017/18

Q1 YTD 
2016/17 Variance

Crossrail 338 400 -16%

Upgrade of Circle, District, Hammersmith & City lines 68 50 36%

Rail enhancements 54 42 29%

Northern line extension 43 34 26%

Roads 22 31 -29%

Station upgrades 19 38 -50%

Other LU, including signalling and transformation 15 14 7%

Other capital investment 29 30 -3%

Total new capital investment 588 639 -8%

The first of the new Elizabeth line trains 
entered passenger service on the TfL 
Rail route between Liverpool Street and 
Shenfield. The construction of stations 
is progressing well across the route. 
Tunnels, shafts and portals are being 
fitted out with cables, ventilation fans 
and all the communication and signalling 
systems. Escalators and lift installation 
continue and platform screen door 
installation has started.

On major station upgrades:

• Charing Cross station reopened 
following the modernisation of the 
Northern line ticket hall

LU track renewal works were completed 
south of Harrow on the Hill which will 
deliver journey time benefits on the 
Metropolitan line. To improve reliability, 
LU completed ballasted track renewal 
between Earl’s Court and Gloucester 
Road and renewed points at Wimbledon 
in the first phase of works to renew 
assets in the area.

To reduce temperatures in tunnels on 
the Jubilee line between Baker Street 
and Green Park, we continue major  
tunnel ventilation system upgrades. 
These works will take approximately  
one year.

• At Victoria station new pedestrian 
tunnels opened, reducing interchange 
times and providing a more direct 
route for customers

• Work started to begin the foundations 
for the new Cannon Street ticket hall 
at Bank station

Both tunnel boring machines are now 
travelling towards Kennington on the 
Northern Line Extension

Construction of the two new 
replacement Woolwich Ferry vessels has 
started. The new vessels are scheduled 
to enter service in winter 2018/19.

Works have been completed at Lancaster 
Gate station, improving the station 
appearance and installing new, more 
reliable lifts. The station reopened on  
26 June, eight weeks ahead of schedule. 

Escalator refurbishments were 
completed at North Greenwich  
and Chancery Lane. 

This quarter we resurfaced more than 
27,000 square metres of carriageway  
at various locations and replaced almost 
2,500 square metres of footway on the  
A1 Holloway Road.

Capital renewals 
(£m)

Q1 YTD 
2017/18

Q1 YTD 
2016/17 Variance

Track renewals 32 52 -38%

LU renewals 32 55 -42%

Roads 23 29 -21%

Station upgrades 14 14 0%

Lift & escalator renewals 11 11 0%

Rail infrastructure 6 14 -57%

Other capital renewals 16 11 45%

Total capital renewals 134 186 -28%

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  4746 Capital investment programme

P
age 184



Appendices

1. TfL Group balance sheet

Balance sheet 
(£m)

24 June 
2017

31 March 
2017 Variance

Intangible assets 125 140 (15)

Property, plant and equipment 37,338 36,839 499 

Investment properties 558 558 - 

Investment in associate entities 369 368 1 

Long term derivatives 15 18 (3)

Long term debtors 29 30 (1)

Non current assets 38,434 37,953 481 

Stocks 73 72 1 

Short term debtors 1,201 1,822 (621)

Short term derivatives 8 12 (4)

Assets held for sale 15 15 - 

Cash and short term investments 2,433 1,961 472 

Current assets 3,730 3,882 (152)

Short term creditors (2,130) (2,146) 16 

Short term derivatives (20) (4) (16)

Short term borrowings (1,121) (1,106) (15)

Short term lease liabilities (64) (77) 13 

Short term provisions (176) (194) 18 

Current liabilities (3,511) (3,527) 16 

Long term creditors (61) (56) (5)

Long term borrowings (8,825) (8,690) (135)

Long term lease liabilities (480) (488) 8 

Long term derivatives (73) (79) 6 

Other provisions (77) (44) (33)

Pension provision (5,362) (5,364) 2 

Long term liabilities (14,878) (14,721) (157)

Total net assets 23,775 23,587 188 

Capital and reserves      

Usable reserves 2,079 1,861 218 

Unusable reserves 21,696 21,726 (30)

Total capital employed 23,775 23,587 188 

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  49

P
age 185



2. Headcount
Full Time Equivalents (FTEs) including Non-Permanent Labour (NPL)

31 March 2017 
Actual

YTD Net 
(leavers)/joiners

End of Q1 
Actual

Underground 20,121 (670) 19,451

Rail 465 (37) 428

Buses 548 1 549

Roads 2,098 (161) 1,937

Other operations 1,370 29 1,399

Professional services* 3,606 501 4,107

Commercial Development 179 5 184

Crossrail 803 (41) 762

Total 29,189 (373) 28,816

Headcount levels are down by 373 this 
year, a result of continued recruitment 
controls – including reduced reliance 
on non-permanent labour - and the 
transformation programme. 

LU headcount has reduced by 670 since 
the end of last year. This is partly due 
to over 500 staff transferring from local 
commercial and finance areas to central 
professional services. In addition non-
permanent labour numbers are down 
following the introduction of new IR35 
obligations on government contractors

Headcount in other operations shows 
a modest increase, a result of the 
recruitment of Taxi & Private Hire 
compliance officers. The compliance 
posts will be funded from future 
increases in licence fees and are 
therefore cost neutral. 

* Professional Services comprises functions 
within TfL including Legal, Finance, Human 
Resources, Ticketing, Procurement and Customers, 
Communications & Technology where services are 
provided on a shared basis across all TfL divisions.

Non Permanent Labour (NPL)
We have greatly reduced our reliance on 
temporary workers over the course of the 
year and continue to do so. In response to 
the changes to off-payroll working in the 
public sector, confirmed in the Finance 
Bill in March 2017, some of our workers 
have changed the way they operate. 

We do not employ anyone directly on 
a personal service company basis, and 

NPL by length of service

Length of service
31 March 2017 

Actual
YTD net 

(leavers)/joiners
End of Q1 

Actual

0-6 months 356 46 402

6-12 months 191 6 197

1-2 years 563 (197) 366

2-3 years 248 (14) 234

3-5 years 238 (32) 206

5+ years 146 (34) 112

Total 1,742 (225) 1,517

There remains a large number of non-permanent contractors who have been working at 
TfL for more than two years. Many of these are working on large construction projects, but 
we continue to seek to reduce reliance on these resources to the extent that is possible.

Reduction since December 2015

Date
Number 

of NPL
Weekly 
Cost (£)

Number 
of NPL

Weekly 
saving (£)

15 December 2015 3,092 5,249,002   

25 June 2016 2,785 4,670,372 (307) 578,631

10 December 2016 2,256 3,628,689 (836) 1,620,313

31 March 2017 1,742 2,544,009 (1,350) 2,704,993

24 June 2017 1,517 2,181,215 (1,575) 3,067,787

The above table shows the cost reduction made from actions taken to reduce NPL 
costs. The weekly cost assumes seven hours a day and five days a week worked.

our use of temporary workers is kept to 
a minimum. We still need to make use 
of some specialist temporary workers in 
highly competitive, scarce skills fields. 
These resources recruited through 
specialist agencies, are essential to 
ensure that we have qualified people 
with the right skills to deliver our multi-
billion pound investment programme. 

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  5150 Appendices

P
age 186



Glossary

Measure Unit Description

Calls answered % The percentage of customer calls that are not 
answered. The target is to keep this below 15  
per cent.

Capital renewals Capital renewals are required to keep our capital 
assets – stations, track, buses, roads, trains – in a 
good state of repair. We need to maintain a level 
of capital renewals for business as usual. Our 
capital renewals programme replaces current 
assets with newer, more reliable ones, providing 
a better service to the customer and reducing 
maintenance costs.

Correspondence service 
level agreement

% The percentage of correspondence we close within 
agreed response rates from the date it is received 
from the customer. 

Agreed response rates differ between functions – 
three working days for fast resolution teams, five 
working days for the refunds team and 10 working 
days for the investigations teams. The target is 80 
per cent.

Customer satisfaction Score One of our most important performance 
measures is customer satisfaction; this helps 
us understand what the people who use our 
services really think.

An independent research company interviews 
around 10,000 customers every year, as they 
complete their trip. They are asked to make an 
‘overall evaluation’ of their journey experience, 
by giving a score out of 10. We take the average of 
everybody’s scores and multiply it by 10, to give a 
final result out of 100.

Measure Unit Description

London Buses - bus validation 
overall availability

% The percentage availability of readers (for 
validation 'touching in') on London Buses.

London Buses: 
excess wait time (EWT)

Minutes Excess wait time (EWT) represents the amount of 
time that a passenger has had to wait in excess of 
the time that they should expect to wait if buses 
ran as scheduled. 

EWT is the key measure of reliability of high-
frequency bus services as experienced by 
passengers and is also used to calculate operator 
performance bonuses or penalties.

London Overground and TfL Rail: 
public performance measure (PPM)

% The public performance measure (PPM) shows 
the percentage of trains which arrive at their 
destination on time.

The PPM combines figures for punctuality and 
reliability into a single performance measure. 
It is the rail industry standard measurement of 
performance.

PPM measures the performance of individual 
trains advertised as passenger services against 
their planned timetable as agreed between the 
operator and Network Rail at 22:00 the night 
before. PPM is therefore the percentage of  
trains ‘on time’ compared with the total number  
of trains planned. 

In London and the South East, a train is defined as 
on time if it arrives at the destination within five 
minutes (four minutes, 59 seconds or less) of the 
planned arrival time.

Where a train fails to run its entire planned route, 
(not calling at all timetabled stations), it will count 
as a PPM failure.

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  5352 Glossary

P
age 187



Measure Unit Description

London Underground  
and London Rail RIDDOR 
reportable customer injuries

Major injuries The number of serious injuries to customers, 
employees and contractors using or working on 
London Underground and London Rail.

A major injury is one classified as ‘major’ 
under schedule 1 of RIDDOR (Reporting of 
Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences 
Regulations). Injuries arising from criminal acts, 
alleged suicide attempts, and medical conditions 
are excluded.

London Underground: 
lost customer hours (LCH)

Hours The total extra journey time, measured in hours, 
experienced by Underground customers as a result 
of all service disruptions with durations of two 
minutes or more. A delay at a busy location or 
during peak hours results in more ‘lost customer 
hours’ because more customers are affected.

For example, an incident at Oxford Circus during 
a Monday to Friday peak results in a much higher 
number of lost customer hours than an incident of 
the same length in Zone 6 on a Sunday morning.

As we review incidents, we may need to change 
LCH figures retrospectively.

Measure Unit Description

London Underground: 
excess journey time (EJT)

Perceived 
minutes

Journey time is a way of measuring London 
Underground’s service performance. We break 
down journeys into stages and give each one:

• A scheduled length of time, so we can say how 
long a given journey should take if everything 
goes as planned

• A value of time (VOT) based on how customers 
feel about that bit of the journey, for example 
going up an escalator has a VOT of 1.5, whereas 
walking up stairs has a VOT of four, because it 
makes the perceived journey time longer

These are the stages of a journey:

• Time from station entrance to platform
• Ticket queuing and purchase time
• Platform wait time
• On-train time
• Platform to platform interchange
• Time from platform to station exit

In each period, actual journey times are measured 
and then compared with the schedule. The 
difference between the two is the measure 
of lateness – referred to as excess journey 
time (EJT). EJT is therefore a measure of how 
efficiently LU is providing its scheduled or 'stated' 
service: the more reliable the service the lower 
the EJT. The calculation includes the impact of 
planned closures.

London Underground –  
ticketing system  
overall availability

% The percentage availability of revenue collection 
equipment on London Underground stations, 
London Overground stations (where gated) and  
TfL operated Visitor Centres.

Mystery Shopper quality 
assessment scores

% The percentage quality score our agents receive 
for their customer service. This combines scores 
from correspondence and telephony. The target  
is 85 per cent.

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  5554 Glossary

P
age 188



Measure Unit Description

New capital investment £ New capital investment provides an entirely new 
service, or provides a significant enhancement of 
existing services. This investment helps grow the 
business, providing more volume and capacity.

Passenger journeys Number A single journey by an individual (adult or child) on 
a particular mode of transport run by TfL.

Recorded crime rate Per million 
passenger 
journeys

The number of recorded (or notifiable) crimes  
per million passenger journeys on the  
appropriate network.

Scheduled services operated % The number of services that TfL actually 
operated, compared with the scheduled plan – 
comparing peak and off-peak times. Peak times 
are 07.00 – 10.00 and 16.00 – 19.00 Monday – Friday. 
This helps us check whether the service we 
operate at the busiest times of day is as good as 
during quieter periods.

TLRN: journey time  
reliability (morning peak)

% The key measure for monitoring traffic flow is 
journey time reliability (JTR). It is defined as the 
percentage of journeys completed within an 
allowable excess of five minutes for a standard 
30-minute journey during the morning peak.

TLRN user satisfaction score Score A score out of 100 of how satisfied customers are 
with their journey on the TLRN in the past month. 
Each customer rates their journey on a scale of 0-10, 
which is then multiplied by 10 to give a score out of 
100. This includes journeys by car, walking between 
transport modes, cycling, bus, powered two-
wheeler (P2W), and taxi and private hire vehicles. 

TLRN CSS is conducted online, it is estimated if it 
were conducted face-to-face (like other TfL CSSs) 
the score would be higher by between five and  
10 points.

From 2010 to Q4 2015 scores had been  
artificially inflated, as a follow-up question was 
used inappropriately. From Q1 2016 we removed 
this question.

Measure Unit Description

TLRN: serious and  
severe disruption

Hours The KPI measures the numbers of hours of 
serious and severe disruption on the Transport 
for London Road Network (TLRN) as a result of 
planned and unplanned interventions.

 Transport for London quarterly performance report  5756 Glossary

P
age 189



© Transport for London 
Windsor House 
42 – 50 Victoria Street 
London SW1H 0TL

September 2017

tfl.gov.uk PUB16_044

Page 190



Appendix 5 

Report title 

Financial Position as at the end of June 2017 

Meeting Date 

Resources Committee 15 September 2017 

Report by Document Number 

Director of Finance and Contractual Services 

Public 

Summary 
This report presents the financial position as at the end of June 2017 (quarter 1). It provides information on 
financial performance against revenue and capital budgets.  

Recommendation 
That the report be noted. 

Page 191



  

 

Introduction 

1. This report considers the financial position as at the end of June 2017, including a forecast of outturn 
at the financial year end.  

2. All departments review their actual income and expenditure on a regular basis, and provide an 
updated forecast of outturn and explanation of variances, against all their budgets, to the Finance 
Department. These returns then form the basis of reporting to the Corporate Management Board and 
from there on to the Resources Committee and the Greater London Authority on a quarterly basis. 

Background to 2017/18 Budget 

3. The 2017/18 budget was approved by the Authority at its meeting on 30 March 2017 (FEP 2708). 
The Authority’s net revenue budget is £390,708k, with a net payment of £4,062k into earmarked 
reserves, £12,342k funding from specific grants and savings of £7,665k. 

4. This report sets out a summary position on both the revenue and capital budgets, and then provides 
more detailed explanations of variances.  

Revenue 

5. The forecast outturn position for 2017/18 on the revenue budget is an underspend of £4,953k 
(1.3%). This forecast underspend position will continue to be monitored throughout the 2017/18 
financial year. In the meantime this report shows how the underspend could be used to supplement 
the Budget Flexibility Reserve and help to mitigate the budget deficit anticipated over the next four 
years. This would increase the existing Budget Flexibility reserve from £6.2m to £11.1m.  

6. It should also be noted that this forecast underspend position of £5.0m excludes the impact of any 
pay awards above budget in 2017/18. The National Joint Council Employer’s Side has made a pay 
offer to operational staff for a 2% rise to be paid from 1 July 2017. This offer was rejected by the FBU 
‘in its current form’ in July 2017. However discussions between the two sides are continuing. If a pay 
award were agreed at this level it would reduce the forecast underspend by £1.5m. 

7. The underspend of £4,953k is mainly  due to an underspend of £4,348k on operational staff budgets 
based on expected operational staff numbers given forecasts for recruitment and leavers. In addition 
there are underspends of £734k on computing budgets due to reduced infrastructure, server and 
hardware costs, £187k on hydrants maintenance due to a lower number of repairs than budgeted, 
£157k on the professional services budget due to service credits on the Control and Mobilising 
Services contract, £105k on medical & welfare budgets and £100k for clothing underspends at 
stations, as well as additional income of £254k from leasing space at Union Street. 

8. The above underspends are offset by overspends of £500k required to progress a backlog of works 
across the whole estate including repairs, refurbishment and minor improvements. This includes the 
replacement of water and heating boilers at some fire stations before the winter period, drill tower 
repairs, replacement of kitchen extract systems, refurbishment of camp out facilities and replacement 
of UPS batteries at Merton LOC. There is also £267k on insurance costs due to an increase in the cost 
of insurance premiums following changes to the discount rates within the personal injury markets, 
and a higher forecast cost of settling insurance claims, and additional expenditure on control staff of 
£230k due to overtime cover.   

9. It should be noted that this forecast does not include any additional expenditure resulting from the 
Commissioner’s review of resources following recent events (FEP2763). The current assumption is 
that these will be met from reserves. This will be kept under review as the year progresses. 

Page 192



  

 

10. The key variances are explained in more detail from paragraph 12 below. 

Capital 

11. The approved capital programme for 2017/18 has a budget of £29,146k. A review of the future 
capital programmed was carried out in light of the 2016/17 outturn, with a revised capital programme 
reported to Resources Committee in July (FEP 2750). The current forecast capital spend for 2017/18 
is £28,970k, which is £176k  less than the capital budget. 

12. The capital programme will be further reviewed as decisions are made on the Integrated Equipment 
and Logistics Project (as outlined in FEP 2757) and the additional resilience requirements (as outlined 
in FEP 2763). Further details on these items, and the change above to the capital programme are set 
out from paragraph 26.  

  Tables and Appendices to this report 

13. A summary of the financial position for the revenue budget is provided in Table 1. The latest position 
on reserves is set out in Table 2. Appendix 1 contains additional detail on the current and forecast 
financial position. Appendix 2 reports on the forecast outturn on the capital programme. Appendix  3 
discusses the risks to the revenue and capital position that have not been quantified. Appendix  4 
meets the requirement to disclose all budget virements within the quarter under financial regulation 9 
and Appendix 5 provides an analysis of outstanding debt relating to charges for Shut in Lift 
attendances. 
 

  

Page 193



  

 

Table 1. Summary Financial Position  

 

 
Reasons for the Revenue Position 

Staff 

14. The budget for operational staff is forecast to underspend by £4,348k. The 2017/18 Budget 
(FEP2708) included a one off saving in 2017/18 of £2,334k on operational staff based on expected 
staff numbers given recruitment and leaver forecasts at the time. These forecasts have now been 
updated and the expected number of vacancies has increased from 90 to176, with this increase 
mostly due to a reduction in the expected number of firefighter trainees and the number of 
transferees from other brigades. It is planned that the Resources Committee will receive a report at its 
September meeting on plans for the recruitment of further trainee firefighters in 2017/18 and 
2018/19. This will include an update on recent campaigns. 

15. Control staff budgets are forecast to overspend by £230k. Overtime levels remain high due to 
additional staff cover. 

16. It should also be noted that this forecast underspend position of £5.0m excludes the impact of any 
pay awards above budget in 2017/18. The National Joint Council Employer’s Side has made a pay 

  
Current 
Budget 

Current 
Spend 

Current 
Variance 

Revised 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
Outturn 
Variance 

  £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Operational staff 58,361 57,790 (571) 233,048 228,700 (4,348) 

Other staff 12,294 13,772 1,478 51,026 51,256 230 

Employee related 21,210 20,770 (440) 26,306 26,161 (145) 

Pensions 5,000 3,283 (1,717) 20,489 20,489 0 

Premises 17,500 17,349 (151) 36,778 37,255 477 

Transport 13,441 13,384 (57) 15,352 15,530 178 

Supplies and services 17,555 16,113 (1,442) 27,313 26,222 (1,092) 

Third party payments 504 153 (351) 2,414 2,414 0 

Capital financing costs 245 213 (32) 9,508 9,508 0 

Central contingency 
against inflation 

5 0 (5) 3,006 3,006 0 

Total revenue 
expenditure 

146,114 142,826 (3,288) 425,240 420,540 (4,700) 

             

Other income  (22,852) (22,133) 719 (34,532) (34,785) (254) 

Net revenue 
expenditure 

123,263 120,693 (2,569) 390,708 385,755 (4,953) 

              

Use of earmarked 
reserves 

0 0 0 4,062 4,062 0 

Financing 
Requirement 

123,263 120,693 (2,569) 394,770 389,816 (4,953) 

             

Financed by:             

Specific grants (9,912) (9,062) 850 (12,342) (12,342) 0 

GLA funding 0 0 0 (382,428) (382,428) 0 

             

Net Financial Position 113,351 111,632 (1,719) 0 (4,953) (4,953) 

Page 194



  

 

offer to operational staff for a 2% rise to be paid from 1 July 2017. This offer was rejected by the FBU 
‘in its current form’ in July 2017. However discussions between the two sides are continuing. If a pay 
award were agreed at this level it would reduce the forecast underspend by £1.5m. 

Employee Related 
 
17. Professional development budgets are forecast to underspend by £49k due to an underspend on the 

apprenticeship levy. Starting in April 2017, all organisations with a pay bill of over £1m were required 
to pay HMRC 0.5% of their payroll cost as a levy that can later be used to fund apprenticeship 
programmes. The payments made in 2017/18 are forecast to underspend against the budget due to 
the number of staff vacancies. There is also a forecast underspend on medical and welfare budgets of 
£105k due to a lower than expected number of asbestos medical appointments, medical appeals and 
a lower than forecast inflationary increase. 

Premises 
 
18. Premises budgets are forecast to overspend by £477k due to considerable pressure on the reactive 

small works and minor projects required to progress a backlog of works across the whole estate. This  
includes repairs, refurbishment and minor improvements all aimed at improving the overall condition 
of the estate. This includes the replacement of water and heating boilers at some fire stations before 
the winter period, drill tower repairs, replacement of kitchen extract systems, refurbishment of camp 
out facilities and replacement of UPS batteries at Merton LOC.    
 

Transport 
 
19. Transport budgets are forecast to overspend by £178k. This includes a forecast overspend on 

insurance budgets (£267k) following changes to the discount rates within personal injury markets and 
a higher forecast cost of insurance claims. There is currently an actuarial review into the appropriate 
level of excess, which will affect the premium. This is offset by a forecast underspend on the vehicle 
and equipment contract (£60k) based on a forecast abatement levels.  

Supplies and Services 

20. There is a forecast underspend of £1,092k on supplies and services budgets. This includes 
underspends on computing (£734k) including orders of £264k for the new hyper converged server 
infrastructure and £356k for support of server and desktop hardware that were budgeted for in 
2017/18 but expenditure was charged to 2016/17. It also includes a one off underspend of £121k 
due to transitional arrangements associated with the implementation of the new Wide Area Network.  
 

21. The variance on supplies and services is also due to a one off underspend on professional services 
(£157k) due to the impact of service credits attributable to the Control and Mobilising Services 
contract, on hydrants maintenance (£187k) based on lower repairs than budgeted and on clothing 
spend at stations (£100k) due to a lower replacement rate of new workwear and reduced spend 
because of current vacancies. This is offset by a forecast overspend on equipment, furniture and 
materials (£71k) related to floor moves, office desks conversions and other associated work at union 
street. Note the responsibility for delivering hydrants maintenance has now moved to the 
Procurement department, who are carrying out a review of the existing budget. 

Income 

22. There is a forecast over recovery of £254k on income. This is due to expected increased income from 
the GLA for additional space at Union Street. This is subject to additional building works being 

Page 195



  

 

completed by the end of July 2017 and will also be considered as part of the budget process for 
future years. 

2018/19 Budget Update 

23. The Mayor’s Budget Guidance for 2018/19 was published on 13 June 2017 and set out the overall 
funding the Mayor intends to provide LFEPA over the next four financial years. A report (FEP2733) 
setting out the resulting processes and timetable in order to deliver a balanced budget for LFEPA in 
2018/19 was presented to Authority in June 2017. 
 

24. A further Budget update report will be presented to Resources in September and Authority in 
October. That report will include an update to LFEPA’s medium term forecast and the resulting 
budget gap for the next four years up to 2021/22, based on the funding levels provided by the 
Mayor. This will take into account the revenue pressures highlighted in the Commissioner’s report on 
additional resourcing requirements as presented to the Resources Committee at its meeting in July 
(FEP2763). 

Position on Reserves 
 

25. The forecast position on reserves is set out in Table 2 below. Movements on the reserves applied in 
year together with the underspend for the year, leave a balance on the general reserve at the year 
end of £14,817k. This is £1,142k in excess of the stated minimum level of £13,675k, which is 3.5% 
of the net revenue expenditure budget. This  also includes the transfer of the forecast £5.0m 
underspend from the general reserve to the Budget Flexibility reserve. This funding will then help 
to mitigate the budget deficit anticipated over the next four years.   
 

  

Page 196



  

 

Table 2. LFEPA Reserves for the 2016/17 Financial Year 

£000s 
Opening 

Balance at 
01/04/17 

Underspend/ 
(Overspend) 
in 2017/18 

Use of 
Reserves in 

2017/18 

Transfers 
between 
Reserves 

Anticipated 
Balance at 
31/03/18 

Additional Resilience 
Requirements 

0   0 6,757 6,757 

Community Safety 
Investment Fund  

602   (602)   0 

Compensation 1,000   0   1,000 

Emergency Services 
Mobile Communication 
Programme 

356   (204)   151 

Firefighters' Pension 1,172   0   1,172 

Fire Safety and Youth 
Engagement 

338   0   338 

Hazardous Material 
Protection 

203   (159)   44 

Hydrants 462   0   462 

ICT Development Reserve 668   (368)   300 

London Resilience 1,281   0   1,281 

LSP2017 Implementation 5,000   (441)   4,559 

New Governance 
Arrangements 

100   0   100 

Pension Early Release 
Costs 

400   0   400 

Property PFI 1,912   0   1,912 

Recruitment/ Outreach 600   (325)   275 

Review of Property 
Services 

85   0 (85) 0 

Sustainability 235   0   235 

Vehicle & Equipment 
Reserve 

1,163   0   1,163 

Budget Flexibility 0   6,160 4,953 11,113 

General 21,489 4,953   (11,625) 14,817 

Total 37,065 4,953 4,062 0 46,080 

 
26. The reserves table above includes the establishment of an Additional Resilience reserve to meet 

forecast costs in 2017/18 arising from an initial assessment of the LFB resources requirement 
following recent events (FEP 2763). The reserve has been funded by a transfer from the general 
reserve of £6,757k, and work is underway to confirm the costs to be met from this reserve. 
 

27. Other drawings from earmarked reserves in 2017/18 include: 

• £602k for the Community Safety Investment Fund, 

• £441k for implementation of LSP2017, 

• £368k to fund ICT developments, 

• £325k to fund the recruitment and outreach team, 

• £204k to fund the Emergency Services Mobile Communication Programme, and 

• £159k from the hazmat reserve to fund new gas tight suits. 
 

 

Page 197



  

 

Capital 

28. The capital programme for 2017/18 was agreed by the Resources Committee in July 2017 (FEP2750) 
with a budget of £29,146k. The current forecast capital spend for 2017/18 is £28,970, which is £176k  
less than the capital budget. The overall reduction in spend of £176k relates to the following items; 

Budget re-allocation    
LFB Training Centre £176k to 2018/19m  

 
New Budget Requirements in future years 
LFB Training Centre £4.4m  

  

29. LFB Training Centre at Croydon – cost estimates have now been updated for this project, which has 
resulted in an additional budget requirement of £4.4m. The sum includes the revised estimate from 
the Real Fire Training Specialist for the provision of the fire house. A report was presented to the 
Resources Committee in July (FEP2759), and additional funding approved. In addition, the budget 
has now been re-phased in line with the development timetable, with £176k transferred from 
2017/18 to 2018/19. 
 

30.  Integrated Equipment and Logistics Project (PEG/BDC Development) –  A report was presented to 
the Resources Committee in July (FEP2757) on various options available, with approval provided to 
undertake the proposed development at a leasehold site with a capital cost not exceeding £3,795k, 
and with the annual rental and rates liability not exceeding £660k per annum. The capital budget will 
be amended once the final site/development has been agreed and the associated capital costs are 
known.       

 
31. The Commissioner’s report to the Resources Committee in July (FEP2763) on additional resourcing 

requirements included a number of capital items. The funding for these will be added to the capital 
programme during the year as the detailed specifications are drawn up.  

 
32. In the meantime current changes to the capital programme are set out below, and full details of the 

capital programme are at Appendix 2. 

Budget Year 2017-18 

£k 

2018-19 

£k 

2019-20 

£k 

2020-21 

£k 

Notes 

July 17 Resources Com (FEP2750) 29,146 66,273 31,549 26,443  

New Training Centre (FEP2759) (176) (2,134) 6,506 205 Additional £4.4m budget reqmt 

Capital Programme Qtr 1 2017 28,970 64,139 38,055 26,648  

 

  

Page 198



  

 

CAPITAL BUDGET 

2017/18 

Capital 

Budget 

£k 

2018/19 

Capital 

Budget 

£k 

2019/20 

Capital 

Budget 

£k 

2020/21 

Capital 

Budget 

£k 

Estates Projects 9,440 12,557 4,347 5,700 

ICT Projects 3,770 2,210 0 2,000 

Fleet 12,285 20,448 15,445 8,493 

New Projects 10,161 28,924 18,263 10,455 

Projected Underspend (6,686) 0 0 0 

Disposal Costs 0 0 0 0 

PFI Projects 0 0 0 0 

TOTAL 28,970 64,139 38,055 26,648 

 

Debtors 

33. Charging for Shut in Lift attendances started in January 2010, following which it became apparent 
that there were difficulties with debt collection for a number of those attendances. As a result 
reporting on outstanding debt, as part of the quarterly financial position reports, began in June 2014. 

34. An analysis of debtors relating to Shut in Lift is provided in Appendix 5. This includes a chart that 
shows the decrease in Shut in Lift debts over the past years and since inception of shut in lift charges. 
The total number of shut in lift debts has been falling gradually over the last two years, after peaking 
in 2015, with the overall balance reduced from £300k at the end of September 2015 to £160k at the 
end of April 2017. 

35. The continued joint effort by Authority staff has resulted in the positive progress made to date on 
shut in lift debts recovery. As a result it is proposed that reporting on this debt will no longer form 
part of the quarterly financial position reports and that it will continue to be managed as part of 
LFEPA’s usual debt management procedures. 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services comments  
36. The Head of Legal and Democratic Services has reviewed this report and has no comments. 

Director of Finance and Contractual Services comments 
37. This report is presented by the Director of Finance and Contractual Services and there are no further 

comments.  

Sustainable Development Implications 
38. There are no direct sustainable development implications. 

Staff Side Consultations Undertaken 
39. No staff-side consultations have been undertaken on this report. 

Equalities Implications 
40. This report has no equality implications.  

Page 199



  

 

 

List of Appendices to this report: 
1. Financial Position, 2017/18 Forecast Outturn 
2. Capital Programme 2017/18 
3. Risks to the Revenue and Capital Position 
4. Financial Regulation 9: Budget Virements 
5. Outstanding LIFT debtors 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

List of background documents 

1. FEP2708 2017/18 Budget 
2. FEP2750 Review of Financial Outturn for 2016/17  
 

Proper officer Director of Finance and Contractual Services 

Contact officer 
Telephone 
Email 

Adrian Bloomfield 
020 8555 1200 x31351 
Adrian.Bloomfield@london-fire.gov.uk 

Page 200

mailto:Adrian.Bloomfield@london-fire.gov.uk


Financial Position, 2017/18 Forecast Outturn  Appendix 1 

 

 

  
Current 
Budget  

Current 
Spend 

Current Variance Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget Outturn Outturn Variance 

  £ £ £ % £ £ £ £ % 

Operational Firefighters 58,310,468 57,515,445 (795,023) (1.4%) 233,410,405 231,811,884 227,463,957 (4,347,927) (1.9%) 

Firefighter Trainees 50,246 274,456 224,210 446.2% 1,235,886 1,235,884 1,235,884 0 0.0% 

Total Operational Staff 58,360,714 57,789,901 (570,813) (1.0%) 234,646,291 233,047,768 228,699,841 (4,347,927) (1.9%) 

                    

FRS Staff 10,995,778 12,422,512 1,426,734 13.0% 45,520,950 45,776,533 45,776,533 0 0.0% 

Control Staff 1,297,978 1,348,991 51,013 3.9% 5,442,449 5,249,312 5,479,099 229,787 4.4% 

Total Other Staff 12,293,756 13,771,503 1,477,747 12.0% 50,963,400 51,025,845 51,255,632 229,787 0.5% 

                    

Other Pensions Payment 165,000 167,411 2,411 1.5% 990,000 990,000 990,000 0 0.0% 

Severance 0 (2,173) (2,173) 0.0% 0 33,681 47,246 13,565 40.3% 

Professional Development 20,368,804 20,031,988 (336,817) (1.7%) 20,911,224 22,019,835 21,970,596 (49,239) (0.2%) 

Recruitment 52,790 47,159 (5,631) (10.7%) 162,100 212,100 207,713 (4,387) (2.1%) 

Employee Related Insurance 0 48,253 48,253 0.0% 190,000 190,000 190,000 0 0.0% 

Compensation 138,953 60,525 (78,429) (56.4%) 555,813 555,813 555,813 0 0.0% 

Medical & Welfare Expense  484,514 450,982 (33,532) (6.9%) 2,782,076 2,782,076 2,676,900 (105,176) (3.8%) 

Capitalised Staff Charges 0 (34,242) (34,242) 0.0% (245,400) (477,610) (477,610) 0 0.0% 

Total Employee Related 21,210,062 20,769,902 (440,160) (2.1%) 25,345,813 26,305,895 26,160,658 (145,237) (0.6%) 

                    

Firefighter Pension Scheme 4,999,750 3,282,775 (1,716,975) (34.3%) 20,489,000 20,489,000 20,489,000 0 0.0% 

                    

Building Maintenance 3,492,602 3,473,779 (18,822) (0.5%) 7,241,163 6,788,188 7,263,188 475,000 7.0% 

Grounds Maintenance 19,144 9,865 (9,279) (48.5%) 118,382 146,396 146,396 0 0.0% 

Premises Security 356,200 382,210 26,010 7.3% 397,752 425,752 425,752 0 0.0% 

Energy Costs 249,096 246,232 (2,864) (1.1%) 2,031,205 2,031,205 2,031,205 0 0.0% 

Rents 3,566,068 3,617,165 51,097 1.4% 7,801,412 7,808,252 7,810,256 2,004 0.0% 

Property PFI Contract 5,523,164 5,541,577 18,414 0.3% 5,545,202 5,545,202 5,545,202 0 0.0% 

Property Rates 2,093,836 1,887,977 (205,859) (9.8%) 9,291,368 9,291,368 9,291,368 0 0.0% 

P
age 201



Financial Position, 2017/18 Forecast Outturn  Appendix 1 

 

  
Current 
Budget  

Current 
Spend 

Current Variance Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget Outturn Outturn Variance 

Water & Sewerage Rates 36,159 36,485 326 0.9% 255,515 255,515 255,515 0 0.0% 

Fixtures & Fittings 28,962 35,424 6,462 22.3% 332,861 97,969 97,969 0 0.0% 

Cleaning and Domestic 
Supplies 

343,509 221,955 (121,554) (35.4%) 2,032,753 2,020,097 2,020,097 0 0.0% 

Premises Insurance 0 90,772 90,772 0.0% 372,000 372,000 372,000 0 0.0% 

Other Property Services 1,791,316 1,805,508 14,191 0.8% 1,526,726 1,996,140 1,996,140 0 0.0% 

Total Premises 17,500,053 17,348,948 (151,105) (0.9%) 36,946,338 36,778,083 37,255,087 477,004 1.3% 

                    

Running Costs 1,149,562 1,459,782 310,220 27.0% 2,092,597 1,651,897 1,919,098 267,201 16.2% 

Vehicle and Equipment 
Contract 

10,783,624 10,709,557 (74,068) (0.7%) 10,783,624 10,783,624 10,723,624 (60,000) (0.6%) 

Vehicle Passthroughs 605,465 269,525 (335,941) (55.5%) 645,172 605,465 605,465 0 0.0% 

Maintenance and Repairs 0 0 0 0.0% 905,000 0 0 0 0.0% 

Contract Hire & Operating 
Leases 

635,232 657,426 22,193 3.5% 1,189,900 1,228,300 1,194,822 (33,478) (2.7%) 

Travel 266,769 287,750 20,982 7.9% 1,122,627 1,082,445 1,087,145 4,700 0.4% 

Total Transport 13,440,652 13,384,039 (56,613) (0.4%) 16,738,920 15,351,731 15,530,154 178,423 1.2% 

                    

Hydrants 303,162 256,569 (46,593) (15.4%) 600,900 587,444 400,000 (187,444) (31.9%) 

Operational Equipment 429,082 583,863 154,781 36.1% 2,123,414 2,141,814 2,142,443 629 0.0% 

Smoke Alarms 210,000 241,051 31,051 14.8% 700,000 700,000 700,000 0 0.0% 

Equipment Furniture and 
Materials 

177,173 324,804 147,631 83.3% 534,188 619,055 689,930 70,875 11.4% 

Lost & NFWT Operational 
Equipment 

85,472 85,474 2 0.0% 107,387 107,387 107,387 0 0.0% 

Catering 96,226 98,015 1,789 1.9% 120,104 335,497 336,516 1,019 0.3% 

Clothing & Laundry 2,234,469 2,566,123 331,654 14.8% 2,790,337 2,760,835 2,661,228 (99,607) (3.6%) 

General Office Expenses 117,829 97,442 (20,387) (17.3%) 378,869 356,496 355,908 (588) (0.2%) 

Professional Services 7,712,967 7,837,581 124,615 1.6% 8,550,475 8,458,680 8,301,525 (157,156) (1.9%) 

Postal Services 55,162 56,626 1,463 2.7% 61,255 61,255 61,255 0 0.0% 

P
age 202



Financial Position, 2017/18 Forecast Outturn  Appendix 1 

 

  
Current 
Budget  

Current 
Spend 

Current Variance Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget Outturn Outturn Variance 

Telecommunications & Radio 3,376,496 938,267 (2,438,229) (72.2%) 3,567,294 3,745,177 3,762,792 17,615 0.5% 

Computing 2,449,783 2,735,544 285,761 11.7% 6,121,843 6,442,014 5,708,452 (733,562) (11.4%) 

Staff Reimbursements 79,522 89,179 9,656 12.1% 450,565 322,405 322,655 250 0.1% 

Grants and Subscriptions 188,099 94,375 (93,724) (49.8%) 225,724 234,113 231,475 (2,638) (1.1%) 

Other Insurance 0 56,305 56,305 0.0% 225,000 225,000 225,000 0 0.0% 

Advertising 24,638 39,297 14,660 59.5% 112,450 137,307 136,107 (1,200) (0.9%) 

Other Supplies and Services 14,744 12,297 (2,447) (16.6%) 212,476 78,976 78,976 0 0.0% 

Total Supplies and Services 17,554,824 16,112,813 (1,442,011) (8.2%) 26,882,280 27,313,455 26,221,649 (1,091,806) (4.0%) 

                    

Other Agencies 229,349 273,338 43,989 19.2% 315,700 917,396 917,396 0 0.0% 

Other Local Authorities 253,102 (137,981) (391,083) (154.5%) 1,325,102 1,407,602 1,407,602 0 0.0% 

Audit & Bank Charges 22,000 17,873 (4,127) (18.8%) 88,600 88,600 88,600 0 0.0% 

Total Third Party Payments 504,451 153,230 (351,221) (69.6%) 1,729,402 2,413,598 2,413,598 0 0.0% 

                    

Debt Repayment 0 0 0 0.0% 5,882,000 5,882,000 5,882,000 0 0.0% 

External Interest 245,135 213,083 (32,052) (13.1%) 3,626,000 3,626,000 3,626,000 0 0.0% 

Total Capital Financing Costs 245,135 213,083 (32,052) (13.1%) 9,508,000 9,508,000 9,508,000 0 0.0% 

                    

Central Contingency 4,807 0 (4,807) (100.0%) 2,198,900 3,006,413 3,006,413 0 0.0% 

                    

Total revenue expenditure 146,114,203 142,826,193 (3,288,010) (2.3%) 425,448,344 425,239,788 420,540,032 (4,699,756) (1.1%) 

                    

MFB Act Income (19,855,200) (19,561,137) 294,063 (1.5%) (25,595,000) (25,595,000) (25,595,000) 0 0.0% 

Customer and Client Receipts (2,996,458) (2,576,106) 420,352 (14.0%) (8,381,538) (8,341,762) (8,595,321) (253,559) 3.0% 

Interest Receivable 0 71 71 0.0% (595,000) (595,000) (595,000) 0 0.0% 

Bad Debts 0 4,291 4,291 0.0% 0 0 0 0 0.0% 

Total Other Income (22,851,658) (22,132,881) 718,777 (3.1%) (34,571,538) (34,531,762) (34,785,321) (253,559) 0.7% 

                    

Net revenue expenditure 123,262,545 120,693,312 (2,569,233) (2.1%) 390,876,806 390,708,026 385,754,711 (4,953,315) (1.3%) 

P
age 203



Financial Position, 2017/18 Forecast Outturn  Appendix 1 

 

  
Current 
Budget  

Current 
Spend 

Current Variance Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget Outturn Outturn Variance 

                    

Use of Earmarked Reserves 0 0 0 0.0% 3,748,957 4,061,572 4,061,572 0 0.0% 

                    

Financing Requirement 123,262,545 120,693,312 (2,569,233) (2.1%) 394,625,763 394,769,598 389,816,283 (4,953,315) (1.3%) 

                    

Financed by:                   

Specific grants (9,911,863) (9,061,713) 850,150 (8.6%) (12,225,763) (12,341,662) (12,341,662) 1 (0.0%) 

GLA funding 0 0 0 0.0% (382,400,000) (382,427,936) (382,427,936) 0 0.0% 

                    

Net Financial Position 113,350,682 111,631,599 (1,719,083) (1.5%) 0 0 (4,953,315) (4,953,315) 0.0% 

 
 
 

P
age 204



  

 

 

2017/18 CAPITAL PROGRAMME               APPENDIX 2 
 

APPENDIX 2 – CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

2017/18 

Budget 

Mar 2017 

FEP2709 

B/fwd 

from 

2016-17 

Outturn 

C/fwd to 

2018/19/

savings 

New 

Projects 

Revised 

2017-18 

Capital 

Budget 

July 2017  

2018/19 

Budget 

 

2019/20 

Budget 

 

2020/21 

Budget 

 

Prior 

Years 

Spend 

Projected 

project 

Spend 

Approved 

budget 

ICT Projects £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s  £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Upgrade Operating System 100 0 (2) 98  0 0 0 2,091 2,189 2,350 

Telephone System at Fire Stations 0 0 0 0  0 0 0 514 514 562 

Business Intelligent Solution 810 190 (100) 900  910 0 0 0 1,810  

Control & Mobilisation System  (CAMS) 488 (18) 0 470  0 0 0 9,002 9,473 10,650 

Mobile Data Terminals Replacement 400 (112) 0 288  0 0 0 1,972 2,250 2,250 

Personal Radio Replacements 200 0 (200) 0  1,300 0 0 0 1,300 Q4    15-16 

New WAN & ISP (FEP2313) 0 0 0 0  0 0 0 1,200 1,200 1,200 

Home Fire Safety Database 70 60 0 130  0 0 0 0 130 n/a 

Replacement of laptops (FEP2462) 80 51 0 131  0 0 0 69 200 450 

Public Services Network 707 0 0 707  0 0 0 0 707 Q4    15-16 

Additional SAN storage 0 0 0 0  0 0 0 67 67 85 

ICT – Accident (event) reporting solution 0 70 0 70  0 0 0 0 70 TBA 

Online Payment Facility 70 0 0 70  0 0 0 0 70 Q4    15-16 

New audio visual equip for Union Street 130 0 0 130  0 0 0 0 130 130 

ICT – Blade Farm/ Hyperconverged Server  0 300 0 300  0 0 0 0 300 TBA 

ICT – Virtual Desktop Technology 250 0 0 250  0 0 0 0 250 TBA 

New telephone system equipment 0 157 0 157  0 0 0 0 157 157 

New computer terminals 25 44 0 69  0 0 0 0 70 75 

Netscaller Replacement 0 0 0 0  0 400 0 0 400 TBA 

Core Network 6509 Replacement 0 0 0 0  0 0 1,900 0 1,900 TBA 

P
age 205



  

 

APPENDIX 2 – CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

2017/18 

Budget 

Mar 2017 

FEP2709 

B/fwd 

from 

2016-17 

Outturn 

C/fwd to 

2018/19/

savings 

New 

Projects 

Revised 

2017-18 

Capital 

Budget 

July 2017  

2018/19 

Budget 

 

2019/20 

Budget 

 

2020/21 

Budget 

 

Prior 

Years 

Spend 

Projected 

project 

Spend 

Approved 

budget 

Core Switch Modules 0 0 300 300  0 0 0 0 300 TBA 

Wireless LAN Controllers 0 0 198 198  0 0 0 0 198 TBA 

Network Access Switches 3650 Replacement 0 0 0 0  0 750 0 0 750 TBA 

Wireless Access Points 0 0 0 0  853 0 0 0 853 TBA 

Data Centre Switches 3750 Replacement  0 0 0 0  104 0 0 0 104 TBA 

Station Network Rewires  0 0 100 100  100 100 100 0 400 TBA 

New ISP 0 0 0 0  0 500 0 0 500 TBA 

New WAN 0 0 0 0  0 0 500 0 500 TBA 

Physical Server Environment  0 0 500 500  0 0 0 0 500 TBA 

VM Server Environment Hosts  0 0 0 0  0 500 0 0 500 TBA 

Network Storage  0 0 0 0  750 0 0 0 750 TBA 

Replacement of laptops  0 0 0 0  0 563 0 0 563 TBA 

New computer terminals  - Thin Client  0 0 0 0  0 0 1,150 0 1,150 TBA 

New audio visual equip for Stations  0 0 0 0  0 0 100 0 100 TBA 

New computer terminals  - Fat Client  0 0 0 0  0 100 0 0 100 TBA 

ICT Projects Overprogramming 0 0 (1,098) (1,098)  (1,807) (2,913) (1,750) 0 (9,568) TBA 

ICT PROJECTS 3,330 742 (302) 3,770  2,210 0 2,000 14,915 23,686  

ESTATE PROJECTS            

Fire Station Refurbishment (Middx FS) 1,000 17 (917) 100  1,667 0 0 n/a 1,667 n/a 

Fire Station Refurbishments (tba) 0 0 0 0  0 0 1,500 0 1,500 n/a 

Alteration works to Union St HQ  0 75 0 75  0 0 0 625 700 700 

Workplace Improvement Plan (WIP) Union 

Street 

 0 240 240      240 240 

P
age 206



  

 

APPENDIX 2 – CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

2017/18 

Budget 

Mar 2017 

FEP2709 

B/fwd 

from 

2016-17 

Outturn 

C/fwd to 

2018/19/

savings 

New 

Projects 

Revised 

2017-18 

Capital 

Budget 

July 2017  

2018/19 

Budget 

 

2019/20 

Budget 

 

2020/21 

Budget 

 

Prior 

Years 

Spend 

Projected 

project 

Spend 

Approved 

budget 

Plumstead Fire Station Redevelopment  2,500 0 0 2,500  3,350 147 0 0 n/a n/a 

Bromley FS works 169 45 0 214  0 0 0 552 766 890 

LFB Museum – Fitout 350 50 (400) 0  2,400 0 0 0 2,400 2,400 

Refurbishment of Edmonton Fire Station  940 0 (890) 50  940 0 0 0 990 Mar 2017 

PFI Projects – Installation of ICT hardware at 

Orpington temporary station and new stations 

0 0 0 0  0 0 0 232 n/a 507 

Heating at various stations 600 158 817 1,575  1,350 1,350 1,350 n/a n/a n/a 

Window replacement at various stations 300 0 (160) 140  400 400 400 n/a n/a n/a 

Rewiring of property at various fire stations 464 116 209 789  600 600 600 n/a n/a n/a 

Energy Conservation/ Invest to Save Projects 0 (6) 6 0  0 0 0 n/a n/a n/a 

Building Energy Efficiency Programme 2 

(BEEP2) 

754 63 (28) 789  0 0 0 n/a n/a n/a 

Minor Improvement Programme 1,166 515 0 1,681  1,300 1,300 1,300 n/a n/a n/a 

Corporate Property Project 50 0 0 50  50 50 50 n/a n/a n/a 

Appliance Bay Doors (Phase 3) 200 20 160 380  200 200 200 n/a n/a n/a 

Appliance Bay Floors 250 0 (250) 0  0 0 0 n/a n/a n/a 

Brigade wide Survey for Asbestos & Removal 50 0 0 50  50 50 50 n/a n/a n/a 

Fire Safety Works at Fire Stations 
0 54 53 107  0 0 

 

0 n/a n/a n/a 

Purchase land at former Mitcham Fire Station 0 0 0 0  0 0 0 0 25 25 

Forecourts/Rear yards Refurbishment 300 0 0 450  0 0 0 n/a n/a n/a 

Development costs 250 0 0 250  250 250 250 n/a n/a n/a 

ESTATE PROJECTS 9,343 1,116 (1,019) 9,440  12,557 4,347 5,700    

OTHER            

P
age 207



  

 

APPENDIX 2 – CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

2017/18 

Budget 

Mar 2017 

FEP2709 

B/fwd 

from 

2016-17 

Outturn 

C/fwd to 

2018/19/

savings 

New 

Projects 

Revised 

2017-18 

Capital 

Budget 

July 2017  

2018/19 

Budget 

 

2019/20 

Budget 

 

2020/21 

Budget 

 

Prior 

Years 

Spend 

Projected 

project 

Spend 

Approved 

budget 

Replacement of Fleet and Operational 

Equipment  

17,468 2,722 (8,306) 11,884  20,448 15,445 8,493 10,813 67,802 TBA 

Establishing a London Co-ordination Centre at 

HQ 

0 111 0 111  0 0 0 268 380 380 

Data transfer system for Joint Emergency 

Services Interoperability Programme 

0 266 0 266  0 0 0 0 267 267 

Fire Initial Response Equipment (F.I.R.E.) 

system 

0 24 0 24  0 0 0 96 185 185 

OTHER 17,468 3,123 (8,306) 12,285  20,448 15,445 8,493 11,367 68,757  

New Proposed Projects (* = Approved)            

Early Replacement of ALP & HP* 5,280 0 (3,480) 1,800  3,480 0 0 0 5,280 5,280 

CCTV on Pumping Appliances * 405 0 0 405  79 0 0 0 484 501 

Early Replacement of Fire Boat* 100 0 (100) 0  1,000 1,250 250 0 2,500 2,500 

Asset Management Plan 10,000 0 (9,800) 200  10,000 10,000 10,000 0 40,000 Various 

Farynor Replacement 375 50 0 425  325 0 0 0 750 TBA 

Improve Security at Fire Stations, Offices & HQ 200 0 0 200  2,405 0 0 0 2,605 TBA 

Business Management System (PMF) 190 0 0 190  25 0 0 0 215 TBA 

New Training Centre * 3,534 69 (3,301) 302  7,860 7,013 205 122 11,100 11,100 

PEG/BDC Development 3,750 0 0 3,750  3,750 0 0 0 7,500 TBA 

22mm Water Hose and Reel for Appliances * 1,000 500 0 1,500  0 0 0 0 1,500 1,500 

Vehicle Security * 981 0 408 1,389  0 0 0 0 1,105 1,389 

New Projects TOTAL 25,815 619 (16,273) 10,161  28,924 18,263 10,455 122   

Projected Underspend (6,686)   (6,686)  0 0 0 0 (6,436) n/a 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE TOTAL 49,270 5,601 (25,901) 28,970  64,139 38,055 26,648    

P
age 208



Risks to the Revenue and Capital Position Appendix 3 

 

1. Additional Resilience Requirements 

1.1. Following the fire at Grenfell Tower, the Commissioner carried out an initial assessment of the 
extra specialist equipment and support LFEPA requires to ensure the LFB is fully prepared for 
the challenges ahead. This initial review identified a range of items with both one-off, including 
revenue and capital expenditure, and ongoing costs which were subsequently set out in a 
report to Resources Committee on 21 July 2017 (FEP 2763). Work is ongoing to clarify the 
costs for 2017/18 and that exercise may impact on the forecasts included in this report.  

2. Firefighter and Local Government Pension Schemes 

2.1. The Authority’s pensions auto enrolment date is set for October 2017 when all staff who were 
not previously enrolled as part of the June 2016 exercise will be enrolled into a pension 
scheme. It is currently assumed that 40% of staff who are enrolled in this way will stay in the 
scheme. Any variation to this forecast may have a budget impact for LFEPA.  

3. Pay and Inflation 

3.1. LFEPA has made a budget provision for a 1% pay award for all staff for 2017/18.  

3.2. Due to recent events in London there may be additional overtime staff costs incurred. This is 
currently being assessed. 

4. Changes to Income 

4.1. The 2017/18 budget included material savings for income generated through the MFB act. 
This budget has recovered more income than budgeted and caused an underspend in recent 
years, in part because of the prudent assumptions used when calculating the budget 
requirement. Additional savings were included in the 2017/18 budget and as a result this will 
increase the risk of overspends this year. 

4.2. Both the cost recovery and expenditure budgets related to mutual assistance charges are being 
reviewed to ensure that they are as accurate as possible. Any budgetary pressure resulting 
from this review will be reported in future Budget Update reports.  

5. Property Services 

5.1. The 2017/18 budget includes £630k of savings from the implementation of the Property 
Services Integrator, which includes an estimate of savings that can be achieved on LFEPA’s 
supply chain. This saving will be updated once the supply chain has been fully costed after 
mobilisation phase is completed in March 2018.  The savings target is based on an average 
saving each year to meet the overall savings target agreed over the contract life. 

5.2. The saving proposals for 2017/18 included material savings for energy budgets. This budget 
has underspent in recent years, in part because of the prudent assumptions used when 
calculating the budget requirement. These additional savings will therefore set the budget at a 
less cautious level, and as a result this will increase the risk of overspends in subsequent years, 
for example because of a colder than average winter. 

5.3. There is a potential overspend on security budgets if the disposal of sites (Clerkenwell, 
Mitcham, Southwark) are not completed in 17/18. The 2017/18 budget also included a saving 
of £192k from commercial income for the grotto site, which will be dependent on planning 
approval and agreement between all parties being reached. 

  

Page 209



Risks to the Revenue and Capital Position Appendix 3 

 

6. Capital Expenditure and Financing 

6.1. The capital budget is subject to change during the year. Initial project specification is key as it is 
important to keep variations to projects to a minimum, as change once a project has been 
agreed and commenced may result in additional costs. However even a well managed project 
can be subject to re-phasing or deferral due to a number of unforeseen issues, such as failure or 
default on the part of the contractor or exceptionally adverse weather conditions. This can also 
impact on funding requirements which in turn may have a debt charge (cost of borrowing) 
revenue impact.  

6.2. All capital projects will require third party collaboration to varying degrees over the project life. 
The programme depends heavily on external factors and therefore can be subject to variation 
with the potential for delays in project delivery and revised cash flow requirements. The capital 
programme is managed on a monthly basis and is reported quarterly to the CAPS group 
(Capital, Approval, Planning and Strategy Group, chaired by the Director of Finance & 
Contractual Services) where all changes to the programme are reviewed and substitution 
projects or re-financing proposals are assessed and agreed. 

6.3. The Capital Programme for 2017/18 currently includes a forecast capital receipt for the sale of 
Clerkenwell Fire Station. If this property is not sold in 2017/18 this could result in an increased 
borrowing requirement and resulting capital financing costs estimated at £857k. This is based 
upon the current forecast capital programme and doesn’t take account of any re-phasing or 
slippage that might occur. 

6.4. The design and specification of the replacement vehicles and equipment is now underway 
following the commencement of the new contract in November 2014. Key risks relate to the 
contractor sourcing appropriate vehicle build options within a timeframe that meets fleet 
replacement requirements and which may in turn impact the Authority’s cash flow. The 
forecast cash expenditure for 2017/18 and future years is based on the current assessment of 
the stage payment requirements for the pump replacement programme which represents 48% 
of the forecast Vehicles and Equipment expenditure in that period and the delivery timings for 
the balance of the fleet replacement programme. 

6.5. The Brigade successfully cutover to the Replacement Mobilising Solution (VISION4 mobilising 
system & DS3000 ICCS) as planned on 17 November 2015. The legacy systems were 
decommissioned in January 2016 and there are a number of other work streams within the 
project that are still to be delivered. Update releases have been scheduled through 2017 and 
2018 for this outstanding functionality. The status of this project is Green as reported in 
FEP2702. 

6.6. The Asset Management Plan (2017) was approved in March 2017 (FEP2714), which has 
identified new priorities for investment over the next 5 years across the LFB estate, which 
includes fire station replacement, redevelopment and refurbishments which will enable the 
property portfolio to meet the needs of a 21st century fire service. It is difficult to source 
suitable new sites for purchase to replace those stations where investment to improve their 
condition or functionality is uneconomic, as the Authority  has to compete with other sectors, in 
particular residential development.  The Asset Management budget £10m per annum is set 
aside to fund new developments as and when these opportunities arise.  

6.7. As the new sites for Plumstead and the combined PEG / BDC facility (Integrated and 
Equipment Logistics Project) are yet to be purchased or a lease agreed, there is a risk that the 
acquisition of the preferred sites and the respective project programmes will be substantively 
delayed. As the LFB Training Centre project has a dependency on PEG moving out of Croydon, 
a delay to acquiring a site for PEG / BDC may have a knock on effect on the Training Centre 
programme. This would be additional to the current reported delays on the Training Centre, 
which are not linked. Should these risks in respect of site acquisition materialise, this would 

Page 210



Risks to the Revenue and Capital Position Appendix 3 

 

result in reduced actual expenditure in future years compared to the current forecast costs for 
these major capital projects. 

6.8. The debt charges arising from the capital programme have been calculated using the current 
forecast Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) rates. No allowance has been made in the capital 
programme for potential future capital grants or contributions and LFEPA will bid for any 
available capital resources as and when such opportunities arise. 

 

7. Contractual Pressures/ Risks 

7.1. Significant demand continues to be placed on the Information and Communications 
Technology Department to meet new requirements and aid in the development of smarter 
systems for the Authority. This is at a time where resources are limited and as a result there is a 
risk that development of information technology solutions may be constrained. 

7.2. The company that provides and supports the Authority’s Command Support Unit system 
software went into administration in early May and have since ceased trading. The software 
and its customer base were sold on to a 3rd party and we are entering discussions with them 
regarding the continued support of the product. 

 

 
 

Page 211



Financial Regulation 9: Budget Virements Appendix 4 

 

 
Financial Regulation 9: 
“(f) With the agreement of the Director of Finance and Contractual Services, a head of department 
may transfer up to £50,000 from a budget head within that department’s approved budget to a 
budget head within another department’s approved budget, but if those budget heads are in 
different Directorates the agreement of the appropriate Directors is also required.  

(g) With the agreement of the Director of Finance and Contractual Services, the Commissioner, the 
Directors and the Head of Legal and Democratic Services may transfer up to £125,000 from a budget 
head within that department’s approved budget to a budget head within another department’s 
approved budget.  

(h) The Director of Finance and Contractual Services shall report all transfers under (f) and (g) to the 
relevant committee as part of the quarterly monitoring reports.“ 

No transfers were processed in Quarter 1 that require reporting. 

Page 212



Outstanding Shut in Lift Debts Appendix 5 

 

The chart below shows the decrease in Shut in Lift debts over the past years and since inception of 
shut in lifts charge. 

The total number of shut in lifts debts has been falling gradually over the last two years after peaking in 

2015,  with overall balance reduced from £300k at the end of September 2015 to £160k at the end of 
April 2017. 

In 2016/17, we have seen major debtors settle their debts. Significant payments that have been 
received during the year included: 

• London Borough of Tower Hamlets - £71,924 

• Metropolitan Housing – £29,304 

• London Borough of Lambeth -  £25,071 

• London Borough of Hackney - £17,694 

• Sanctuary Housing - £16,698 

• London Borough of Lambeth - £14,071 

• London Borough of Islington £13,130 

• Peabody Trust - £11,690  

• Swan Housing - £10,564 

• London Borough of Tower Hamlets - £6,259 

• Marks and Spencer - £5,851  

• Homes for Islington - £3,130 
 

The continued joint effort from Authority staff has resulted in the positive progress made to date on 
shut in lift debts. As a result it is proposed that reporting on this debt will no longer form part of the 
quarterly financial position reports and that it continues to be managed as part of LFEPA’s debt 
management procedures. 

 

 

 

 

Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 214



 

1 

 

                  Appendix 6

      

 
 

 

2017-18  
Finance and Performance Monitoring Report 

Quarter 1 
 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 This report sets out the finance and performance monitoring position for the 

Corporation as at the end of the first quarter.  

1.2 A summary of the forecast Outturn position is provided at Appendix 1 and projects that 
the budget will be fully spent at year end.   

1.3 As part of the closure of accounts process, OPDC formally requested the carry-over of 
budget (£0.8m) from the previous financial year, relating to projects that had slipped. 
This has been approved by the GLA and the forecast is inclusive of this budget and 
expenditure. 

1.4 The approved budget for 2017/18 also included the provision of a contingency of £2m, 
held by the Mayor, to support a ‘self-funding’ proposal to facilitate the early delivery of 
housing across Old Oak North. Funding of £0.8m of this provision has been approved 
to support the development of a business plan for Old Oak North (MD 2159) and will be 
incorporated within the budget in the second quarterly report.  

 

Table 1 - Financial Performance Summary 

2. Summary of Progress in the Quarter April to June 2017 

 
Directorate 

 Budget 
£m’s 

Actuals 
£m’s 

Forecast 
£m’s 

Variance 
£m’s 

Chief Executive’s Office 0.897 0.042 0.897 - 
Corporate Operations 1.819 0.243 1.819 - 
Development 2.890 0.281 2.890 - 
Planning (net of income receivable) 2.110 0.048 2.110 - 
Total 7.716 0.614 7.716 - 
 

Page 215



 

2 

 

Chief Executive’s Office  
 
2.1 All projects and activities within the Directorate work towards meeting the objectives 

outlined in the OPDC Communications Strategy, approved by OPDC Board and 
championed by local resident and business Board Members. Key objectives include 
creating and building relationships, gathering intelligence from all stakeholders and 
conducting audience mapping work; connecting the corporate brand with different 
audience groups, using suitable channels at the right time, to build profile and 
reputation and to set a benchmark for evaluation; and supporting communities and 
the corporation’s statutory planning and consultation processes, including setting 
benchmarks for levels and quality of public involvement. 

 
2.2 Work commissioned in the first quarter and currently underway includes strategic 

corporate projects like the quantitative baseline tracking research project; the Old 
Oak and Park Royal films project; community events like the OPDC Tea Dance; local 
area youth and older people services mapping studies and, annual event 
partnerships like the West London Business Awards. 

 
2.3 In addition to fulfilling the aforementioned objectives, an element of communications 

and engagement activities are led by demand, driven by the needs of the business. 
Whilst certain events and activities are still in scope, to be defined and delivered 
throughout the financial year, there is potential for some underspend within the 
Communications and Engagement budget by year end; but this will be monitored 
closely and reported in following quarters. 

 
2.4 Plans for the year ahead include further strategic corporate activities like transporting 

and showcasing OPDC’s physical 3D model at industry events (e.g. MIPIM UK and 
the London Property Summit) and stakeholder offices (e.g. local councils, TfL); and 
the use of digital, e-communications and social media channels to continue effective 
communications and engagement with the public and stakeholders alike (e.g. for the 
OPDC Local Plan public consultation). 

 
 

Corporate Operations 
                                                                                                                                              
2.5 Corporate Operations supports the organisation with Financial Planning and 

Management, Governance, Programme Assurance, Human Resources & 
Organisational Development, Information Technology, Facilities Management, Legal, 
Procurement and Internal Audit either directly or through shared service 
arrangements across the GLA Group. The overarching objective of the directorate is 
to ensure that the Corporation has the resources and capacity to implement the 
Mayor’s priorities. 

  
 
Development 

                                                                                                                                              
2.6 The Development directorate is forecasting to spend to budget at the year-end; 

however there is a pressure on the staffing budget due to a number of vacancies 
within the team being temporarily covered by external resources. Recruitment to 
these posts is planned to commence in September. 

 

Page 216



 

3 

 

2.7 Within the programme budgets the total masterplan budget (comprising of activities 
including urban design, architectural and landscape design) for 2017/18 is £1.8m, 
made up of two specific work streams. 

 
2.8 The activity in connection with a budget of £1.6m for the masterplan (inclusive of a 

budget carry forward from 2016/17 of £0.3m) is forecast to be spent by the end of the 
year. 

 
2.9 During the first quarter, OPDC completed the OJEU procurement process to appoint 

master-planners to a 5-year, £3m contract.  This began the process of mobilising the 
team, agreeing scope for stage 1 and the full year programme, briefing the team on 
existing work/work to date, and providing background information and data for their 
consolidation.  

 
2.10 Activities planned for the following quarters, with Stages 1 and 2 of the masterplan 

commission anticipated to be completed, include; 
 

Stage 1 

 informing the business plan, providing an understanding of the key infrastructure 
requirements to unlock development  

 initial testing of development scenarios and phasing of development with focus on 
delivery/first phase to 2026  

 development of a site-wide digital / GIS platform to consolidate all baseline 
information and provide 2D and 3D representation 

 developing early design options for strategic infrastructure with associated costing 

 providing input to HS2 design briefs for Old Oak Common station procurement.   
 

Stage 2  

 consideration of development scenarios on sites with longer-term delivery 
aspirations and detailed development of scenarios on sites from stage 1 

 development of assessment tool to evaluate development options against 
strategic targets 

 refinement of infrastructure requirements and costing by phase 

 development of narrative and phasing plans over delivery period.  
 

2.11 The balance of the budget at £0.2m is being utilised to provide masterplanning 
viability support. This work has commenced to provide the masterplanning team with 
information about the Old Oak area and setting out the commercial parameters the 
design teams should work to. Advice will be provided to the masterplanning team 
during the various design stages to identify other supporting workstreams required to 
progress the project and the budget is expected to be fully utilised in 2017/18. 

 
 
2.12 Key activities within the Utilities & Social Infrastructure Projects workstream, with a 

budget of £0.505m which is forecast to be fully spent by the end of the year include:  
 

 The completion of Stage 2 studies outlining Utilities and Social Infrastructure 
strategies and options for the development to inform the Local Plan policy 
evidence base 

 Commencement of Stage 3 Infrastructure studies to provide further detailed 
feasibility analysis of Utilities to inform the Business Plan and Masterplan 

Page 217



 

4 

 

 . Digital Workstream - This work will review existing digital infrastructure and 
ascertain what Infrastructure is required across Old Oak and Park Royal to 
ensure the delivery of high speed telecoms and broadband for business and 
residential consumers.  

 Collaboration with HS2 and UKPN to investigate the suitability of using the HS2 
Ltd procured electrical provision. OPDC has also undertaken further analysis to 
ensure that there is sufficient supply for the first 10 years of development as a 
minimum. 

 Review of potential energy solutions in collaboration with relevant stakeholders 
and commencement of an air quality review of a potential Energy from Waste 
plant as one option to provide Low Carbon energy. Alongside this, OPDC is 
further investigating the feasibility of other identified Low Carbon energy sources.  

 Pursued and awarded financial support from the GLA DEEP project to procure a 
detailed feasibility study for a proposed North Acton Decentralised Energy 
network. A scope of work and specification has since been developed with 
procurement commencing in July.  

 Requested further bespoke modelling from the GLA intelligence team to support 
the schools and health infrastructure work. This work is likely to take place in 
September to support the Masterplanning process.  

 Successful bid to Homes and Communities Agency (HCA), leading to OPDC and 
Brent being awarded £224,000 to support a study to asses infrastructure 
requirements required to unlock the early delivery of homes in Old Oak North. 
The specification of this work is now being worked up with Brent Local authority.  

 Provided ongoing Infrastructure advice to the masterplan team 
 
 
2.13 Key activities planned over the remainder of the year include: 
 

 Commencement of digital market engagement in August with a technology report 
produced in December 2017 outlining digital infrastructure requirements 

 Decision over the suitability of HS2 Ltd electrical provision with a final electrical 
power report in Q4.. 

 Market engagement and procurement (if appropriate) of an IDNO for longer term 
electrical supply.  

 Energy from Waste air quality report  

 Early views on Energy from Waste viability in August  

 Market testing with ESCOs for potential decentralised energy network in Q4 

 Final energy report due in Q3/4 

 Smart Cities research to support the Masterplan 

 Further development on water, drainage and gas infrastructure  

 Completion of tender process to appoint supplier and then undertake feasibility 
work looking at Decentralised Energy Solution in North Acton (which is fully 
funded by the GLA) 

 Bridge feasibility and cost work to support Masterplan work  

 HCA grant-supported work to undertake detailed feasibility study and feasibility 
work for Willesden Junction connection, bridge over WCML, as well as a 
constraints study on the EMR site; all with the intention to unlock development on 
this site. 

 Transport studies to support the Masterplanning work 
 
 

Page 218



 

5 

 

Planning 
 
2.14 The following is a summary of the key achievements and highlights of the activities in 

the Planning directorate over the first quarter of this financial year. It should be noted 
that this forecast includes budgets carried forward from 2016/17 amounting to £0.5m 
as detailed in the 11 July 2017 Board meeting. 

 
2.14.1 Local Plan: 

 Local Pan — Preparation of the Local Plan Regulation 19 for public consultation, 
including its associated evidence base and legal advice. Secured OPDC planning 
committee and Board approval to commence public consultation; 

 Neighbourhood Plan — Completed public consultation on the proposed 
establishment of an Old Oak Neighbourhood Forum; 

 Better Futures Programme — Agreed partnership with GLA to support delivery of 
the ‘Better Futures Programme’ to promote the opportunity for Clean Tech 
including within the OPDC area. 
 

2.14.2 Development Management: 

 One major planning application, North Kensington Gate South, was reported to 
the Planning Committee. Two major planning applications, Mitre Yard and First 
Central, were also received, with Section 106 agreements on 3 schemes currently 
under discussion.  In addition to this, various enforcement cases are under 
investigation with details available in the 12 July 2017 Planning Committee 
meeting papers. 

 
2.14.3 Transport: 

 Commenced work with TfL on a construction and logistics strategy for the OPDC 
area; 

 Commenced work with TfL to assess the timing and prioritisation of key transport 
infrastructure; 

 Influenced TfL’s detailed GRIP work for the proposed new London Overground 
stations; 

 Influenced HS2 to secure improvements and amendments to the HS2 station and 
box to support development in the surrounding area and delivery of a quality 
transport interchange. 

 
2.14.5 Park Royal: 

 Appointment of Advanced Apprentice, Project Support Officer and Park Royal 
Programme Manager to drive forward the strategy and work programme for Park 
Royal. 

 Continued engagement with WLB, PRBG and the local authorities to identify key 
issues. 

 
2.14.6 CIL and s106: 

 Made progress on the evidence base for both CIL and s106; 

 Supported negotiations on submitted planning applications.  

 Set up the necessary operations for OPDC to receive CIL, MCIL and section 106 
monies. 

 

Page 219



 

6 

 

2.14.7 Design and Great Place Scheme: 

 Great Pace Scheme — secured approximately £1.5m of funding from the 
Heritage Lottery Fund, Arts Council and Historic England to deliver a programme 
of Activities and Engagement to uncover, connect and showcase Park Royal and 
Old Oak to December 2020. A new Programme Manager was appointed to 
coordinate delivery of this scheme; 

 Applied for Innovate UK funding to trial a local business led cycle scheme in Park 
Royal; 

 Detailed design input into policy, strategy, the assessment of planning 
applications and transport proposals, and managed the PLACE review group; 

 Input into the scope and inception for the masterplan. 

 

2.15 The programme budget forecast to be fully spent at the end of the year is based on 
the following planned activities taking place and being completed. 

2.15.1 Local Plan: 

 Local Plan — complete Regulation 19 consultation. Revise and secure approval to 
submit to PINS for EiP; 

 Neighbourhood Plan — Consider and determine Old Oak Neighbourhood Forum; 

 Better Futures Programme — Continue to partner the GLA to support the delivery of 
the Better Futures Programme and opportunities to promote Clean Tech within the 
OPDC area; 

 Public consultations on the Scrubs Lane SPD and Environmental Standards Strategy. 
 

2.15.2 Development Management: 

 Planning Applications — provide a proactive system on pre-planning applications. 
Receive and determine planning applications, section 106 agreements, discharging 
planning conditions and assess variations; 

 Enforcement through SLAs with boroughs; 

 Secure agreement with the OPDC Planning Committee and Board to implement 
Article 4 direction. 

 
2.15.3 Transport: 

 progress detailed feasibility work with TfL on a number of key transport projects; 

 work with Network Rail to assess opportunities for Strategic Rail interventions to 
support development potential and delivery of a quality transport network; 

 Continue to influence HS2 to secure improvements and amendments to the HS2 
station and box to support development in the surrounding area and delivery of a 
quality transport interchange.  

 
2.15.4 Park Royal: 

 Preparation of the Park Royal Strategy and associated work programme. Once 
agreed with West London Business, Park Royal Business Group and the OPDC 
Board, the work programme and associated actions will be implemented. Some of 
this expenditure is expected to go towards the Great Place Scheme to support the 
set-up and delivery of the scheme. 

 
2.15.5 CIL and s106: 

Page 220



 

7 

 

 Finalise CIL evidence base and securing approval from the OPDC Planning 
Committee and Board to run the Regulation 16 public consultation. Complete this 
consultation, finalise CIL and prepare for EiP; 

 hold a public consultation on a draft s106 SPD and purchase necessary s106 and CIL 
management software; 

 support ongoing negotiation and management of s106, CIL and MCIL contributions 
from planning applications. 

 
2.15.6 Design and Great Place Scheme: 

Further to the above, the forecast includes work in the following areas: 

 preparing and submitting capital and revenue funding bids to support early ‘public 
realm’ and ‘early activation projects’, from a range of funding sources including GLA’s 
Good Growth and HS2 (CEF and BLEF); 

 Planning and Masterplanning – detailed design input into policy, strategy, the 
assessment of planning applications and transport proposals and managing the 
PLACE review group. 

 Design lead input into masterplan development. 
 
 Following confirmation of the successful Great Place Scheme bid, the next step is for 

OPDC to apply for permission to start. Once approved by the funders, the programme 
and grant payments will commence; at which point the income and associated 
expenditure will be reflected within the OPDC budget. 

   
2.16 The Planning Directorate budget also comprises of an income budget of £0.4m, 

which is forecast to be received in full by the end of the financial year. 
 

2.16.1 Pre-application fees: 
 

 It is anticipated that the OPDC will receive income from 6 pre-application 
agreements.  This is an estimated reduction of 2 pre-applications from 8 to 6 with 
an associated fee income reduction. 

 
2.16.2 Statutory fees (planning applications): 

 

 It is anticipated that OPDC will retain fee income from 5 major planning 
applications.  This is the same number of estimated planning applications in the 
budget, however, amendments in the floor space figures and type of application 
to be submitted may result in a decrease in the estimated income receipt during 
future quarters. 

 
2.16.3 MCIL admin retained income: 

 

 Mayoral CIL is a CIL generated by development in the OPDC area that is passed 
to the GLA. OPDC retains 4% of the total MCIL amount to use as an 
administration fee. This income receipt was not previously included within 
estimates and therefore this represents an increase in estimated receipts for the 
year.  

 
2.16.4 Cost Recovery: 

 

Page 221



 

8 

 

 During the course of assessing planning applications, from time to time, OPDC 
will be required to appoint independent consultants to assess technical 
information submitted as part of a planning application. The need for this will be 
determined on a case by case basis. If considered necessary, the applicant will 
be required to cover the cost of this appointment and assessment work. 

 

 
3. Corporate Performance Dashboard (Appendix 2) 

 
3.1 The OPDC has in place a corporate performance dashboard. This is reviewed monthly 

by the senior management team and focuses on key indicators of corporate health. 
Over time it will developed to include additional indicators. 

  
 
 

 

Page 222



Old Oak & Park Royal Development Corporation

Q1 2017/18 Budget Summary

 Budget Actuals

Outturn 

Forecast Variance

 17/18 

 £000  £000  £000  £000 

CEO Office

Staffing 463 41 463 0 

CEO Support Budget 25 0 25 0 

Engagement 99 (3) 99 0 

Communications 310 4 310 0 

Total CEO's Office 897 42 897 0 

Planning 

Staffing 1,147 172 1,147 0 

Local Plan 332 45 332 0 

Development Management 96 9 96 0 

Transport Studies 510 0 510 0 

Park Royal 100 0 100 0 

CIL & s106 75 0 75 0 

Design and Great Place Scheme 250 0 250 0 

Total Planning 2,510 226 2,510 0 

Development

Staffing 585 0 585 0 

Masterplan 1,600 131 1,600 0 

Masterplan Viability 200 57 200 0 

Infrastructure 505 93 505 0 

Total Development 2,890 281 2,890 0 

Corporate Operations

Staffing 704 24 704 0 

Board & Committees 237 27 237 0 

Office Location 100 0 100 0 

Internal Audit 20 5 20 0 

External Audit 20 5 20 0 

Insurance 30 3 30 0 

HR&OD 105 0 105 0 

Corporate Overheads 33 31 33 0 

Shared Services 570 148 570 0 

Total Corporate Operations 1,819 243 1,819 0 

Total expenditure 8,116 792 8,116 0 

Income

MCIL admin retained income 0 0 (100) (100)

Revenue from Pre-planning Applications (200) (17) (100) 100 

Revenue from Planning Applications (200) (161) (200) 0 

Total Income (400) (178) (400) 0 

Net Total Budget 7,716 614 7,716 0 

Contingency (held by the Mayor) 2,000 

Page 223



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 224



897 897 0 100% 50% R i 93.8% 6 5 5

1,819 1,819 0 11 11 11

2,890 2,890 0 17 17 17

2,510 2,510 0 9 8 8

8,116 8,116 0 3 5 5

46 46 46

10,085 10,482 9,283

696 1,029 2,359

1,350 1,171 1,171

1,766 1,766 1,766

0 0 0

0 0 0

13,897 14,448 14,579

7 3 9 3 12

0.05 0.02 0.00 1.81 1.38 100% 66.7% R i 90.9%

In Target G

Out of Target R

Improving h

No Change n

Getting Worse i

8. Enquiries responded to within 20 working days (Target: 90%)

Directorate

Total

Planning

Corporate Operations

Chief Executive's Office

7. WriteOn enquiries received

Feb-17 Mar-17 Apr-17 May-17 YTD

Total

Delivered

Appealed

Determined

5. Average working days per employee lost to sickness absence

Corporate Performance Dashboard

YTDVariance
Outturn 

Forecast

Revised 

Budget
Period 2 Category May-17Apr-17Period 3

Current 

Performance
Trend

Quarter 1

6. Number of posts per category3. % of SME payments made within 10 working days (Target: 90%)1. Q1 Revenue summary by directorate (£000)

Trend

Performance

YTDApr-17 May-17
Current 

Performance
Trend

Key

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17
2016/17 

outturn

July 2016 - 

June 2017

Jun-17

4. Risks Permanent

FTC

Agency

Resolution to Approve

Application

Pre-Application

Status

Development

Vacant

Secondment/Shared Service

Jun-17May-17Apr-17

Total

2. Planning pipeline analysis - Homes (Target: 25,500)

Comments: 
• Q1 Revenue summary provided by Finance 
• 14,579 units in planning. This represents 57.2% of the overall target of 25,500 homes 
• SME payments out of target for P3. However,  in target for year to date 
• Risks as per Programme Dashboard 
• Average working days per employee lost to sickness absence for a rolling 12 month period of July 2016 to June 2017 was 1.38 days 
• Total number of posts unchanged 
• WriteOn enquiries responded to within 20 working days is out of target for May. However, in target for year to date. 

Planning (Local Plan): There is a risk that the redevelopment of the Crossrail depot is 
outside the plan period. This could impact soundness of the LP.  

Planning (Local Plan): GLA have raised concerns regarding proposed energy from waste, 
which may impact the OPDC's strategy for energy production.  

Planning: There is a risk that the OPDC Board does not support officer's proposals for the 
designation of the Neighbourhood Area boundary. This could result in a boundary area with 
the ability for the Neighbourhood Forum to draft restrictive policies for the core development 
areas in Old Oak North and Old Oak South.  

Planning (DM): Recent addition of LBHF councillor to Planning Committee may be 
insufficient to address concerns from Local Cllrs and members of the public with regards to 
local accountabilities in planning decisions.  

HS2 Station: There is a risk that DfT and HS2 Ltd do not consider comments raised by 
OPDC regarding station design which will impact on the delivery of a world class station.  

Land: There is a risk that if we do not become a landowner then our comprehensive 
regeneration aspirations could be compromised.  

Influencing TfL: Failure to agree a set of strategic transport infrastructure with TfL in a 
timely manner may delay programme delivery. For inclusion in TfL’s Business Plan. 

Influencing TfL: Failure to agree a sensible programme of work with TfL and how 
TfL/GLA/OPDC resource this work could impact on plans. 

DSG 6: WL and NL are at capacity. We don't know what interventions are required. 

DSG 3: Funding of ASD enabling works unknown/Unclear of impact of Chiltern Line on ASD 
opportunities. 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90
100

0
1,000
2,000
3,000
4,000
5,000
6,000
7,000
8,000
9,000

10,000

H
o

m
e

s 
as

 a
 %

 o
f 

ta
rg

e
t 

(c
u

m
u

la
ti

ve
) 

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

h
o

m
e

s 

Planning pipeline analysis - Homes (Target: 25,500) 

Number of homes Homes as a % of target (cumulative)

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

Number of Posts per Category 

Agency FTC Permanent Secondment/Shared Service Vacant

P
age 225



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 226



 

                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: The London Legacy Development 
Corporation  

Report to: Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 18 October 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 

 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides information on the Sub-Committee’s consideration of the financial sustainability 

of the London Legacy Development Corporation (LLDC). 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Sub-Committee notes the report, puts questions to invited guests regarding the 

financial sustainability of the LLDC, and notes the subsequent discussion. 

 

3. Background   
 

3.1 The LLDC’s financial situation represents a risk to the GLA. In the previous year the LLDC drew down 

the last of its reserves. The LLDC is currently loss-making, and in 2017-18 will require £29 million of 

funding from the GLA. The LLDC was originally intended to be self-sufficient, both in revenue and 

capital terms, but looks a long way from achieving this goal.   

 

3.2 The London Stadium is still causing the LLDC issues. However, now it is not just the construction 

costs, but the day-to-day running of the Stadium. E20 Stadium LLP – the joint venture between the 

LLDC and Newham Council that operates the Stadium – has now recognised that two of its three 

contracts are fundamentally loss-making. The Stadium was intended to be profitable in the 

long-term, but this now looks unlikely. 
 

3.3 There are questions around other areas of the Olympic Park too. The Cultural and Education District 

is being developed and land deals with key tenants – such as the V&A and/or Sadler’s Wells - are 

being made. The Sub-Committee will scrutinise these deals for best value. The first houses in the 

Park are now occupied and there are questions around the affordability of these houses, with the 

first development providing 28 per cent affordable housing.  
 

3.4 The LLDC still relies on the GLA for substantial funding, in the form of an interest free loan. In 

advance of the 2018-19 GLA budget process, this Sub-Committee will examine whether the LLDC is 

Page 227

Agenda Item 5



        

making the right steps to pay back its loans, and whether the LLDC is financially sustainable in the 

long-term.     

 

3.5 The Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee met last year on the 14 December 2016 to discuss the LLDC 

and the Olympic Stadium. This meeting was in the context of a significant cost increase of £51 

million for the London Stadium.  

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The following guests have been invited to attend the meeting: 

 David Goldstone CBE, Chief Executive, London Legacy Development Corporation; 

 Gerry Murphy, Deputy Chief Executive/Executive Director of Finance, Commercial and 

Corporate Services, London Legacy Development Corporation;  

 David Bellamy, Chief of Staff to the Mayor of London; and 

 Martin Clarke, Director of Resources, GLA. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Sub-Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 
 
6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications of this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

None 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  None 

 

Contact Officer: Will King, Financial and Policy Analyst/ Emily Hopkinson, Financial and Policy Analyst 

Telephone: 020 7983 5596/4270 

Email: 

 

Will.king@london.gov.uk/Emily.hopkinson@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 228

mailto:Will.king@london.gov.uk
mailto:Emily.hopkinson@london.gov.uk


          

Mayor’s Report to the Assembly  
   
Background Document – List of decisions between 9 June 2017 and 29 June 2017  
 
The Part 1 of Mayoral Decisions (from 6 April 2009), Executive Director Decisions (from 1 November 2010), Assistant Director Decisions (from 18 April 
2013) and the non-confidential facts and advice supporting those decisions, are published on the GLA website here within one working day of approval, 
unless deferred. * = previously deferred publication. 
 
 

Ref Decision Date 
Signed 

Approved by/ 
Mayoral 
Advisor 

Financial Implications (summarised where 
long) 

MD2093 * New Year Eve 2017 
 
Approved: 
 

1. the event budget of £2.3m, underwriting the 
financial risk associated with uncertain 
revenue from ticket sales, concessions and 
sponsorship for New Year’s Eve 2017; 
 

2. the ticketing price for the event remaining at 
£10, broadly designed to cover the cost of 
the ticket implementation. 

 
 

24/04/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
Leah Kreitzman 

Expenditure for the delivery of the New Year’s 
Event for 2017 will be via a combination of GLA  
funding, ticket revenue, sponsorship and 
concession income.  
 
In line with previous year’s events, the GLA will 
underwrite the sponsorship, concessions and 
ticket revenue for the 2017 event, all of which 
have yet to be secured.  
 
With regards to the proposed OJEU tender for a 
new event producer to deliver the event for 2018 
to 2021, the indicative budget for such will be in 
line with the proposed budget for the 2017 event, 
but will be subject to separate approval. 

MD2086 * European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) 
programme 
 
Approved: 
 

1. The commitment and award of up to £32m 
European Regional Development Fund to 
SMEWFL;  
 

2. The acquisition of SMEWFL by means of the 

30/05/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
Rajesh Agerwal 

SMEWFL’s core business of investing in early stage 
unsecured SMEs to facilitate their growth is inherently 
risky and in acquiring the company the GLA’s main risk 
is whether sufficient return can be generated for re-
investment and there are no shortfalls for operational 
costs or liquidity issues. 

 
The proposed application of the £32 million ERDF 
funding in this decision is to create a new £100 million 
‘fund of funds’ to provide loan and equity 
investments. This would involve a £50 million loan 

P
age 229

A
genda Item

 6

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/decisions?order=DESC


          

GLA becoming its sole member.  from the EIB and therefore the scale of its investments 
would eventually more than double Funding London’s 
current investment activity.  
 
It is not anticipated that the GLA would be required to 
provide any guarantee to the EIB, but as a company 
controlled by the GLA, Funding London would be 
consolidated in the GLA’s group statement of 
accounts, which will include any EIB borrowing. The 
key risk for the GLA would be exposure to having to 
provide the necessary cash flow in the event that 
Funding London did not have sufficiently liquid 
resources to repay the EIB. 

 
Funding London’s insurance arrangements have also 
been reviewed by the GLA’s insurance adviser. This 
highlighted several issues that are currently being 
taken forward by Funding London.  Confirmation of 
any changes in cover will need to be in place before 
acquisition. 

 
Financial due diligence also highlighted that the level 
of LCIF management fees is considered to be relatively 
high and therefore the scope for seeking reductions 
should be addressed.     

MD2120 * Revoke of approvals in respect of the Garden 
Bridge Project 
 
Approved: 
 

1. That the GLA does not provide guarantees to the 
Port of London Authority, Westminster City 
Council and the London Borough of Lambeth in 
respect of the Garden Bridge and as authorised 
by the previous Mayor through MD1472 

2. The revocation of the delegation to the Executive 
Director of Resources to agree the guarantees’ 
terms and conditions and related arrangements 
and to execute the guarantees 

9/05/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
David Bellamy 

Some £37.4m of public funds have been spent on 
the project to date.  In addition, Government 
agreed to provide the Garden Bridge Trust with 
an underwriting of up to £9m, taken from DfT’s 
£30m commitment to the project.  Therefore, up 
to £46.4m of public funds would be 
unrecoverable were the project to be cancelled, 
which is likely if the Trust is unable to find 
another suitable guarantor. 

Of the £13.6m that remains unspent and is not 
part of the underwriting commitment, £6.1m is 
from TfL.  This would be reallocated to the 
organisation’s priorities through its business 
planning process.  The remaining £7.5m is from 

P
age 230



          

3. That the delegations and directions to Transport 
for London given under MD1248, MD1355 and 
MD1472 are hereby revoked, save (i) to the 
extent that TfL has entered into binding 
commitments which it will need to honour; and 
save that (ii) TfL shall continue to perform 
activities relating to the Garden Bridge project 
necessary or expedient to protecting the interests 
of the GLA and TfL 

the DfT, and the DfT has indicated it would seek 
to recoup this via a reduction in a future GLA 
transport grant payment.  This would also apply 
to any portion of the £9m underwriting which the 
Garden Bridge Trust did not call upon, such that 
this money will either be paid to the Trust (if 
required under the terms of the underwriting) or 
returned to the DfT (if not): the underwriting is 
financially neutral to the GLA and TfL. 

The risk of losing value from the existing public 
expenditure, however, is outweighed by the 
extent of the risks arising if the Bridge continues 
with GLA guarantees.  The annual running costs 
of the Bridge are estimated at approximately 
£3m, which the GLA would be liable to meet for 
the lifetime of the Bridge if the Garden Bridge 
Trust were unable to – less any revenues 
generated by the bridge.   

If the project progresses then there is also a risk, 
as described in the Mayor’s letter, that any 
shortfall in capital fundraising for the bridge 
would fall to the GLA or TfL.  There is currently a 
capital funding gap of £70m. 

MD2130 * LFEPA – ethical trading 
 
Approved: 
 
That the Mayor revokes the direction to LFEPA given 
under MD1517, so as to enable the Company and 
LFEPA to consider ethical trading issues according to 
Mayoral policy and views. 

30/05/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
David Bellamy 

There are no financial issues arising for the GLA 
directly from this decision. Any financial issues 
arising for LFEPA will be considered as they arise. 

MD2071 MedCity 
 
Approved: 
 

1. MedCity Limited’s business plan for the 

03/04/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
Rajesh Agrawal 

£500,000 has been earmarked within the 2017-18 
GLA budget for the proposed grant to MedCity 
Limited (within the Economic Business Policy 
Unit), for which payment will be dependent on 
the organisation delivering against their 2017-18 

P
age 231



          

2017/18 financial year; and  
2. the award of up to £500,000 of grant 

funding to MedCity Limited in the 2017/18 
financial year. 

Business Plan. The proposed grant will be 
governed by a GLA Funding Agreement, which 
will include clear deliverables and milestones 
linked directly to the Business Plan. 

MD2136 Mayor’s Transport Strategy 
 
Approved: 
 

1. approves the draft MTS document for the 
purpose of the formal statutory consultation 
of the public and stakeholders; 

2. approves the IIA which has been done in 
respect of the draft MTS and other 
supporting documents; 

3. approves the draft LIP Guidance for the 
purpose of the consultation of stakeholders; 

4. approves the consultation period starting on 
21 June 2017 for a period of 15 weeks. 

20/06/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
Valerie 
Shawcross 

There will be no direct financial implications for 
the GLA arising from this decision. TfL has 
allocated a budget of £172,000 for consultation 
and all related activities. 

MD2117 Housing Zone Revenue Budget 
 
That following the review of the Housing Zones 
programme the Mayor approves expenditure of up to 
£2,620,000 to: 
 

 Provide additional revenue support to 
boroughs, for instance to fund additional 
staff resources, in order to expedite the 
delivery of genuinely affordable homes within 
Housing Zones; and 

 Delegates authority to the Executive Director 
of Housing and Land, in consultation with 
the Deputy Mayor for Housing and 
Residential Development, to approve revenue 
funding to boroughs following assessment 
and to commit  funding of up to the level of 

20/06/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
James Murray 

This decision requests approval to spend 
£2,620,000 for Housing Zones related activities 
(property and legal costs as well as providing 
additional revenue support to boroughs) in 2017-
18 & 2018-19 financial years.  
 
Initial expenditure approved through MD1592 for 
Housing Zones consultancy fees was £1,530,000.  
Spend in 2015/16 & 2016/17 financial years 
totalled £1,150,000 leaving a balance of 
£380,000 (allocated to 2017/18 financial year).  
The current request of £2,620,000 and the 
balance of £380,000 will form part of the Housing 
& Land’s budget growth request of £3,000,000 
for 2017/18 & 2018/19 financial years. 2017/18 
budget setting process approved £1,120,000 of 
the above growth request, with remaining 

P
age 232



          

the £600,000 revenue budget for borough 
support; and 

 Cover property and legal consultant costs in 
relation to the legal contracting process, 
review of state aid compliance, cost and 
value assumptions, and governance 
arrangements. 

 

£1,500,000 indicative budget subject to approval 
through 2018/19 budget setting process. 
 

MD1569 * Removal of Fly Tipped Material from GLAP 
sites 
 
That the Mayor approves expenditure of up to 
£834,000 for the procurement and appointment of 
an external specialist waste disposal company for the 
removal, reuse, recycling and disposal of the fly 
tipped material.  
 

16/12/16 Boris Johnson 
MP (past staff), 
Mayor or 
London 

GLAP provided £834,000 for the cost of removing 
the fly tipped material from the GLAP sites in the 
2014/15 Financial Accounts. 
 
The exact process for measuring the weight will 
be determined through contract negotiations but 
will likely be from waste transfer notes both on 
leaving the site, potentially evidenced by the 
existing security team, and arriving at the 
disposal/recycling facility. Any cost over the 
budget provided will be subject to further 
approval and will be contained within the existing 
Housing and Land budget. 
 
If the material is not removed it will become a 
developer cost that will have to be paid up front 
making the land less attractive to a potential 
developer. Alternatively the cost could be 
retrieved by the developer from the profits from 
the development scheme thus reducing GLA’s 
share of the profit. In summary, reduced land 
value or reduced profit return for the GLA 
 

DD2133 London Borough of Culture and London 
Councils  
 
Approved: 
 

1. Expenditure of up to £73,000 in grant funding to 

09/05/17 Jeff Jacobs Approval is being sought for expenditure of 
£75,000 to support borough applicants 
competing to become the London Borough of 
Culture.    

 
A pool of £73,000 will made be available where 

P
age 233



          

be made available to London Boroughs, which is 
to be held, managed and distributed by London 
Councils. 
 

2. Expenditure of £2,000 as a fee to be paid to 
London Councils for the administration and 
management of the grant funding detailed 
above. 

 

3. An exemption from the GLA’s Contracts and 
Funding Code, to appoint London Councils 
without a competitive procurement exercise so as 
to carry out the activities detailed in this report. 

 

London Boroughs can bid for funds to access 
support for developing their applications. The 
remaining £2,000 will be used to appoint London 
Councils to manage and administer these funds 
accordingly on behalf of the GLA. 

 
This expenditure will be met from the Culture and 
Creative Industries 2017-18 Budget. 
 

DD2132 Commission of a Suffrage Statue on Parliament 
Square 
 
Approved: 
 

1. Expenditure of £12,000 in sundry costs 
related to this project. 
 

2. Expenditure of £34,000 and entry into a 
contract with Donald Insall Architects. 
 

3. Expenditure of £21,500 and entry into a 
contract with Contemporary Arts Society. 
 

4. Expenditure of £15,000 and entry into a 
funding agreement with Gillian Wearing. 
 

5. An exemption from Part C, Paragraphs 9 of 
the Contracts and Funding code so that 
Donald Insall Architects and Contemporary 
Arts Society can be appointed without a 
competitive procurement exercise. 

09/06/17 Jeff Jacobs Permission is being sought to approve 
expenditure of up to £83,000 to mark the 
centenary of Women’s suffrage in London by 
commissioning a suffrage statue in Parliament 
Square.   
 
As an artist has already been commissioned to 
create the statue, the majority of this  
expenditure will be used to procure the services 
of Gillian Wearing, Donald Insall Architects and 
the Contemporary Arts Society for the planning 
application. 
 
The expenditure will be met from the Culture and 
Creative Industries 2017-18 budget and 
subsequently managed within this unit. 
 

P
age 234



          

DD2099 Agenda Management System 
 
Approved: 
 

1. Expenditure up to a maximum of £140,000 over 
a 4 year period (£35k pa) to continue using an 
agenda management system; 
 

2. The receipt of up to  £70,000 from LFEPA, TFL, 
OPDC and LLDC towards funding the agenda 
management system, as part of the standard 
charges under the respective shared services 
agreements; and 

 
3. Appointment and entry into contract with a 

suitable supplier to deliver the agenda 
management system. 

13/06/17 Mark Roberts Approval is being sought for expenditure up to 
£140,000 (over 4 years) for an agenda 
management system for the Committee Services 
Team. The estimated net cost to the GLA is 
anticipated to be circa £70,000 (per year) as 
contributions will be sought from shared service 
users ( LFEPA, LLDC, OPDC and TfL) as part of 
the standard charges under the respective shared 
services agreements, which were agreed to be on 
a cost-recovery basis. These amounts will only be 
charged on an annual basis; in the event that 
these funds have not been entirely secured this 
expenditure will be contained within the 
Committee Services budget. 
 
This expenditure is expected to occur over 4 
financial years, between the period 2017/18 – 
2020/21, and cover both annual charges and 
anticipated renewal increases. 
 
Funding for the contract period will be drawn 
from the Committee Services team’s budget, with 
a detailed schedule of payments to be prepared in 
liaison with GLA Finance at the time of contract 
award.  
 

DD2135 Licence agreement with the Newspaper 
Licensing Agency 
 
Approved: 
 

 Expenditure of up to a maximum of £55,249 
to enter into a licence agreement with the 
Newspaper Licensing Agency for one year; 
and 

 

 A related exemption from the requirement in 

22/06/17 Jeff Jacobs The cost of the Media Monitoring service’s 
Newspaper Licensing Agency fee to cover the 
period 1st June 2017 to 31st May 2018 is £55,249, 
with the costs funded by the GLA, Transport for 
London, Met Police and Crossrail.  
 
The GLA’s share of these costs (£5,784) will be 
met from the 2017-18 Press Office Media 
Monitoring budget, held in External Affairs 
Directorate. The GLA will recover the costs of the 
contract by invoicing each body on a quarterly 

P
age 235



          

the Contracts & Funding Code in order to 
procure competitively to appoint the 
Newspaper Licensing Agency without a 
competitive procurement exercise. 

 

basis.  

DD2123 Mayor’s London Environment Strategy 
 

 Agrees the additional expenditure of £12,000 
– taking the total value to £82,000 - on  
consultancy costs for the Integrated Impact 
assessment (IIA) to support the preparation 
of the London Environment Strategy. 

22/06/17 Fiona Fletcher 
Smith  

DD2048 approved expenditure of up to £70,000 
for consultancy of the Integrated Impact 
Assessment of the Mayors London Environment 
Strategy.  Approval is now being sought for 
additional expenditure of £12,000.  This will bring 
the total expenditure on the Integrated Impact 
Assessment to £82,000.  The cost will be funded 
from Development, Enterprise and Environment 
Central Programme 2017-2018 Budget. 
 

DD2138 Beam Park – Entering into the Development 
Agreement 
 
1. GLAP entering into a Development Agreement 

(and other associated legal documents) with 
Countryside Properties (UK) Limited. 

2. Non-material amendments to the structure of 
the transaction since the last approval. 

23/06/17 David Lunts MD 1664 approved Countryside Properties as 
preferred development partner to develop the 
land at the Beam Park site.   The paper is seeking 
additional approval for amendments to MD 1664. 
The amendments will not result in additional 
expenditure to that approved in MD1664.    
 

DD2090 * Cultural Event – The Salesman Screening 
 
That the Executive Director of Resources approves 
the allocation and expenditure of up to £75,000 as a 
contribution to the costs of the delivery and 
production of a free cultural event on Trafalgar 
Square including the screening of the film “The 
Salesman”.  
 

13/02/17 Martin Clarke The gross cost of this event is up to £115,000 
and the net cost to the GLA will be up to 
£75,000. The event organiser, Face Events 
Limited, would be responsible for covering the 
remaining event costs of £40,000. 

 
The GLA contribution of up to £75,000 will be 
governed via a funding agreement with Face 
Events Limited and will be funded from the 
Events for London Programme budget for 2016-
17. In addition to the GLA’s cash contribution to 
the event, the GLA will also support the event via 
officer time and waiving the fee for the use of 
Trafalgar Square. It should be noted that waiving 

P
age 236



          

the fee for the use of Trafalgar Square will not 
have a detrimental effect on the Authority’s 
Squares income target as this income budget is 
forecast to overachieve by the end of March 
2017.  
 

ADD2125 Trent Park Financial Viability Independent 
Assessment 
 
Approved: 
 
Planning approves expenditure of £31,000 on 
independent financial services from Gerald Eve. 
 

13/06/17 Juliemma 
McLoughlin 
 

Approval is being sought for expenditure of up to 
£31,000 to cover consultancy costs for work 
which has been undertaken in respect of the 
Mayor’s strategic priorities for maximising 
affordable housing.  
 
The cost is to be funded from Planning Decisions 
2017-18 Budget. However, the GLA will be re-
imbursed in full by Berkeley Homes. 
 

ADD2126 Developing Effective Messaging for Housing 
and Environment 
 
Approved: 
 
That the Assistant Director for Intelligence and 
Analysis approves GLA expenditure of up to £25,000 
for qualitative research services which identifies 
citizen’s preferences for communications from the 
Mayor on policy areas of housing and the 
environment. 
 

13/06/17 Andrew Collinge Approval is being sought for expenditure of up to 
£25,000 for 2CV Ltd to undertake market 
research for the Mayor’s Housing and 
Environment strategies and priorities. This is to be 
funded as follows: 
 
£8,334 from Intelligence Cross-Cutting Research 
2017-18 Programme Budget 
£8,333 from Housing & Land Operational Costs 
2017-18 
£8,333 from Environment Strategy Updates 
2017-18 Budget 
 

ADD2124 Sport Unites research for programme 
development 
 
Approved: 
 
This ADD requests that that the Assistant Director of 
Health and Communities approves Sport for Social 
Integration research: up to £20,000.  

13/04/17 Amanda Coyle The estimated cost of up to £20,000 will be 
funded from the Community Sports Programme 
budget for 2017-18 (held within the Health & 
Communities Unit). 
 

P
age 237



          

 

ADD2119 TOR for the scoping of a Civil Society Strategy 
for London 
 
Approved: 
 
That the Assistant Director of Health and 
Communities approves expenditure of up to £20,000 
to contract external consultancy support for 
preparatory and scoping work on the Civil Society 
Strategy for London. 

13/06/17 Amanda Coyle The estimated cost of £20,000 will be funded 
from the Diversity and Social Policy Team’s 
budget for 2017-18. 

ADD2123 London Curriculum Family Resources 
 
Approved: 
 

1 Commissioning Discovery Games Limited to 
design and deliver London Curriculum Family 
Resources;  
 

2 Expenditure of up to £20,000 for this work; 
and  
 

3  A related exemption under the GLA’s 
Contracts & Funding Code from the requirement 
to procure services competitively. 

22/06/17 Amanda Coyle The estimated cost of £20,000 will be funded 
from external grant received of £158,000 from BE 
OPEN via the Mayor’s Fund, as approved by 
DD2025. 

ADD2127 London MedTech Network 
 
The award of grant funding totalling up to £24,500 
to the South East Health Technologies Alliance to 
enable continued delivery of the London Medtech 
Network’s support for the growth needs of London’s 
250 medical device, diagnostics and digital health 
sector SMEs. 

26/06/17 Mark Kleinman The proposed grant award to the South East 
Health Technologies Alliance of up to £24,500 
will be funded from the Development, Enterprise 
& Environment ‘Minor Programme’ budget for 
2017-18. 

ADD2075 * Regatta Centre Review  
 
That the Assistant Director of Housing & Land 

20/03/17 Simon Powel This decision requests approval to spend £30,000 
seeking valuation & legal support to progress 
discussions with Royal Albert Docks Trust 

P
age 238



          

approves: 
 
1. A budget of £30,000 to commission valuation 

and legal support as set out in this paper. 
 

(RADT), Crossrail & Royal Docks Management 
Authority (RODMA), as well as other issues listed 
in detail in the Executive Summary section above. 
 
These funds are earmarked from the Land and 
Property’s Regatta Centre budget within Housing 
& Land department and will be expended in 
2017/18 financial year. 
 

ADD2095 * Data Storage Expansion 2017 
 

That the Head of Technology approves expenditure 
of up to £50,000 over 3 years for 60 terabytes (TB) 
of expanded storage to support the onsite 
component of the GLA’s hybrid cloud migration 
strategy.  
 
 

30/04/17 David Munn Approval is being sought to spend up to £50,000 
to upgrade the onsite storage capacity for City 
Hall and associated hardware support for 3 years. 
The expenditure is broken down as follows:  
 

2017/18 £37,000 
Capital payment for Storage  
Equipment 

  £2,500 Installation costs 
  £3,500 Year 1 support costs 

2018/19 £3,500 Year 2 support costs 

2019/20 £3,500 Year 3 support costs 

   Total £50,000 
  

The capital expenditure will be funded from the 
Technology Group Capital budget for 2017/18. 
The installation and support expenditure will be 
funded from the Technology Group Programme 
Delivery budget for each of the relevant financial 
years. 
 

 

P
age 239



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 240



          

Mayor’s Report to the Assembly  
   
Background Document – List of published decisions between 29 June 2017 and 31 July 2017  
 
The Part 1 of Mayoral Decisions (from 6 April 2009), Executive Director Decisions (from 1 November 2010), Assistant Director Decisions (from 18 April 
2013) and the non-confidential facts and advice supporting those decisions, are published on the GLA website here within one working day of approval, 
unless deferred. * = previously deferred publication. 
 
 

Ref Decision Date 
Signed 

Approved by/ 
Mayoral Advisor 

Financial Implications (summarised where long) 

MD1569* Removal of Fly Tipped Material from GLAP 
owned sites 
 
Approved: 
 
That the Mayor approves expenditure of up to 
£834,000 for the procurement and appointment of 
an external specialist waste disposal company for the 
removal, reuse, recycling and disposal of the fly 
tipped material.  
 

16/12/15 Boris Johnson (past 
Mayor) / Richard 
Blakeway 

GLAP provided £834,000 for the cost of removing the fly 
tipped material from the GLAP sites in the 2014/15 
Financial Accounts. 

Any cost over the budget provided will be subject to 
further approval and will be contained within the existing 
Housing and Land budget. 

If the material is not removed it will become a developer 
cost that will have to be paid up front making the land less 
attractive to a potential developer. Alternatively the cost 
could be retrieved by the developer from the profits from 
the development scheme thus reducing GLA’s share of the 
profit. In summary, reduced land value or reduced profit 
return for the GLA. 

MD2031* Re-procurement of No Second Night Out 
 
Approved: 
 
That the Mayor: 

 approves expenditure of up to £7.36m to 
procure a No Second Night Out service from 
1 April 2017 and to 31 March 2019; and 

 delegates authority to the Executive Director 
– Housing & Land, in consultation with the 
Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential 
Development, to approve any extension of 
the contract to be procured for the service 

04/10/16 Sadiq Khan / James 
Murray 

This decision requests an approval to expend of up to 
£7.36m on No Second Night Out services, between 1 April 
2017 and to 31 March 2019 (£3.68m per/year) with an 
option to extend the contract for up to two further years. 

The proposed funds will be expended from Rough Sleeping 
Commissioning budget (MD1532), which has been 
allocated a four year indicative Budget of up-to £33.8m 
(£8.450m per/year) subject to approval on an annual basis 
as part of the GLA budget setting process..  

The Programme Policy and Services team within Housing 
and Land directorate will be responsible for managing this 
programme and ensuring that all activities and associated 
expenditure complies with the Authority’s Financial 
Regulations, Contracts & Funding Code and Expenses and 

P
age 241

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/decisions?order=DESC


          

beyond the initial term for up to a further 
two years and related expenditure of up to a 
further £7.36m (in line with the budget 
approved in MD1532). 

 

Benefits Framework. 

Any changes to this proposal, including a continuation 
beyond the period stated above (or a request for additional 
funds), must be subject to further approval via the 
Authority’s decision-making process. 

MD2030* Yallops Yard: Release of overage held by the 
GLA to Action for Bow 
 
Approved: 
 
That the Mayor: 
 

 Approves the release of the overage fund of 
£1,676,328 in total to the Trustees of Action 
for Bow. 

 Agrees the use of an endowment agreement 
between GLA Land and Property Limited 
and the Trustees of Action for Bow to 
enable this. 

15/02/17 Sadiq Khan / James 
Murray 

When the HCA Transfer Scheme took place in 2012, it was 
assumed that the disposal proceeds from the portfolio of 
GLAP assets would fund any liabilities that were inherited.  

Within the transfer, GLAP inherited the right to receive the 
overage. The release of the overage fund was dependent 
on LBTH confirming the completion of the Tredegar road 
bridge infill works, for which LBTH have now confirmed.   

The handover note from the HCA highlights a risk of a 
potential liability of £8,391 which if falls due will be 
contained within the existing Housing and Land budget.  

The endowment agreement between GLAP and AfB sets 
out that the accrued overage payment is to be paid as an 
endowment in order to assist the trust to fulfil its charitable 
objects. At the end of each financial year, AfB is required 
to provide GLAP (monitored by Housing and Land) with a 
statement which has been audited by an independent 
auditor. In the event that AfB ceases to operate, GLAP will 
need to determine a suitable alternative recipient. 

MD2106 London criminal landlords and letting agents 
database 
 
Approved: 
That the Mayor approves: 

 the principle and subsequent development 
of a publicly accessible database holding 
information on prosecutions of landlords and 
letting agents for relevant offences by those 
London boroughs signed up to the initiative; 
and 

 expenditure of up to £150,000, and the 
procurement of services, to develop and 
promote a London criminal landlords and 

04/04/17 Sadiq Khan / James 
Murray 

This decision seeks approval to spend up to £150,000 to 
develop and promote London criminal landlords database. 
These funds are available from Housing and Land’s 
Management and Consultancy budget and will be 
expended in the 2017/18 financial year. 

 

P
age 242



          

letting agents database during 2017/18. 

MD2107* London Borough of Culture 
 
Approved: 
 
The Mayor approves : 

 The receipt of grant funding or sponsorship 
from external funders for the programme 
activities set out in this report and 
associated expenditure. 

 The allocation and expenditure of up to 
£3.837m, (£3.537m GLA budget and £0.3m 
from City Bridge Trust funding) from 
2017/18 to 2020/21, towards the 
programme activities set out in the main 
body of this report. 

04/04/17 Sadiq Khan / Justine 
Simons 

Approval is being sought to spend up to £3.857m to fund 
the LBOC programme. The estimated net cost to the GLA 
will be £3.537m as £0.3m has been secured from City 
Bridge Trust towards the programme. 

It is anticipated this expenditure will occur over four 
financial years and will be taken from the Culture 
Programme budget. The breakdown of this is as follows: 

 £824,000 2017-18 

 £1,293,000 2018-19 

 £1,018,000 2019-20 

 £402,000 2020-21 
 

MD2120* Revoking of approvals in respect of the Garden 
Bridge project 
 
Approved: 

The Mayor approves: 

1. That the GLA does not provide guarantees to the 
Port of London Authority, Westminster City 
Council and the London Borough of Lambeth in 
respect of the Garden Bridge and as authorised 
by the previous Mayor through MD1472 

2. The revocation of the delegation to the 
Executive Director of Resources to agree the 
guarantees’ terms and conditions and related 
arrangements and to execute the guarantees 

3. That the delegations and directions to Transport 
for London given under MD1248, MD1355 and 
MD1472 are hereby revoked, save (i) to the 
extent that TfL has entered into binding 
commitments which it will need to honour; and 
save that (ii) TfL shall continue to perform 
activities relating to the Garden Bridge project 

09/05/17 Sadiq Khan / David 
Bellamy 

The original public funding commitment to the project was 
£60m: half each from the Department for Transport and 
TfL.  The DfT in turn increased the GLA transport grant for 
2014/15 by £30m so that the full £60m has rested with 
and been administered by TfL.  Payments to the Garden 
Bridge Trust have been governed by a Deed of Grant and a 
Loan Facility Agreement. 

Some £37.4m of public funds have been spent on the 
project to date.  In addition, Government agreed to provide 
the Trust with an underwriting of up to £9m, taken from 
DfT’s £30m, should the Trust decide to bring the project to 
an end.  Therefore, up to £46.4m of public funds would be 
unrecoverable were the project to be cancelled, which is 
likely if the Trust is unable to find another suitable 
guarantor. 

Of the £13.6m that remains unspent and is not part of the 
underwriting, £6.1m is from TfL.  This would be reallocated 
to the organisation’s priorities through its business 
planning process.  The remaining £7.5m is from the DfT, 
and the DfT has indicated it would seek to recoup this via a 
reduction in a future GLA transport grant payment.  This 
would also apply to any portion of the £9m underwriting 

P
age 243



          

necessary or expedient to protecting the 
interests of the GLA and TfL 

 

which the Trust did not call upon, such that this money will 
either be paid to the Trust (if required under the terms of 
the underwriting) or returned to the DfT (if not): the 
underwriting is financially neutral to the GLA and TfL. 

The risk of losing value from the existing public 
expenditure, however, is outweighed by the extent of the 
risks arising if the Bridge continues with GLA guarantees.  
The annual running costs of the Bridge are estimated at 
£3m, which the GLA would be liable to meet for the 
lifetime of the Bridge if the Trust were unable to – less any 
revenues generated by the Bridge.   

If the project progresses then there is also a risk that any 
shortfall in capital fundraising for the bridge would fall to 
the GLA or TfL.  There is currently a capital funding gap of 
£70m. 

MD2086* 2014-20 European Regional Development Fund 
(ERDF) programme: London SME fund 
 
Approved: 
 
It is requested that the Mayor approves: 

1. The commitment and award of up to £32m 
European Regional Development Fund to 
SMEWFL;  

2. The acquisition of SMEWFL by means of the 
GLA becoming its sole member. 

 

30/05/17 Sadiq Khan / Rajesh 
Agawal 

SMEWFL’s core business of investing in early stage 
unsecured SMEs is inherently risky and in acquiring the 
company the main risk is whether sufficient return can be 
generated for re-investment and there are no shortfalls for 
operational costs or liquidity issues. 

The carrying value of the current funds provides 
reassurance over the re-investment objectives, although 
the largest fund, the London Co-Investment Fund (LCIF) 
has only invested just over half of its approved funding to 
date. The GLA has approved funding of £25 million for 
LCIF following recommendation from the former London 
Enterprise Panel on the expectation that this is fully repaid 
and re-invested on what would now be the LEAP’s 
priorities. These returns are only likely to begin once the 
fund is fully invested after 2018 and would not be fully 
repaid until the early 2020s.  

The proposed application of the £32 million ERDF funding 
in this decision is to create a new £100 million ‘fund of 
funds’ to provide loan and equity investments. This would 
involve a £50 million loan from the EIB and therefore the 
scale of its investments would eventually more than double 
Funding London’s current investment activity.  

The financial due diligence noted initiatives that have been 

P
age 244



          

taken to improve Funding London’s financial management 
and this will need to be reviewed as part of the on-going 
oversight arrangements. It is not anticipated that the GLA 
would be required to provide any guarantee to the EIB 
(which would need to satisfy itself over repayment), but as 
a company controlled by the GLA, Funding London would 
be consolidated in the GLA’s group statement of accounts. 
The key risk for the GLA would be exposure to having to 
provide the necessary cash flow in the event that Funding 
London did not have sufficiently liquid resources to repay 
the EIB.  

Funding London’s insurance arrangements have also been 
reviewed by the GLA’s insurance adviser. This highlighted 
several issues that are currently being taken forward by 
Funding London.   

MD2132 GLA Food Programme 2017-18 
 
Approved: 
 
The Mayor approves: 

1. The expenditure of up to £237,000 towards the 
projects and elements of staffing to support 
delivery of the Food Programme in 2017/18. 

2. The receipt of an additional external income 
through suitable sponsorships and / or 
partnerships, to be used to enhance the Food 
Programme, if such additional income is available 
and forthcoming. 

03/07/17 Sadiq Khan / Nick 
Bowes 

An allocation of £237,000 has been earmarked from the 
GLA budget to fund the food programme in 2017-18. It is 
currently held in the Economic Business Policy Unit. 

The GLA will seek additional income via sponsorship and 
partner contributions to supplement / enhance the 
programme in 2017-18. It should be noted that no 
contractual commitments on enhancing the programme will 
be made until funding sources have been confirmed. 
 

MD2139 Heart of Harrow and Barking Riverside 
Gateways Housing Zones – variation of 
boundaries and additional funding 
 
Approved: 
 

That the Mayor approves: 

- the addition of the Northolt Road scheme to 
the Heart of Harrow Housing Zone boundary 
as per the map at Appendix 1; 

11/07/17 Sadiq Khan / James 
Murray 

The Housing Zone programme is funded by £200m of loan 
funding from DCLG as well as £200m from the Mayor’s 
Housing Covenant 2015-18 programme. The funding 
available is Capital and no Revenue funding is available. 

The indicative allocation of funds for the Heart of Harrow 
Housing Zone will be split into two Loan Agreements 
between Joint Venture of Origin Housing Limited (OHL) 
and Hill Residential Limited receiving £15m as well as 
Origin Housing Association (OHA), a Registered Provider 
and the parent of OHL, receiving £10m. As a result, the 
total indicative allocation for Heart of Harrow Housing 

P
age 245



          

- allocating a further £25.3m to the Heart of 
Harrow Housing Zone as interest-bearing 
loans, subject to due diligence; 

- the addition of the Beam Park scheme to the 
Barking Riverside Gateways Housing Zone 
boundary as per the map at Appendix 2; and 

- allocating a further £5m loan funding to 
Barking Riverside Gateways Housing Zone, 
subject to due diligence. 

Zone will be £56m (£31m MD1457 + £25m this MD). 

Financial Transaction funding is currently over forecast by 
£33m against the £200m budget. The indicative allocation 
of £25m for the Heart of Harrow will bring the total over 
forecast to £258m. It should be noted, however, that only 
£160m has actually been committed, on four interventions.  

Additionally, the proposal for an indicative allocation of 
£5m to the Barking Riverside Gateways Housing Zone will 
be for interest free Loan Agreement with Countryside 
Properties (UK) Limited to accelerate and/or unlock the 
delivery of housing in the zone. As a result, the total 
indicative allocation for Barking Riverside Housing Zone 
will be £35m (£30m MD1632 + £5m this MD). 

The indicative allocation of funds is not an agreement to 
enter into funding agreements with partner organisations, 
which will be subject to further following financial and legal 
due diligence. Interest rates, for any Interest bearing loans, 
will be set based on this work. 

MD2103* Homes for Londoners Property Portal 
 
Approved: 
 
That the Mayor approves commencement of a 
competitive procurement process to identify a 
private sector partner to deliver and manage a web-
based property portal on London.gov.uk, from 1 
April 2018 until 31 March 2023. 

24/04/17 Sadiq Khan / James 
Murray 

This decision requests approval to commence a 
procurement exercise for the delivery of a single web based 
London property portal to market a range of homes in 
London. The aim is to procure a commercial partner 
(between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2023) which will build 
and manage the portal, which will be fully integrated into 
London.gov.uk, at nil cost to the GLA.  

Under the terms of the contract the successful organisation 
will not be able to charge any fees either to the GLA or to 
housing providers. However, they will be receiving 
reputational/marketing benefits from the relationship and 
be able to propose the ways in which they could 
commercialise the service. GLA officers, in Housing & Land 
department, will be closely monitoring the development as 
well as the delivery of this project. 

MD2123* Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy 2 
(MCIL2) Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule – 
approval for public consultation 
 
Approved: 
 

12/06/17 Sadiq Khan / Jules 
Pipe 

The estimated income that will be raised from 
MCIL2 to assist the financing of Crossrail 2 is  
some £8.6bn in nominal terms from 2019-20 to  
2042-43. 

There are no direct costs to the GLA arising from the 

P
age 246



          

That the Mayor: 

1. Notes the findings and conclusions of the 
Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy 2 
Viability Evidence Base for Preliminary Draft 
Charging Schedule prepared by Jones Lang 
LaSalle (Annex A) 

2. Approves the MCIL2 Preliminary Draft Charging 
Schedule (Annex B) 

3. Approves the MCIL2 Preliminary Draft Charging 
Schedule Supporting Information (Annex C) 

4. Agrees to publish for public consultation the 
MCIL2 PDCS (Annex B), the MCIL2 PDCS 
Supporting Information (Annex C) and the 
MCIL2 PDCS Viability Evidence Base (Annex A) 

5. Delegates authority to the Deputy Mayor for 
Planning, Regeneration and Skills to agree the 
timing of public consultation on the MCIL2 
PDCS and associated documents 

recommendations. TfL will cover the cost of MCIL2 
consultation, publicity, legal advice and public examination 
from the 1% administration charge allowed under the CIL 
regulations. The GLA’s costs will also be met from this 
admin charge. 
 

MD2125* Homes for Londoners - affordable homes 
programme 2016-21 – approval of programme 
budget 
 
Approved: 
 
That the Mayor: 

 Approves an Affordable Housing Programme 
Budget of £3.25bn to deliver at least 90,000 
affordable housing starts through the Homes for 
Londoners: Affordable Homes Programme 2016-
21. 

 Approves the reopening of the Homes for 
Londoners: Affordable Homes Programme 2016-
21 for new bids under Continuous Market 
Engagement. 

12/06/17 Sadiq Khan / James 
Murray 

Approval is being sought for a budget of £3.25bn to deliver 
the 2016-21 Homes for Londoners Affordable Homes 
Programme.   

The programme will be funded from the £3.15bn funding 
that the Mayor has secured from Government; plus an 
additional £100m, which is currently allocated to 
completions and may become available if the completions 
are not achieved.  The profile of the funding has yet to be 
confirmed. 
 

MD2156 Admission of London Borough of Haringey into 
the Group Investment Syndicate and Treasury 
Management Shared Service 

18/07/17 Sadiq Khan / David 
Bellamy 

The estimated costs of contracting with a FSMA 2000 
authorised firm in respect of the investment services 
includes the capital that must be held by the regulated firm 

P
age 247



          

 
Approved: 
 
The Mayor approves: 

an exemption from the GLA’s Contracts and Funding 
Code for the GLA to contract directly with a Financial 
Services Market Act 2000 authorised firm for one 
year to provide certain services relating to the Group 
Investment Syndicate and the treasury management 
services being provided by the GLA to the London 
Borough of Haringey. 

and its insurance costs. These costs will be recouped with 
the expansion of the GIS but can temporarily be contained 
within the GLA’s budget for the treasury function. It is 
anticipated that the direct savings to the GLA from the 
direct costs of the expansion of the GIS as described in 
paragraph 2 will be recouped within one year. 

MD2160 
 

Waltham Forest site acquisition and demolition 
works 
 
Approved: 
 
That the Mayor approves: 

 The proposed acquisition of sites within the 
Waltham Forest Housing Zone for 
redevelopment, in line with the costings outlined 
at paragraph 1.7 of part 2 of this form;  

 Expenditure of up to £362,700 for demolition 
and clearance of all building structures on the 
Webbs Industrial site;  

 Expenditure of up to £21,000 for full 
replacement of the existing hoardings to the 
Webbs Industrial site, including corporate GLA 
Homes for Londoners branding; 

 Expenditure of up to £58,000 for the 
appointment of legal advisors to undertake due 
diligence in relation to the appointment of a 
Development Partner for the Webbs site; and 

 A budget of up to £13,000 for fees to undertake 
the final financial options appraisals and further 
valuation of the Webbs site in preparation for 
disposal. 

18/07/17 Sadiq Khan / James 
Murray 

The Decision is seeking approval for the acquisition of 
three sites located in the London Borough of Waltham 
Forest and approval for a budget to acquire the sites.  The 
acquisitions will be funded from the Housing Zone budget. 

This Decision also requests approval for revenue 
expenditure totalling £454,700 to cover various costs 
within Webbs Industrial Site. Approval is also sought for the 
purchase of sites within the Waltham Forest Housing Zone 
(see part 2 for comments). 

Revenue costs will be expended on: 

 Demolition and clearance of all building structures 
(£362,700 in 2018/19) 

 Full replacement of the existing hoardings, including 
corporate GLA Homes for Londoners branding (21,000 
in 2017/18) 

 Legal advisor, undertaking due diligence, to appoint 
Development Partner (£58,000 in 2017/18) 

 Undertaking financial options appraisals and valuation 
for the disposal (£13,000 in 2017/18) 

This expenditure will be funded from the Blackhorse Road 
Acquisitions budget within the wider Housing & Land 
Programme budget and will be expended across both the 
2017/18 and 2018/19 financial years as noted above. 
Confirmation of the future year funding for Demolition 
works will be subject to the finalisation and sign-off of the 
2018/19 Revenue Budget by the Mayor. 
 

P
age 248



          

MD2153 Greater London Authority (GLA) Financial and 
Performance Outturn for 2016-17 
 
Approved: 
 

That the Mayor: 

1. Notes the financial and performance outturn 
for 2016-17 set out in this decision form, 
including details of transfers to and from 
earmarked reserves; and 

2. Approves the carry forwards from 2016-17 
to 2017-18 set out in this decision form. 

18/07/17 Sadiq Khan / David 
Bellamy 
 

Financial issues are integral to this decision form. 
 

MD2144 Public Practice 
 
Approved: 
 
The Mayor: 
 

i. Approves in principle the formation of Public 
Practice as a company limited by guarantee 
(with charitable status if possible).  

ii. Approves GLA representation (to be 
determined) on the board of directors of the 
new company limited by guarantee. 

iii. Approves expenditure from the DEE Central 
Programme Budget of up to £85,000 in 
17/18; and a commitment to a tapering 
grant of £65,000 in 18/19, £45,000 in 
19/20 and £25,000 in 20/21, subject to 
annual confirmation. 

18/07/17 Sadiq Khan / Jules 
Pipe 

The proposed establishment of ‘Public Practice’ as an 
independent social enterprise is to be created as a 
Company Limited by Guarantee, with the aim of achieving 
charitable status within the first 12 months of operations 
and becoming self-sustaining in 4 years. In the medium 
term, the organisation will be funded via annual 
membership fees from Local Authorities and Public/Private 
Sector funding (including founding partners as noted 
within the main body of this report). 

The GLA, as one of the founding partners will contribute to 
the running costs for the next 4-years via a tapering grant, 
which will be subject to confirmation of match funding 
from the other founding partners. For 2017-18, the GLA 
will also procure legal services up to the value of £25,000 
to establish Public Practice as a legal entity.  

At this stage it is envisaged that there will be no 
requirement to consolidate Public Practice within the GLA’s 
statement of accounts. The GLA, will, however, need to 
make a disclosure in the accounts as having an interest in 
the organisation.  

DD2054* Developing a Strategic Infrastructure 
Investment Programme for London 
 
Approved: 
 
The Executive Director approves the:   

18/10/16 Fiona Fletcher-Smith Approval is being thought for the allocation of £100,000 
from the Infrastructure Investment Plan 2016/17 to secure 
technical input and advisory services to develop the 
Strategic Infrastructure Investment for London programme, 
as underlined in the body of this report. 

P
age 249



          

1. Development of a Strategic Infrastructure 
Investment Programme for London; and 

2. Expenditure of £100,000 from the 
Infrastructure Investment Plan 2016/17 
budget to secure technical input and 
advisory services to develop the programme. 

The funds will be available from the Infrastructure 
Investment budget held under WBS GE.0382.002 within 
the Economic Business Policy Unit (DE&E Directorate) and 
all associated costs will be charged to this code.  

It should be noted that any changes to this proposal, 
including budgetary implications will be subject to the 
Authority’s decision-making process. 
 

DD2080* Childcare Data Project 2017 - Understanding 
and improving the supply of early years 
education and childcare in London 
 
Approved: 
 
That the Executive Director of Development, Design 
and Environment approves the procurement and 
appointment of an external consultant to prepare 
and deliver an Early Years and Childcare data project 
with a value up to £100K, including: 

 £30k in 2016-17 and 

 £70 in 2017-18. 

30/01/17 Fiona Fletcher-Smith The estimated cost of this project is up to the value of 
£100,000 phased over two years. 

The budget will be from the Authority’s 2016-17 Corporate 
Contingency budget. Given that project expenditure will 
span into 2017-18, the £70,000 budget provision will be 
subject to a budget carry forward request at year-end.  

In the event that the budget carry forward request is not 
approved, the £70,000 budget requirement will have first 
call on budget resources allocated to the Economic and 
Business Policy Unit in 2017-18. 

DD2091* Events Research Programme 
 
Approved: 
 
The Executive Director approves expenditure of 
£60,000 in the 2017-18 financial year (from the 
GLA’s consultation budget) on opinion research 
services at cultural festivals and events organised and 
supported by the Mayor (Events for London). 
 

22/02/17 Jeff Jacobs The estimated cost of £60,000 will be funded from GLA’s 
Consultation Budget for 2017-18 within the Intelligence 
Unit. 

DD2093* 
 

Civic Crowdfunding Programme Round 4 
 
Approved: 
 
The Executive Director of Development, Enterprise & 
Environment approves expenditure of up to:  

a) £445,500 in total (£364,000 capital and 
£81,500 revenue) as a contribution to the costs of 

23/02/17 Fiona Fletcher-Smith The total cost of this proposal is £505,500, a combination 
of capital and revenue funding 

With regards to the funding for this proposal; the capital 
element will be funded from the funds secured via the 
London Regeneration Fund, approved by MD1596. The 
revenue costs will be funded from the £1.433m budget 
provision allocated to support the delivery of LEP priorities, 
which is made up of a combination of LEP core funds and 

P
age 250



          

the projects (as ‘Mayoral Pledges’ under the GLA’s 
Mayor’s Civic Crowdfunding Programme) scoring 
highest in the applications made via the Mayor’s 
Civic Crowdfunding Programme to take place from 
March 2017(Individual funding allocations will be 
agreed within this envelope according to governance 
arrangements at paragraph 2.5 and without recourse 
to a further decision.); 

b) £60,000. (revenue) expenditure (from the 
budget made available under cover of MD1561) to 
support the further promotion and development of 
the programme as follows: 

i) up to £20,000 on marketing and 
communications activity; and 

ii) up to £40,000 on programme support 
activity to provide engagement and outreach 
activity, evaluation, research and future platform 
feasibility work; and  

c)     an exemption from the requirement of 
section 4.1 of the GLA’s Contracts and Funding 
Code to undertake competitive procurement activity 
to secure £10,000 (of the £40,000 noted at decision 
1b)ii) above) of services from Spacehive (the GLA’s 
current crowdfunding platform providers). 

GPF revenue funding as approved by MD1561.  
 
 

DD2117* Disposal of Ordnance Jetty, Greenwich 
Peninsula 
 
Approved: 
 
The Executive Director of Housing and Land and the 
Executive Director of Resources approve: 

 the sale of the Ordnance Jetty to Arora 
Hotels 

 initial expenditure of fees up to a maximum 
of £7,000, part of which will be recovered 
from Arora upon completion of the sale. 

 

25/04/17 David Lunts Financial comments are contained in Part 2. 

P
age 251



          

DD2121* London Plan Viability Assessment 
 
Approved: 
 
That the Executive Director of Development, 
Enterprise and Environment approves expenditure of 
up to £120,000 to procure and appoint a team of 
consultants to undertake a viability study and related 
work during the consultation and Examination in 
Public of the London Plan. 
 

15/05/17 Fiona Fletcher-Smith Approval is being sought for expenditure of up to 
£120,000 to procure a team of specialist consultants to 
produce a viability study to support the new Examination in 
Public of the London Plan.  The cost will be funded from 
the London Plan Programme 2017-2018 Budget. 

DD2095 Updates to the GLA’s Anti-Fraud Framework 
 
Approved: 
 

That the Executive Director of Resources approves: 

i. updated versions of the GLA’s Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption Policy & Response Plan and its 
Whistleblowing Policy 

ii. a new GLA Anti-Money Laundering Policy 
 

03/07/17 Martin Clarke There are no direct financial implications to the GLA in 
regards to this decision. 

Trowers and Hamlins will deliver the first set of training, as 
part of the training framework agreement with the GLA. 
Further training sessions to staff will be delivered and 
coordinated in-house.     
 

DD2136 ONS London Statistical Support 

 

Approved: 

 

That the Executive Director is asked to approve: 
 

 Expenditure of up to £140,000 to pay for 
London Statistical Support from the Office for 
National Statistics in 2017/18 

 

04/07/17 Jeff Jacobs The estimated cost of £140,000 will be funded from the 
ONS budget held within the Intelligence Unit’s Budget for 
2017-18. 

DD2140 Lambeth Housing Zone – Regeneration of 
Knights Walk, Westbury and South Lambeth 
Estates 
 
Approved: 
 

That the Executive Director for Housing and Land 

18/07/17 David Lunts This decision requests approval for the GLA to provide a 
recoverable grant funding to London Borough of Lambeth 
(LBL) of £10m to part fund leaseholder buybacks and 
acquisition of a number of freehold interests across the 
Knights Walk, South Lambeth and Westbury Estates, within 
the Lambeth Housing Zone. Satisfactory due diligence has 
been obtained prior to reaching this decision. 

P
age 252



          

and the Executive Director for Resources, after   
consulting with the Deputy Mayor for Housing, 
Land and Residential Development: 

1. Agrees that the outcome of due diligence, 
detailed in this report demonstrates it is 
appropriate for the GLA to contractually 
commit recoverable grant funding of £10m 
to the London Borough of Lambeth to fund 
the intervention specified below within the 
Lambeth Housing Zone; 

2. Agrees the re-profiled start on site and 
completion dates for delivery of the housing 
outputs and timing for funding payments as 
detailed in this report. 

 

The total indicative allocation for the Lambeth Housing 
Zone is £10m (MD1457) and this decision will commit this 
allocation in full. The commitment will be made as a 
recoverable grant, which is repayable, as one single 
payment, once 63% of the homes will reach the stage of 
practical completion (anticipated to be March 2023). 

Grant/Recoverable Grant funding profile is currently over 
forecast by £275.626m against the £400m budget. It 
should be noted, however, that only £99.891m (exclusive 
of the current commitment) has actually been committed 
on eight interventions. 
 

DD2146  Economic Development Strategy 
 
Approved: 
 
That the Executive Director for Development, 
Enterprise & Environment approves expenditure of 
up to £133,500 to deliver the EDS through the 
elements set out in section 2 of this report.  

24/07/17 Fiona Fletcher-Smith The estimated cost up to £133,500 for this strategy will be 
funded from the Infrastructure & Skills budgets held within 
the Economic Business Policy Unit (£73,500) and the LEAP 
Strategies budget (£60,000) for 2017-18. 

DD2145 Plot 5 LSIP – Settlement Agreement 
 
Approved: 
 
That the Executive Director of Housing & Land 
approves: 

 
1. a contribution by GLAP of £125,000 (the 

“Contribution”) towards the cost of the tenant 
of Plot 5, Saria Ltd providing an IP gas 
connection to the LSIP, initially serving Plot 5 
as consideration for, 

2. a binding agreement which will;  

 acknowledge this financial contribution 

 rectify and vary an existing Agreement for 
Lease and Lease of Plot 5 

18/07/17 David Lunts The Decision is seeking approval for GLAP to contribute 
£125k towards the construction cost of a gas supply 
pipeline at London Strategic Industrial Park (LSIP), plot 5.   
The cost of the contribution will be covered by LSIP’s 
capital budget, and actual settlement will be in the form of 
a deduction from amounts due to GLAP by Saria.  The 
Decision is also seeking approval for a variation to the plot 
5 lease agreement, which should not result in further costs 
to GLAP.  
 

P
age 253



          

 grant an easement to Saria for the gas 
pipelines from Plot 5 to the public highway 
in Choats Road 

ADD2025* Greenwich Millennium Village – fees 
 
Approved: 
 
The Assistant Director of Strategic Projects and 
Property approves expenditure of up to £40,000 to 
procure and appoint advisors to undertake a review 
of the costs and values being attributed to the 
Greenwich Millennium Village development. 
 

01/09/16 Simon Powell This decision requests an expenditure of £40,000 to 
appoint a cost consultant to scrutinise cash flow 
information presented by GMVL to confirm that GLAP is 
receiving the correct share of overage proceeds, as well as 
review the project finances as a whole to provide GLAP 
with certainty that finance reporting is accurate and 
adequate.  The fee will include a review on an annual basis 
for a specific number of years to ensure that the scrutiny is 
maintained. 

This expenditure is available from the Housing & Land 
Greenwich Peninsula Professional Fees budget. This 
expenditure will be expended in 2016/17 financial year. 
Strategic Projects and Property Team will be responsible for 
managing this spend. 

ADD2080* Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Legal, 
Consultation and Financial Consultancy 
 
Approved: 
 

That the Assistant Director of Strategic Projects and 
Property approves: 

1. £10,000 of revenue budget for external legal 
review of the draft EZ Deed of Agreement 

2. £15,000 revenue budget for consultation 
programme with key stakeholders in the Royal 
Docks  

3. £25,000 of revenue budget for external 
commercial consultancy to update and add 
detail to the previous DCLG commissioned 
financial model for the EZ under a single source 
appointment. 

21/02/17 Simon Powell This decision requests an approval to spend up-to £50,000 
for Legal, Consultation and Financial Consultancy costs 
associated with Royal Docks Enterprise Zone. These funds 
are available from Housing & Land Royal Docks Investment 
Case budget and will be expended in 2016/17 financial 
year. 
 

ADD2075* Regatta Centre Review 
 
Approved: 
 

That the Assistant Director of Housing & Land 

20/03/17 Simon Powell This decision requests approval to spend £30,000 seeking 
valuation & legal support to progress discussions with 
Royal Albert Docks Trust (RADT), Crossrail & Royal Docks 
Management Authority (RODMA), as well as other issues 
listed in detail in the Executive Summary section above. 

P
age 254



          

approves: 

1. A budget of £30,000 to commission valuation 
and legal support as set out in this paper. 

These funds are earmarked from the Land and Property’s 
Regatta Centre budget within Housing & Land department 
and will be expended in 2017/18 financial year. 

ADD2095* Data Storage Expansion 2017 
 
Approved: 
 
That the Head of Technology approves expenditure 
of up to £50,000 over 3 years for 60 terabytes (TB) 
of expanded storage to support the onsite 
component of the GLA’s hybrid cloud migration 
strategy.  
 
 

5/04/17 David Munn Approval is being sought to spend up to £50,000 to 
upgrade the onsite storage capacity for City Hall and 
associated hardware support for 3 years. The expenditure is 
broken down as follows:  
 

2017/18 £37,000 Capital payment for Storage Equipment 

  £2,500 Installation costs 

  £3,500 Year 1 support costs 

2018/19 £3,500 Year 2 support costs 

2019/20 £3,500 Year 3 support costs 

   Total £50,000 
  

The capital expenditure will be funded from the 
Technology Group Capital budget for 2017/18. 

The installation and support expenditure will be funded 
from the Technology Group Programme Delivery budget 
for each of the relevant financial years. 

DD2113* Grant Funding for the London Strategic 
Migration Partnership (LSMP) including the 
resettlement of Syrian refugees 2017/18 
Approved: 
 
That the Executive Director of Communities and 
Intelligence approves: 

1. Receipt of £124,000 of funding from the Home 
Office; and 

2. Expenditure of the same to lead the London 
Strategic Migration Partnership (LSMP) and 
develop London’s approach to the resettlement 
of Syrian refugees for 2017-18. 

 
 

10/05/17 Jeff Jacobs Approval is being sought for the receipt and expenditure of 
up to £124,000 in grant funding in financial year 2017-18. 

The grant funding will be provided by the Home Office. 
 

P
age 255



          

ADD2121* Land assembly models to maximise 
housebuilding in London. 
Approved: 
 
That the Assistant Director of Housing Programme, 
Policy and Services approves: 

1. Expenditure of up to £50,000 for the 
procurement and appointment of consultants 
to support the GLA’s work to explore statutory 
land assembly models that could increase the 
supply of homes in London.   

01/06/17 Jamie Ratcliff This decision requests an approval to expend up to 
£50,000 to commission consultants supporting the GLA’s 
work in examining how land assembly mechanisms can 
support housing delivery.  

This expenditure is to be met from Housing & Land 
Management and Support Consultancy Operational 
Budget. The total expenditure is to be incurred in the 
2017/18 financial year. 
 

ADD2131 Production Finance Market – Film London  
 
Approved: 
 
That the Acting Head of Culture approves: 

 

 Grant funding to Film London of £50,000 
to deliver the Production Finance Market. 

 

03/07/17 Jackie McNerney Approval is being sought to approve expenditure  
of up to £50,000 as a contribution to the 2017  
Production Finance Market event. 

The proposed expenditure will be issued as a grant to Film 
London who organise this event and subject to a funding 
agreement where outcomes have been agreed. 

This expenditure will be funded from the Culture and 
Creative Industries 2017-18 budget. 

ADD2132 Royal Docks London Festival of Architecture 
 
Approved: 
 
That the Assistant Director of Housing and Land 
approves: 

 £15,000 of revenue budget for a sponsorship 
package with the London Festival of Architecture 
focusing on the Royal Docks; 

 Up to £5,000 of revenue expenditure on the 
costs associated with an exhibition of shortlisted 
entries from an ideas competition for a 
workspace project on land beneath the 
Silvertown Flyover, hosted by the London 
Festival of Architecture. 

03/07/17 Simon Powell This decision requests approval of revenue expenditure of 
up-to £20,000 to undertake marketing activity, host public 
events and work collaboratively with the London Festival of 
Architecture in 2017 in the Royal Docks to advance the 
marketing of the Royal Docks Enterprise Zone.  
The expenditure is available from Housing and Land’s Royal 
Docks EZ Projects Delivery budget and will be fully 
expended in 2017/18 financial year.  
 

ADD2133 Support for Open House London weekend 
 
Approved: 
 

05/07/17 Debbie Jackson The £12,000 cost of this initiative will be funded from the 
2017-18 Growing Places Fund ‘revenue’ budget, 
specifically from under-spends accruing from the LEP SME 
Implementation Plan project previously approved by 

P
age 256



          

That the Assistant Director of Regeneration approves 
expenditure of up to £12,000 to supporting London 
Open House weekend as part of the affordable 
workspace agenda. 
 

MD1245. 

ADD2135 
Social Integration Policy Measurement: Data 
analysis to create performance indicators 

Approved: 
 
That the Assistant Director of Communities and 
Social Policy approves: 

Expenditure of £20,000 for data analysis and 
indicator development on social integration   

 

11/07/17 Julia Slay The estimated cost of £20,000 will be funded from the 
Communities and Social Policy budget for 2017-18. 

ADD2136 Electricity Market and Regulation: Consultancy 
Support 
 
Approved: 
 

That the Assistant Director of Environment approves: 

1. allocation and expenditure of £25,000 on 
specialist energy market and regulation advice 
and project support services from Robert 
Tudway; and 

2. a related exemption from the requirement of 
the GLA’s Contracts and Funding Code that 
such services be procured competitively.   

 

17/07/17 Patrick Feehily Assistant Director’s approval is being sought for 
expenditure of up to £25,000 to appoint a consultant 
specialising in the energy market and to provide regulatory 
support for the Licence Lite Project.  The cost will be 
funded from Licence Lite Markets & Regulation 2017-2018 
income Budget as per MD1542. 
 

 

P
age 257



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 258



          

Mayor’s Report to the Assembly  
   
Background Document – List of decisions between 1 August 2017 and 31 August 2017  
 
The Part 1 of Mayoral Decisions (from 6 April 2009), Executive Director Decisions (from 1 November 2010), Assistant Director Decisions (from 18 April 
2013) and the non-confidential facts and advice supporting those decisions, are published on the GLA website here within one working day of approval, 
unless deferred. * = previously deferred publication. 
 
 

Ref Decision Date 
Signed 

Approved by/ 
Mayoral 
Advisor 

Financial Implications 
(summarised where long) 
 

MD2173 Amendment to the Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy 
instalments policy 
 
Approved: 
 
1. An amended Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy 
instalments policy, as set out in Annex B, and that this takes effect 
from 1 January 2018. 
 
2. Arrangements for publishing the amended instalments policy in 
September 2017. 
 

29/08/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
Jules Pipe, James 
Murray and Val 
Shawcross 

There are no direct financial 
implications for the 2017-18 
London Plan Programme budget 
arising from the decision to amend 
the Mayor’s CIL instalments policy. 

MD2169 General consent for OPDC to provide financial assistance 
 
Approved: 
 
1. A general consent to OPDC, in accordance with sections 213 
and 221 of the Localism Act 2011, for it to give financial 
assistance by way of grant in accordance with the attached 
General Consent and subject to review by September 2018. 
 

29/08/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
David Bellamy 

There are no direct financial 
implications for the GLA arising 
from this proposal.  Any grants 
OPDC makes will need to be 
contained within its existing 
budgets. 

MD2162  Plan and deliver modern and inclusive infrastructure for a 
growing London 
 
 

07/08/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
Jules Pipe 

As part of the 2017-18 budget 
process, the GLA earmarked budget 
provision spanning four financial-
years up to 2020-21 to support this 

P
age 259

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/decisions?order=DESC


          

Approved: 
 
1. Receipt of up to £500,000 from the London Lane Rental 
Scheme Fund. 
 
2. Expenditure of up to £1,479,000 over the next four financial 
years for continuing the work on improved planning and delivery 
of infrastructure across the capital, subject to the GLA’s annual 
budget-setting process. 
 

programme of work, which includes 
budgeted income of £0.5m to be 
generated from the lane rental 
scheme fund. Consequently, over 
the four financial-years the gross 
budget totals £1.479m and the net 
cost to the GLA will be £0.979m. 
 

MD2159 Funding to OPDC to develop a business plan for Old Oak 
North 
 
Approved: 
 
1. An additional £0.8m of funding for OPDC from the Mayoral 
Development Corporation Reserve for additional work and 
resources to support the production of a business plan for Old Oak 
North, to be paid to OPDC as revenue grant funding under section 
121 of the GLA Act 1999. 
 
2. A delegation to the Executive Director of Housing and Land, in 
consultation with the Executive Director of Resources, to draw 
down from the Reserve to fund the additional work and resources 
within Homes for Londoners needed to support OPDC’s work and 
to bring forward wider development within the area. 
 
Part 2 of this decision contains sensitive information which is not 
suitable for disclosure 
 

07/08/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
David Bellamy 

OPDC’s agreed budget for 2016-17 
was £5.4m with a one-off £6.0 
million contribution. OPDC’s 
outturn for 2016-17 was £6.1m. A 
carry forward request of £0.8m 
from the 2016-17 underspend has 
been approved to add to OPDC’s 
approved 2017-18 budget of 
£6.9m. The proposed additional 
contribution of £0.8m to OPDC 
requested in this MD can be funded 
from the Mayor’s Development 
Corporation Reserve. If this were 
approved, OPDC’s 2017-18 budget 
would be £8.5m.  The funding will 
be made as revenue grant under 
section 121 of the GLA Act 1999. 

MD2151 Disposal of Land at Creative Industries Quarter, Abbey 
Road, Barking 
 
Approved: 
 
1. The transfer of GLA Land and Property Ltd’s freehold interest in 
Phase 1 of the completed CIQ development at Abbey Road to the 

07/08/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
James Murray 

This request is seeking approval for 
the disposal of the freehold interest 
in CIQ phase 1 and phase 2 and an 
adjoining strip of land, following 
the leasehold disposal of the site to 
LBBD. Approval is also sought for 
additional budget of £11,122 to 

P
age 260



          

London Borough of Barking & Dagenham. 
 
2. The transfer of a strip of land adjacent to the CIQ development 
to the London Borough of Barking & Dagenham. 
 
3. An increase in the project budget of £11,122 to cover additional 
project costs, valuation fees and legal fees for the transfer of the 
freehold interest. 
 
Part 2 of this decision contains sensitive information which is not 
suitable for disclosure 
 

complete the transfer of the 
freehold interest. 

MD2150 Appointment of Developer for the former Webbs Site 
 
Approved: 
 
1. The selection of the preferred development partner by entry 
into the Development Agreement, which will signal the closure of 
the procurement process. 
 
2. A delegation to the Executive Director of Housing and Land, in 
consultation with the Executive Director of Resources, to finalise 
the form of, and enter into, the Development Agreement and any 
ancillary agreements required to deliver the redevelopment of this 
site including, but not limited to, any wayleaves, easements, 
licenses, Section 104, 106, 278 and 38 agreements, ancillary 
leases, side letters, discharging of obligations and non-material 
amendments to any such agreements. 
 
Part 2 of this decision contains sensitive information which is not 
suitable for disclosure 
 

23/08/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
James Murray 

The Decision is seeking approval to 
appoint the successful bidder as 
development partner, for the 
development of Webbs site, 
following a competitive 
procurement process.  The 
development will be within London 
Borough of Waltham Forest 
Housing Zone, and will consist of   
100 per cent Shared Home 
Ownership (SHO). 
 
The successful bidder has offered a 
guaranteed minimum land value 
which is best consideration.  The 
valuation of the site was completed 
by a firm of independent property 
consultants, G L Hearn.  GLAP will 
also earn overage form the 
development 
 

MD2148 Estate Management Shared Service 
 
Approved: 
 

07/08/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
James Murray 

This decision sets out a proposal to 
enter into shared services 
arrangement between the GLA and 
TfL, whereupon TfL will provide 

P
age 261



          

1. The GLA’s entry into a shared service arrangement, under 
section 401A of the Greater London Authority Act 1999, with TfL 
for the provision of estates management services on a cost 
recovery basis. The estimated cost for the first year is £506,000. 
 
2. Delegates authority to the Executive Directors of Resources and 
Housing and Land to prepare, finalise and subsequently execute 
on behalf of the GLA documentation putting into place the 
arrangements under section 401A. 
 

Estate Management services to the 
GLA. There are currently 7 GLA 
established posts within Estates 
team, with only 4 being filled by 
the permanent employees. As a 
result of entering into the Shared 
Services Arrangement with TfL, all 
seven posts would require deletion 
with only four permanent staff in 
the Estates team transferring over 
to TfL under the principles of TUPE 
regulations. 
 
Shared Services fees payable to TfL 
for the provision of Estate 
Management Services will be on a 
cost recovery basis. This is 
estimated to be £506,000 p.a. for 
the first year which will be 
contained within allocated Estates 
Budget.  
 

MD2147 Education and Youth Work Programme 2017-18 to 2020-21 
 
Approved: 
 
1. The Education and Youth work programme and associated 
expenditure of £2.258m spread over the financial years from 
2017-18 to 2020-21 as set out in this paper subject to the 
inclusion of appropriate break clauses in all funding agreements, 
and in all contracts awarded. 
 
2. Receipt of up to £250,000 of European Social Fund should it be 
forthcoming for the early years leader programme spread over the 
financial years from 2017-18 to 2020-21. 
 

07/08/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
Joanne 
McCartney 

The net cost to the GLA of £519k 
for the year 2017-18, will be 
funded from the Education and 
Youth Team’s budget for 2017-18 
(as approved by MD2091). Future 
years’ budgets are indicative and 
still subject to the GLA’s annual 
budget setting process. 

P
age 262



          

MD2145 Commitment of the European Regional Development Fund 
to applications under call 5 
 
Approved: 
 
1. The commitment and award of up to £6.5m European Regional 
Development Fund to applicants of the fifth call for proposals to 
support jobs and growth, as set out in the Part 2 confidential 
section. 
 
2. That following on from the award of funding, officers of the 
Greater London Authority’s European Programmes Management 
Unit will manage the Funding Agreements in accordance with the 
delegations set out in MD1583. 
 
Part 2 of this decision contains sensitive information which is not 
suitable for disclosure 
 

07/08/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
Rajesh Agarwal 

Approval is being sought for the 
commitment and award of ERDF up 
to a total of £6.5 million for the 
successful applicants of the fifth 
Call for Proposals, supporting 
economic growth and job creation. 
Further details set out in part 2.  
 
The GLA is the designated 
Intermediate Body for the 
management and administration of 
the 2014-20 ERDF on behalf of 
DCLG. The European Programmes 
Management Unit (EPMU) will 
continue to be responsible for 
managing the programme on behalf 
of the GLA. 
 

MD2143 Consultation on the Mayor’s London Health Inequalities 
Strategy 
 
Approved: 
 
1. The draft London Health Inequalities Strategy document “Better 
Health for all Londoners” for the purpose of the formal statutory 
consultation with stakeholders and the public. 
  
2. Notes the IIA which has been prepared in respect of the draft 
London Health Inequalities Strategy. 
 
3. The consultation period starting on 23 August for a period of 
three months. 
 

23/08/17 Sadiq Khan/  
Nick Bowes 

There are no financial implications 
to this decision other than those 
already agreed under MD2115. 

MD2142 Skills for Londoners Capital Fund 
 
Approved: 
 

07/08/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
Jules Pipe 

The proposed expenditure of 
£114m is to be funded from the 
receipt of £56m Growth Deal 3 
allocation of which up to £5m will 

P
age 263



          

1. Receipt of £56m of funding from Government awarded to the 
London Economic Action Partnership (LEAP) as part of the Growth 
Deal 3 allocation, 
 
2. Spend of £114m of Skills for Londoners funding, including:  
 
a) £98m as a contribution to the costs of successful applications to 
the Skills for Londoners Capital Fund main programme; 
 
b) £3m as a contribution to the costs of successful applications to 
the Skills for Londoners Small Projects and Equipment fund; 
 
c) Up to £5m revenue expenditure for costs both to support 
applicants in the development of their proposals and to provide for 
associated operational expenditure and programme support costs 
to enable the delivery of the programme, and within this sum, 
£1.5m to enable the launch of the Development Support Fund. 
 
3. A delegation to the GLA’s Executive Director of Development, 
Enterprise and Environment to approve detailed allocations of the 
funding proposed above, in consultation with LEAP. 
 

be funded via a Capital/Revenue 
swap of GLA budget resource, 
specially by reducing the capital 
resource allocation to the Mayor’s 
regeneration fund and drawing 
down the Capital Programme 
Reserve which is funded by 
revenue.  The remaining £58m 
balance is to be funded from 
unallocated Growth Deal1funding 
of £19.9m and £38m Growth Deal 
2 funding to be received over the 
next 4 years. Future years’ funding 
remains indicative and the 
programme will need to be scaled 
to available resources should any 
shortfalls occur against the 
indicative profile. 

MD2140 Publication of the draft London Environment Strategy and 
supporting documents 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Publication of the draft London Environment Strategy for a 14-
week consultation period. 
 
2. Publication of the Mayor’s draft Solar Action Plan. 
 
3. Publication of the Mayor’s draft Fuel Poverty Action Plan. 
 

11/08/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
Shirley Rodrigues 

There are no are no direct financial 
implications for the GLA arising 
from this proposal. 
 
The Environment Team within the 
GLA’s Development, Enterprise & 
Environment Directorate will be 
responsible for the draft strategy. 

MD2126 Crystal Palace, National Sports Centre -  Leisure 
Management Contract Extension 
 

07/08/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
Jules Pipe 

This decision requests approval to 
extend the contract with GLL for 
the provision of leisure 

P
age 264



          

Approved: 
 
 
1. The extension of the contract under which GLL provides leisure 
management services to GLAP for a minimum of 2 years from the 
1st April 2018 with an option to extend this by a further 1 year 
(2+1 years). 
 
2. An exemption from the requirements of section 9 of the GLA’s 
Contracts and Funding Code in order to allow for a short term 
contract extension without a competitive procurement exercise. 
 
Part 2 of this decision contains sensitive information which is not 
suitable for disclosure 
 

management services to GLAP for 
2+1 years from the 1 April 2018. 
The previous extension for this 
contract was granted under 
MD1602, expiring 31 March 2018.  
 
The contract is to be extended on 
similar terms, whereby GLAP is not 
incurring any management fees and 
reflecting appropriate adjustments 
of GLAP’s contribution towards 
VAT and meeting the Mayor’s 
London Living Wage commitment 
for the years in question. 
 

MD2122* Pocket 2017 funding allocation 
 
Approved: 
 
1. The allocation to a Pocket entity, subject to contract, of: (i) 
£25m funding from the Homes for Londoners: Affordable Homes 
Programme 2016-2021; and (ii) up to £26.4m of funding, re-
allocated from an existing funding agreement between the GLA 
and Pocket Living (2013) LLP dated 19 July 2013, to fund the 
acquisition of sites and related pre-construction costs agreed with 
the GLA, noting that such funding shall only be contractually 
committed subject to the satisfactory outcome of legal and 
financial due diligence and a commitment from Pocket to deliver 
at least 1,059 affordable housing starts by March 2021 in addition 
to the affordable housing to be delivered under the existing 
agreement dated 19 July 2013. 
 
2. Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Housing and 
Land and the Executive Director of Resources, in agreement with 
the Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development, to 
determine that such due diligence (including requirements set out 
in Finance comments in the Part II decision) has been satisfactorily 

09/05/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
James Murray 

Detailed financial comments are 
provided in part 2 confidential 
section. 

P
age 265



          

undertaken and that it is appropriate for the GLA (or GLA Land 
and Property Limited) to contractually commit funding of up to 
£51.4m to Pocket in line with the information set out in this 
Mayoral Decision.   
 
3. Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Housing and 
Land and the Executive Director of Resources, in consultation with 
the Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development, to 
take all steps necessary to finalise, approve and execute 
documentation in relation to this funding of up to £51.4m with 
Pocket, including: any variations required to the existing funding 
agreement between the GLA and Pocket Living (2013) LLP dated 
19 July 2013 and related documentation to facilitate the use of 
proceeds under the existing funding agreement to be used under 
this new funding proposal; a loan funding agreement; any inter-
creditor arrangements and security documentation required in 
relation to the funding; and any other legal agreements required 
to implement this funding proposal. 
 
Part 2 of this decision contains sensitive information which is not 
suitable for disclosure 
 

MD2054 Events for London Programme 2017/18 
 
Approved: 
 
1. The 2017-18 core Events Programme and associated 
expenditure of up to £2,022,000, of which £1,647,000 is net 
expenditure. 
 
2. The seeking of sponsorship from suitable partners in order to 
raise additional revenue for the core Events Programme (target 
£375,000), which will be used to enhance events within the 
Programme if forthcoming. 
 
Part 2 of this decision contains sensitive information which is not 
suitable for disclosure 

07/08/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
Leah Kreitzman 

The total estimated gross cost of 
the 2017-18 Events for London 
Programme is £2,022,000 and the 
net cost to the GLA is £1,647,000, 
with the balance of £375,000 being 
funded via third party income in the 
form of sponsorship income, grant 
contributions and stall revenue.  
 
With regards to the GLA net cost to 
the Events Programme, a budget 
provision of £1,647,000 has been 
included in the 2017-18 budget to 
fund the portfolio of events. 
Depending on the delivery of each 

P
age 266



          

 event, there may be some budget 
realignments and reallocation 
required across projects, which will 
take place in-year as required. 
 
In-line with previous years, the 
Events Team has budgeted for 
income totalling £375,000 to 
enhance and supplement some of 
the events proposed. If the income 
target is not met, projects will be 
reduced to the funding available 
and the income secured. 
 

DD2153 Southall Gateway Housing Zone, London Borough of Ealing 
– Land Assembly 
 
Approved: 
 
1. That in light of the due diligence detailed in the decision form, 
the contractual commitment of recoverable grant funding to the 
London Borough of Ealing (LBE) of up to £5,750,000 for the 
purpose of unlocking the delivery of housing within the Southall 
Gateway Housing Zone. 
 
Part 2 of this decision contains sensitive information which is not 
suitable for disclosure 
 

15/08/17 David Lunts/ 
Tom Middleton 

LBE’s initial site acquisition strategy 
is through private treaty, with the 
fall-back position of purchasing 
through a Compulsory Purchase 
Order (CPO) route, which 
potentially may require additional 
funding. 
 
The total indicative allocation for 
the Southall Gateway Housing Zone 
is £19.875m (MD1457) of which 
£14.125m (DD1397) has been 
contractually committed already 
and the additional allocation of 
£5.750m (this MD) will utilise the 
indicative allocation in full.  
 

DD2151 London Street Markets 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of up to £125,345 on supporting the London Street 
Markets programme. 

08/08/17 Mark Kleinman The proposed initial expenditure of 
up to £125,345 on the London 
Streets Market Programme will be 
funded from the Growing Places 
Fund ‘revenue budget’ for 2017-
18, specifically via the reallocation 

P
age 267



          

 
2. A delegation to the Assistant Director of Regeneration to 
approve, via an Assistant Director Decision Form, the detailed 
expenditure for the London Street Markets programme. 
 

of unused funds from the London 
Business Improvement District 
(BID) programme approved by 
MD1245. Any further expenditure 
required on this programme will be 
subject to further approval via the 
Authority’s decision-making 
process. 
 

DD2150 Evaluation of 2014-2020 European Social Fund Programme 
 
Approved: 
 
1. The commitment of up to £140,000 (comprising £100,000 
funded through the European Programmes Management Unit 
budget, £20,000 from the Economic and Business Policy Unit 
budget and £20,000 from the London Economic Action 
Partnership’s Strategies Fund) for the procurement of contracts 
for evaluation services in respect of the 2014-2020 ESF 
programme. 
 

01/08/17 Martin Clarke London Councils have in principle 
agreed to contribute £10,000 to 
fund the Youth strand. These 
would be utilised to reduce 
contribution from the GLA or meet 
additional costs up to a total cost 
of £150,000. 

DD2148 Costs for Royal Docks Team Office Move 
 
Approved: 
 
1. £141K for the relocation of the new Royal Docks team to the 
Siemens Crystal building. 
 
Part 2 of this decision contains sensitive information which is not 
suitable for disclosure 

01/08/17 David Lunts This decision requests approval to 
expend up-to £141k for the 
relocation of the new Royal Docks 
team to the Siemens Crystal 
building.  This can be contained 
within the budget allocated in 
MD2049. The above costs are a 
mixture of equipment/legal/rent 
and running costs estimated for the 
year. 
 
This expenditure is to be funded 
from Royal Docks EZ Projects 
Delivery Budget within Housing & 
Land directorate and will be 
incurred in 2017/18 financial year. 

P
age 268



          

 
 
 

DD2147 Pocket 2017 Funding Allocation 
 
Approved: 
 
1. An investment of £51.4m in Pocket Living Ltd for a revolving 
fund to finance the acquisition of sites and related pre-
construction costs so as to deliver at least 1,059 affordable 
housing starts by March 2021, and in addition to the affordable 
housing to be delivered under the existing agreement dated 19 
July 2013. 
 
2. That of the £51.4m investment:  
 
a) approximately £3.75m, for the market element of development, 
be in the form of a commercial loan at an interest rate set out in 
part 2 of this decision form; 
 
b) £4.9m will be a commercial loan of working capital to cover 
overheads at an interest rate also set out in part 2 of this decision 
form. 
 
3. To formalise the above, that the GLA enters into: 
 
a) a new loan funding agreement Pocket Living 2017 Ltd; 
 
b) an inter-creditor arrangement between Pocket, HCA and Lloyds 
Bank; 
 
c) a guarantee from Related. 
 
Part 2 of this decision contains sensitive information which is not 
suitable for disclosure 
 
 

01/08/17 David Lunts/ 
Martin Clarke 

Detailed financial comments are 
provided in part 2 section of the 
decision form. 
 

P
age 269



          

 
 
 

DD2144 Housing Zones revenue bids 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Allocations totalling £598,000 of revenue funding to the 
identified London Boroughs for the 2017/18 and 2018/19 
financial years to support enhanced delivery of affordable homes 
in Housing Zones. 
 

01/08/17 David Lunts This decision requests approval for 
revenue expenditure totalling 
£598k to support London Boroughs 
with additional staffing and 
planning & design costs to expedite 
the delivery of affordable housing.  
 
Following a competitive bidding 
process 21 bids (across 30 Housing 
Zones) were received and 
evaluated, with 12 boroughs 
awarded the funding following the 
Housing Zones Steering Group 
meeting in June 2017. 
 
The 2017/18 budget setting 
process approved £306k of the 
above request from the Housing 
Zones Revenue Budget within 
Housing & Land department. The 
remaining £292k indicative amount 
will be subject to approval through 
2018/19 budget setting process. 
 

DD2143 Hydrogen London Partnership Budget and Expenditure 
2017/18 
 
Approved: 
 
1. The programme of work for 2017/2018 to support the increase 
in activities in the hydrogen sector in London in line with the 
Mayor’s strategy. 
 
2. The associated programme budget of £ 84,068 (£46,068 

01/08/17 Mark Kleinman The expenditure will be funded the 
London Hydrogen Programme 
Budget which is a combination of 
income in advance carried forward 
from 2016-17 to 2017-18 and 
membership fees for 2017-2018. 

P
age 270



          

income in advance from 2016/17(£38,885 membership fees and 
£7,183 funding for EU HYLAW project); £38,000 from 
membership fees to be committed during the 2017/18 financial 
year as agreed by the Hydrogen London Partnership Executive 
Committee (March 2017) and the GLA. 
 
3. The associated expenditure in relation to the programme of 
work. 
 

DD2142 London Enterprise Adviser Network 
 
Approved: 
 
1. The allocation of £100k from the GLA’s London Economic 
Action Partnership core fund and expenditure of the same for staff 
salaries and project costs associated with the delivery of the 
London Enterprise Adviser Network. 

15/08/17 Jeff Jacobs Match funding of £100,000 will be 
provided by The Careers & 
Enterprise Company which was 
approved by MD2124.  Total 
receipts of £200,000 will fund three 
Grade 8 Enterprise Coordinators 
costs who will be managed by the 
Team London and also project 
delivery costs spanning two 
financial years 2017-18 and 2018-
19. 
 

DD2129 Procurement of a Corporate Travel Management Company 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Entry into a contract with Capita Travel and Events Ltd for a 
fully managed travel services and associated expenditure of 
£32,340 over five years. 
 

07/08/17 Martin Clarke The 2017-18 cost will be funded 
from the Financial Services Team’s 
budget for 2017-18. Future years 
costs are still subject to the GLA’s 
annual budget setting process. 

DD2120* Statutory Debates 2017/2018 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of up to £55,000 to develop and deliver the State 
of London Debate in June 2017. 
 
2. Expenditure of up to £55,000 to deliver two People’s Question 

15/05/17 Martin Clarke The proposed GLA expenditure on 
the statutory debates of up to 
£110,000 will be funded from the 
Events for London Programme 
budget for 2017-18. 

P
age 271



          

Times; one in November 2017 and one in March 2018. 
 

DD2116* Eid Festival 2017 
 
Approved: 
 
1. A core GLA budget up to £75,000 to develop and deliver the 
Eid Festival.  
 
2.  The seeking of additional sponsorship for Eid, to be used to 
further enhance the event if forthcoming. 
 

18/04/17 Martin Clarke As part of the 2017-18 GLA budget 
process, an allocation of £75,000 
has been earmarked from within 
the Events for London Programme 
budget to fund the 2017 Eid 
Festival. The core expenditure will 
include the procurement of a 
production and event management 
service via the TfL/ GLA Events 
Framework Agreement. 
 

ADD2153 Spike digital engagement monitoring software 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of up to £30,000 from August 2017 to July 2018 
on a licence for the use of social media engagement tool, Spike. 
 
2. A related exemption from the requirement of the GLA’s 
Contracts & Funding Code to procure competitively. 
 

30/08/17 Emma Strain This expenditure will be met from 
the Marketing, Brand and Digital 
Unit 2017/18 Budget. 

ADD2143 London Sustainable Development Commission’s Quality of 
Life Indicators Report 2017 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of up to £15,000 to engage a consultant to 
undertake research for and produce the LSDC’s fifth Quality of 
Life Indicators report 2017. 
 

22/08/17 Patrick Feehily The expenditure of up to £15,000 
will be funded from the Sustainable 
Development Programmes budget 
for 2017-18, held within the 
Communities and Intelligence 
Directorate. 

ADD2140 Flagship music campaign (London Music Month) 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of up to £50,000 to develop a campaign to raise 

31/07/17 Jackie McNerney The proposed expenditure will be 
funded from the Culture and 
Creative Industries unit. 

P
age 272



          

the profile of London’s music offer at home and around the world. 
 

ADD2137 Search agency for specialist security & operations roles 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure up to a total of £24,000 for two years (up to 
August 2019) to procure a specialist search agency to assist with 
the recruitment process for security and operations posts. 

01/08/17 Chris Harris The total estimated costs of the 
contract are up to a maximum of 
£24,000 over two years and will be 
funded from the Facilities 
Management Staffing budget 
(Resources Directorate) in 2017/18 
and 2018/19. 
 

 

P
age 273



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 274



 

        

Mayor’s Report to the Assembly  
   
Background Document – List of decisions between 1 September 2017 and 28 September 2017  
 
The Part 1 of Mayoral Decisions (from 6 April 2009), Executive Director Decisions (from 1 November 2010), Assistant Director Decisions (from 18 April 
2013) and the non-confidential facts and advice supporting those decisions, are published on the GLA website here within one working day of approval, 
unless deferred. * = previously deferred publication. 
 
 

Ref Decision Date 
Signed 

Approved by/ 
Mayoral 
Advisor 

Financial Implications (summarised 
where long) 
 

MD2174 Old North Woolwich Station 
 
Approved: 
 
1. The GLA’s receipt and use of a £324,000 capital funding 
contribution from Crossrail toward the costs of the North 
Woolwich old station Project. 
 
2. A related variation to the GLA’s London Regeneration Fund 
Grant Agreement with the London Borough of Newham in 
relation to the North Woolwich old station project to reflect the 
increase in funding available and incorporation of additional 
milestones arising from the London Borough of Newham’s 
procurement of the Grade II listed former station.    
 
Facts and advice that are confidential at this time are set out in 
a part 2. 
     

11/09/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
Jules Pipe 

The financial implications for the GLA 
are set out in Part 2. 

MD2171 Young London Inspired 
 
Approved: 
 
1. The receipt of #iwill funding from the Big Lottery Fund as 
follows:  

28/09/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
Matthew Ryder 

Expenditure of £900k on the Team 
London Young Ambassadors 
Programmes, with costs incurred over 3 
financial years in 2017-18 (£300k), 
2018-19 (£300k), and 2019-20 (£300k). 
£450k will be funded by the GLA and 

P
age 275

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/decisions?order=DESC


 

        

 

 £450k as a 50 per cent contribution towards the costs of its 
Team London Young Ambassadors programme 2017-20;  

 

 £383k as a 50 per cent contribution towards the cost of its 
small grants programme 2017-20. 

 
2. Expenditure of up to:  
 

 £900k (£450k coming from existing planned GLA resources) 
on the Team London Young Ambassador programme 2017-
20;  

 

 £766k (£383k coming from existing GLA resources) on the 
small grants programme 2017-20; and  

 

 £50k, in the form of grant funding, from the GLA to 
v•inspired as a contribution to the costs of its v•Rewards 
project. 

 
Facts and advice that are confidential at this time are set out in 
a part 2. 
 

the other £450k will be funded by grant 
income from #iwill. For the year 2017-
18, £50k was approved by the Mayor 
under cover of MD2124, with the 
balance to be funded from the 
Communities and Intelligence’s Minor 
Programmes Budget for 2017-18. 
 
Expenditure of £766k on the Small 
Grants Programme, with costs incurred 
over 3 financial years in 2017-18 
(£255k), 2018-19 (£255k), and 2019-20 
(£256k). £383k will be funded by the 
GLA and the other £383k will be funded 
by grant income from #Iwill. For the year 
2017-18, £128k will be funded from the 
Third Sector Support Programme budget 
as approved by the Mayor under cover 
of MD2124. 
 
Expenditure of £50k in grant funding to 
v•inspired to support the v•Rewards 
strand of the Young London Inspired 
programme. This will be funded from the 
Rewards and Recognition Programme 
budget for 2017-18 as approved by the 
Mayor under cover of MD2124 
 
With regards to future years’ budget, 
these have been earmarked within the 
GLA’s draft spending plans for each 
year, but will still be subject to the 
Authority’s annual budget setting 
process. 
 
 

P
age 276



 

        

MD2138 The Mayor’s Entrepreneur Project: 2018 & 2019 
 
Approved: 
 
1. The receipt of funding, via a funding agreement between the 
GLA and the Mayor’s Fund for London, totalling £306,000 over 
two-years to deliver the Mayor’s Entrepreneur competition in 
2018 and 2019. 
 
2. Expenditure of the same to deliver the Mayor’s Entrepreneur 
competition for the next 2 years. 
 

05/09/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
Shirley 
Rodrigues 

Mayoral approval is being sought to 
deliver the Mayor’s Entrepreneur Project 
for 2017-18 and 2018-19 including the 
receipt of $425,000 (via a funding 
agreement with the Mayor’s Fund for 
London), secured from the chosen 
foundation, to cover delivery costs. 
 
The Mayor’s Fund for London will retain 
£34,000 over the two years to cover 
administration costs associated with the 
grant agreement, leaving the Greater 
London Authority with £306,000 of the 
funding to deliver the project.   
 

MD2131 Recovery of Capital Grants and Recycled Capital Grant 
Fund General Determinations 2017 
 
Approved: 
 
1. ‘The Recovery of Capital Grants from Registered Providers 
and Recycled Capital Grant Fund (Greater London) General 
Determination 2017’. 
 
2. ‘The Recovery of Capital Grants from Unregistered Bodies 
(Greater London) General Determination 2017’. 
 
3. In taking the decision to approve the Determinations, takes 
into account responses to the consultation summarised in 
Appendix 4 to the decision form. 
 

05/09/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
James Murray 

This decision requests approvals for the 
determination to recover Capital Grant 
Funds from Registered and Unregistered 
Providers as well as the determination to 
recover Recycled Capital Grant Fund 
(Greater London) from Registered 
Providers.  
 
The consultation has been carried out 
within existing resources and there are 
no cost implications arising from this 
decision. 

MD2101 City Island London Film School relocation 
 
Approved: 
 
1. That GLAP issues a letter of consent to Ballymore to allow 
for the grant of two leases to LFS of property at City Island, and 

28/09/17 Sadiq Khan/ 
James Murray 

GLAP has a restrictive covenant on land 
at City Island, which is being developed 
by Ballymore Group. The covenant has a 
life of 21 years from 25th February 2008 
with a value £7m plus VAT, for full 
release of the covenant.  Ballymore 

P
age 277



 

        

for the use of the property as an educational facility and 
ancillary office space; and 
 
2. That GLAP waives any breach of restrictive covenant and 
clawback payment due to GLAP as a result of the use in 
paragraph (1) above.   

Group wants to lease the land to London 
Film School (LFS).    
 
The paper is seeking consent from GLAP 
for Ballymore to grant a lease to LFS and 
for GLAP to give permission for the site 
to be occupied by LFS as an educational 
facility.  Ballymore is not seeking full 
release of the covenant.   
 
An independent review by professional 
consultants into the lease arrangement 
with LFS, concluded that there were no 
financial gains to Ballymore.  Ballymore 
will fund all the legal and consultancy 
costs associated with the arrangements. 
 

DD2165 Business Continuity Fund – Borough Market Traders 
Fund 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of £175,000, from the Business Continuity Fund 
and as a contribution to the Borough Market Traders Support 
Fund, to support business affected by the London Bridge 
Terrorist attack. 
 
 
 

26/09/17 Fiona Fletcher-
Smith 

The additional grant of £175,000 to the 
Borough Market Traders Fund will be 
met from the Business Continuity Fund 
established via MD2158. 

DD2162 LEAP administration costs 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of £25,000 in each of 2017/18 and 2018/19, 
with expenditure in 2018/19 subject to receipt of LEAP core 
funds grant of £500,000 from Government. 
 

26/09/17 Fiona Fletcher-
Smith 

Expenditure for 2018-19 will be subject 
to annual confirmation of LEAP grant 
funding of £500,000 from Central 
Government (Department of 
Communities and Local Government).  
The costs will be funded from London’s 
Enterprise Action Partnership Strategic 
Plans Funds 2017-2018 Budget and any 

P
age 278



 

        

LEAP budget confirmed in future years. 
 

DD2160 Northolt Road, Heart of Harrow Housing Zone (LB 
Harrow) 
 
Approved: 
 
1. That the Executive Director, Housing and Land and the 
Executive Director, Resources, in consultation with the Deputy 
Mayor for Housing and Residential Development, agree that 
the outcome of due diligence, detailed in this report, 
demonstrates it is appropriate for GLA Land and Property 
Limited (GLAP) to contractually commit loan funding of 
£25,336,956 to fund the Northolt Road intervention specified 
below within the Heart of Harrow Housing Zone. 
 
Facts and advice that are confidential at this time are set out in 
a part 2. 
 

26/09/17 David Lunts/ 
Martin Clarke 

The total indicative allocation for the 
Northolt Road Housing Zone is £25m 
(MD2139) and this decision will commit 
this allocation in full. The commitment 
will be made as a loan funding, and is 
repayable based upon conditions listed 
in Part 2 (Section 1.5) of the decision. 
Funding will be split into two Loan 
Agreements between Joint Venture of 
Origin Housing Developments Limited 
and Hill Residential Limited receiving 
£15m, as well as Origin Housing 
Association (Origin Housing Limited), a 
Registered Provider and the parent of 
Origin Housing Developments Limited, 
receiving £10m.    
 
Financial Transaction funding is currently 
over forecast by almost £59m against 
the £200m budget. It should be noted, 
however, that only £160m (exclusive of 
the current commitment) has actually 
been committed, on four interventions. 
 
Additional comments included in Part 2. 
 

DD2159 The Mayor’s Citizen Led Engagement Programme for 
London 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of £80,000 to deliver the Mayor’s Citizen Led 
Engagement Programme for London. 
 

06/09/17 Jeff Jacobs The estimated cost of £80,000 will be 
funded from the Communities and Social 
Policy Unit’s budget for 2017-18. 

P
age 279



 

        

DD2157 Support for Skills London 2017 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Grant funding of up to £50,000 to the Skills Festival 
Company Limited for additional content and features at the 
Skills London 2017 event. 
 

12/09/17 Fiona Fletcher-
Smith 

The proposed grant of up to £50,000 to 
the Skills Festival Company Limited to 
support the Skills London 2017 event 
will be funded from the 2017-18 
Apprenticeships budget held within the 
Economic Business Policy Unit. 

DD2156 Team London – Team London Young Ambassadors 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of up to £90,000 as a contribution to the costs 
of Free the Children’s continuing the delivery of its TLYA 
project (which aligns with the aims of the GLA’s TLYA 
programme) for a further four months from September 2017 
until 31 December 2017. 
 
2. A related extension of the existing funding agreement with 
Free the Children from 28 September 2017 until 26 January 
2018. 
 

06/09/17 Martin Clarke The GLA’s contribution of £90,000 for 
this proposal currently sits within the 
Team London Young Ambassadors 
(Schools) element of the budget. 
 
Approval is being sought to extend the 
existing funding agreement with Free 
the Children from 28 September 2017 
until 31st December 2017. 

DD2087 Silvertown Way Budget & s106 Approval 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of up to £80,000 to meet the ongoing costs of 
managing and monitoring of the Silvertown Way development, 
in accordance with the development agreement entered into on 
26th June 2015 between Galliford Try Partnerships & Linden 
Limited and GLA Land & Property.  
 
2. GLAP entering into a s106 agreement with Newham Borough 
Council and Opal (Silvertown) LLP. 
 
Facts and advice that are confidential at this time are set out in 
a part 2. 

30/08/17 David Lunts This project will only incur £20,000 in 
2017/18 financial year and any future 
year balances will be earmarked in the 
Land and Property Programme budget 
within Housing & Land department 

P
age 280



 

        

ADD2160 Future of London Housing Network 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of up to £15,000 to run London Housing 
Network for one year from October 2017 to September 2018. 
 
2. An exemption from the requirement in the GLA Contracts 
and Funding Code to seek a call-off from a suitable framework 
where possible or undertake a formal tender process. 
 

18/09/17 Jamie Ratcliff The expenditure is available from 
Housing & Land Management and 
Support Consultancy Budget and will be 
spend in 2017/18 financial year. 
 

ADD2159 London Growth Hub: Business Support in Co-working 
Spaces 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of up to £25,000 from the Growth Hub budget 
(MD2055) for the delivery of the next phase of the Business 
Support in Co-Working Spaces programme. 
 

11/09/17 Mark Kleinman The cost of up to £25,000 to deliver the 
next phase of the Business Support in 
Co-Working Spaces Programme will be 
funded from the 2017-18 Growth Hub 
Budget as approved by MD2055. It 
should be noted that the Growth Hub 
budget is wholly funded by grant from 
the Department for Business, 
Environment & Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS). 
 

ADD2158 Team London Enterprise Advisors Network ‘Explore Your 
Horizons’ Event 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Spend of £12,000 on Catering, Media, Branding and 
Volunteer expenses for the Team London Enterprise Advisers 
‘Explore Your Horizons’ event. 
 

11/09/17 Laura Brown This expenditure will be funded by the 
external income from the Enterprise 
Advisers budget, approved through 
MD2124, which forms part of Team 
London’s Programme budget for 
2017/18 financial year. 

ADD2155 Digital Leadership Training 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of £50,000, from the central contingency 
budget, on the services of Doteveryone which are required for 

05/09/17 Emma Strain The GLA cost of up to £50,000 will be 
met from the corporate contingency for 
2017-18. 

P
age 281



 

        

the delivery of a 12-month digital skills pilot training 
programme and associated research. 
  
2. A related exemption from the requirement of the GLA’s 
Contracts and Funding Code to procure such services 
competitively. 
 

ADD2154 London Housing Expo Seed Funding 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of £50,000 for a seed funding to support the 
Housing Expo Project feasibility work and enable the delivery of 
a Business Plan. 
 

18/09/17 Jamie Ratcliff The expenditure is available from 
Housing and Land’s Management & 
Consultancy budget and will be fully 
expended in 2017/18 financial year.  
 

ADD2152 Skills for Londoners Capital Fund technical due diligence 
 
Approved: 
 
1. A maximum of £50,000 spend on the following technical due 
diligence services to assess up to eleven applications to the 
Skills for Londoners Capital Fund Round 1: 

 A maximum of £24,000 on cost due diligence; and 

 A maximum of £26,000 on building due diligence. 
 
 

12/09/17 Debbie Jackson The proposed expenditure of up to 
£50,000 on cost and building due 
diligence will be funded from the 
revenue budget provision of £5m 
allocated for the overall Skills for 
Londoners Capital fund approved via 
MD2142.  

ADD2151 Communal Heating Consumer Survey 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of £19,995, from the GLA Environment 2017/18 
Zero Carbon budget, for Kantar TNS to deliver the fieldwork for 
a customer experience survey of residents whose heating 
arrangements incorporate CHP/district systems. 
 
 

11/09/17 Patrick Feehily The cost is to be funded from GLA 
Environment 2017/18 Zero Carbon 
budget and all the work will be 
completed within 2017/18. 

P
age 282



 

        

ADD2150 Bunhill Phase 2 Energy Centre 
 
Approved: 
 
1. The extension of the time-lapse recording contract with Site-
Eye Time-lapse Films for the Bunhill Project until March 2018, 
with a total contract cost of £13,800. 
 

22/08/17 Patrick Feehily The cost will be funded from the Celsius 
2017-2018 Budget. 

ADD2148 New Cross Gate Study- Bakerloo Line Extension 
 
Approved: 
 
1. A £50,000 grant to the London Borough of Lewisham for the 
commissioning of a place shaping study for New Cross Gate 
town centre. 
 

30/08/17 Debbie Jackson The estimated cost of £50,000 for this 
consultancy project will be funded from 
the Development, Enterprise & 
Environment ‘Minor Programme’ budget 
for 2017-18. 

ADD2146 Royal Docks Marketing and Promotional Facility 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Up to £20,000 revenue expenditure for New London 
Architecture/Pipers to undertake a feasibility study for a 
promotional and marketing space in the EZ. 
 
2. Agrees to an exemption from the GLA Contracts and Funding 
Code under section 10.1 to appoint without a competitive 
tendering exercise due to the previous involvement of New 
London Architecture in the specific current project. 
 

21/08/17 Simon Powell The expenditure is available from the 
Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Projects 
Delivery budget within Housing & Land 
department and will be fully expended in 
2017/18 financial year. 

ADD2144 Get Scheduled Licence Fee 
 
Approved: 
 
1. Expenditure of £20,000 on a new contract with Get 
Scheduled Ltd for use of its online booking system, covering 
license fees and the online messaging system. 
 

22/08/17 Laura Brown The estimated cost of £20,000 will be 
funded from The Team London 
Ambassador Programme budget for 
2017-18, held within the Communities 
and Intelligence Directorate. 

P
age 283



 

        

2. A related exemption from the Contracts and Funding Code so 
that services can be procured without a competitive tendering 
exercise. 
 

 

P
age 284



 

                                                                    

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Payments over £250 
 

Report to: Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee   
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Resources 

 
Date:  18 October 2017 

This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report provides information on payments over £250 during the period 01 April 2017 to 22 July 

2017 (inclusive) for the Greater London Authority and its subsidiary, GLA Land & Property Ltd. 
 
 
2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Sub-Committee notes the report. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Local Government Transparency Code sets out key principles for local authorities in creating 

greater transparency through the publication of public data. One of the requirements under the 

Code is the requirement to publish details of each individual item of expenditure that exceeds £500. 

The Greater London Authority has lowered this threshold and publishes all expenditure data that 

exceeds £250. 
 
4. Issues for Consideration  
 
4.1 Appendix 1 shows the total by supplier, analysed by expense code, of all the payments over £250 

(excluding VAT), that have been made during the above-mentioned period.  Payments are listed by 
supplier and a short description is provided for all payments.  For the first quarter of the year, these 
totalled £250 million. 

 
4.2 If Members require further details on any of these suppliers or payments, they should notify the 

contact officer in advance of the meeting if possible.  The individual transactions reflected in these 
totals are published each period on the GLA website at: https://www.london.gov.uk/about-
us/greater-london-authority-gla/spending-money-wisely/our-spending 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1       There are no direct legal implications arising out of this report.  The payments themselves have not 

been legally reviewed for the purposes of this report 

 

 

 

Page 285

Agenda Item 7

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/greater-london-authority-gla/spending-money-wisely/our-spending
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/greater-london-authority-gla/spending-money-wisely/our-spending


        

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 This report is entirely concerned with financial matters and relates to expenditure from existing 

approved budgets. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

 
Appendix 1 – Transactions over £250 by Supplier - Report for the period 01 April 2017 to 22 July 2017 
(inclusive)    
 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

 

Contact Officer: Ashraf Ali  

Telephone: 020-7983-5642  

E-mail: ashraf.ali@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 286



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

2CL COMMUNICATIONS LIMITED Furniture & Equipment 890.00 

2CL COMMUNICATIONS LIMITED Total 890.00 

2CV RESEARCH Other Professional Fees 1,152.00 

Research & Study Fees 6,000.00 

2CV RESEARCH Total 7,152.00 

A2A SPA Grants to External Organisations 15,014.42 

A2A SPA Total 15,014.42 

ABM GROUP UK LTD Building Maintenance & Repairs 1,359.60 

Furniture & Equipment 2,787.94 

Health & Safety Pest Control 12,171.24 

Office Cleaning 44,769.10 

Property Management Fees 100,914.33 

ABM GROUP UK LTD Total 162,002.21 

ABSOLUTE CORPORATE EVENTS LIMITED Office Cleaning 818.80 

ABSOLUTE CORPORATE EVENTS LIMITED Total 818.80 

ACCESS EUROPE NETWORK CIC Grants to External Organisations 30,000.00 

ACCESS EUROPE NETWORK CIC Total 30,000.00 

ACCESS SPORT Grants to External Organisations 12,000.00 

ACCESS SPORT Total 12,000.00 

Across Translation Sign Language 255.33 

Across Total 255.33 

Action for Bow Miscellaneous Costs 1,676,328.00 

Action for Bow Total 1,676,328.00 

ACUITY TRAINING LIMITED Staff Training 495.00 

ACUITY TRAINING LIMITED Total 495.00 

ADA NCDS Grants to External Organisations 85,962.84 

ADA NCDS Total 85,962.84 

ADAPT-IT Computer Software 632.41 

ADAPT-IT Total 632.41 

AECOM INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENT Management & Support Consultancy 47,951.72 

AECOM INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENT Total 47,951.72 

AECOM LTD Management & Support Consultancy 14,120.00 

AECOM LTD Total 14,120.00 

AECOM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES LLP Consultancy-Project Management 12,000.00 

AECOM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES LLP Total 12,000.00 

AFFINITY HEALTH AT WORK LTD Consultancy-Project Management 9,269.07 

Publications & Periodicals 3,000.00 

AFFINITY HEALTH AT WORK LTD Total 12,269.07 

AFFINITY HOMES GROUP LIMITED HSG Grants to Registered Providers 228,426.00 

AFFINITY HOMES GROUP LIMITED Total 228,426.00 

AGL COMMUNICATIONS OR AGL Staff Training 2,500.00 

AGL COMMUNICATIONS OR AGL Total 2,500.00 

AHREND LIMITED Furniture & Equipment 3,653.33 

AHREND LIMITED Total 3,653.33 

AIR MONITORS LTD Other Professional Fees 1,000.00 

Property Management Fees 3,995.00 

AIR MONITORS LTD Total 4,995.00 

AIR PRODUCTS PLC Grants to External Organisations 89,722.88 

AIR PRODUCTS PLC Total 89,722.88 

AIR QUALITY CONSULTANTS LTD Management & Support Consultancy 25,000.00 

AIR QUALITY CONSULTANTS LTD Total 25,000.00 

AJ Gallagher General Insurance 620,864.28 

AJ Gallagher Total 620,864.28 

ALCOHOL HEALTH NETWORK Staff Training 500.00 

ALCOHOL HEALTH NETWORK Total 500.00 

ALL CLEAN GROUP Office Cleaning 25,187.02 

ALL CLEAN GROUP Total 25,187.02 

ALLEN LANE FINANCIAL RECRUITMENT Agency Staff 49,837.50 

ALLEN LANE FINANCIAL RECRUITMENT Total 49,837.50 

ALTICELABS SA Grants to External Organisations 81,334.38 

ALTICELABS SA Total 81,334.38 

AMAS LTD Commercial Property Rent 1,988,077.00 

AMAS LTD Total 1,988,077.00 

AMATEUR SWIMMING ASSOCIATION Grants to External Organisations 11,413.34 

AMATEUR SWIMMING ASSOCIATION Total 11,413.34 

AMAZON.COM INC. Manage IT Services 21,201.32 

AMAZON.COM INC. Total 21,201.32 

AMEC FOSTER WHEELER ENV & INFRAST U Management & Support Consultancy 8,959.00 

AMEC FOSTER WHEELER ENV & INFRAST U Total 8,959.00 

AMERICA SQUARE LTD External Meeting Room Hire & Expenses 3,903.00 

AMERICA SQUARE LTD Total 3,903.00 

AMY LAMÉ LTD Other Professional Fees 11,666.64 

AMY LAMÉ LTD Total 11,666.64 

Appendix 1

Page 287



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

ANN-MARIE STRUDWICK Consultancy-Commissioned Report 7,460.00                     

ANN-MARIE STRUDWICK Total 7,460.00                     

ANSON PRIMARY SCHOOL Grants to External Organisations 1,000.00                     

ANSON PRIMARY SCHOOL Total 1,000.00                     

AOS SECURITY LTD Security Services (Guards) 141,479.02                 

AOS SECURITY LTD Total 141,479.02                

ARC SEVEN COMMUNICATIONS Other Professional Fees 4,000.00                     

ARC SEVEN COMMUNICATIONS Total 4,000.00                     

ARGUS SOFTWARE (UK) LTD Software Maintenance 1,002.00                     

ARGUS SOFTWARE (UK) LTD Total 1,002.00                     

ARTS COUNCIL Recruitment Agency Fees 23,310.23                   

ARTS COUNCIL Total 23,310.23                   

ASHFORDS LLP Legal Fees 2,159.00                     

ASHFORDS LLP Total 2,159.00                     

ASSOC FOR CITIZENSHIP TEACHING Consultancy-Project Management 15,606.00                   

ASSOC FOR CITIZENSHIP TEACHING Total 15,606.00                   

ATKINS LTD Other Professional Fees 10,225.00                   

ATKINS LTD Total 10,225.00                   

Baqus Group Ltd Miscellaneous Costs 660.00                        

Baqus Group Ltd Total 660.00                        

BARNES PRIMARY SCHOOL Grants to External Organisations 1,000.00                     

BARNES PRIMARY SCHOOL Total 1,000.00                     

BARNET AND SOUTHGATE COLLEGE Grants to External Organisations 507,335.67                 

BARNET AND SOUTHGATE COLLEGE Total 507,335.67                

BBC Public Service Broadcasting Miscellaneous Costs 2,058.00                     

BBC Public Service Broadcasting Total 2,058.00                     

BDO LLP Other Professional Fees 6,795.75                     

BDO LLP Total 6,795.75                     

BENENDEN HEALTHCARE SOCIETY LTD Staff Welfare Benefits 2,347.80                     

BENENDEN HEALTHCARE SOCIETY LTD Total 2,347.80                     

BENUGO Caterers Service Charges 2,292.50                     

BENUGO Total 2,292.50                     

BERWIN LEIGHTON PAISNER Legal Fees 18,490.00                   

BERWIN LEIGHTON PAISNER Total 18,490.00                   

BIRNBECK HOUSING ASSOCIATION LTD HSG Grants to Registered Providers 126,000.00                 

BIRNBECK HOUSING ASSOCIATION LTD Total 126,000.00                

BLISS EVENTS MANAGEMENT LIMITED Event Management Fee 9,809.00                     

External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 110,522.29                 

BLISS EVENTS MANAGEMENT LIMITED Total 120,331.29                

BLOOMBERG LP Publications & Periodicals 8,486.44                     

BLOOMBERG LP Total 8,486.44                     

BLOSSOMS HEALTHCARE LLP Staff Welfare Benefits 10,680.00                   

BLOSSOMS HEALTHCARE LLP Total 10,680.00                   

BLUE STATE DIGITAL Printing 7,285.00                     

Social Media And Digital Advertising Space 20,000.00                   

BLUE STATE DIGITAL Total 27,285.00                   

BOP CONSULTING Consultancy-Project Management 2,000.00                     

Other Professional Fees 6,000.00                     

BOP CONSULTING Total 8,000.00                     

BOW TIE External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 260.00                        

Manage IT Services 3,600.00                     

Office Cleaning 421.00                        

Other Professional Fees 268.00                        

Photography & Video 137,043.40                 

BOW TIE Total 141,592.40                

BOWDEN MOSS LTD Building Maintenance & Repairs 2,908.62                     

BOWDEN MOSS LTD Total 2,908.62                     

BPP PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION LTD Staff Training 1,158.33                     

BPP PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION LTD Total 1,158.33                     

BRAND FOUNDRY DESIGN Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 10,559.00                   

BRAND FOUNDRY DESIGN Total 10,559.00                   

BRITISH AMATEUR BOXING ASSOCIATION Grants to External Organisations 50,000.00                   

BRITISH AMATEUR BOXING ASSOCIATION Total 50,000.00                   

BRITISH GAS BUSINESS Electricity 9,209.00                     

Gas 272.56                        

BRITISH GAS BUSINESS Total 9,481.56                     

BRITISH GYMNASTICS Grants to External Organisations 45,000.00                   

BRITISH GYMNASTICS Total 45,000.00                   

BRITISH RED CROSS SOCIETY Staff Training 698.00                        

BRITISH RED CROSS SOCIETY Total 698.00                        

BROMLEY COLLEGE OF FURTHER & HI Grants to External Organisations 345,682.93                 

BROMLEY COLLEGE OF FURTHER & HI Total 345,682.93                

BROWSER LONDON LTD Other Professional Fees 8,642.72                     

BROWSER LONDON LTD Total 8,642.72                     

Page 288



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

BSI Other Professional Fees 1,020.00                     

BSI Total 1,020.00                     

BT CONFERENCING Telephone Line Rent, Calls & Equipment 9,794.82                     

BT CONFERENCING Total 9,794.82                     

BT GLOBAL SERVICES Telephone Line Rent, Calls & Equipment 7,381.94                     

BT GLOBAL SERVICES Total 7,381.94                     

BT SERVICE AGILITY Telephone Line Rent, Calls & Equipment 4,830.42                     

BT SERVICE AGILITY Total 4,830.42                     

BUCKHILL LTD Data Hosting Email Design And Transmission Inc SMS 453.43                        

BUCKHILL LTD Total 453.43                        

BURGAS MUNICIPALITY Grants to External Organisations 19,835.63                   

BURGAS MUNICIPALITY Total 19,835.63                   

BURGES SALMON LLP Legal Fees 168,464.95                 

BURGES SALMON LLP Total 168,464.95                

BURNING GLASS TECHNOLOGIES, INC. Grants to External Organisations 11,500.00                   

BURNING GLASS TECHNOLOGIES, INC. Total 11,500.00                   

BURO HAPPOLD Management & Support Consultancy 35,757.00                   

BURO HAPPOLD Total 35,757.00                   

BUSINESS IN THE COMMUNITY Consultancy-Project Management 22,510.00                   

BUSINESS IN THE COMMUNITY Total 22,510.00                   

BYTES SOFTWARE SERVICES Computer Software 268,901.63                 

Software Maintenance 120,000.00                 

BYTES SOFTWARE SERVICES Total 388,901.63                

C40 Caterers Service Charges 3,700.00                     

C40 Total 3,700.00                     

CACI LTD Data Purchase 3,000.00                     

CACI LTD Total 3,000.00                     

CAG Management & Support Consultancy 44,595.00                   

CAG Total 44,595.00                   

CALUMET PHOTOGRAPHIC LTD Computer Hardware 475.09                        

Photography And Video Design And Production (8.00)                           

CALUMET PHOTOGRAPHIC LTD Total 467.09                        

CAPITA LEARNING & DEVELOPMENT Staff Training 17,695.00                   

CAPITA LEARNING & DEVELOPMENT Total 17,695.00                   

CAPITA PROPERTY & INFRASTRUCTURE LT Consultancy-Project Management 9,756.00                     

Consultants (Contractors) 95,885.96                   

CAPITA PROPERTY & INFRASTRUCTURE LT Total 105,641.96                

CAPITA SYMONDS LTD Consultancy-Project Management 3,000.00                     

Management & Support Consultancy 66,484.44                   

CAPITA SYMONDS LTD Total 69,484.44                   

CAPITA TREASURY SOLUTIONS LTD Conferences & Seminars 375.00                        

Management & Support Consultancy 38,247.86                   

CAPITA TREASURY SOLUTIONS LTD Total 38,622.86                   

CARBON CREDENTIALS ENERGY SERV LTD Consultancy-Project Management 3,175.00                     

CARBON CREDENTIALS ENERGY SERV LTD Total 3,175.00                     

CARBON FOOTPRINT LTD Other Professional Fees 1,212.00                     

CARBON FOOTPRINT LTD Total 1,212.00                     

CAREER COUNSELLING SERVICES Staff Training 2,250.00                     

CAREER COUNSELLING SERVICES Total 2,250.00                     

CARNAVAL DEL PUEBLO ASSOCIATION Grants to External Organisations 9,000.00                     

CARNAVAL DEL PUEBLO ASSOCIATION Total 9,000.00                     

CASTLE WATER LIMITED Water 7,061.07                     

CASTLE WATER LIMITED Total 7,061.07                     

CATALYST COMMUNITIES H.A. LTD HSG Grants to Registered Providers 95,000.00                   

CATALYST COMMUNITIES H.A. LTD Total 95,000.00                   

CAUSEWAY TECHNOLOGIES LTD Stationery 7,099.87                     

CAUSEWAY TECHNOLOGIES LTD Total 7,099.87                     

CAVALIER COMMUNICATIONS LIMITED External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 5,246.00                     

Photography And Video Design And Production 3,079.87                     

Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 1,790.00                     

CAVALIER COMMUNICATIONS LIMITED Total 10,115.87                   

CBRE MANAGED SERVICES LIMITED Building Maintenance & Repairs 168,555.91                 

Consultancy-Project Management 10,500.00                   

Electricity 2,248.46                     

External Building Maintenance 21,230.24                   

CBRE MANAGED SERVICES LIMITED Total 202,534.61                

CEFRIEL S.CONS.R.L. Grants to External Organisations 83,527.03                   

CEFRIEL S.CONS.R.L. Total 83,527.03                   

CEIIA Grants to External Organisations 74,435.45                   

CEIIA Total 74,435.45                   

C-ELECT ASSOCIATES LTD Building Maintenance & Repairs 6,498.50                     

Other Professional Fees 7,937.82                     

C-ELECT ASSOCIATES LTD Total 14,436.32                   

Celestine Catering Company Caterers Service Charges 1,253.50                     

Page 289



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

Celestine Catering Company Total 1,253.50                     

CENTAUR COMMUNICATIONS LIMITED Miscellaneous Costs 590.00                        

CENTAUR COMMUNICATIONS LIMITED Total 590.00                        

CENTRAL SAINT MARTINS COLLEGE Grants to External Organisations 10,000.00                   

CENTRAL SAINT MARTINS COLLEGE Total 10,000.00                   

CENTREPOINT Grants to External Organisations 20,000.00                   

CENTREPOINT Total 20,000.00                   

CHEAM HIGH SCHOOL Grants to External Organisations 928.00                        

CHEAM HIGH SCHOOL Total 928.00                        

CIM HOLDINGS LTD Staff Training 3,450.00                     

CIM HOLDINGS LTD Total 3,450.00                     

CIPFA Seconded Staff - Non Group 32,643.56                   

Staff Training 10,005.00                   

CIPFA Total 42,648.56                   

CIPFA BUSINESS LTD Publications & Periodicals 10,323.75                   

CIPFA BUSINESS LTD Total 10,323.75                   

CITY OF LONDON Document Archive & Storage 1,852.50                     

Seconded Staff - Non Group 51,678.17                   

CITY OF LONDON Total 53,530.67                   

CITY OF WARSAW Grants to External Organisations 17,529.92                   

CITY OF WARSAW Total 17,529.92                   

CITY OF WESTMINSTER Income Max Expense 6,270.00                     

CITY OF WESTMINSTER Total 6,270.00                     

CITY OF WESTMINSTER COLLEGE Grants to External Organisations 290,129.45                 

CITY OF WESTMINSTER COLLEGE Total 290,129.45                

CITY OF WESTMINSTER HEAD OFFICE Rates 33,219.45                   

CITY OF WESTMINSTER HEAD OFFICE Total 33,219.45                   

CITY SPRINT (UK) LTD Couriers 300.79                        

CITY SPRINT (UK) LTD Total 300.79                        

CLIFFORD CHANCE LIMITED Legal Fees 9,605.06                     

CLIFFORD CHANCE LIMITED Total 9,605.06                     

CLIFFORD CHANCE LLP Legal Fees 1,934.17                     

CLIFFORD CHANCE LLP Total 1,934.17                     

CML Grants to External Organisations 171,750.52                 

CML Total 171,750.52                

COBWEB INFORMATION Publications & Periodicals 37,000.00                   

COBWEB INFORMATION Total 37,000.00                   

CODE ENIGMA LIMITED Data Hosting Email Design And Transmission Inc SMS 3,080.00                     

CODE ENIGMA LIMITED Total 3,080.00                     

COIN STREET COMMUNITY BUILDERS External Meeting Room Hire & Expenses 2,395.00                     

COIN STREET COMMUNITY BUILDERS Total 2,395.00                     

COLIN MORGAN CONSULTING LTD Furniture & Equipment 968.11                        

Staff Training 1,257.50                     

COLIN MORGAN CONSULTING LTD Total 2,225.61                     

COMBINED HEAT & POWER ASSOCIATION Research For Marketing Campaigns And Activities 1,150.00                     

COMBINED HEAT & POWER ASSOCIATION Total 1,150.00                     

COMMUNICATE SPORT T/A THINK!SPONSOR Miscellaneous Costs 325.00                        

COMMUNICATE SPORT T/A THINK!SPONSOR Total 325.00                        

COMPUTACENTER Computer Hardware 88,512.50                   

Computer Software 1,715.40                     

Mobile Phone Line Rent, Calls & Equipment 507.09                        

Software Maintenance 24,753.04                   

COMPUTACENTER Total 115,488.03                

COMUNE DI MILANO Grants to External Organisations 96,516.90                   

COMUNE DI MILANO Total 96,516.90                   

CONCIRRUS LTD (EURO ACCOUNT) Grants to External Organisations 86,100.87                   

CONCIRRUS LTD (EURO ACCOUNT) Total 86,100.87                   

CONFLICT MANAGEMENT PLUS LTD Other Professional Fees 1,736.00                     

Staff Training 2,238.00                     

Staff Welfare Benefits 1,381.00                     

CONFLICT MANAGEMENT PLUS LTD Total 5,355.00                     

CONTINENTAL DRIFTS LTD External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 40,111.71                   

CONTINENTAL DRIFTS LTD Total 40,111.71                   

COPYRIGHT LICENSING AGENCY LTD Software Maintenance 10,745.50                   

COPYRIGHT LICENSING AGENCY LTD Total 10,745.50                   

CORINTHIA HOTEL LONDON External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 768.94                        

CORINTHIA HOTEL LONDON Total 768.94                        

CORNWALL ENERGY ASSOCIATES LTD Consultancy-Project Management 42,100.00                   

CORNWALL ENERGY ASSOCIATES LTD Total 42,100.00                   

CORONA ENERGY RETAIL 4 LTD Gas 6,917.63                     

CORONA ENERGY RETAIL 4 LTD Total 6,917.63                     

CORPORATE DOCUMENT SERVICES LTD Photography & Video 3,413.55                     

Printing 4,024.26                     

Printing For Customer Info Materials 922.85                        

Page 290



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

CORPORATE DOCUMENT SERVICES LTD Printing For Marketing Materials 1,161.30                     

Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 12,311.49                   

Non Permanent Signage And Way Finding 439.95                        

CORPORATE DOCUMENT SERVICES LTD Total 22,273.40                   

CRAWFORD CARS LTD Business Fares 1,109.62                     

CRAWFORD CARS LTD Total 1,109.62                     

CREATE AV (UK) LTD External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 1,030.40                     

CREATE AV (UK) LTD Total 1,030.40                     

CREATE LONDON Grants to External Organisations 3,500.00                     

CREATE LONDON Total 3,500.00                     

CREATIVE & CULTURAL SKILLS Grants to External Organisations 8,016.95                     

CREATIVE & CULTURAL SKILLS Total 8,016.95                     

CRISTIE DATA LIMITED Computer Hardware 49,474.26                   

Manage IT Services 1,250.00                     

CRISTIE DATA LIMITED Total 50,724.26                   

CRITICAL MENTION INC Publications & Periodicals 5,103.15                     

CRITICAL MENTION INC Total 5,103.15                     

CROSS RIVER PARTNERSHIP Management & Support Consultancy 7,500.00                     

CROSS RIVER PARTNERSHIP Total 7,500.00                     

CROWN RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIMITED Document Archive & Storage 1,026.10                     

CROWN RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIMITED Total 1,026.10                     

CROWN WORLDWIDE LTD Document Archive & Storage 17,856.48                   

CROWN WORLDWIDE LTD Total 17,856.48                   

CROYDON TOWN CENTRE BID LTD Grants to External Organisations 6,000.00                     

CROYDON TOWN CENTRE BID LTD Total 6,000.00                     

CRYSTAL PALACE FC FOUNDATION Grants to External Organisations 13,565.00                   

CRYSTAL PALACE FC FOUNDATION Total 13,565.00                   

CTI DIGITAL IT Consultancy 126,260.00                 

CTI DIGITAL Total 126,260.00                

CURRIE & BROWN UK LIMITED Other Professional Fees 1,425.00                     

CURRIE & BROWN UK LIMITED Total 1,425.00                     

CUSHMAN & WAKEFIELD LLP Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 10,320.00                   

CUSHMAN & WAKEFIELD LLP Total 10,320.00                   

CYNERGIN Other Professional Fees 1,596.00                     

CYNERGIN Total 1,596.00                     

DAC Beachcroft LLP Management & Support Consultancy 35,000.00                   

DAC Beachcroft LLP Total 35,000.00                   

DAMIAN ORTEGA STUDIO Other Professional Fees 7,000.00                     

DAMIAN ORTEGA STUDIO Total 7,000.00                     

DATA TRACK TECHNOLOGY PLC Software Maintenance 1,984.74                     

DATA TRACK TECHNOLOGY PLC Total 1,984.74                     

DAY TO DAY SOFTWARE LTD IT Consultancy 8,780.00                     

DAY TO DAY SOFTWARE LTD Total 8,780.00                     

DCLG Bus Rates Retent-CLG 129,639,965.00         

DCLG Total 129,639,965.00         

DEEN CITY FARM LTD Event Management Fee 400.00                        

DEEN CITY FARM LTD Total 400.00                        

DEEPSTORE Document Archive & Storage 2,380.23                     

DEEPSTORE Total 2,380.23                     

DELOITTE LLP Consultancy-Project Management 20,377.81                   

Other Professional Fees 9,250.00                     

DELOITTE LLP Total 29,627.81                   

DENTONS UKMEA LLP Disposal Fees - Legal 1,250.00                     

Legal Fees 93,762.00                   

DENTONS UKMEA LLP Total 95,012.00                   

Department of Energy and Climate Change Property Management Fees 28,419.20                   

Department of Energy and Climate Change Total 28,419.20                   

DESIGN TO COMMUNICATE Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 7,170.00                     

DESIGN TO COMMUNICATE Total 7,170.00                     

DEVONSHIRES SOLICITORS Legal Fees 6,000.00                     

DEVONSHIRES SOLICITORS Total 6,000.00                     

DHF Grants to External Organisations 302,517.95                 

DHF Total 302,517.95                

DISCOVERY GAMES UK Consultancy-Project Management 13,578.00                   

External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 2,173.00                     

DISCOVERY GAMES UK Total 15,751.00                   

Diverse Voices Entertainment CIC Other Professional Fees 500.00                        

Diverse Voices Entertainment CIC  Total 500.00                        

DODS PARLIAMENTARY COMMS LTD Conferences & Seminars 351.00                        

Staff Training 975.00                        

DODS PARLIAMENTARY COMMS LTD Total 1,326.00                     

DONALD INSALL ASSOCIATES LTD Other Professional Fees 9,979.00                     

DONALD INSALL ASSOCIATES LTD Total 9,979.00                     

DOTTED EYES Data Purchase 2,899.00                     

Page 291



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

DOTTED EYES Publications & Periodicals 1,565.00                     

DOTTED EYES Total 4,464.00                     

DOVETAIL FOKS Business Fares 347.48                        

External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 386.25                        

DOVETAIL FOKS Total 733.73                        

DR PAUL SIMPKIN Staff Medical Insurance & Treatment 270.00                        

DR PAUL SIMPKIN Total 270.00                        

DRON & WRIGHT PROP CONS Commercial Property Rent 185,937.48                 

DRON & WRIGHT PROP CONS Total 185,937.48                

DTZ DEBENHAM TIE LEUNG LTD Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 9,120.00                     

Consultancy-Project Management 10,519.00                   

Management & Support Consultancy 2,393.75                     

DTZ DEBENHAM TIE LEUNG LTD Total 22,032.75                   

EAST LONDON FOOD ACCESS (ELFA) LTD Grants to External Organisations 11,119.99                   

EAST LONDON FOOD ACCESS (ELFA) LTD Total 11,119.99                   

EBIQUITY ASSOCIATES Social Media And Digital Advertising Space 4,000.00                     

EBIQUITY ASSOCIATES Total 4,000.00                     

ECCA 2017 Minor Staff Expenses 775.00                        

ECCA 2017 Total 775.00                        

ECOLOGIC ENERGY Grants to External Organisations 542,609.00                 

ECOLOGIC ENERGY Total 542,609.00                

ECONSULTANCY Staff Training 595.00                        

ECONSULTANCY Total 595.00                        

ECORYS UK LIMITED Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 26,563.00                   

ECORYS UK LIMITED Total 26,563.00                   

EDF ENERGY Electricity 123,020.96                 

EDF ENERGY Total 123,020.96                

EDP DISTRIBUICAO SA Grants to External Organisations 107,403.81                 

EDP DISTRIBUICAO SA Total 107,403.81                

EDUCATION DIRECT Data Hosting Email Design And Transmission Inc SMS 300.00                        

EDUCATION DIRECT Total 300.00                        

EDUCATION POLICY INSTITUTE Consultancy-Commissioned Report 10,000.00                   

EDUCATION POLICY INSTITUTE Total 10,000.00                   

ELEMENT ENERGY LIMITED Grants to External Organisations 23,166.61                   

ELEMENT ENERGY LIMITED Total 23,166.61                   

ELITE TELECOM Telephone Line Rent, Calls & Equipment 3,517.90                     

ELITE TELECOM Total 3,517.90                     

EMEL Grants to External Organisations 35,411.58                   

EMEL Total 35,411.58                   

ENERGY SAVING TRUST LTD Consultancy-Project Management 37,225.00                   

Grants to External Organisations 300,000.00                 

Management & Support Consultancy 37,225.00                   

ENERGY SAVING TRUST LTD Total 374,450.00                

ENGLAND ATHLETICS Grants to External Organisations 7,500.00                     

ENGLAND ATHLETICS Total 7,500.00                     

ENGLAND BOXING LTD Grants to External Organisations 2,500.00                     

ENGLAND BOXING LTD Total 2,500.00                     

ENTERPRISE PLANTS LTD Horticultural Expenses 1,991.22                     

ENTERPRISE PLANTS LTD Total 1,991.22                     

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY Management & Support Consultancy 2,357.23                     

Property Management Fees 3,870.00                     

Seconded Staff - Non Group 15,989.75                   

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY Total 22,216.98                   

ERICA BOLTON & JANE QUINN LTD Other Professional Fees 3,750.00                     

PR Cost Product Cost & PR Fees 6,016.90                     

ERICA BOLTON & JANE QUINN LTD Total 9,766.90                     

ERNST & YOUNG LLP External Audit Fees 83,375.00                   

ERNST & YOUNG LLP Total 83,375.00                   

ESRI (UK) LIMITED Data Purchase 37,609.00                   

Staff Training 365.00                        

ESRI (UK) LIMITED Total 37,974.00                   

ESSENTRA SECURITY Furniture & Equipment 279.50                        

ESSENTRA SECURITY Total 279.50                        

ESTEEM SYSTEMS LTD IT Consultancy 29,900.00                   

ESTEEM SYSTEMS LTD Total 29,900.00                   

EUNOMIA RESEARCH AND CONSULTING LTD Management & Support Consultancy 32,969.00                   

EUNOMIA RESEARCH AND CONSULTING LTD Total 32,969.00                   

EUROCITIES Grants to External Organisations 216,119.45                 

EUROCITIES Total 216,119.45                

Evans & Levete Other Professional Fees 1,250.00                     

Evans & Levete Total 1,250.00                     

EVERSHEDS SUTHERLAND (INT) LLP Legal Fees 104,830.29                 

EVERSHEDS SUTHERLAND (INT) LLP Total 104,830.29                

Expenses Paid to Third Parties Business Fares 385.82                        

Page 292



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

Expenses Paid to Third Parties Claim Settlements 3,600.00                     

External Meeting Room Hire & Expenses 600.00                        

Miscellaneous Costs 11,171.78                   

Other Professional Fees 2,400.00                     

Expenses Paid to Third Parties Total 18,157.60                   

EXPENSES PAID TO THIRD PARTIES Other Professional Fees 589.85                        

EXPENSES PAID TO THIRD PARTIES  Total 589.85                        

EXPERIAN LIMITED Consultancy-Commissioned Report 14,750.00                   

EXPERIAN LIMITED Total 14,750.00                   

FAMILY AND CHILDCARE TRUST Consultancy-Project Management 56,215.00                   

FAMILY AND CHILDCARE TRUST Total 56,215.00                   

FARNHAM GREEN PRIMARY SCHOOL Grants to External Organisations 1,000.00                     

FARNHAM GREEN PRIMARY SCHOOL Total 1,000.00                     

FEDERATION OF SMALL BUSINESSES LTD Consultancy-Commissioned Report 22,000.00                   

FEDERATION OF SMALL BUSINESSES LTD Total 22,000.00                   

FEILDEN FOWLES ARCHITECT LTD Consultancy-Commissioned Report 11,904.20                   

FEILDEN FOWLES ARCHITECT LTD Total 11,904.20                   

FIGHT FOR CHANGE Grants to External Organisations 14,000.00                   

FIGHT FOR CHANGE Total 14,000.00                   

FILM LONDON LTD Grants to External Organisations 430,000.00                 

FILM LONDON LTD Total 430,000.00                

First Base Limited Miscellaneous Finance Expenses 55,500.00                   

First Base Limited Total 55,500.00                   

Fishman Brand Stone Legal Fees 13,246.00                   

Fishman Brand Stone Total 13,246.00                   

FLASHING LIGHTS MEDIA Staff Training 560.00                        

FLASHING LIGHTS MEDIA Total 560.00                        

FOOTBALL FOUNDATION TRADING LIMITED Agency Staff 11,445.00                   

FOOTBALL FOUNDATION TRADING LIMITED Total 11,445.00                   

FOOTBALL LEAGUE TRUST Grants to External Organisations 15,000.00                   

FOOTBALL LEAGUE TRUST Total 15,000.00                   

Foreign & Common Wealth Office - British Embassy Business Entertaining 1,555.17                     

Foreign & Common Wealth Office - British Embassy Total 1,555.17                     

FOUND IN MUSIC LIMITED Consultancy-Project Management 100,000.00                 

Other Professional Fees 10,000.00                   

FOUND IN MUSIC LIMITED Total 110,000.00                

FREEVACY LTD Other Professional Fees 1,748.00                     

FREEVACY LTD Total 1,748.00                     

FRESHMINDS LTD Data Hosting Email Design And Transmission Inc SMS 6,000.00                     

FRESHMINDS LTD Total 6,000.00                     

Frith Street Gallery Other Professional Fees 6,750.00                     

Frith Street Gallery Total 6,750.00                     

FUTURE CITIES CATAPULT (EUROS) Grants to External Organisations 159,897.27                 

FUTURE CITIES CATAPULT (EUROS) Total 159,897.27                

FUTURE CITIES CATAPULT SERV LTD Grants to External Organisations 7,000.00                     

FUTURE CITIES CATAPULT SERV LTD Total 7,000.00                     

FUTURE OF LONDON 2011 LIMITED Staff Training 8,910.00                     

FUTURE OF LONDON 2011 LIMITED Total 8,910.00                     

FUTUREGOV.LTD Planning & Development Consultancy 11,940.00                   

FUTUREGOV.LTD Total 11,940.00                   

GB TAEKWONDO Grants to External Organisations 45,000.00                   

GB TAEKWONDO Total 45,000.00                   

GERALD EVE Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 18,905.00                   

GERALD EVE Total 18,905.00                   

GES LTD External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 278.00                        

GES LTD Total 278.00                        

GET SCHEDULED LTD Staff Training 8,882.50                     

GET SCHEDULED LTD Total 8,882.50                     

GIGL Management & Support Consultancy 20,000.00                   

GIGL Total 20,000.00                   

GL HEARN LTD Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 10,625.00                   

Consultancy-Project Management 8,423.75                     

Planning & Development Consultancy 1,000.00                     

Valuation Fees 116,325.00                 

GL HEARN LTD Total 136,373.75                

GLASDON U.K. LIMITED Other Professional Fees 637.79                        

GLASDON U.K. LIMITED Total 637.79                        

GLASGOWS External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 30,294.00                   

GLASGOWS Total 30,294.00                   

GNEWT Grants to External Organisations 1,288.00                     

GNEWT Total 1,288.00                     

GOOD HOTEL LONDON Event Management Fee 690.00                        

GOOD HOTEL LONDON Total 690.00                        

GOODGYM Grants to External Organisations 20,000.00                   

Page 293



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

GOODGYM Publications & Periodicals 400.00                        

GOODGYM Total 20,400.00                   

GORKANA GROUP LIMITED Computer Software 5,622.77                     

Publications & Periodicals 4,762.11                     

GORKANA GROUP LIMITED Total 10,384.88                   

GORT SCOTT Consultancy-Project Management 2,990.00                     

GORT SCOTT Total 2,990.00                     

GOWLING WLG (UK) LLP Legal Fees 22,713.60                   

GOWLING WLG (UK) LLP Total 22,713.60                   

GRADIENT DATA MINING LLP Data Purchase 2,000.00                     

GRADIENT DATA MINING LLP Total 2,000.00                     

GRANGE HOTELS External Meeting Room Hire & Expenses 660.00                        

GRANGE HOTELS Total 660.00                        

GRASS ROOTS FOREST SCHOOL C.I.C Grants to External Organisations 302.00                        

GRASS ROOTS FOREST SCHOOL C.I.C Total 302.00                        

GREATER LONDON VOLUNTEERING Grants to External Organisations 16,125.00                   

GREATER LONDON VOLUNTEERING Total 16,125.00                   

GREEN PARK INTERIM & EXECUTIVE LTD Recruitment Advertising 10,000.00                   

GREEN PARK INTERIM & EXECUTIVE LTD Total 10,000.00                   

GREENWICH & DOCKLANDS FESTIVALS External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 136,000.00                 

Miscellaneous Costs 165,000.00                 

GREENWICH & DOCKLANDS FESTIVALS Total 301,000.00                

GREENWICH LEISURE LTD Building Maintenance & Repairs 93,908.10                   

Grounds Maintenance 12,500.00                   

Other Professional Fees 395,644.90                 

Property Management Fees 1,748,843.38             

GREENWICH LEISURE LTD Total 2,250,896.38             

GROUNDSWELL Grants to External Organisations 12,500.00                   

GROUNDSWELL Total 12,500.00                   

GROUNDWORK LONDON Grants to External Organisations 43,376.00                   

GROUNDWORK LONDON Total 43,376.00                   

GUYS & ST THOMAS NHS TRUST Caterers Service Charges 318.00                        

GUYS & ST THOMAS NHS TRUST Total 318.00                        

GVA GRIMLEY LTD Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 11,500.00                   

Consultancy-Project Management 13,886.00                   

Other Professional Fees 8,920.00                     

Property Management Fees 98,443.03                   

Disposal Fees - Property 3,750.00                     

GVA GRIMLEY LTD Total 136,499.03                

HALFORDS LTD Cycle to work bikes 4,741.67                     

HALFORDS LTD Total 4,741.67                     

HAMILTON BROWN Printing 1,437.50                     

HAMILTON BROWN  Total 1,437.50                     

HAMMERSMITH & WEST LONDON COLLEGE Grants to External Organisations 35,196.41                   

HAMMERSMITH & WEST LONDON COLLEGE Total 35,196.41                   

HARDWICKE BUILDING CHAMBERS ACCOUNT Legal Fees 750.00                        

HARDWICKE BUILDING CHAMBERS ACCOUNT Total 750.00                        

HARINGEY COUNCIL Consultancy-Project Management 40,000.00                   

Grants to External Organisations 17,000.00                   

Income Max Expense 48,597.00                   

HARINGEY COUNCIL Total 105,597.00                

HARROW COLLEGE Grants to External Organisations 354,001.40                 

HARROW COLLEGE Total 354,001.40                

HASKONING UK LTD Consultancy-Commissioned Report 13,336.00                   

HASKONING UK LTD Total 13,336.00                   

HAT PROJECTS Planning & Development Consultancy 10,041.52                   

HAT PROJECTS Total 10,041.52                   

HATC LTD Staff Training 3,000.00                     

HATC LTD Total 3,000.00                     

HAVAS PEOPLE LIMITED Manage IT Services 10,000.00                   

HAVAS PEOPLE LIMITED Total 10,000.00                   

HAY GROUP LIMITED Staff Training 1,550.00                     

HAY GROUP LIMITED Total 1,550.00                     

HAYMARKET SUBSCRIPTIONS Publications & Periodicals 289.00                        

HAYMARKET SUBSCRIPTIONS Total 289.00                        

HAYS SPECIALIST RECRUITMENT LTD Agency Staff 482,155.38                 

Other Professional Fees 814.24                        

Recruitment Agency Fees 71,897.91                   

Seconded Staff - Non Group 15,291.58                   

Payroll Services Fees 3,299.70                     

HAYS SPECIALIST RECRUITMENT LTD Total 573,458.81                

HEALTH EDUCATION ENGLAND Seconded Staff - Non Group 55,772.00                   

HEALTH EDUCATION ENGLAND Total 55,772.00                   

HERBERT SMITH FREEHILLS LLP Legal Fees 129,247.21                 

Page 294



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

HERBERT SMITH FREEHILLS LLP Total 129,247.21                

HEXAGON HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED HSG Grants to Registered Providers 306,778.00                 

HEXAGON HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED Total 306,778.00                

Higher Education Funding Council Conferences & Seminars 399.00                        

Higher Education Funding Council Total 399.00                        

HM Treasury Group Miscellaneous Costs 281,081.74                 

HM Treasury Group Total 281,081.74                

HOMES & COMMUNITIES AGENCY Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 14,000.00                   

HOMES & COMMUNITIES AGENCY Total 14,000.00                   

HOTEL ELEPHANT Grants to External Organisations 36,609.79                   

HOTEL ELEPHANT Total 36,609.79                   

HOUSE OF LORDS Seconded Staff - Non Group 12,648.39                   

HOUSE OF LORDS Total 12,648.39                   

HSNO Management & Support Consultancy 8,195.50                     

HSNO Total 8,195.50                     

HumanRace Miscellaneous Costs 8,500.00                     

HumanRace Total 8,500.00                     

HUNTERS CONTRACTS Furniture & Equipment 657.00                        

Non Recyclable Waste Disposal/Refuse Collection 1,187.00                     

HUNTERS CONTRACTS Total 1,844.00                     

HYDE HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED HSG Grants to Registered Providers 772,201.00                 

HYDE HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED Total 772,201.00                

I4C PUBLICITY LIMITED Uniforms 510.00                        

I4C PUBLICITY LIMITED Total 510.00                        

IC WORKS Consultancy-Commissioned Report 2,450.00                     

IC WORKS Total 2,450.00                     

ICAP Europe Limited Brokers Fees 3,397.26                     

ICAP Europe Limited Total 3,397.26                     

ICF CONSULTING SERVICES LTD Grants to External Organisations 23,210.00                   

ICF CONSULTING SERVICES LTD Total 23,210.00                   

ICM RESEARCH LIMITED Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 9,600.00                     

Research For Marketing Campaigns And Activities 6,150.00                     

ICM RESEARCH LIMITED Total 15,750.00                   

IDOX Data Purchase 32,480.93                   

IDOX Total 32,480.93                   

IIT BOZEN KONSORTIAL-GMBH Grants to External Organisations 14,929.53                   

IIT BOZEN KONSORTIAL-GMBH Total 14,929.53                   

IMPACT DISTRIBUTION SERVICES LTD External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 2,080.00                     

IMPACT DISTRIBUTION SERVICES LTD Total 2,080.00                     

Impact Trading UK Ltd Marketing Design & Artwork 725.00                        

Impact Trading UK Ltd Total 725.00                        

IMPERIAL COLLEGE Staff Training 1,423.00                     

IMPERIAL COLLEGE Total 1,423.00                     

IMPERIAL COLLEGE HEALTHCARE NHS Seconded Staff - Non Group 3,001.98                     

IMPERIAL COLLEGE HEALTHCARE NHS Total 3,001.98                     

Imperial College London Grants to External Organisations 85,788.63                   

Imperial College London Total 85,788.63                   

Improvement & Development Agency Corporate Subscriptions 450.00                        

Improvement & Development Agency Total 450.00                        

INCLUSION LONDON Consultancy-Project Management 10,000.00                   

INCLUSION LONDON Total 10,000.00                   

INCLUSIVE CLASSROOMS LIMITED Consultancy-Project Management 13,600.00                   

INCLUSIVE CLASSROOMS LIMITED Total 13,600.00                   

INDEPENDENT LIVING ALTERNATIVES Staff Welfare Benefits 2,217.60                     

INDEPENDENT LIVING ALTERNATIVES Total 2,217.60                     

INDIGO2 External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 18,500.00                   

INDIGO2 Total 18,500.00                   

INSIGHT DIRECT UK LIMITED Computer Hardware 22,805.98                   

Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 26,610.00                   

Manage IT Services 80,049.06                   

INSIGHT DIRECT UK LIMITED Total 129,465.04                

INSTITUTO SUPERIOR TÉCNICO Grants to External Organisations 84,014.79                   

INSTITUTO SUPERIOR TÉCNICO Total 84,014.79                   

INSTYTUT ENERGETYKI ODDZIAL GDANSK Grants to External Organisations 2,435.53                     

INSTYTUT ENERGETYKI ODDZIAL GDANSK Total 2,435.53                     

INTEROUTE MANAGED SERVICES UK LTD Manage IT Services 1,733.82                     

INTEROUTE MANAGED SERVICES UK LTD Total 1,733.82                     

ISLEDON HERE TO CIC External Meeting Room Hire & Expenses 730.00                        

ISLEDON HERE TO CIC Total 730.00                        

ISLINGTON AND SHOREDITCH HA LTD HSG Grants to Registered Providers 100,000.00                 

ISLINGTON AND SHOREDITCH HA LTD Total 100,000.00                

ITM POWER TRADING LTD Grants to External Organisations 305,497.13                 

ITM POWER TRADING LTD Total 305,497.13                

J WATSON CONSULTING LTD Other Professional Fees 23,000.00                   

Page 295



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

J WATSON CONSULTING LTD Total 23,000.00                   

JACKFRANCIS MEDIA LTD External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 934.16                        

Photography & Video 300.00                        

JACKFRANCIS MEDIA LTD Total 1,234.16                     

JACOBS ENGINEERING UK LTD. Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 10,000.00                   

Consultancy-Project Management 27,000.00                   

JACOBS ENGINEERING UK LTD. Total 37,000.00                   

JAMES O JENKINS Photography & Video 3,550.00                     

Photography And Video Design And Production 7,551.47                     

JAMES O JENKINS Total 11,101.47                   

JENNY HASTINGS Consultancy-Project Management 4,000.00                     

JENNY HASTINGS Total 4,000.00                     

K&S ACCORDION BAND External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 1,500.00                     

K&S ACCORDION BAND Total 1,500.00                     

KAIROS TRAINING LIMITED Staff Training 1,372.45                     

KAIROS TRAINING LIMITED Total 1,372.45                     

KEMPTON CONSULTING LTD Consultancy-Project Management 10,000.00                   

KEMPTON CONSULTING LTD Total 10,000.00                   

KEYTREE LTD Consultancy-Project Management 550,845.44                 

Research & Study Fees 2,392.00                     

KEYTREE LTD Total 553,237.44                

KINGS COLLEGE LONDON Management & Support Consultancy 10,450.00                   

KINGS COLLEGE LONDON Total 10,450.00                   

KING'S FUND Data Hosting Email Design And Transmission Inc SMS 11,494.69                   

KING'S FUND Total 11,494.69                   

KINGSWOOD IOPTUS Printing For Marketing Materials 1,538.00                     

KINGSWOOD IOPTUS Total 1,538.00                     

KITCHENETTE Grants to External Organisations 11,500.00                   

KITCHENETTE Total 11,500.00                   

KIUNSYS S.R.L. Grants to External Organisations 2,849.72                     

KIUNSYS S.R.L. Total 2,849.72                     

KIWI POWER Grants to External Organisations 20,731.71                   

KIWI POWER Total 20,731.71                   

KNOWLEDGE TRAIN LIMITED Staff Training 849.00                        

KNOWLEDGE TRAIN LIMITED Total 849.00                        

LABC Office Cleaning 450.00                        

LABC Total 450.00                        

LAMBERT SMITH HAMPTON Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 7,300.00                     

Property Consultancy  Economic Appraisals 29,000.00                   

LAMBERT SMITH HAMPTON Total 36,300.00                   

LAMBETH COLLEGE Grants to External Organisations 86,163.61                   

LAMBETH COLLEGE Total 86,163.61                   

LAND REGISTRY Data Purchase 45,000.00                   

LAND REGISTRY Total 45,000.00                   

LARK HALL PRIMARY SCHOOL Grants to External Organisations 988.00                        

LARK HALL PRIMARY SCHOOL Total 988.00                        

LATINOLIFE Grants to External Organisations 9,000.00                     

LATINOLIFE Total 9,000.00                     

LAURENCE TAYLOR Consultancy-Project Management 4,615.00                     

LAURENCE TAYLOR Total 4,615.00                     

LB City of London Miscellaneous Costs 10,548.81                   

LB City of London Total 10,548.81                   

LB HILLINGDON Grants to External Organisations 19,590.80                   

Planning & Development Consultancy 24,795.00                   

LB HILLINGDON Total 44,385.80                   

LB of Bromley Miscellaneous Costs 85,210.75                   

LB of Bromley Total 85,210.75                   

LB OF HARINGEY Grants to External Organisations 381,489.00                 

LB OF HARINGEY Total 381,489.00                

LB OF Lambeth Miscellaneous Costs 33,127.32                   

LB OF Lambeth Total 33,127.32                   

LB TOWER HAMLETS Grants to External Organisations 12,040.00                   

LB TOWER HAMLETS Total 12,040.00                   

LEGAMBIENTE ONLUS Grants to External Organisations 22,420.21                   

LEGAMBIENTE ONLUS Total 22,420.21                   

LEVEL 3 COMMUNICATIONS UK LTD Telephone Line Rent, Calls & Equipment 6,872.40                     

LEVEL 3 COMMUNICATIONS UK LTD Total 6,872.40                     

LIME CREATIVE LIMITED IT Consultancy 500.00                        

LIME CREATIVE LIMITED Total 500.00                        

LINDE AG Grants to External Organisations 2,830.99                     

LINDE AG Total 2,830.99                     

LINK SUPPORT SERVICES UK LTD Staff Training 1,085.00                     

LINK SUPPORT SERVICES UK LTD Total 1,085.00                     

LISBOA E-NOVA Grants to External Organisations 114,562.55                 

Page 296



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

LISBOA E-NOVA Total 114,562.55                

LIVE ENTERTAINMENT DIRECTIVE External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 1,800.00                     

LIVE ENTERTAINMENT DIRECTIVE Total 1,800.00                     

Liverpool Sound City Limited Other Professional Fees 1,666.67                     

Liverpool Sound City Limited Total 1,666.67                     

LIVING POTENTIAL CONSULTING LIMITED Staff Training 450.00                        

LIVING POTENTIAL CONSULTING LIMITED Total 450.00                        

LIVITY LIMITED Grants to External Organisations 17,087.43                   

LIVITY LIMITED Total 17,087.43                   

LIZA MONKS External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 374.00                        

Photography & Video 304.00                        

Art And Poetry Installations And Programmes 304.00                        

LIZA MONKS Total 982.00                        

LONDON & PARTNERS External Meeting Room Hire & Expenses 1,225.00                     

Couriers 293.28                        

LONDON & PARTNERS Total 1,518.28                     

London & Partners Limited Grants to External Organisations 5,896,000.00             

London & Partners Limited Total 5,896,000.00             

LONDON & PARTNERS VENTURES LTD External Meeting Room Hire & Expenses 475.00                        

LONDON & PARTNERS VENTURES LTD Total 475.00                        

London 2017 Limited Grants to External Organisations 500,000.00                 

London 2017 Limited Total 500,000.00                

LONDON AND QUADRANT HOUSING TRUST HSG Grants to Registered Providers 2,470,200.00             

LONDON AND QUADRANT HOUSING TRUST Total 2,470,200.00             

LONDON BOROUGH OF  WALTHAM FOREST Grants to External Organisations 266,017.65                 

Income Max Expense 22,580.40                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF  WALTHAM FOREST Total 288,598.05                

LONDON BOROUGH OF BARKING Grants to External Organisations 896,740.54                 

LONDON BOROUGH OF BARKING Total 896,740.54                

LONDON BOROUGH OF BARKING AND DAGEN HSG Grants to Local Authorities 420,227.00                 

LONDON BOROUGH OF BARKING AND DAGEN Total 420,227.00                

LONDON BOROUGH OF BARNET Grants to External Organisations 25,000.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF BARNET Total 25,000.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF BRENT Grants to External Organisations 533,533.76                 

Seconded Staff - Non Group 18,956.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF BRENT Total 552,489.76                

LONDON BOROUGH OF BROMLEY Grants to External Organisations 74,987.42                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF BROMLEY Total 74,987.42                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF CAMDEN Grants to External Organisations 18,037.80                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF CAMDEN Total 18,037.80                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON Grants to External Organisations 12,321,884.36           

LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON Total 12,321,884.36           

LONDON BOROUGH OF EALING Grants to External Organisations 339,645.00                 

Income Max Expense 31,138.50                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF EALING Total 370,783.50                

LONDON BOROUGH OF ENFIELD Grants to External Organisations 89,699.33                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF ENFIELD Total 89,699.33                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY Grants to External Organisations 25,000.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY Total 25,000.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING Grants to External Organisations 16,967.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING Total 16,967.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF HOUNSLOW Grants to External Organisations 700,000.00                 

LONDON BOROUGH OF HOUNSLOW Total 700,000.00                

LONDON BOROUGH OF ISLINGTON Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 6,050.00                     

Consultancy-Project Management 10,000.00                   

Grants to External Organisations 145,679.34                 

LONDON BOROUGH OF ISLINGTON Total 161,729.34                

LONDON BOROUGH OF LAMBETH Grants to External Organisations 323,464.48                 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LAMBETH Total 323,464.48                

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM Grants to External Organisations 60,983.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM Total 60,983.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF NEWHAM Landscape Maintenance 3,967.40                     

LONDON BOROUGH OF NEWHAM Total 3,967.40                     

LONDON BOROUGH OF REDBRIDGE Seconded Staff - Non Group 14,217.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF REDBRIDGE Total 14,217.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF SOUTHWARK Rates 48,530.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF SOUTHWARK Total 48,530.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF SUTTON Grants to External Organisations 50,000.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF SUTTON Total 50,000.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF WALTHAM FOREST Grants to External Organisations 76,925.75                   

LONDON BOROUGH OF WALTHAM FOREST Total 76,925.75                   

LONDON BOROUGH SOUTHWARK HSG Grants to Local Authorities 22,000.00                   

LONDON BOROUGH SOUTHWARK Total 22,000.00                   

LONDON CALLING ARTS LTD External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 275.00                        

Page 297



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

LONDON CALLING ARTS LTD Total 275.00                        

LONDON CHAMPIONSHIPS LIMITED Grants to External Organisations 18,516.00                   

LONDON CHAMPIONSHIPS LIMITED Total 18,516.00                   

London Championships Ltd Miscellaneous Costs 5,995,000.00             

London Championships Ltd Total 5,995,000.00             

LONDON CHINATOWN CHINESE ASSOC External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 15,000.00                   

LONDON CHINATOWN CHINESE ASSOC Total 15,000.00                   

LONDON COUNCILS LTD Consultancy-Commissioned Report 20,000.00                   

LONDON COUNCILS LTD Total 20,000.00                   

LONDON FIRE & EMERG. PLANNING AUTH. Legal Fees 20,000.00                   

Payroll Services Fees 28,687.25                   

LONDON FIRE & EMERG. PLANNING AUTH. Total 48,687.25                   

LONDON GAY MENS CHORUS Miscellaneous Costs 600.00                        

LONDON GAY MENS CHORUS Total 600.00                        

LONDON IRISH CENTRE External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 4,000.00                     

LONDON IRISH CENTRE Total 4,000.00                     

LONDON SCULPTURE WORKSHOP CIC Grants to External Organisations 18,572.73                   

LONDON SCULPTURE WORKSHOP CIC Total 18,572.73                   

LONDON SPORT LTD Grants to External Organisations 166,042.00                 

Seconded Staff - Non Group 67,432.03                   

LONDON SPORT LTD Total 233,474.03                

LONDON TIGERS Grants to External Organisations 42,380.75                   

LONDON TIGERS Total 42,380.75                   

London Travel Watch Miscellaneous Costs 301,000.00                 

London Travel Watch Total 301,000.00                

LONDON WASTE AND RECYLING BOARD Management & Support Consultancy 18,000.00                   

LONDON WASTE AND RECYLING BOARD Total 18,000.00                   

LONDON WILDLIFE TRUST Grants to External Organisations 9,716.03                     

LONDON WILDLIFE TRUST Total 9,716.03                     

LONDON WORK BASED LEARNING ALLIANCE Grants to External Organisations 18,875.22                   

LONDON WORK BASED LEARNING ALLIANCE Total 18,875.22                   

LPFA Pension Augmentation 28,594.37                   

LPFA  Total 28,594.37                   

LSE ENTERPRISE Consultancy-Commissioned Report 31,850.00                   

LSE ENTERPRISE Total 31,850.00                   

LUISA SIEIRO DESIGN Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 570.00                        

LUISA SIEIRO DESIGN Total 570.00                        

MADDISON GRAPHIC Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 2,400.00                     

MADDISON GRAPHIC Total 2,400.00                     

MAJESTIC WINE Caterers Service Charges 426.29                        

MAJESTIC WINE Total 426.29                        

MARKET RESEARCH SOCIETY Staff Training 475.00                        

MARKET RESEARCH SOCIETY Total 475.00                        

MARTIN ARNOLD ASSOCIATES LLP Building Maintenance & Repairs 2,002.50                     

Other Professional Fees 7,350.00                     

MARTIN ARNOLD ASSOCIATES LLP Total 9,352.50                     

MARTINSPEED LTD Storage And Distribution Of Publicity Materials 574.00                        

Art And Poetry Installations And Programmes 642.00                        

MARTINSPEED LTD Total 1,216.00                     

MARYLEBONE CRICKET CLUB Seconded Staff - Non Group 8,256.46                     

MARYLEBONE CRICKET CLUB Total 8,256.46                     

MASTODON C LTD Data Purchase 4,378.00                     

Grants to External Organisations 28,401.61                   

MASTODON C LTD Total 32,779.61                   

MATRIX NETWORKS LIMITED Consultancy-Project Management 28,177.42                   

MATRIX NETWORKS LIMITED Total 28,177.42                   

MAYORS FUND FOR YOUNG MUSICIANS Grants to External Organisations 50,000.00                   

MAYORS FUND FOR YOUNG MUSICIANS Total 50,000.00                   

MCGRATH BROS (WASTE CONTROL) LTD Other Professional Fees 69,860.36                   

MCGRATH BROS (WASTE CONTROL) LTD Total 69,860.36                   

MDM PROPS SCULPTURE MODELS Other Professional Fees 2,580.00                     

MDM PROPS SCULPTURE MODELS  Total 2,580.00                     

MEDCITY LTD Grants to External Organisations 125,000.00                 

MEDCITY LTD Total 125,000.00                

MEDIAEDGE:CIA T/A MEC: ACTIVE ENGAG Photography & Video 1,479.15                     

Radio TV Press Poster Cinema Airtime And Space 3,000.00                     

Social Media And Digital Advertising Space 29,999.99                   

MEDIAEDGE:CIA T/A MEC: ACTIVE ENGAG Total 34,479.14                   

MEDIAEDGE:CIA UK LTD T/A MEC:ACTIVE Agency Fees Paid To Marketing Agencies 18,693.75                   

External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 254.63                        

Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 26,469.75                   

Social Media And Digital Advertising Space 9,864.82                     

MEDIAEDGE:CIA UK LTD T/A MEC:ACTIVE Total 55,282.95                   

MENDIP MEDIA GROUP LTD Transcription 4,500.16                     

Page 298



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

MENDIP MEDIA GROUP LTD Total 4,500.16                     

METIS Management & Support Consultancy 2,175.00                     

METIS Total 2,175.00                     

MG 1996 Limited Other Professional Fees 2,500.00                     

MG 1996 Limited Total 2,500.00                     

MICHAEL PAGE UK LTD Agency Staff 1,650.00                     

MICHAEL PAGE UK LTD Total 1,650.00                     

MIDLANDHR Computer Software 10,851.50                   

Consultancy-Project Management 3,089.00                     

IT Consultancy 22,783.00                   

MIDLANDHR Total 36,723.50                   

MIME CONSULTING IT Consultancy 4,000.00                     

MIME CONSULTING Total 4,000.00                     

MIND Staff Training 654.75                        

MIND Total 654.75                        

MOBILOO External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 2,700.00                     

MOBILOO Total 2,700.00                     

MONO EUROPE LTD Furniture & Equipment 712.45                        

MONO EUROPE LTD Total 712.45                        

MONTAGU EVANS LLP Other Professional Fees 19,000.00                   

MONTAGU EVANS LLP Total 19,000.00                   

MOORE STEPHENS LLP Management & Support Consultancy 140,415.00                 

MOORE STEPHENS LLP Total 140,415.00                

MOPAC Internal Audit Fees 79,500.00                   

MOPAC Total 79,500.00                   

MORE LONDON Property Service Charges 81,185.00                   

MORE LONDON Total 81,185.00                   

MOTT MACDONALD LIMITED Consultancy-Commissioned Report 43,562.50                   

Planning & Development Consultancy 56,530.29                   

MOTT MACDONALD LIMITED Total 100,092.79                

MPLC LTD Stationery 3,671.56                     

MPLC LTD Total 3,671.56                     

Museum of London Grants to External Organisations 2,650,000.00             

Museum of London Total 2,650,000.00             

NATIONAL AUDIT OFFICE Seconded Staff - Non Group 18,353.76                   

NATIONAL AUDIT OFFICE Total 18,353.76                   

NATWEST CORPORATE CREDIT CARD Business Fares 16,401.74                   

Conferences & Seminars 1,564.09                     

Data Purchase 331.96                        

External Meeting Room Hire & Expenses 1,063.17                     

Furniture & Equipment 12,977.66                   

Hotel Accommodation 6,062.37                     

Miscellaneous Costs 9.93                            

Monitoring Of PR And Social Media (259.95)                       

Other Professional Fees 1,215.00                     

Staff Training 1,092.00                     

Telephone Line Rent, Calls & Equipment 528.07                        

Equipment Hire & Rental (1,457.40)                    

Corporate Subscriptions 4,157.08                     

Computer Consumables 499.98                        

NATWEST CORPORATE CREDIT CARD Total 44,185.70                   

NCC GROUP SECURITY SERVICES LTD Manage IT Services 4,096.33                     

NCC GROUP SECURITY SERVICES LTD Total 4,096.33                     

NCC SERVICES LTD IT Consultancy 1,360.00                     

NCC SERVICES LTD Total 1,360.00                     

NEOPOST LTD Equipment Repairs & Maintenance 708.00                        

Furniture & Equipment 4,783.00                     

NEOPOST LTD Total 5,491.00                     

NETFORT TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED Software Maintenance 3,925.00                     

NETFORT TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED Total 3,925.00                     

NETWORK HOUSING GROUP LIMITED HSG Grants to Registered Providers 450,000.00                 

NETWORK HOUSING GROUP LIMITED Total 450,000.00                

NETWORK RAIL INFRASTRUCTURE Grants to External Organisations 18,154.11                   

NETWORK RAIL INFRASTRUCTURE Total 18,154.11                   

NEW CITY COLLEGE Other Professional Fees 16,247.00                   

NEW CITY COLLEGE Total 16,247.00                   

NEWS UK & IRELAND LTD Staff Training 1,500.00                     

NEWS UK & IRELAND LTD Total 1,500.00                     

NHP S.R.L. Grants to External Organisations 64,837.79                   

NHP S.R.L. Total 64,837.79                   

NIACE Research & Study Fees 25,000.00                   

NIACE Total 25,000.00                   

NICK TURPIN PHOTOGRAPHY Photography And Video Design And Production 1,200.00                     

NICK TURPIN PHOTOGRAPHY Total 1,200.00                     

Page 299



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

NK FILMS LTD Staff Training 450.00                        

NK FILMS LTD Total 450.00                        

NLA MEDIA ACCESS LTD Monitoring Of PR And Social Media 55,249.28                   

NLA MEDIA ACCESS LTD Total 55,249.28                   

NORTH LONDON PARTNERSHIP LTD Grants to External Organisations 3,541.12                     

NORTH LONDON PARTNERSHIP LTD Total 3,541.12                     

Notting Hill Housing Trust Miscellaneous Finance Expenses 38,195.08                   

Notting Hill Housing Trust Total 38,195.08                   

NWES Other Professional Fees 85,825.00                   

NWES Total 85,825.00                   

O2 UK LIMITED Computer Hardware 5,540.00                     

IT Consultancy 330.00                        

Mobile Phone Line Rent, Calls & Equipment 45,019.05                   

O2 UK LIMITED Total 50,889.05                   

OCS CATERING Caterers Service Charges 97,337.83                   

External Meeting Room Hire & Expenses 1,334.38                     

Refreshments/Meals at Meetings 2,753.67                     

OCS CATERING Total 101,425.88                

OCTAVIA HOUSING AND CARE HSG Grants to Registered Providers 917,837.00                 

OCTAVIA HOUSING AND CARE Total 917,837.00                

OFFICE DEPOT UK LTD Stationery 5,118.77                     

OFFICE DEPOT UK LTD Total 5,118.77                     

OFFICE FOR NATIONAL STATISTICS Data Purchase 350.00                        

Other Professional Fees 35,000.00                   

OFFICE FOR NATIONAL STATISTICS Total 35,350.00                   

OLD OAK & PARK ROYAL DEV CORP Other Professional Fees 3,500.00                     

Planning & Development Consultancy 50,000.00                   

OLD OAK & PARK ROYAL DEV CORP Total 53,500.00                   

OMV REFINING & MARKETING GMBH Grants to External Organisations 336,385.85                 

OMV REFINING & MARKETING GMBH Total 336,385.85                

ONSITE TECHNOLOGIES LTD Computer Hardware 170.00                        

ONSITE TECHNOLOGIES LTD Total 170.00                        

ORBIT GROUP Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 4,000.00                     

ORBIT GROUP Total 4,000.00                     

OUTSET CONTEMPORARY ART FUND Grants to External Organisations 10,000.00                   

OUTSET CONTEMPORARY ART FUND Total 10,000.00                   

OVE ARUP & PARTNERS LTD Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 47,639.00                   

Consultancy-Commissioned Report 95,000.00                   

Consultancy-Project Management 4,000.00                     

Management & Support Consultancy 59,686.29                   

Other Professional Fees 27,666.86                   

OVE ARUP & PARTNERS LTD Total 233,992.15                

PADDINGTON CHURCHES HA LTD HSG Grants to Registered Providers 275,000.00                 

PADDINGTON CHURCHES HA LTD Total 275,000.00                

PAN INTERCULTURAL ARTS Other Professional Fees 700.00                        

PAN INTERCULTURAL ARTS Total 700.00                        

PANATHLON FOUNDATION LIMITED Grants to External Organisations 7,500.00                     

PANATHLON FOUNDATION LIMITED Total 7,500.00                     

PARAGON COMMUNITY HOUSING GROUP LTD HSG Grants to Registered Providers 269,000.00                 

PARAGON COMMUNITY HOUSING GROUP LTD Total 269,000.00                

PARTNERSKAB BRINT BRAENDSELSCELLER Grants to External Organisations 60,475.39                   

PARTNERSKAB BRINT BRAENDSELSCELLER Total 60,475.39                   

PATRIDGE EVENTS LIMITED External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 6,710.00                     

PATRIDGE EVENTS LIMITED Total 6,710.00                     

PAYMENT CARD SOLUTIONS (UK) LTD Other Professional Fees 12,520.00                   

PAYMENT CARD SOLUTIONS (UK) LTD Total 12,520.00                   

PERFORMING RIGHTS SOCIETY LTD External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 404.68                        

PERFORMING RIGHTS SOCIETY LTD Total 404.68                        

PERSONAL CAREER MANAGEMENT LTD Staff Training 6,800.00                     

PERSONAL CAREER MANAGEMENT LTD Total 6,800.00                     

PETER BRETT ASSOCIATES LLP Other Professional Fees 53,365.79                   

PETER BRETT ASSOCIATES LLP Total 53,365.79                   

PETER PETTS Legal Fees 1,500.00                     

PETER PETTS Total 1,500.00                     

PHILIPPA JACKSON Legal Fees 3,000.00                     

PHILIPPA JACKSON Total 3,000.00                     

PINNACLE HOUSING LTD Mobile Phone Line Rent, Calls & Equipment 1,500.00                     

PINNACLE HOUSING LTD Total 1,500.00                     

PIPERS PROJECTS LTD Publications & Periodicals 22,000.00                   

PIPERS PROJECTS LTD Total 22,000.00                   

PITNEY BOWES LTD Postage 2,669.00                     

PITNEY BOWES LTD Total 2,669.00                     

PIVOTAL SOLUTIONS LTD Management & Support Consultancy 4,500.00                     

Software Maintenance 10,275.00                   

Page 300



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

PIVOTAL SOLUTIONS LTD Total 14,775.00                   

POLIEDRA - POLITECNICO DI MILANO Grants to External Organisations 93,234.49                   

POLIEDRA - POLITECNICO DI MILANO Total 93,234.49                   

POLITECNICO DI MILANO Grants to External Organisations 120,795.71                 

POLITECNICO DI MILANO Total 120,795.71                

POPLAR HARCA Grants to External Organisations 65,271.42                   

POPLAR HARCA Total 65,271.42                   

PORT OF LONDON AUTHORITY Land/Ground Rents 26,838.43                   

Other Professional Fees 18,733.31                   

PORT OF LONDON AUTHORITY Total 45,571.74                   

PPSS LTD Furniture & Equipment 2,474.20                     

PPSS LTD Total 2,474.20                     

PRECISE MEDIA MONITORING LTD Monitoring Of PR And Social Media 39,367.26                   

PRECISE MEDIA MONITORING LTD Total 39,367.26                   

PREDERI LIMITED Consultancy-Project Management 12,720.00                   

Grants to External Organisations 2,610.00                     

Management & Support Consultancy 650.00                        

PREDERI LIMITED Total 15,980.00                   

PRENAX LTD Publications & Periodicals 12,346.84                   

PRENAX LTD Total 12,346.84                   

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP Consultancy-Project Management 26,774.00                   

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP Total 26,774.00                   

PRINTMAX Stationery 584.27                        

PRINTMAX Total 584.27                        

PRIVACY & DATA PROTECTION LTD Publications & Periodicals 1,302.50                     

PRIVACY & DATA PROTECTION LTD Total 1,302.50                     

PROBRAND LTD Manage IT Services 23,938.00                   

PROBRAND LTD Total 23,938.00                   

PROFILE SECURITY SERVICES LTD Security Services (Guards) 10,191.48                   

PROFILE SECURITY SERVICES LTD Total 10,191.48                   

PROJECT ORACLE Grants to External Organisations 18,000.00                   

PROJECT ORACLE Total 18,000.00                   

PROJECT SOCIAL LTD Grants to External Organisations 2,768.76                     

PROJECT SOCIAL LTD Total 2,768.76                     

PROMUS SERVICES LTD Consultancy-Project Management 20,500.00                   

PROMUS SERVICES LTD Total 20,500.00                   

PROPERTY MEDIATION LIMITED Legal Fees 3,000.00                     

PROPERTY MEDIATION LIMITED  Total 3,000.00                     

PUBLIC POLICY EXCHANGE LIMITED Conferences & Seminars 295.00                        

PUBLIC POLICY EXCHANGE LIMITED Total 295.00                        

PURE Monitoring Of PR And Social Media 480.00                        

PR Cost Product Cost & PR Fees 649.00                        

Social Media And Digital Advertising Space 4,672.00                     

PURE Total 5,801.00                     

PUREPRINT Printing 306.00                        

Stationery 256.00                        

PUREPRINT Total 562.00                        

QUAY OFFICE FURNISHERS LTD Stationery 1,086.00                     

QUAY OFFICE FURNISHERS LTD Total 1,086.00                     

QUAYSTONE FACILITIES MANAGEMENT Other Professional Fees 19,500.00                   

Landscape Maintenance 1,700.00                     

QUAYSTONE FACILITIES MANAGEMENT Total 21,200.00                   

R B KINGSTON UPON THAMES Grants to External Organisations 50,000.00                   

R B KINGSTON UPON THAMES Total 50,000.00                   

RACKSPACE LTD Data Hosting Email Design And Transmission Inc SMS 999.00                        

Photography & Video 333.00                        

RACKSPACE LTD Total 1,332.00                     

RAPLEYS LLP Caterers Service Charges 520.00                        

External Meeting Room Hire & Expenses 3,568.85                     

RAPLEYS LLP Total 4,088.85                     

REABILITA LDA Grants to External Organisations 12,923.37                   

REABILITA LDA Total 12,923.37                   

RED GECKO LTD Storage And Distribution Of Publicity Materials 1,775.00                     

RED GECKO LTD Total 1,775.00                     

RED STONE DESIGN Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 1,312.00                     

RED STONE DESIGN Total 1,312.00                     

REDCENTRIC SOLUTIONS LTD Building Maintenance & Repairs 2,598.82                     

Computer Hardware 8,068.19                     

Manage IT Services 2,809.76                     

REDCENTRIC SOLUTIONS LTD Total 13,476.77                   

REED AND MACKAY TRAVEL Business Fares 277.20                        

REED AND MACKAY TRAVEL Total 277.20                        

REED BUSINESS INFORMATION Publications & Periodicals 12,547.50                   

REED BUSINESS INFORMATION Total 12,547.50                   

Page 301



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

REED IN PARTNERSHIP LIMITED Grants to External Organisations 60,125.27                   

REED IN PARTNERSHIP LIMITED Total 60,125.27                   

REGENERIS CONSULTING LIMITED Management & Support Consultancy 5,000.00                     

REGENERIS CONSULTING LIMITED Total 5,000.00                     

REPOWERING LONDON Grants to External Organisations 2,500.00                     

REPOWERING LONDON Total 2,500.00                     

RETAIL REVIVAL LTD Planning & Development Consultancy 500.00                        

RETAIL REVIVAL LTD Total 500.00                        

RETHINKING CITIES LTD Grants to External Organisations 3,800.00                     

RETHINKING CITIES LTD Total 3,800.00                     

REVO SERVICE MANAGEMENT LTD Software Maintenance 11,177.12                   

REVO SERVICE MANAGEMENT LTD Total 11,177.12                   

REWARD GATEWAY (UK) LTD Childcare Vouchers 68,968.22                   

REWARD GATEWAY (UK) LTD Total 68,968.22                   

RICARDO-AEA LTD Consultancy-Project Management 10,000.00                   

Management & Support Consultancy 1,484.00                     

RICARDO-AEA LTD Total 11,484.00                   

RICHMOND UPON THAMES COLLEGE Grants to External Organisations 103,045.55                 

RICHMOND UPON THAMES COLLEGE Total 103,045.55                

ROADMUNK Computer Software 2,010.22                     

ROADMUNK Total 2,010.22                     

ROCKET SCIENCE UK LTD Grants to External Organisations 222,343.75                 

Management & Support Consultancy 33,779.33                   

ROCKET SCIENCE UK LTD Total 256,123.08                

RODMA Other Professional Fees 248,948.22                 

Storage And Distribution Of Publicity Materials 12,500.00                   

RODMA Total 261,448.22                

ROOFF LIMITED Grants to External Organisations 37,808.79                   

ROOFF LIMITED Total 37,808.79                   

Roots and Shoots Other Professional Fees 532.25                        

Roots and Shoots Total 532.25                        

ROSE GROGAN Legal Fees 1,470.00                     

ROSE GROGAN Total 1,470.00                     

ROYAL BOROUGH OF GREENWICH Grants to External Organisations 101,261.00                 

Land/Ground Rents 585.20                        

Other Professional Fees 43,568.23                   

ROYAL BOROUGH OF GREENWICH Total 145,414.43                

ROYAL BOROUGH OF KENSINGTON&CHELSEA Seconded Staff - Non Group 47,969.25                   

ROYAL BOROUGH OF KENSINGTON&CHELSEA Total 47,969.25                   

ROYAL INSTITUTION OF CHARTERED SURV Publications & Periodicals 1,030.00                     

Staff Training 1,106.00                     

ROYAL INSTITUTION OF CHARTERED SURV Total 2,136.00                     

RSE SPA Grants to External Organisations 33,232.26                   

RSE SPA Total 33,232.26                   

RSK ENVIRONMENT LIMITED Other Professional Fees 4,011.00                     

RSK ENVIRONMENT LIMITED Total 4,011.00                     

RTPI CONFERENCES (HAWKSMERE LTD) Conferences & Seminars 295.00                        

RTPI CONFERENCES (HAWKSMERE LTD) Total 295.00                        

SAFETY FIRST AID GROUP LTD Furniture & Equipment 333.00                        

SAFETY FIRST AID GROUP LTD Total 333.00                        

SALESFORCE.COM Monitoring Of PR And Social Media 361.20                        

SALESFORCE.COM Total 361.20                        

SANCTUARY HOUSING ASSOCIATION HSG Grants to Registered Providers 483,978.00                 

SANCTUARY HOUSING ASSOCIATION Total 483,978.00                

Sanders Solicitors Home buy agents fees 22,031.25                   

Sanders Solicitors Total 22,031.25                   

SAVERAH EVENT External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 400.00                        

SAVERAH EVENT Total 400.00                        

SAVILLS (UK) LTD Consultancy-Project Management 24,534.60                   

SAVILLS (UK) LTD Total 24,534.60                   

SBL Other Professional Fees 9,100.00                     

SBL Total 9,100.00                     

SEE TICKETS External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 19,160.00                   

SEE TICKETS Total 19,160.00                   

SEHTA ENTERPRISES LTD Research & Study Fees 12,250.00                   

SEHTA ENTERPRISES LTD Total 12,250.00                   

SENATOR INTERNATIONAL LTD Furniture & Equipment 29,856.00                   

SENATOR INTERNATIONAL LTD Total 29,856.00                   

SERVOCA SECURE SOLUTIONS Other Professional Fees 628.56                        

Security Services (Guards) 45,191.55                   

SERVOCA SECURE SOLUTIONS Total 45,820.11                   

SHEPHARD & MOYES LTD Staff Training 1,400.00                     

SHEPHARD & MOYES LTD Total 1,400.00                     

SHORTHAND (UK) Publications & Periodicals 9,985.60                     

Page 302



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

SHORTHAND (UK) Total 9,985.60                     

Shrigley Art Limited Other Professional Fees 600.00                        

Shrigley Art Limited Total 600.00                        

SIEMENS PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY Grants to External Organisations 22,064.89                   

SIEMENS PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANY Total 22,064.89                   

SIEMENS SPA Grants to External Organisations 20,288.71                   

SIEMENS SPA Total 20,288.71                   

SILVERTOWN HOMES LIMITED Consultancy-Project Management 118,956.20                 

SILVERTOWN HOMES LIMITED Total 118,956.20                

SIRIUS CORPORATION LTD Consultancy-Project Management 19,000.00                   

IT Consultancy 8,300.00                     

Manage IT Services 18,750.00                   

SIRIUS CORPORATION LTD Total 46,050.00                   

SITE-EYE TIME-LAPSE FILMS Photography & Video 2,400.00                     

SITE-EYE TIME-LAPSE FILMS Total 2,400.00                     

SLR CONSULTING LIMITED Consultancy-Commissioned Report 14,031.00                   

Management & Support Consultancy 4,575.00                     

SLR CONSULTING LIMITED Total 18,606.00                   

SOCIAL LIFE Research & Study Fees 16,609.17                   

SOCIAL LIFE Total 16,609.17                   

SOLOMAN EXECUTIVE LTD Grants to External Organisations 18,226.84                   

Other Professional Fees 20,903.00                   

SOLOMAN EXECUTIVE LTD Total 39,129.84                   

SOUTH BANK CENTRE Grants to External Organisations 45,000.00                   

SOUTH BANK CENTRE Total 45,000.00                   

SOUTH LONDON GALLERY Grants to External Organisations 170,000.00                 

SOUTH LONDON GALLERY Total 170,000.00                

SOUTHERN HOUSING GROUP LIMITED HSG Grants to Registered Providers 630,000.00                 

SOUTHERN HOUSING GROUP LIMITED Total 630,000.00                

SOUTHERN SCIENTIFIC Postage 13,362.95                   

SOUTHERN SCIENTIFIC Total 13,362.95                   

SOUTHWARK CATHEDRAL ENTERPRISES LTD External Meeting Room Hire & Expenses 810.00                        

SOUTHWARK CATHEDRAL ENTERPRISES LTD Total 810.00                        

SPACEHIVE Planning & Development Consultancy 5,000.00                     

SPACEHIVE Total 5,000.00                     

SQW CONSULTING Other Professional Fees 51,090.00                   

SQW CONSULTING Total 51,090.00                   

ST ANDREW'S HIGH SCHOOL Grants to External Organisations 1,000.00                     

ST ANDREW'S HIGH SCHOOL Total 1,000.00                     

ST JOHN'S ANGELL TOWN COFE PRIMARY Grants to External Organisations 2,448.90                     

ST JOHN'S ANGELL TOWN COFE PRIMARY Total 2,448.90                     

ST MICHAEL'S CENTRE Grants to External Organisations 15,493.00                   

ST MICHAEL'S CENTRE Total 15,493.00                   

ST MUNGO COMMUNITY HA LTD HSG Grants to Registered Providers 200,000.00                 

ST MUNGO COMMUNITY HA LTD Total 200,000.00                

ST MUNGOS Hsg-Rough Sleeping 1,658,447.95             

ST MUNGOS Total 1,658,447.95             

STANDARD & POOR'S Other Professional Fees 20,000.00                   

STANDARD & POOR'S Total 20,000.00                   

STEPHEN TROMANS Legal Fees 9,360.00                     

STEPHEN TROMANS Total 9,360.00                     

STRAIGHT FWRD COMMUNICATIONS LTD Photography & Video 1,461.35                     

Photography And Video Design And Production 22,900.00                   

STRAIGHT FWRD COMMUNICATIONS LTD Total 24,361.35                   

STREET IMPACT LIMITED Hsg-Rough Sleeping 44,800.00                   

STREET IMPACT LIMITED Total 44,800.00                   

STREETGAMES UK LTD Grants to External Organisations 30,484.68                   

STREETGAMES UK LTD Total 30,484.68                   

SUPPLIES TEAM LTD Computer Hardware 4,214.04                     

SUPPLIES TEAM LTD Total 4,214.04                     

SUSTAIN Grants to External Organisations 11,640.88                   

SUSTAIN Total 11,640.88                   

SUSTAINABLE PROCUREMENT LIMITED Management & Support Consultancy 9,558.62                     

SUSTAINABLE PROCUREMENT LIMITED Total 9,558.62                     

TATTERSALL TRAINING Staff Training 1,539.95                     

TATTERSALL TRAINING Total 1,539.95                     

TEICOS UE SRL Grants to External Organisations 192,347.57                 

TEICOS UE SRL Total 192,347.57                

TEMPLE GROUP LTD Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 9,951.50                     

Consultancy-Project Management 5,810.25                     

TEMPLE GROUP LTD Total 15,761.75                   

TENNIS FOUNDATION Grants to External Organisations 60,000.00                   

TENNIS FOUNDATION Total 60,000.00                   

TENSATOR LTD Furniture & Equipment 451.54                        

Page 303



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

TENSATOR LTD Total 451.54                        

TEST PARTNERS LTD IT Consultancy 18,692.50                   

Manage IT Services 6,585.00                     

TEST PARTNERS LTD Total 25,277.50                   

TFL GROUP PROPERTY Land/Ground Rents 344,729.00                 

Other Professional Fees 344,729.00                 

TFL GROUP PROPERTY Total 689,458.00                

THAMES FESTIVAL Grants to External Organisations 10,000.00                   

THAMES FESTIVAL Total 10,000.00                   

THAMES REACH Hsg-Rough Sleeping 450,269.42                 

THAMES REACH Total 450,269.42                

THAMES WATER UTILITIES LTD Water 779.86                        

THAMES WATER UTILITIES LTD Total 779.86                        

THAMES21 Grants to External Organisations 18,597.40                   

THAMES21 Total 18,597.40                   

The Architechtural Association Other Professional Fees 4,000.00                     

The Architechtural Association Total 4,000.00                     

THE BRITISH LIBRARY External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 4,500.00                     

THE BRITISH LIBRARY Total 4,500.00                     

THE BUSINESS OF CITIES LIMITED Grants to External Organisations 10,000.00                   

THE BUSINESS OF CITIES LIMITED Total 10,000.00                   

THE CAMPAIGN COMPANY (TCC) Research & Study Fees 10,000.00                   

THE CAMPAIGN COMPANY (TCC) Total 10,000.00                   

THE CARLSBERG TETLEY PROJECT LTD Grants to External Organisations 249,487.15                 

THE CARLSBERG TETLEY PROJECT LTD Total 249,487.15                

THE CONNECTION AT ST MARTIN'S Grants to External Organisations 15,000.00                   

THE CONNECTION AT ST MARTIN'S Total 15,000.00                   

THE CONSERVATION FOUNDATION Grants to External Organisations 29,872.00                   

THE CONSERVATION FOUNDATION Total 29,872.00                   

THE DECORATORS Planning & Development Consultancy 700.00                        

THE DECORATORS Total 700.00                        

THE ECOLOGY CONSULTANCY Research & Study Fees 11,980.00                   

THE ECOLOGY CONSULTANCY Total 11,980.00                   

THE ENVIRONMENT P/SHIP (TEP) LTD Other Professional Fees 2,536.35                     

THE ENVIRONMENT P/SHIP (TEP) LTD Total 2,536.35                     

THE HOUSING FORUM LTD Publications & Periodicals 10,950.00                   

THE HOUSING FORUM LTD Total 10,950.00                   

THE ITAD WORKS LTD Manage IT Services 1,562.50                     

THE ITAD WORKS LTD Total 1,562.50                     

THE LONDON PATHWAY Grants to External Organisations 6,881.00                     

THE LONDON PATHWAY Total 6,881.00                     

The Lord Mayors Appeal Charity Other Professional Fees 355.00                        

The Lord Mayors Appeal Charity Total 355.00                        

THE MAYORS FUND FOR LONDON Grants to External Organisations 8,210.00                     

THE MAYORS FUND FOR LONDON Total 8,210.00                     

THE MCPIN FOUNDATION Consultancy-Project Management 2,000.00                     

THE MCPIN FOUNDATION Total 2,000.00                     

THE PRESS ASSOCIATION LTD PR Cost Product Cost & PR Fees 3,231.28                     

Staff Training 380.00                        

THE PRESS ASSOCIATION LTD Total 3,611.28                     

THE RESPUBLICA TRUST Business Fares 307.70                        

THE RESPUBLICA TRUST Total 307.70                        

THE SOCIAL ELEMENT LIMITED External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 12,124.00                   

THE SOCIAL ELEMENT LIMITED Total 12,124.00                   

THE TECH PARTNERSHIP Grants to External Organisations 20,791.67                   

THE TECH PARTNERSHIP Total 20,791.67                   

THE UNIVERSITY OF READING Staff Training 1,950.00                     

THE UNIVERSITY OF READING Total 1,950.00                     

THE UNIVERSITY OF YORK Research & Study Fees 45,996.00                   

THE UNIVERSITY OF YORK Total 45,996.00                   

THEM DESIGN LIMITED Data Hosting Email Design And Transmission Inc SMS 20,000.00                   

THEM DESIGN LIMITED Total 20,000.00                   

THINKSTEP Grants to External Organisations 142,826.47                 

THINKSTEP Total 142,826.47                

THIRTEEN DESIGN LTD Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 13,907.00                   

THIRTEEN DESIGN LTD Total 13,907.00                   

Timewise Solutions Limited Corporate Subscriptions 3,000.00                     

Timewise Solutions Limited Total 3,000.00                     

TIMOTHY STRAKER QC Legal Fees 3,000.00                     

Other Professional Fees 1,000.00                     

TIMOTHY STRAKER QC Total 4,000.00                     

TISSKI LTD Business Fares 540.00                        

IT Consultancy 11,200.00                   

TISSKI LTD Total 11,740.00                   

Page 304



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

TMP (UK) LTD Recruitment Advertising 130,457.15                 

TMP (UK) LTD Total 130,457.15                

TNR COMMUNICATIONS LTD Staff Training 7,625.00                     

TNR COMMUNICATIONS LTD Total 7,625.00                     

TOGETHER Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 16,000.00                   

TOGETHER Total 16,000.00                   

TOUCH OF GINGER LTD Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 648.00                        

TOUCH OF GINGER LTD Total 648.00                        

TRANSPORT AND TRAVEL RESEARCH LTD Management & Support Consultancy 4,525.89                     

Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 8,690.00                     

TRANSPORT AND TRAVEL RESEARCH LTD Total 13,215.89                   

Transport for London Consultants (Contractors) 13,554.40                   

Legal Fees 642,310.00                 

Management & Support Consultancy 9,320.00                     

Seconded Staff - Non Group 46,974.63                   

Shared Services Fees 406,595.00                 

 NLE - Grant pmt to TfL 44,449,979.50           

Transport for London Total 45,568,733.53           

TRANSPORT TRADING LTD Other Professional Fees 8,000.00                     

Shared Services Fees 4,680.00                     

TRANSPORT TRADING LTD Total 12,680.00                   

TREES FOR CITIES Grants to External Organisations 23,250.00                   

TREES FOR CITIES Total 23,250.00                   

TREVOR BRAGG Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 1,000.00                     

TREVOR BRAGG Total 1,000.00                     

TROWERS & HAMLINS LLP Legal Fees 75,377.15                   

TROWERS & HAMLINS LLP Total 75,377.15                   

TRUSTMARQUE SOLUTIONS Software Maintenance 8,484.82                     

TRUSTMARQUE SOLUTIONS Total 8,484.82                     

TUBE LINES LTD Non Recyclable Waste Disposal/Refuse Collection 33,119.67                   

TUBE LINES LTD Total 33,119.67                   

TURNER & TOWNSEND PROJECT MAGAG Consultancy-Project Management 157,280.77                 

Management & Support Consultancy 144,023.80                 

TURNER & TOWNSEND PROJECT MAGAG Total 301,304.57                

TV NEWS LONDON LIMITED Staff Training 1,000.00                     

TV NEWS LONDON LIMITED Total 1,000.00                     

UCL CONSULTANTS LIMITED Other Professional Fees 4,000.00                     

UCL CONSULTANTS LIMITED Total 4,000.00                     

UMBRELLA COLLECTIVE LTD Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 13,695.00                   

UMBRELLA COLLECTIVE LTD Total 13,695.00                   

UNITED BUSINESS MEDIA Data Purchase 6,242.00                     

UNITED BUSINESS MEDIA Total 6,242.00                     

UNIVERSITY COLLEGE LONDON Grants to External Organisations 4,000.00                     

UNIVERSITY COLLEGE LONDON Total 4,000.00                     

UNIVERSITY OF OXFORD Research & Study Fees 16,666.66                   

UNIVERSITY OF OXFORD Total 16,666.66                   

URBAN BEINGS LIMITED Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 10,287.00                   

URBAN BEINGS LIMITED Total 10,287.00                   

URBAN SPACE MANAGEMENT LTD Planning & Development Consultancy 1,476.00                     

URBAN SPACE MANAGEMENT LTD Total 1,476.00                     

URBANDNA  (EURO PAYMENTS) Grants to External Organisations 164,301.09                 

URBANDNA  (EURO PAYMENTS) Total 164,301.09                

VAN WONDEREN FLOWERS External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 1,500.00                     

VAN WONDEREN FLOWERS Total 1,500.00                     

VEGA ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS LTD Other Professional Fees 2,182.00                     

VEGA ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS LTD Total 2,182.00                     

Ventana Systems UK Ltd Stationery 3,978.35                     

Ventana Systems UK Ltd Total 3,978.35                     

VEOLIA ES (UK) PLC Property Management Fees 114,481.03                 

VEOLIA ES (UK) PLC Total 114,481.03                

VIEW CREATIVE LTD Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 13,288.50                   

VIEW CREATIVE LTD Total 13,288.50                   

VILLE DE BORDEAUX Grants to External Organisations 30,796.14                   

VILLE DE BORDEAUX Total 30,796.14                   

VIRIDIAN HOUSING HSG Grants to Registered Providers 1,233,104.00             

VIRIDIAN HOUSING Total 1,233,104.00             

VITAL ENERGI UTILITES LTD Building Maintenance & Repairs 19,988.25                   

Other Professional Fees 100,090.97                 

Property Management Fees 8,321.25                     

VITAL ENERGI UTILITES LTD Total 128,400.47                

WALTERTON & ELGIN COMMUNITY HSG Grants to Registered Providers 1,290,000.00             

WALTERTON & ELGIN COMMUNITY Total 1,290,000.00             

WALTHAM FOREST COLLEGE Grants to External Organisations 2,187,868.65             

WALTHAM FOREST COLLEGE Total 2,187,868.65             

Page 305



Transactions over £ 250.00
Reporting Period : Quarter 1
Start Date: 01st April, 2017
End Date: 22nd July, 2017
Financial Year : 2017/18

Appendix 1

Total Spend > £250 (All)

Row Labels Expenditure Account Code Description Sum of Grand Total

WE MADE THAT Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 7,313.22                     

Consultancy-Project Management 11,985.00                   

Grants to External Organisations 14,678.50                   

WE MADE THAT Total 33,976.72                   

WESTMINSTER CITY COUNCIL Grants to External Organisations 25,000.00                   

WESTMINSTER CITY COUNCIL Total 25,000.00                   

WESTMINSTER COMMUNITY HOMES HSG Grants to Registered Providers 256,000.00                 

WESTMINSTER COMMUNITY HOMES Total 256,000.00                

WESTMINSTER KINGSWAY COLLEGE Grants to External Organisations 8,667.00                     

WESTMINSTER KINGSWAY COLLEGE Total 8,667.00                     

WESTRA Grants to External Organisations 18,841.54                   

WESTRA Total 18,841.54                   

WHATEVER DESIGN LTD Production Artwork And Design For Marketing 355.00                        

WHATEVER DESIGN LTD Total 355.00                        

WIT CREATIVE Consultancy  Evaluation Assessment 1,050.00                     

WIT CREATIVE  Total 1,050.00                     

WL Commercial Miscellaneous Costs 20,292.75                   

WL Commercial Total 20,292.75                   

WOOD STREET WALLS Grants to External Organisations 18,000.00                   

WOOD STREET WALLS Total 18,000.00                   

WORDWAVE INTERNATIONAL LTD T/A DTI External Events Roads Shows And Face To Face 900.00                        

Transcription 10,623.25                   

Translation Sign Language 1,579.00                     

WORDWAVE INTERNATIONAL LTD T/A DTI Total 13,102.25                   

WYG ENVIRONMENT PLANNING TRANS LTD Consultancy-Commissioned Report 25,689.00                   

WYG ENVIRONMENT PLANNING TRANS LTD Total 25,689.00                   

WYG MANAGEMENT SERVICES Consultancy-Project Management 600.00                        

Health & Safety Pest Control 6,250.00                     

WYG MANAGEMENT SERVICES Total 6,850.00                     

XEROX (UK) LTD Computer Hardware 13,402.33                   

XEROX (UK) LTD Total 13,402.33                   

YOUGOV LTD Research & Study Fees 56,250.00                   

YOUGOV LTD Total 56,250.00                   

ZURICH ENGINEERING Consultancy-Project Management 359.78                        

ZURICH ENGINEERING Total 359.78                        

Zurich Municipal General Insurance 142,127.47                 

Zurich Municipal Total 142,127.47                

Grand Total 250,149,666.63         

Page 306


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	03a Minutes- Appendix 1- Transcript of Item 9- 12-07-17

	4 Quarter 1, 2017/18 GLA Group Monitoring Reports
	04a GLA Q1 2017-18 main report
	04a Revenue forecast
	04a ii GLA Appendix 2 Capital Forecast Q1 2017-18
	04a iii GLA Appendix 3 Q1 project performance table
	04a iv Affordable housing _end of June 2017
	04b MOPAC Quarterly Report
	04bii - Annex A Met quarterly report
	04c LLDC Q1 201718 Corporate Report
	04d TfL Q1 report
	04e LFEPA Financial Position as at the end of June 2017
	04f i Appendix A  - Q1 OPDC Finance and Performance Report
	04f ii Appendix 1 - Q1 2017-18 Budget Summary
	04f iii Appendix 2 - Q1 Corporate Performance Dashboard

	5 The London Legacy Development Corporation
	6 Mayor's Decision Lists: 9 June 2017 to 28 September 2017
	Mayor's Decision List for June 29 to July 31 2017
	Mayor's report 1 August- 31 August
	04a Mayor's decision list - September 2017

	7 Payments over £250
	07b Budget Monitoring  2017_18 Q1




